
A n n u a l  R e p o r t

2 0 0 5



�Contents

Contents

Message from the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Financial Highlights (consolidated, based on IFRS)

Macroeconomic and Monetary Environment in �005

Business Report

 Brief Description of the Groups’s Activities and Results 

 Activities of the Hungarian Group Members

 Activities of Foreign Subsidiaries

Management’s Analysis

 Management’s Analysis of Developments in the Bank’s Asset and Financial Position

 Financial Summary (consolidated IFRS data) 

Financial Report

 Independent Auditor’s Report (consolidated, based on IFRS)

 Balance Sheet (consolidated, based on IFRS)

 Profit and Loss Account (consolidated, based on IFRS)

 Statement of Cash Flow (consolidated, based on IFRS)

 Statement of changes in Shareholders’ Equity (consolidated, based on IFRS)

 Notes to December �1, �005  Consolidated IFRS Financial Statements

 Independent Auditor’s Report (unconsolidated, based on IFRS)

 Balance Sheet (unconsolidated, based on IFRS)

 Profit and Loss Account (unconsolidated, based on IFRS)

 Statement of Cash Flow (unconsolidated, based on IFRS)

 Statement of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity (unconsolidated, based on IFRS)

 Notes to December �1, �005  Unconsolidated IFRS Financial Statements

Corporate Governance

 Senior Management of OTP Bank Ltd. and Executive Members of the Board of Directors

 Non-executive Members of the Board of Directors of OTP Bank Ltd.

 Members of the Supervisory Board of OTP Bank Ltd.

 Information for Shareholders

 Declaration on Corporate Governance Practice

 Provisions against Money Laundering

 Commitment to Social Causes

4

9

10

15

16

�0

�0

��

�4

61

6�

64

65

66

67

68

69

110

111

11�

11�

114

115

15�

154

156

158

160

16�

166

167



4

D e a r  s h a r e h o l D e r s ,

The OTP Group can look back with satisfaction at what was an 

extremely successful year in 2005. Our after-tax profit, in terms of 

volume, exceeded both market expectations and the business targets 

set previously by management, while its structure was a testament 

to the success of our endeavours, with record net interest income, 

rising fee and commission revenues, and an improvement 

in the business results of insurance operations. 

Message from the Chairman 
and Chief executive officer

The pace of transformation and integration of foreign 

subsidiaries accelerated, with the work completed 

in several locations, while the contribution of these 

companies to the consolidated profit increased.  

as in previous years, the Bank was once again 

awarded the titles of Best Bank in hungary and Best 

Corporation in the emerging european region 

by a host of leading international financial periodicals 

(euromoney, Global Finance, The Banker). The Bank’s 

operations continue to be stable, with an a1 credit 

rating from Moody’s, while its financial strength rating 

(B-), indicating its profitability and profit-generating 

potential, is the highest in the region.

In 2005 we celebrated the 10th anniversary  

of the Bank’s f lotation. reporting on the Bank’s 

successful stock-exchange career to date,  

euromoney commented that over the past decade 

oTP Bank’s was “probably the greatest business 

success story in eastern europe.”

however, despite the excellent results, we are not 

completely satisfied. The market price of oTP shares, 

the most important measure of shareholder value, 

only partially reflects the institution’s stable business 

foundations, as the imbalances in the hungarian 

economy prompted many investors to sell their stock, 

pushing prices down in the last quarter. although 

the price of oTP Bank shares had risen to hUF 6,967 

Share price of OTP Bank 

increased by 25% in 2005

OTP BANK Annual Report �005
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by the end of 2005, which represents an annual 

increase of 25%, not only did this fail to match the 41% 

growth in the BUX share index over the past year, 

it also remains considerably below the hUF 8,790 

all -time high recorded on september 28, 2005.  

While our profitability and efficiency indicators were 

outstanding even by international standards,  

the majority of analysts consider oTP stock to be 

undervalued. We hope – and our medium-term 

strategy also serves this purpose – that our operations 

and business results will continue to assure  

oTP Bank’s standing among investors as a reliable, 

stable investment, and, as the macroeconomic 

environment recovers, that this will also be reflected  

in the market value of our shares.

In 2005, the oTP Group achieved after-tax profit 

of hUF 158.3 billion, which is 20.3% higher than 

the previous year’s consolidated profit, while  

the balance sheet total rose by 25.3% at group level,  

to almost hUF 5,216 billion. The oTP Bankgroup’s 

equity totalled hUF 547.5 bil l ion  

(around eUr 2.2 bil l ion), which places i t at  

the forefront of the medium-sized banks in terms  

of capital strength. although the oTP Bankgroup’s 

profitability ratios declined in comparison to the record 

levels of 2004, by global standards we continue  

to number among the most profitable banking 

groups. The consolidated rate of return on average 

assets (roae) was 3.38% (a fall of eight basis 

points), while the return on average equity (roae) 

was 32.3% at group level, which is 3 percentage 

points lower than in the previous year.

Within the Group, the results of oTP Bank were once 

again decisive, with further gains achieved in both 

profitability and efficiency. The Bank’s after-tax profit 

rose by 17.1%, to hUF 132.8 bil l ion, while  

the cost-to-income ratio fell by 2.3 percentage points, 

to 45.0%. The 30.8% return on average equity  

and 4.00% return on assets are excellent by both 

hungarian and international standards. 

The dynamic profit growth of several domestic  

and foreign subsidiaries also contributed 

to the better-than-expected consolidated result. 

In this regard the per formances of oTP 

Mortgage Bank, oTP Garancia Insurance,  

the Merkantil Group, oTP Fund Management 

and the DsK Group were particularly  

noteworthy last year.

OTP Group has excellent profitability

and efficiency ratios by international 

standards as well

Message from the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
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all these results were achieved in the face of 

continuous challenges faced by the group, resulting 

from the prevailing macroeconomic and regulatory 

environment, and the fiercely competitive markets  

in which it operates.

 

In 2005 the Central Bank base rate fell by a total  

of 350 basis points, and this, coupled with escalating 

competition in the retail banking sector, exerted  

a constant downward pressure on the net interest 

margin. a new challenge resulted from the fact that 

foreign-currency loans have come to dominate  

the lending sector, as it became necessary to apply 

stricter customer rating procedures and a prudent 

provisioning policy in order to ensure that quality 

remained consistent despite the dramatic growth  

in the loan portfolio. The introduction of a special 

banking tax, as well as application of the amended 

IFrs standards, resulted in approximately  

hUF 18 billion in extra outgoings, but this growth  

in non-interest expenses was offset by the marked 

growth in revenues. 

The past year also saw a continuation of the Group’s 

foreign acquisition activities. after slovakia, Bulgaria 

and romania, oTP Bank has now established  

a presence in Croatia with the completion of its 

takeover of Nova banka, and in serbia through  

the purchase of Niška banka. The search for new 

acquisition opportunities, as well as the conversion 

and transformation of the existing subsidiaries, 

required a considerable investment of capital  

and resources.

In 2005 the contribution of foreign subsidiaries  

to consolidated profit rose by 1.9 percentage points, 

to 10.3%. once again, the highest after-tax profit was 

generated by the Bulgarian DsK Bank.  

at hUF 16.6 billion, after-tax profit was up 38.2% year 

on year, besides which the bank achieved a 6.9% 

interest margin, which is outstanding even at group 

level, and a cost-to- income ratio of 45.2%. all this 

should be viewed in the light of the fact that lending 

operations were dogged by a gamut of restrictive 

local regulations.

The slovakian and Croatian subsidiaries also closed 

a successful year, while in romania the organic 

growth entailed by the ongoing branch network 

expansion means that this operation is loss-making 

for the time being.

We continued to focus on the rationalisation  

of operations, improvements in cost-ef fectiveness  

and the modernisation and expansion of sales channels 

in 2005. From april, a performance appraisal  

and measurement system was introduced for branch 

staff, with the aim of providing sales incentives, while  

the ratio of agent sales grew substantially in the case 

of retail products, primarily mortgage and consumer 

loans, and we have introduced fur ther measures  

to boost the ef fectiveness of cross selling within  

the oTP Group. all of these measures are intended 

In 2005, OTP Bank continoued its

foreign acquisition activities
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not only to increase and consolidate market share, but 

also to strengthen customer satisfaction  

and loyalty towards the Bank, and ultimately to create 

a positive corporate image for oTP Bank.

The primary objective of the medium-term strategic 

plan is to continue creating shareholder value. With 

our stable profit-generating capacity and dynamic 

growth, we intend to become one of the key bank 

groups in the region by the end of this decade. 

although our operations continue to be focused  

on he provision of high-quality retail services, we are 

doing all we can to provide our expanding customer 

base with a fully comprehensive range of banking 

and financial services. To this end, we are continuously 

engaged in the development of new products  

and services, adapted to local requirements, both  

in hungary and at our foreign subsidiary banks.

It is one of our prime strategic objectives to maintain, 

and wherever possible to improve, our market position, 

while maintaining high prof i tabi l i ty. The sol id 

foundations upon which this strategy is buil t  

are provided not just by our existing hungarian  

and foreign banks and subsidiaries, since we are 

constantly seeking new acquisition opportunities that 

are suitable for integration with the Bankgroup’s  

core business activities, and which, when combined 

with our reorganisation and integration experience,  

wil l represent new sources of growth  

for the oTP Bankgroup.

I am confident that the group’s performance to date, 

the soundness of our strategic plans, the dedication 

of our employees, and the satisfaction and loyalty  

of our customers are all values which, notwithstanding 

the temporary difficulties arising from circumstances 

beyond our control, are vital factors that determine 

how we are judged by the market. To us, the trust 

of our shareholders represents a set of expectations, 

obl igations and responsibi l i t ies, as well  

as the motivation to achieve new successes  

and even bet ter results . 

It is my firm conviction that the oTP Group possesses 

the corporate culture, innovative capabilities and 

management experience it needs to successfully 

prepare for joining the banking system  

and competitive environment of the euro zone.

The primary objective of

the medium-term strategy is to continue 

creating shareholder value

Dr. Sándor Csányi
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Message from the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
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Profit and Loss Account (in HUF mn) 2004 2005 Change %

Net interest income �60,889 �97,��5 1�.9

Net interest income after provision �44,841 �69,18� 9.9

Non-interest income 161,769 �16,497 ��.8

Total income (with net fees) 40�,070 49�,79� ��.8

Operating cost ��9,998 �7�,67� 19.0

Profit before tax 156,0�4 19�,077 ��.1

Profit after tax 1�1,518 158,�74 �0.�

Balance Sheet * (in HUF bn) 2004  2005  Change %

Total assets 4,16�.4 5,�15.9 �5.�

Loans and advances to customers �,586.1 �,�97.� �7.5

Retail loans 1,547.4 1,965.8 �7.0

Corporate loans 9�0.6 1,195.4 �9.8

Municipal loans 118.1 1�6.0 15.�

Interbank loans and advances �86.� 4�8.8 5�.�

Deposits from customers �,90�.� �,4�8.� 18.1

Retail deposits �,155.8 �,56�.9 18.9

Corporate deposits 549.8 66�.� �0.4

Municipal deposits 196.5 �0�.1 �.4

Issued securities �17.� 54�.5 71.�

Total receivables �,586.1 �,�97.� �7.5

Performing loans �,�84.7 �,876.5 �5.9

Qualified loans �01.4 4�0.7 �9.6

Non-performing loans (NPLs) 90.7 119.1 �1.�

Provisions for possible loan losses 79.� 105.9 ��.5

Shareholders’ equity 4��.7 547.5 �6.�

Performance Ratios 2004 2005 Change %

Cost/income ratio % 57.� 55.4 (1.8)

Return on average equity (ROAE) % �5.� ��.� (�.0)

Return on average assets (ROAA) % �.45 �.�8 (0.07)

Capital adequacy ratio* (unconsolidated, HAR) % 11.19 10.56 (0.6�)

Undiluted EPS HUF 501  HUF 60� HUF 10�

Diluted EPS HUF 499  HUF 599 HUF 100

Market Share ** 2004 2005  

Households’ deposits % �5.4 �4.7  

Households’ loans % 40.1 �7.7  

Corporate deposits % 1�.� 11.4  

Corporate loans % 1�.� 11.7  

Municipal deposits % 66.� 6�.4  

Municipal loans % 5�.0 5�.7  

Financial Highlights (consolidated, based on IFRS)

 *as at December 31    

**as at December 31, market share of the hungarian members of oTP Group
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Macroeconomic and 
Monetary environment 
in 2005

In 2005, the hungarian economy grew 

dynamically, with the main driver being an 

expansion in expor ts and investments. Despite 

the rapid growth, inf lation fel l , enabling the 

central bank to gradually reduce the base rate. 

The internal imbalance in the economy worsened 

last year, while there was a slight improvement  

in the external equilibrium. The volume of loans  

and deposits in the banking sector grew at  

a rate similar to that of 2004.

In the past year economic growth remained 

strong, at more than 4%. While growth slowed 

in the european Union compared to 2004,  

the domestic economy – with the exception  

of the f irst quar ter – grew steadily. The weaker 

performance of the economy in the first quarter  

can be explained by the slowdown in growth 

in the Western european economic region. 

While in the f irst quar ter expor ts grew by 6.4%, 

in the following three quar ters a more than 11% 

increase was achieved. Besides expor ts, the 

strong economic growth was also due to a 7% 

rise in investments, while the rate of increase 

in household and community consumption 

remained well below this, since the f inal 

consumption figure indicated a rise of just 1.7%.

on the production side, the construction industry 

and the added value of transportation services 

increased at the highest rate, and clearly reflected 

in the performance of both sectors was the impact 

of investments implemented in connection with 

the numerous road construction projects last year.

The structure of GDP growth

investments last year were state road-construction 

and road-reconstruction projects.

Nominal wages rose by nearly 9% and real wages 

by 4.5% over the past year. since household 

consumer spending rose barely 2.4%, the volume  

Investment growth was affected in contrary directions 

by residential building projects and state  

road-construction projects during the year.  

The number of building permits issued for new homes 

fell to 51,500 and the number of new homes handed 

over was just 41,000. The main drivers behind 

OTP BANK Annual Report �005
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domestic deposits grew slightly more modestly, 

by 15%, compared to the previous year’s volume. 

The balance sheet total of the banking sector 

rose by 18% last year.

The corporate loan portfolio increased by 14%, 

a f igure similar to that of the previous year. a look 

at the composition of new loans reveals that 

companies favoured relatively short-term loans. 

among new loans, compared to the previous year 

there were 12.5% fewer long-term loans and 10% 

more shor t- term loans. Due to the fal l ing need  

for funds in the corporate sector, the deposits  

of businesses other than those in the f inancial 

sector grew by 8.5% in 2005.

By contrast to this, the external imbalance 

improved, since the 2004 current account deficit  

of eUr 6.9 billion fell by eUr 0.5 billion. The main 

reason for this improvement was the eUr 1 billion 

fal l in the foreign trade def ici t .

Behind the economy’s lower external net f inancing 

requirement lay the rise in net savings in the 

household sector and the increase in received  

eU subsidies.

once again in 2005, the primary source of growth 

in the banking sector was the expansion in lending. 

While total domestic loans of the credit institutions 

sector expanded by 18% last year, the banks’ 

of the year to 6% by september. after this, the base 

rate did not fall further, and due to the uncertainties 

surrounding the future of budgetary policy, the yields 

on government securities with a maturity of over one 

year rose by more than 1 percentage point during  

the remaining part of the year.

The budget deficit, less private pension payments, 

grew to 6.4% of GDP in 2005. The main reasons for 

the rise in the deficit were the considerable expansion 

in state investments and the growth in cash grants  

on the cost side, while on the revenue side the fall  

in VaT revenues is par ticularly notable  

as a contributory factor in the rise of the deficit .

of savings grew in the household sector compared 

to the previous year.

Inf lation decl ined steadily over the course  

of the year. Thus, while average inflation was 3.6%  

for the year as a whole, in the last quarter it was just 

3.3%. The prices of household energy, fuel,  

and services rose at an above average rate, while  

the price of food, clothing, and industrial  

products increased at a below-average rate.

The favourable inflationary trends meant that interest 

rates could continue to fall during the year. The central-

bank base rate dropped from 9.5% at the beginning  

Net savings by economic sector, as a percentage of GDP (four-quarter cumulated data)

Macroeconomic and monetary environment in 2005
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The 25% increase in the aggregate portfolio of retail 

loans far exceeded the rate of nominal GDP growth. 

The rate of growth of the volume of housing loans 

slowed to 20% in 2005 compared to a 27% increase 

in 2004, while the volume of consumer and other 

loans rose by 36%. In the case of both consumer  

and housing loans, the continued growth in demand  

for foreign currency-based loans was considerable, 

which may partly be explained by the persistently 

wide gap between forint and foreign-currency 

interest rates.

Total retail bank deposits grew by 10% – well below 

the increase in loans, but still exceeding the nominal 

rate of growth of GDP. Within the deposit total, the 

32% rate of growth in current account deposits was 

outstanding, while fixed-term deposits grew by just 

4%. The more moderate increase in the volume  

of f ixed-term deposits was due to the preference  

for non-bank savings vehicles. Thus, for example,  

the assets held in investment funds nearly doubled 

over the year, while insurance companies’ portfolios 

rose by 18% and those of pension funds by 40%.

Main portfolios of the banking sector, as a percentage of GDP

M a C r o e C o N o M I C  a N D  F I N a N C I a l 

T r e N D s  I N  T h e  C o U N T r I e s  

o F  T h e  F o r e I G N  s U B s I D I a r I e s

the investment rate increased thanks to a 13% 

rise in investments.

Consumption in the region typically grew faster than  

the economy as a whole in 2005, with the average 

growth being 6.5%. In Bulgaria and romania 

particularly, consumption increased relative to income, 

by 8% and 9%, but also in slovakia, consumption 

expenditure increased at a rate higher than that  

of previous years – more than 5%.

The dynamic growth in consumption was essentially  

a result of a rise, greater than in previous years, in real 

wages and of an expansion in retail loans, factors that 

enabled households to indulge in consumption  

that had been deferred in the previous years.

In 2005, the emerging economies in which the 

foreign subsidiaries operate – except for Croatia – 

grew at a rate that outstripped that of the hungarian 

economy. The growth rate of the economies  

of Bulgaria and slovakia was particularly strong, 

at 5.2% and 5.5% respectively.

While the growth in these countries remained 

largely investment and export-driven, as a result of 

accelerating household consumption the increase 

in internal demand was also an important factor  

in the growth. Bulgaria and slovakia are wor thy  

of mention as the most dynamically expanding 

economies, with a rate of growth in investments 

of more than 10%, although in romania too,  

OTP BANK Annual Report �0051�
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Thanks to the commitment of the national banks,  

the curbing of inflation in the above-mentioned 

countries continued successfully, and this made  

it possible, on an annual average, to lower benchmark 

interest rates. Parallel with this, differing trends could be 

observed, in particular in the second half of the year,  

in each country as regards inflation and interest rates.  

In Bulgaria, the price index increased markedly, primarily 

as a result of the administrative price measures related 

to preparations for eU membership, and the annual 

average inflation rate was 5%. although at a smaller 

rate, inflation increased in Croatia too, and in comparison 

to the previous year, the annual average price index 

grew by more than 1 percentage point, to 3.3%.

In slovakia and romania, the consumer price 

index was lower on an annual average basis,  

but inf lationary pressure grew in both economies  

in the second half of the year, since forcing  

the national banks to raise interest rates.

In terms of equilibrium, the respective economies  

in which the four subsidiaries operate continue  

to be in a more favourable position than is the 

hungarian economy. The budgetary posit ion  

in each country improved by a few tenths  

of a percentage point in 2005.

Despite what can be regarded as relatively favourable 

budgetary positions – mainly due to the rapid growth  

in internal demand mentioned above – in the countries 

where the subsidiaries operate large balance of 

payments deficits developed, reflecting their weak 

external balance position. Balance of payments 

deficits of the four countries was significant, with 

romania and Bulgaria posting extremely high deficits  

of 12% and 9% of GDP respectively. In relation  

to this, i t is impor tant to emphasise that due, 

among other factors, to considerable FDI inf lows, 

the balance of invisibles in each country amply 

covered the deficit on the current account, and debt 

rates did not increase. In 2005, thanks to the 

strong inf lows of capital – except for Bulgaria, 

which applies a f ixed exchange rate –  

the national currency grew stronger against  

the euro in each of the countries concerned.

Despite a marked increase over the past years,  

the level of banking penetration in the relevant 

countries remains below the eU average, although  

the depth of penetration of the f inancial 

intermediation system, calculated based on balance 

sheet total, in the banking sector in Croatia  

and slovakia exceeds the f igure for hungary.

Primarily thanks to the expansion on the loans side,  

in each country the balance sheet total of the banking 

sector increased dynamically in 2005, at rates that 

exceeded the nominal growth of GDP by between 8% 

and 11%. The growth was most notable in Bulgaria  

and slovakia, at more than 10%, although  

the penetration of the banking sector in Croatia  

and romania, at about 8% of GDP, was also  

in excess of the 6% seen in hungary.

Balance sheet total of the banking sector as a percentage of GDP

Macroeconomic and monetary environment in 2005
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Within lending, the growth in retail lending was 

outstanding: the increase in the aggregate volume  

of retai l loans in the four countries concerned 

exceeded the growth of GDP by nearly 3 percentage 

points, and the expansion of corporate loans 

outstripped the growth of the economy by a similar 

margin. Throughout the region, foreign currency-

based retail loans have proved extremely popular.

During the past year, with the exception of slovakia, 

measures restricting lending were enforced in all  

of the countries. Due to the rapid growth in lending, 

the central bank of Bulgaria ruled that if the rate  

of growth of the total loan portfolio of a commercial 

bank exceeds a cer tain rate (5% in 3 months, 

12.5% over 6 months, 17.5% over 9 months,  

or 23% over a 12-month period), and provided all 

other conditions are met, the bank concerned must 

place an interest-free deposit at the central bank  

in an amount equal to 2-4 times the excess loan 

placement. The National Bank of romania took two 

measures to slow the expansion in lending: f irst  

i t raised the provisioning requirement to 40%  

in respect of banks’ foreign exchange sources,  

and later it stipulated that the volume of corporate  

and retail loans in foreign exchange with  

no collateral in kind may not exceed 300%  

of the lending bank ’s equity. The central bank  

of Croatia, in several steps, tightened the conditions 

per taining to the raising of foreign funding  

sources in 2005. The rate of non- interest  

bearing compulsory reserves to be deposited  

in respect of newly raised foreign sources was 

increased from 30% to 40% in May of 2005  

and then to 50% in December.

although lending was the major source of growth  

in each country, with the exception of slovakia  

a growth in the volume of savings was also 

strongly apparent in the banking sector: retai l 

bank deposits grew at a rate 2-4% faster than the 

growth of national income last year. an increasing 

amount of savings were placed in non-banking 

products, most notably in Croatia and slovakia, 

with investment funds and insurance schemes 

proving par ticularly popular.

OTP BANK Annual Report �00514
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Brief Description  
of the oTP Group’s activities 
and results

The OTP Group closed an extremely successful year in 2005:  

the volume of customer loans and customer deposits grew 

considerably, the Group’s income increased dynamically, 

its operating efficiency improved, and its after-tax profit – despite  

an unfavourable change in taxation – increased at an outstanding rate.  

The Group’s financial performance 
in 2005

In 2005, the Group’s consolidated af ter-tax prof i t 

based on IFrs was hUF 158.3 billion, up by 20.3% 

compared to the previous year and 19.2% more than 

the parent company’s pre -tax prof i t for the same 

period. In 2005 the Bank ’s consolidated return  

on average assets (roaa) and its consolidated return 

on average equity (roae) were 3.38% and 32.3% 

respectively (in 2004: 3.45% and 35.3%).

as of December 31, 2005, oTP Bank’s consolidated 

balance sheet total was hUF 5,215.9 billion, based 

on IFrs, up by 25.3% or hUF 1,053.5 billion from  

a year earlier, and exceeding the parent company’s 

balance sheet total of the same period by 45.2%. 

as of December 31, 2005, the aggregate balance 

sheet total of those members of the oTP Group that 

conduct banking activities (oTP Bank, Merkanti l 

Bank, oTP Building society and oTP Mortgage Bank) 

represented 24.1% of the balance sheet total  

of the entire hungarian credit insti tution sector. 

The parent company, the largest contributor  

to the consolidated balance sheet total and profits, 

can also look back with satisfaction on what was  

a highly successful year. Its income grew dynamically, 

and the Bank retained its leading position in terms  

of absolute profits. I ts af ter-tax earnings account  

for 43% of the banking sector’s aggregate total after-

tax prof i t , and in terms of roa and roe, i t is 

the clear front- runner in the region as a whole.

From among the hungarian subsidiaries,  

oTP Garancia Insurance achieved outstanding 

results in 2005: its gross premium income grew  

by 36% and its after-tax profit by 97%. The Merkantil 

Group increased its loan portfolio by more than 33% 

in a stagnating vehicle sales market, and the aggregate 

total af ter-tax profit of its members grew by more 

than 67% in 2005. The net asset value  

of the investment funds managed by oTP Fund 

Management grew by close to 50% compared  

to year-end 2004, and its after-tax profit was 39% 

more than in the base period. The assets  

and membership of the oTP Funds increased 

considerably, and their share of household  

deposits exceeded 20% at the end of 2005.



17

The foreign subsidiaries also achieved considerable 

growth. In 2005 DsK Bank’s loan portfolio grew  

by 41%, its deposit portfolio by 31%, and its after-tax 

profit by more than 38%. The number of debit cards 

issued exceeded 900,000, and the bank’s sales 

network and electronic services were greatly 

strengthened. The loan portfolio of the slovakian oBs 

grew by 41%, its deposit portfolio by 8.5%, and its after-

tax profit was almost three times as high as in 2004. 

The Bank’s romanian subsidiary, oTP Bank romania, 

launched its retail services and expanded its branch 

network. By year-end 2005 the number of oBr 

branches had grown from 14 at the end of 2004 to 27.

In 2005 the Bank purchased the Croatian Nova 

banka, which now operates under the name oTP 

banka hrvatska (oBh). as of December 31, 2005  

the consolidated balance sheet total of oBh stood  

at hUF 298.2 billion, and the Bank’s share of the 

Croatian market was 3.4%. In 2005 we launched  

an acquisition bid for the serbian Niška banka  

and completed the transaction in March 2006.

Share price in 2005

The increase in the price of oTP shares  

in the past years has been considerably greater  

than that of the typical share prices of eastern  

and western european banks. In 2005 the price  

of oTP Bank’s shares increased by 25.1%  

to hUF 6,967 at year-end, while the BUX, 

the share index of the Budapest stock exchange, 

increased by 41% in a year. The market value  

of the Bank ’s shares had risen to hUF 1,950 

bill ion or eUr 7.7 bill ion by the end of December 

2005. Up until the fall of 2005 the Bank’s share 

price outper formed the benchmark indices; 

however, in the fal l – primarily due to investors’ 

assessment of the emerging economics  

and of hungarian macroeconomic performance  

in particular – it was lower than the benchmarks.  

The price of the Bank ’s shares grew  

by a factor of almost 61 (in forint terms) from 

august of 1995 (from the l ist ing) to the end 

of December 2005.

Number of customers, sales 
network and headcount at the 
Bank Group

as of December 2005 oTP Bank and i ts foreign 

subsidiaries were offering high-quality solutions  

to the financial needs of some 9.7 million customers  

in 5 countries of the region. as of December 31, 2005 

the number of the parent bank’s customers stood  

at close to 4.8 million, consisting of close to 4.6 million 

retail customers, 196,000 micro and small businesses, 

more than 19,000 medium-sized companies  

and large corporations, and close to 2,400 municipal 

customers. The total number of customers of the Bank 

Group’s foreign subsidiaries was more than 4.9 million, 

more than 4.6 million of whom were retail customers. 

among the foreign subsidiaries, DsK Bank has  

an extensive customer base: the bank had more than 

4.2 mil l ion customers in December 2005,  

which is comparable to the f igures in hungary. 

Brief description of the OTP Group’s activities and results
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at the regional level, the Bank Group’s customers receive 

high-quality services and have 960 branches, 2,221 

aTMs, 27,976 Pos terminals, as well as call centres, 

mobile banking and internet banking services, business 

terminals and an agency sales network at their disposal. 

In hungary, in addition to oTP Bank’s branch network 

consisting of 408 branches – where the Bank also sells 

the products of the Bank Group’s hungarian members – 

oTP Garancia Insurance has a considerable network 

consisting of 192 units. The foreign subsidiaries offer 

services to their customers through a total of 552 

branches, 721 aTMs, and 2,443 Pos terminals.

reaching the oTP Group’s objectives requires 

a highly-quali f ied work force,  

and therefore one of the Bank Group’s priorities 

is to establish, maintain and train appropriately 

prepared, sales-oriented and loyal customer 

service representatives and to retain talented 

experts. as of December 31, 2005, the closing 

headcount of the oTP Group’s employees was 

17,977, which is 1,004 more than in the same 

period last year. The reason for this growth  

in headcount was the acquisition of the Croatian 

subsidiary. The acquired banks are undergoing 

rationalisation and consolidation projects which  

will result in a reduced headcount; at the same 

time, launching new divisions in romania  

and establishing f inancial groups at the other 

foreign subsidiaries wil l result in headcount 

growth. one third of the Bank Group’s employees 

work abroad, while close to two-thirds work  

for the hungarian members of the Bank Group,  

of whom 7,899 are employed by oTP Bank.

Main developments in OTP Bank 
in 2005

In 2005 the Bank continued to implement large-scale 

capital projects aimed at strengthening its 

competitiveness, rationalising and streamlining 

operations, cutting costs and improving the quality of 

services. In the course of the year we also performed 

follow-up work in connection with numerous 

developments that were implemented in 2004.

Work in the framework of the sTarT Project, intended 

for promoting sales and improving branch processes, 

continued, and i ts ef fects are already being felt  

in the everyday work of the branches. The customer 

satisfaction surveys conducted by GFK hungária 

Market research Insti tute confirm that the quali ty  

of customer service has improved considerably, 

waiting times have been shor tened, and that  

the rationalisation of branch processes has produced 

tangible results . The Bank ’s exper ts  

continue to improve the system on the basis  

of continuous feedback. 

The Basel II and the IFrs projects, which are intended 

to help the Bank prepare for international accounting 

and set tlement requirements, were respectively 

continued and commenced. since october 2004  

the Basel I I Implementation Project has completed  

the majority of tasks required for i ts launch  

in 2007 and for approval by the supervisory authority.  

The objective of the IFrs project is to establish  

and introduce consolidated IFrs accounting 

and control l ing procedures as well  

as a set tlement system.

In addition, mandatory data provision by the Bank has 

become considerably simpler. The Mandatory report 

Preparation system (MrPs) enables the Bank  

to produce repor ts for the supervisory authority 

automatically and to maintain uniform 

procedures. as a result , activi ties that have been 

per formed manually have become automated, 

manual data input is suppor ted by a controlled 

inter face, general ledger reconcil iation has been 

expanded, and uniform procedures are used  
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services of fered by aTMs 24 hours a day. 

oTP Bank ’s goal is to develop and improve  

the ef f iciency of i ts agency sales network.  

In order to achieve this, the Par tner Project was 

launched. In its first phase the areas to be improved 

were identified (capacity utilisation, product offering, 

customer relations, improving the system  

of incentives, training and suppor t). In the fal l  

of 2005 the implementation phase was commenced,  

and the f irst campaigns were launched with  

an expanded selection of products under the new 

suppor t and control system. 

In addition, smaller improvements were made  

to several of the Bank’s IT systems. These systems  

and the connections they provide enable the Bank  

to be prepared to respond to market challenges both 

in terms of information and infrastructure. In the last 

year a new process was launched to unite the various 

IT systems and to bring them up to the same level 

within the group. Its ultimate goal is to ensure that 

each member of the oTP Group is able to serve  

its customers at the same high level, with the help  

of a similar infrastructure.

in preparing repor ts to the supervisory authority,  

all of which has lifted a burden from our employees’ 

shoulders. In 2005 the Interest system that had been 

used for handling securities was replaced,  

and the ClaVIs system was introduced and launched. 

In the course of the year problems were solved,  

and the system, with its continuously expanding 

functions, is now at our customers’ disposal . 

In 2005 we continued to improve the electronic 

banking systems. several convenient functions were 

added to the system (e.g. credit card bank 

statements can be downloaded retroactively,  

and applications were enhanced). In connection  

with this, the MiddleWare and Base24 systems, 

providing support for the sales channels and card 

systems, were also improved. 

Bank card systems were also enhanced:  

the operational system supporting aTMs was 

changed in order to improve the aTM system,  

and the aTM cash optimisation application was 

introduced. The new developments ensure 

undisturbed use of the increasingly higher quality 

Brief description of the OTP Group’s activities and results
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1 according to hungarian accounting standards

activities of the hungarian 
Group Members1

B a s I C  r e T a I l  s e r V I C e s

oTP Bank’s customers continue to regard the institution 

as hungary’s best-known and safest bank. During 

the process of consolidation that has taken place 

in the banking market in the past few years, oTP Bank 

has maintained its market-leading position in the retail 

segment owing to its development of up-to-date 

products that meet the latest needs of its customers, 

elevating the level of customer service generally, and 

improving accessibility. The Bank expends considerable 

efforts on increasing customer satisfaction. In order 

to achieve this goal, the Transaction Database and the 

CrM system have been available for more than a year 

as effective tools for preventing customer churn. several 

projects were launched and successfully completed 

in 2005 to improve customer service. The “Main 

Developments” section contains more information 

about these projects.

Account management, channels, 
banking transactions

at the end of 2005 oTP Bank had 4.6 million retail 

customers, 2.9 million of whom had forint current 

accounts. In connection with account management, 

oTP Bank wishes to make everyday banking simpler 

for its customers through an increasing number 

of channels.

accordingly, the Bank has considerable market 

share in relation to all the electronic banking 

channels. The number of customers with 

a contract for the use of the Bank ’s electronic 

channels increased substantially in 2005. some 

727,000 customers made calls to the telephone 

help desk (33.8% market share), over 533,000 

customers used the mobile phone-based services 

(47.6% market share), while 370,000 customers 

used internet (51.4% market share). This represents 

a 24% and 33% increase in the number of telephone 

banking and internet banking customers respectively, 

while the number of mobile banking service users 

grew by an outstanding 112%. The number of text 

messages sent (e.g. mobile signature, control, 

interactive text message) grew by 53%, the number 

of internet transactions by 62%, the number of 

mobile phone contracts by 108%, and the number 

of electronic account packages by 47%.
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In 2005 the functions available through the electronic 

channels continued to grow. The improvements 

increased practicality and convenience; for example, 

customers received help in storing certain frequently 

occurring data and in issuing multiple direct 

debit orders. Within internet-based services, 

application and download options were enhanced, 

and securities management functions 

are becoming more widely available. 

oTP Bank’s goal is to develop and improve the 

efficiency of its agency sales network. In order to 

achieve this, the Partner Project was launched, 

as a result of which a new sales support and incentive 

system was introduced, the IT support system was 

further improved, and the number of agents that 

have a relationship with the Bank had increased 

considerably by the end of the year to 725. In the 

course of the year the key products sold by the agents 

were housing and mortgage-backed loans. 

In December 2005 more than 40% of the contracted 

housing loan volume was sold by agents. In the last 

months of the year, personal loans and credit cards 

were added to the selection of products offered 

within the Partner system. The project includes a sales 

competition to help achieve the targeted volumes.

In 2005 the renovation and modernisation of 

the branch network continued. owing to the key 

projects, the quality of customer service improved 

considerably and waiting time was shortened due 

to the rationalisation of task distribution within the 

branches and the expansion of electronic channels 

on the one hand, and the restructuring of the 

customer service representatives’ incentive system 

on the other hand. Within the Infrastructure and 

Network optimisation Project, 21 branches had 

been opened by December 31, 2005. In the 

remodelled branches, 434 improved workstations 

are now at the disposal of the Bank’s customers 

and partners. 

Bank cards

at year-end 2005, the number of cards issued 

by the Bank stood at 3,820,000, a 4.9% increase 

over the previous year’s figure (3,641,000). 

at year-end 2005, the number of forint-based deposit 

and credit cards issued in the retail division was close 

to 3,700,000, representing a rise of 4.7% compared to 

the 3,500,000 cards at year-end 2004. Within this, the 

number of classical debit cards issued to current-account 

holders was 2,784,000, and the number of Multipont 

charge cards was 500,000, while the number of cards 

linked to “B-hitel” and “C-hitel” overdraft facilities, 

currently in the process of being phased out, was already 

down to just 105,000 at year-end 2005. The number 

of classical credit cards, launched in the final months of 

2003, was close to 134,000 at year-end 2005. In 2005 

the Bank further expanded its credit-card portfolio, and 

within this, 52,000 aMeX credit cards had been sold 

by the end of the year. The number of foreign-currency-

based cards issued by the Bank increased by 16.3% 

over the year, to more than 10,000.

By year-end 2005, the number of oTP-operated aTMs 

had increased to 1,500, from 1,400 in the previous 

year. In 2005 the number of transactions carried out 

using aTMs owned by oTP was 76.1 million, and the 

total volume of these transactions was hUF 2,188 

billion. The number of aTM transactions carried out 

using cards issued by the Bank was 70.5 million, with 

a total volume of hUF 1,978 billion. Compared to the 

previous year, the average value of transactions on the 

acceptor side increased from hUF 27,000 to 28,700 

and income grew by 30.6%. 

as at December 31, 2005, the number of Pos 

terminals was 25,478, representing an increase 

of 3,801 compared to the previous year. The Bank 

operated 3,439 of these terminals at its own branches, 

17,104 at commercial outlets and 4,935 at post offices. 

Activities of the Hungarian Group members
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The number of Pos terminals at commercial outlets 

grew by 24.4%. In 2005, the number of transactions 

made using oTP Bank’s own Pos network was 

63 million, with a volume of hUF 527 billion, which 

represents a 21% rise in the number of transactions 

and in turnover. on the issuer side, the number 

of transactions and turnover increased by 17.2% 

and 18.3% respectively compared to 2004. Thus, 

the 50 million transactions carried out by oTP Bank’s 

customers resulted in a turnover of hUF 375 billion.

Deposits, investments

at year-end 2005 the oTP Group managed more than 

one third of household deposits (34.7%). Based on the 

combined balance sheet total of financial institutions, at 

year-end 2005 the Bank had a market share of 34.5% in 

household forint deposits and 36.0% in foreign-currency 

deposits. Within the group, household deposit products 

are offered by oTP Bank, Merkantil Bank and oTP 

Building society. In addition to oTP Bank, oTP Fund 

Management and the oTP Pension and health Funds 

also retained their market leading positions in their own 

market segments, and oTP Garancia Insurance, which 

is one of the frontrunners among the domestic insurance 

companies, improved its position further. 

Retail deposits

By year-end 2005, the volume of retail deposits managed 

by the Bank had reached hUF 1,870.2 billion, representing 

a 7.6% increase over the previous year’s figure. 

Within retail deposits, forint deposits increased by 7.0%, 

or hUF 106.1 billion, to hUF 1,612.1 billion in 2005. 

The proportion of retail current account deposits 

– a key product line – within forint deposits was 77.5% 

(in 2004: 75.1%). Following a 3.8% fall over the year, 

the total balance of passbook deposits amounted 

to hUF 326.9 billion as at December 31, 2005, 

representing a 20.3% share within forint deposits. 

The volume of foreign currency deposits grew by 

11.4%, or hUF 26.3 billion, to hUF 258.0 billion, 

accounting for 13.8% of retail deposits as at year-end 

2005 (in 2004: 13.3%). In 2005 the previous decline 

in the volume of foreign currency deposits came 

to an end, and the volume of such deposits began to 

grow markedly, partly due to exchange rate changes.

as the result of new contracts, contractual deposit 

taking and disbursements, oTP Building society’s 

deposit portfolio increased by 32.5%, to hUF 78.8 

billion, close to 95% of which came from retail deposits. 

During the course of the year, the Building society 

concluded over 106,000 contracts, with a total 

contract value of hUF 115.6 billion. By year-end 2005 

oTP Building society had attained a 54.7% market 

share based on the number of valid contracts, a 48.7% 

market share based on contract value, and an estimated 

49.3% market share based on deposit volume in the 

two-player building society market. 

Investment funds, securities

Through oTP Fund Management, the Bank Group is one 

of the leading service providers in the fund management 

market. at the end of the year, the Bank Group’s market 

share of the securities fund market was 38.3%.

In 2005 the domestic investment market was 

characterised by a decline in bond yields, a soaring 

stock market, and a massive increase in mutual fund 

investments, especially in bond and real estate funds. 

The trend of declining yields at the beginning of the 

year was reversed in the last quarter of the year, which 

resulted in the flow of significant investment towards 

non-securities savings. oTP Bank, in line with the overall 

trend in the market – and despite the negative factors 

that came into play at year-end – closed a record year 

in securities trading.

The net asset value of the managed funds amounted 

to hUF 580.4 billion at the end of 2005, which is a 

considerable, 48.4% increase compared to the year-end 

2004 figure. Within this total, the net asset value of the 

optima Fund stood at hUF 411.9 billion at year-end, 

which represents a growth of 29.5%. The assets of the 

Maxima, Paletta, UBs Fund of Funds, Quality equity 

Fund and Fantázia Derivative share Fund also grew, 

while the assets of the euró and Dollár Funds decreased 

over the course of 2005. 
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In 2005 the Bank fur ther expanded its uniquely 

wide selection of products in the market. 

In addition to mortgage bonds with maturities 

of 1 and 3 years, the Bank launched a bullet payment 

bond with a 10-year maturity, and launched 

3 new domestic (oTP) and 5 new foreign (UBs) 

investment funds for Private Banking customers.

The market value of the investment por t folio 

managed by the Bank exceeded hUF 1,846 

bil l ion as at year-end 2005, which represents an 

increase of more than 21%. Despite the negative 

tendencies at the end of the year, the retail 

securities por t folio managed by the Bank grew by 

19%. as a result of this outstanding per formance, 

the Bank managed to hold on to i ts market 

leading position in this segment of the market, 

with a market share of over 30%.

Pension and health insurance fund 
services

Within the Bank Group, funds are managed by oTP 

Fund Management, while the administrative tasks and 

member recruitment in connection with the funds are 

performed by oTP Funds servicing and Consulting. 

oTP Funds play a leading role in the funds market both 

in terms of their assets and their membership count. 

By year-end 2005 the oTP Funds’ assets stood at hUF 

397.8 billion and their membership increased by 12.1% 

to 1,017,800. The group’s market share of household 

deposits was over 20%. 

In the course of 2005, the assets of oTP Voluntary 

Pension Fund grew by 19.6% from hUF 64.8 billion, 

to hUF 77.5 billion, and the number of its members 

stood at 226,000, a 21.7% increase over last year’s 

figure. The assets of oTP Private Pension Fund grew 

extremely dynamically, by 41.8% to hUF 317.3 billion, 

and its membership numbers increased from 712,000 

to 723,000. The assets of oTP health Insurance Fund 

stood at hUF 3 billion, and its membership count 

was more than 68,000.

Life and non-life insurance

The oTP Group offers a wide selection of life and 

bank insurance as well as non-life insurance services 

to its customers via oTP Garancia Insurance ltd., 

and through the branch and agency network of 

the insurance company and the Bank. oTP Garancia 

Insurance is the largest hungarian bank insurance 

provider and the second largest market player 

in terms of its life insurance premium revenues.

oTP Garancia Insurance ltd. achieved premium 

revenue of hUF 75.8 billion in 2005, which was 

36.3%, or hUF 20 billion, more than in the previous 

year. Its market share of total insurance-premium 

revenue increased from 9.3% in the previous year 

to 11%. More than 40% of the premium revenue was 

generated by sales within the oTP Bank network. 

Premium revenues from the life and bank insurance 

business were hUF 44.6 billion, which gave the 

Company a 14.8% share of the life-insurance market 

Activities of the Hungarian Group members
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(compared to 11% in 2004). of life-insurance 

revenues, premium revenue from one-off premium-

payment life-insurance policies grew dynamically, 

by 124.3% or hUF 15.8 billion, while revenues 

from regular-premium life-insurance policies grew 

by 14.9%. By the end of the year the volume 

of household deposits in life insurance premium 

reserves was close to hUF 115 billion. revenues 

of the non-life division were hUF 31.2 billion 

in 2005, which represents an increase of 7.8%.

Retail loans

at the end of December 2005, the volume of retail 

loans was hUF 460.1 billion, 23.9% higher than at 

year-end 2004, which can be attributed to a five-fold 

increase in the volume of foreign currency loans with 

preferable interest rates. In addition to the majority 

of disbursed forint-based housing loans, starting from 

March 2005, foreign currency-based housing and 

mortgage loans were also transferred to oTP Mortgage 

Bank. Close to half of the approximately 34,000 loans 

that were transferred to oTP Mortgage Bank were 

foreign currency-based. The oTP Group2  had a market 

share of 37.7% in household loans at the end of 2005.

Housing loans

The decrease in demand for forint-based housing 

loans and a predominant demand for foreign 

currency-based housing loans that star ted 

in 2004 continued in 2005 both nationwide 

and in respect of the Bank. 

By year-end 2005, the volume of housing loans in oTP 

Bank’s balance sheet had increased by 23.3%, to hUF 

210.1 billion. Close to half of all disbursed housing loans 

were foreign currency-based. In 2005 the portfolio of 

housing loans transferred to oTP Mortgage Bank 

exceeded hUF 146 billion as a result of which oTP 

Mortgage Bank’s housing loan portfolio grew by 9.3% to 

hUF 842.2 billion by year-end 2005. The loan portfolio 

of oTP Building society – due to the increasing popularity 

of foreign currency-based loans offered under favourable 

conditions – decreased by hUF 1.7 billion to hUF 6.2 

billion. as of December 31, 2005, the total market 

share held by the oTP Group – including the loans 

provided by oTP Mortgage Bank and oTP Building 

society – stood at 46.4%. The group’s market share 

in foreign currency-based housing loans grew by close 

to 16%-point (from 6.9% to 22.6%) in one year.

In order to retain its competitive edge, the Bank further 

enhanced its product portfolio and sales system. In the 

course of the year the Bank eliminated low volume 

products and introduced several new products that meet 

market demands and utilise the opportunities created by 

changes in the system of subsidies (e.g. Fészekrakó, or 

First home loan, low instalment facilities, debt repayment 

loan, preferential home loan package in connection 

with home sales by municipalities and ministries, foreign 

currency-based loan combined with life insurance 

or building society deposit). In 2005 the Bank increased 

the number of its branches offering housing loans from 

186 to 273, and at the end of the year no fewer than 

725 agents were selling the Bank’s housing loans. The 

activities of agents and employees offering loan products 

are supported by the CrM sales support system and 

through training. at the end of 2005 the Bank, together 

with the sCD Group, established oTP-sCD leasing Co. 

ltd., which launched a no-downpayment home leasing 

facility, and annuity ltd., which introduced a real estate-

based annuity product in the market in 2006.

Consumer loans

The oTP Group offers consumer loans via oTP Bank, 

Merkantil Bank and Merkantil Car. 

oTP Bank of fers primarily current account-type, 

credit card, durable -goods loans, and personal 

and mortgage-backed loans, while the above-

mentioned two companies in the Merkantil Group 

of fer vehicle f inancing loans. 

In 2005 the volume of consumer loans extended 

by the Bank increased by 24.4%, to hUF 249.9 billion. 

Together with the foreign currency-based mortgage 

loans that were transferred to oTP Mortgage Bank, the 

volume stood at hUF 257.0 billion as of December 31, 

2005. The Bank Group’s market share of household 

consumer and other loans grew from 23.2% to 24.4%.

2oTP Bank+Merkantil Bank+oTP Mortgage Bank+oTP Building society
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The portfolio of personal loans continued to grow 

dynamically in 2005, by 67.2%, to reach hUF 123.3 

billion by the end of 2005, gradually replacing 

the “B-“ and “C-hitel” overdraft facilities, the volume 

of which fell by 51.8% to hUF 24.5 billion.

The volume of the re-launched “a-hitel” overdraft 

facilities on retail current accounts continued to grow, 

and by December 31, 2005 had increased 

by 44.4%, to hUF 45.6 billion. owing to high forint 

interest rates, the volume of forint-based mortgage-

backed loans decreased by 45.2% against the 

previous year, to hUF 11.5 billion at year-end 2005. 

however, the volume of foreign currency-based 

mortgage loans increased five-fold in the course 

of the year, to reach hUF 16.1 billion by year-end.

aMeX Blue, which was launched by the Bank in 2005 

and which has proved very popular among customers, 

was a major reason that the volume of loan placements 

in connection with credit cards grew more than two 

and a half times compared to the previous year, to reach 

hUF 12.3 billion by December 31, 2005. The volume 

of durable-goods loans (consumer credit) increased by 

23.3%, to hUF 8.8 billion.

In 2005 the Merkantil Group strengthened its position 

in the vehicle-financing market despite fierce competition 

and decreasing vehicle sales. Its estimated market share 

on the basis of financed new cars is 20%. at the end 

of 2005 Merkantil Bank’s retail consumer loan portfolio 

stood at hUF 95.4 billion, and Merkantil Car’s retail loan 

placement portfolio was hUF 94.0 billion. 

P r I V a T e  B a N K I N G  s e r V I C e s

The oTP Group’s private banking value proposition  

to affluent customers was supplemented further in terms 

of its content in 2005. The Bank offers advisory services 

– investment advice, tax advice, travel arrangements, 

art and real estate advice – as well as ‘prestige’ benefits, 

such as a gold bank card and VIP lounge at Ferihegy 

airport, to its private banking customers. 

In addition to the wide variety of domestic investment 

products available, the number of investment 

opportunities abroad also increased considerably in 

2005, partly through the launch in hungary of 5 foreign 

investment funds offered by UBs asset Management, 

and through the offering of foreign equities and index-

tracking funds (eTF) available via the Xetra stock 

exchange system. since the middle of last year, 

oTP Private Banking customers – as an opportunity 

available to them alone – have also been able to apply 

for an american express exclusive Gold debit card.

advisors assess customers’ investment behaviour 

on the basis of individually compiled model portfolios, 

which they update with monthly tactical and quarterly 

portfolio reviews in order to be able to make their 

investment decisions on the basis of customised, 

up-to-date and detailed investment advice.

our customers can find information on the products 

and services available to them on our private banking 

website (www.otpprivatebanking.hu), from the comfort 

of their own homes, and can also access the latest 

capital market information, which is prepared 

by the Bank’s analysis Centre.

The number of private banking contracts was  

close to 11,000 by year-end 2005, and  

the managed assets grew even more dynamically, 

by hUF 84.5 billion, to reach hUF 326.3 billion  

on December 31, 2005, which represents a 35% 

gain in a year. Within the Private Banking portfolio, 

the portfolio managed in the context of the ‘VIP’ 

private banking service increased by 63%, to reach 

hUF 46.4 bill ion in 2005.

Activities of the Hungarian Group members
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of the various electronic services avai lable 

to customers that have bank cards, the oTPdirekt 

telephone and mobile phone service continues to be 

the most popular, with 31,000 and 28,000 corporate 

users respectively at the end of 2005. The number 

of corporate customers that use internet banking 

services also grew considerably and was close 

to 48,000 by the end of 2005.

Corporate services

Corporate account management, 
banking transactions

The oTP Group was again one of the key players  

in the market in 2005 in terms of corporate products 

and services. Besides oTP Bank, Merkantil Bank also 

offers corporate account management, and oTP Building 

society and oTP Fund Management also offer deposit 

taking and investment fund sales to corporate 

customers. The total share of the Bank Group – that is, 

oTP Bank, Merkantil Bank and oTP Building society – 

of the deposit portfolio of the credit institution sector 

was 11.4% at year-end 2005.

as of December 31, 2005, the corporate deposit 

portfolio stood at hUF 459.5 billion, a 9.1% increase 

over the previous year. of the deposit total, 60% was 

made up of the deposits of incorporated business 

entities, which represented an increase of 10.4% 

over the course of one year. The forint deposits of 

incorporated business entities grew by 9.8% to reach 

hUF 246.9 billion, while their foreign-currency 

deposits in 2005 grew by 15.6% to hUF 29.5 billion. 

The volume of deposits held by small enterprises 

and individual entrepreneurs grew by 5.3% to hUF 64.7 

billion, of which the share of forint deposits was 97%.

In 2005 the handling of the corporate segment was 

transformed. as a result, the corporate-customer 

segment, which used to be treated in a uniform manner, 

is now divided into two large groups, micro and small 

businesses on the one hand, and medium-sized 

and large businesses on the other hand. Dividing the 

segment in this manner will enable us to provide an 

even more precise and tailored response to customer 

needs. as a part of this, the Bank created an Mse (micro 

and small enterprises) department within the retail 

division of the Bank. starting from september 2005, 

oTP Bank renewed the services extended to micro 

and small businesses and increased their availability. 

The deposit portfolio of Mse customers stood at 

hUF 215.3 billion as of December 31, 2005, and the 

total number of Mse customers was close to 200,000.

Bank cards, electronic services

at year-end 2005, the number of business cards 

issued by oTP Bank was close to 115,000, 

representing an increase of 11.9%. The great majority 

of these (nearly 87,000) were domestic corporate 

and business cards. The number of széchenyi Cards 

exceeded 8,000 by year-end 2005. 

C o M M e r C I a l  B a N K I N G  s e r V I C e s
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Corporate loans

oTP Bank and its subsidiaries – the Merkantil Group 

and oTP Building society in the case of domestic 

financing – offer a wide selection of loan products 

to their corporate customers. The Bank Group is one 

of the market leaders in this segment and had a share 

of 11.7% of the credit institution sector’s corporate 

loan portfolio at the end of 2005.

The corporate loan portfolio grew by hUF 69.7 billion, 

to hUF 876.0 billion, by December 31, 2005. 

The loan portfolio of incorporated business entities 

grew by 12.4%, to hUF 678.0 billion, while the 

foreign-currency loans of this customer group rose 

by 22.5%, to hUF 328.0 billion. The portfolio of small-

enterprise loans increased by 11.2%, to hUF 27.2 

billion. loans taken up by individual entrepreneurs 

grew by 6.0%, to hUF 14.8 billion.

at the end of 2005 the largest single portion of the loan 

portfolio, 26.0%, consisted of loans extended to the real 

estate and business services sector. a further 15% went 

to electricity, gas, heat and water supply companies, 15% 

to enterprises engaged in trade, 13% to manufacturing 

entities, and 11% to transport, warehousing, postal and 

telecommunications companies. The agricultural sector 

accounted for 4% of the total loan portfolio.

over the year, there were loans to enterprises in the 

real estate and business services sector that grew 

by the greatest extent, by hUF 68.9 billion, although 

there was also a substantial, hUF 14.1 billion, growth 

in the volume of loans to the trading sector, and 

a hUF 13.4 billion increase in loans to the transport, 

warehousing, postal and telecommunications sector. 

however, the loan portfolio of sectors offering other 

services decreased by 33.1%.

In 2005 the Bank continued to steadily develop and 

enhance its commercial banking services: the Bank made 

the pre-financing conditions for eU tenders more flexible, 

and made cross-border cash-pool services available 

to multinational companies. In the course of the year the 

Bank introduced several loan products to aid in business 

development and to assist agricultural businesses.

The loan portfolio of the Mse segment, which 

was created as a result of the division in corporate 

customer management, was close to hUF 33 billion 

as of December 31, 2005.

Leasing

The Bank Group provides its leasing services through 

the Merkantil Group. The aggregate portfolio of 

capital-goods leasing stood at hUF 7.7 billion, while 

the ratio of the long-term capital-goods leasing 

portfolio was hUF 350 million at the end of 2005. 

The closing portfolio of dealer financing at the end 

of 2005 stood at hUF 18.0 billion, and 4.6% of 

the loan portfolio was foreign currency-based.

The Bank Group is represented on the property 

leasing market by Merkantil Property leasing Co. ltd. 

as of December 31, 2005, the balance sheet total 

of Merkantil Property leasing was hUF 9.5 billion, 

and its property leasing portfolio grew by hUF 3.4 billion 

compared to 2004. over half of the property leasing 

contract portfolio is listed in the books of project 

companies, and if this is taken into account, 

a further hUF 10.6 billion is added to the portfolio.

Project finance

The division’s total portfolio stood at hUF 193.8 billion 

on December 31, 2005, which represents a 10% 

increase compared to 2004. a major portion of 

the loans went to finance real estate projects (22.5%), 

the power generation sector (22.5%), and company 

acquisitions (19.4%).

The Bank concluded several transactions  

of outstanding significance in the course of 2005, 

such as the Palace of ar ts (a PPP project), 

Kerepesi Plaza, and the Graboplast (company 

acquisition) project. In addition to domestic 

transactions, the Bank also par ticipated in 

f inancing foreign projects, especial ly in Bulgaria 

(e.g. sunny Beach – a hotel) and in slovakia  

(e.g. enviral – a bio -ethanol plant).

Activities of the Hungarian Group members
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M U N I C I P a l I T Y  s e r V I C e s

deposit total, as a result of strenuous efforts on 

the part of competitors to acquire market share, 

the Bank’s share of the market dropped slightly, 

from 66.2% to 63.4%. at the same time, the Bank’s 

portfolio of municipality loans grew in the course 

of the year, by 34.3% to hUF 127 billion, bringing its 

share of this segment of the loans market to 52.7%. 

The division introduced a quality assurance system 

in 2005 and acquired Iso 9001: 2000 certification.

The number of those among the municipalities and 

their institutions using the Bank’s customer terminals 

rose continuously over the year (from 4,581 in 2004 

to 5,700 at the end of 2005), while the number 

of municipality customers using the Mini Treasury 

system also grew.

The Bank again succeeded in retaining its leading role 

in municipality banking in 2005. By the end of 2005 

more than 74% of the client base, 2,359 municipalities 

and their institutions, had oTP Bank managing their 

cash-flow accounts, which represents a 4% decrease 

compared to year-end 2004. This is due to the fact 

that, as a result of recent changes in statutory 

regulations, municipalities can change their account 

managing bank in any month of the year, and, if they 

wish to do so, they must – once a specified value 

threshold is reached – issue a competitive tender 

among the financial institutions as part of a public 

procurement process.

at the end of 2005, the volume of deposits held by 

municipalities was hUF 151 billion, which was 5.4% 

lower than at the end of 2004. With regard to the 

T r e a s U r Y  a N D  s T r U C T U r e D  F I N a N C I N G

In order to ensure an optimal supply of short and long-

term foreign currency sources, in 2005 a set of unified 

regulations on group-level foreign currency funding 

management and group-member financing was 

introduced. The new regulations are of key importance 

in terms of the liquidity management of the Bank and 

the Bank Group. The Bank, as a central body that 

acquires funds, serves and f inances the group 

members under uniform conditions, which means 

savings for the group as a whole.

Treasury trading activities were outstandingly 

successful in 2005. among primary traders, oTP Bank, 

according to the state Debt Management agency’s 

assessment based on trading figures, came in second 

af ter ING Bank in the overall evaluation. 

The Bank came first in the most important category 

(government bond sales), which is more impressive 

if we consider that the Bank came out on top even 

without the turnover of oTP Fund Management 

being included. In 2005 the Bank’s foreign currency 

trading was sufficient for it to take over the no. 

1 spot on the turnover list among hungarian banks 

according to statistics provided by the National Bank 

The role of the Treasury within the Bank is twofold: firstly, 

to ensure operative and long-term liquidity and manage 

exchange rate and interest risks, and secondly, to 

operate as an independent profit centre in its own right.

With regard to l iquidity management, in 2005 

the tendency of previous years continued. similarly 

to previous years, the Bank had surplus forint liquidity 

and a lack of foreign currency sources. The Treasury 

supplied approximately 51% of foreign currency 

sources available to the Bank by raising foreign funds 

(syndicated and bilateral loans, foreign currency bond 

issues, forint/foreign currency swap transactions).

In February 2005 a subordinated bond of eUr 125 

million was issued and in June an eMTN bond 

program with a total of eUr 1 billion was set up, which 

provides flexible conditions for the Bank with respect 

to the rapid international issuance of a wide variety of 

bond structures. In 2005 two bond structures were 

issued in the framework of the program. In July 2005, 

oTP Bank issued bonds with a variable interest rate 

at a face value of eUr 500 million, and in the fourth 

quarter bonds at a face value of eUr 300 million.
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of hungary (MNB), an achievement that is without 

precedent in the Bank’s history.

In 2005 the average value of the Bank’s portfolio of 

securities held for investment was hUF 267 billion. 

The portfolio of securities held for trading amounted 

to an average of hUF 30 billion. The average portfolio 

of two-week forint deposits placed with the MNB 

was hUF 265 billion.

In 2005 the Bank maintained its market leading 

position in the area of structured f inancing  

in hungary, and strengthened its position as 

financer in the central and eastern european 

region. as a result, cooperation with the group’s 

international members has expanded. The 25  

new transactions executed in the course of the  

year represented a total volume of hUF 175 billion.

In 2005 the Treasury installed a new internet-based 

price quoting and transaction system. Through  

the system customers have direct access to prices 

quoted by foreign currency traders, and can also 

conclude transactions. 

Activities of the Hungarian Group members
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DSK Group

The DsK Group achieved major successes in the 2005 

business year. The group’s after-tax profit in 2005 was 

hUF 16.6 billion, which represents an increase of 38.2% 

compared to its result of 2004. Its roaa as of the end 

of the year was 3.33% and its roae was 26.3%.

The DsK Group’s balance sheet total on December 31, 

2005 stood at more than hUF 583.4 billion, or 42.1% 

higher than the year-end 2004 figure, and its equity at 

the end of 2005 was hUF 71.2 billion (a growth of 

30.6%). The bank’s loans and deposits grew by 40.6% 

and 30.5% respectively in 2005, with the loan portfolio 

totalling hUF 384.4 bill ion by the end of the year, 

and deposits hUF 432.4 bil l ion.

In 2005 DsK Bank further increased its share of the 

loans market (16.2%), and retained its market-leading 

position in the deposit market (14.8%). Based on its 

balance sheet total, DsK Bank’s market share was 

13.6%, making it the largest bank in the Bulgarian 

banking market ahead of UniCredit-owned Bulbank.

one of the key ingredients of DsK Bank’s success is 

its rapid response to the demands of the competitive 

marketplace. responding to increasing customer 

expectations and launching innovative products are 

the keys to the bank’s further development and growth 

in the Bulgarian market. The bank has significantly 

broadened its range of retail banking products. In 2005 

these included housing loans for non-residents, housing 

loans on semi-completed homes, and freely usable 

mortgage loans. “DsK-Direkt,” which was developed for 

retail customers, was further improved, and, as a result, 

services based on the call centre, the internet, 

and text messages improved. a service package 

was developed for Mse customers, and, in addition, 

the electronic banking services offered to corporate 

customers and call-centre services were expanded. 

In addition to classic banking services, in 2005 DsK 

Bank began offering additional financial services through 

its subsidiaries. Besides its already existing subsidiaries 

(PoK DsK-rodina, which manages two mandatory and 

one voluntary supplementary pension fund, DsK Tours, 

which offers recreational and tourism services, DsK Trans 

security, which offers security services and valuables 

transportation, and DsK Garancia life Insurance, which 

provides life insurance), additional subsidiaries such 

as DsK asset Management, DsK Garancia General, 

a general insurance services company, and DsK leasing 

(offering vehicle financing) began their operations.

DsK asset Management received authorisation in 

august 2005 to establish investment funds, and in 

December it began offering the first two of its funds 

(DsK standard Bond Fund and DsK Balance 

Investment Fund) through its branch network.

In the course of 2005, the number of DsK Bank 

branches increased from 327 to 357. The number 

of retail bank cards issued by the bank exceeded 

915,000 at the end of the year, which equates to an 

increase of close to 32.4% compared to the end  

of 2004. The number of aTMs grew by 49%, to 523, 

and the number of Pos terminals by more than  

two and a half times, to 1,208. The headcount at 

the DsK Group at the end of 2005 was 4,048, 480 

fewer than at year-end 2004.

activities of Foreign 
subsidiaries3

3 according to IFrs
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OTP banka Hrvatska d.d.

on March 10, 2005, the oTP Group acquired the 

Croatian Nova banka, which was renamed oTP banka 

hrvatska (oBh) in september 2005.

on December 31, 2005 the consolidated balance 

sheet total of oBh was hUF 298.2 billion, representing 

a share of 3.4% of the Croatian market. By year-end 

2005 the gross loan portfolio had increased to hUF 

150.5 billion, representing a market share of 3.1%. 

The volume of customer deposits at year-end was hUF 

232.5 billion, corresponding to a market share of 4.1%. 

By the end of 2005 oTP banka hrvatska had more than 

503,000 customers, and was managing 331,000 retail 

accounts and close to 22,000 corporate accounts on 

their behalf. The number of bank cards issued in 2005 

grew by 10.7% to 339,000. Within this, the number 

of credit cards grew by close to 60% during the year 

to some 22,000.

In 2005 the bank launched several new products 

in the Croatian market, such as internet banking services 

for retail customers and the VIsa classic credit card. 

In 2005 the bank also expanded its sales network. 

By year-end the bank had 89 branches, 88 aTMs 

and 748 Pos terminals. The headcount of the group 

as of year-end 2005 was 1,005.

OTP Banka Slovensko
Slovakia

OTP Bank Romania
Romania

DSK Bank
Bulgaria

Niška banka
Serbia-Montenegro

OTP banka Hrvatska
Croatia

OTP Bank
Hungary

Activities of foreign subsidiaries

OTP Banka Slovensko, a. s.

The slovak bank’s balance sheet total stood at hUF 

262.9 billion at the end of 2005, which represents an 

increase of 22.3% compared to the end of 2004, and 

this growth gave the bank a share of 2.8% of the slovak 

banking market. The bank’s equity rose over the same 

period by 14.5%, to hUF 17.1 billion. oBs’s after-tax 

result for 2005, based on IFrs, was hUF 1,373 million, 

compared to the previous year’s profit of hUF 512 million. 

The bank’s roaa at the end of 2005 was 0.57%, and its 

roae was 8.6%, and its cost-to-income ratio, having 

dropped by more than 19%, improved to 78.7%. 

In 2005 oBs’s loan portfolio experienced dynamic 

growth both in terms of mortgage loans and consumer 

loans. By the end of the year retail loans, owing to an 

annual growth of 74.1%, increased to hUF 43.9 billion. 

as a result of considerable growth in corporate 

and municipal loans, in the course of 2005 the volume 

of banking loans grew by 41.1% to hUF 189.9 billion, 

which equated to a market share of 5.3% at the end 

of the year. The bank’s deposit portfolio increased by 

8.5% to hUF 151.9 billion in 2005, and accounted for 

3.2% of the deposit market as at December 31, 2004.

During the course of 2005 the number of the bank’s 

customers increased by over 2,500, to close 

to 159,000, with retail customers accounting 

for more than 140,000 of this total .

The number of bank cards issued by oBs was close 

to 105,000 at the end of 2005, which represents 

a growth of 4.2% compared to the end of 2004. 

This total was made up of more than 93,000 retail 

and 11,500 corporate bank cards. The bank’s aTMs 

numbered 110 at the end of the year, with the number 

of transactions effected via these aTMs totalling some 

1.8 million – 15% more than in 2004. The number of 

proprietary Pos terminals at the end of 2005 was 487, 

and the volume of Pos transactions increased 

by 23% over the course of the year.

The slovak bank opened 5 new branches during 

the year, bringing the total number of branches in its 

network to 78 at the end of 2005. as of December 

31, 2005 the Bank ’s headcount was 764, 

one person fewer than on December 31, 2004. 
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OTP Bank Romania S.A.

oTP Bank romania’s balance sheet total was more 

than hUF 55.2 billion at the end of 2005, 23.9% more 

than the figure at year-end 2004. at the end of 2005 

the bank’s market share based on its balance sheet 

total was 0.64%, while i ts equity – owing mainly 

to a capital increase of eUr 30 million in september – 

was hUF 13.7 billion as at December 31, 2005 

(a growth of 78.5%).

In 2005 the bank’s loan portfolio grew by 50.3% 

and its deposit total decreased by 11.8%, 

amounting to hUF 24.6 billion and hUF 25.3 billion 

respectively by year-end.

oTP Bank romania closed the 2005 business year 

with a loss of hUF 2.1 billion.

In the fourth quarter of 2005 the bank launched 

its retail division. The bank’s branches now offer 

personal loans, current account overdraft facilities, 

mortgage-backed consumer loans and housing loans. 

The number of retail current accounts managed by the 

bank in 2005 grew from 36,500 to some 44,000; 

the number of corporate accounts grew from 7,000 to 

close to 8,000. In the fourth quarter of 2005 the bank 

opened 13 new branches and was operating a total of 

27 branches by year-end. The headcount at the end of 

2005 was 475, which is 175 more than a year earlier.

Banks Non-financial services
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Management’s Analysis of 
Developments in the Bank’s 
Asset and Financial Position4, 5

4 Based on IFRS audited data

5 Due to rounding, in some cases the figures in the tables contained in the Management’s analysis section may not precisely match the total 

  of the component figures, and for the same reason, the figures referring to the same subject in dif ferent tables may not be exactly the same

OTP Bank Ltd.’s consolidated balance sheet

Consolidated balance sheet

The balance sheet total of the group as at December 31, 

2005 amounted to HUF 5,215.9 bil l ion, which 

was 25.3%, or HUF 1,053.5 bil l ion, higher 

than in the previous year, and which exceeded 

the Bank ’s non-consolidated year-end 2005 

balance sheet total by 45.2%. 

C O N S O L I D A T E D  F I N A N C I A L  R E S U L T S 

O F  O T P  B A N K  A C C O R D I N G  T O  I F R S

  Restated

 31/12/2004 31/12/2005                   Change

  HUF mn HUF mn HUF mn %

Cash, due from banks and balances with the NBH 465,887 483,191 17,304 3.7

Placements with other banks, net of allowance

 for placement losses 286,200 438,768 152,568 53.3

Financial assets at fair value through statements

 of operations 70,580 48,054 (22,526) (31.9)

Securities available-for-sale 295,835 409,945 114,110 38.6

Gross loans 2,586,110 3,297,218 711,108 27.5

Allowance for loan losses (79,315) (105,920) (26,605) 33.5

Loans, net of allowance for loan losses 2,506,795 3,191,298 684,503 27.3

Accrued interest receivable 31,400 37,870 6,470 20.6

Equity investments 9,389 12,357 2,968 31.6

Securities held-to-maturity 247,259 289,803 42,544 17.2

Premises, equipment and intangible assets, net 174,775 233,245 58,470 33.5

Other assets 74,239 71,371 (2,868) (3.9)

Total assets 4,162,359 5,215,902 1,053,543 25.3

Due to banks and deposits from the NBH

 and other banks 254,125 364,124 109,999 43.3

Deposits from customers 2,902,190 3,428,193 526,003 18.1

Liabilities from issued securities 317,222 543,460 226,238 71.3

Accrued interest payable 27,015 24,902 (2,113) (7.8)

Other liabilities 213,798 260,728 46,930 22.0

Subordinated bonds and loans 14,324 47,023 32,699 228.3

Total liabilities 3,728,674 4,668,430 939,756 25.2

Total shareholders’ equity 433,685 547,472 113,787 26.2

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity 4,162,359 5,215,902 1,053,543 25.3
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The Bank ’s consolidated shareholders’ equity was 

HUF 547.5 bil l ion. This represented an increase 

of HUF 113.8 bil l ion, or 26.2%, over the previous 

year and was 15.7% higher than the Bank ’s 

equity. Equity per share (BVPS) was HUF 1,955 

as at December 31, 2005.

On the assets side, cash, due from banks and 

balances with the National Bank of Hungary were 

3.7% higher than a year earl ier. Placements with 

other banks, due in par t to the Bank ’s modif ied 

placement structure, grew by 53.3% from 

the end of December 2004, amounting to 

HUF 438.8 bi l l ion as at December 31, 2005.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

fel l by 31.9% to HUF 48.1 bil l ion over the year. 

Within this, the size of the por t folio of securities 

held for trading was 43.5%, or HUF 29.3 bil l ion 

lower than at year-end 2004.

The size of the por t folio of securities available - 

for-sale increased by 38.6%, or HUF 114.1 bil l ion, 

during the year. 

Loans, net of al lowance for loan losses, 

rose by 27.3%, i .e. from HUF 2,506.8 bil l ion 

as at December 31, 2004 to HUF 3,191.3 bill ion. 

As at December 31, 2005, of the consolidated 

gross customer loan portfolio (HUF 3,297.2 bill ion, 

annual change: +27.5%), the share of corporate 

loans was 36.3% (HUF 1,195.4 bill ion, annual 

change: +29.8%), that of retail loans 59.6% 

(HUF 1,965.8 billion, +27.0%), and loans to 

municipalities 4.1% (HUF 136.0 bill ion, +15.2%). 

Within the retail loan portfolio, housing and 

mortgage loans represented HUF 1,222.4 bill ion 

(+20.4%), and consumer loans HUF 743.4 bill ion 

(+39.8%). The Bank’s foreign subsidiaries 

contributed 23.2% (HUF 786.0 billion) to the 

aggregated loan portfolio as at December 31, 2005. 

Besides the consolidation of OTP banka Hrvatska, 

a major role in the growth of the loan por t folio 

during the 12 months to December 31, 2005 

was played by OTP Bank (corporate loans before 

consolidation +96.9 bil l ion HUF, retail loans 

+89.8 bil l ion HUF; total: HUF 201.6 bil l ion); 

DSK (corporate loans +19.8 bi l l ion HUF, 

consumer loans +62.3 billion HUF, mortgage loans 

+28.9 bi l l ion HUF; total +111.0 bi l l ion HUF); 

the Mortgage Bank’s loan portfolio (+79.0 billion HUF); 

Merkantil Bank’s car financing loans (+75.6 billion HUF) 

and OBS (corporate loans +34.2 bil l ion HUF, 

mor tgage loans +15.1 bi l l ion HUF; 

total +55.4 bi l l ion HUF).

Consolidated IFRS results of OTP Bank

Consolidated gross loan portfolio as at December 31, 2005 (HUF million)  

 Corporate Municipal Retail  Consumer Housing Total

OTP Bank Ltd. 902,696  131,107  463,867  253,717  210,150  1,497,670 

OTP Factoring Ltd. 3,218    10,454  1,676  8,779  13,673 

OTP Building Society Ltd.     6,189    6,189  6,189 

Merkantil Bank Ltd. 30,629  33  95,363  95,363    126,025 

Merkantil Car Ltd. 9,609  48  93,973  93,973    103,630 

OTP Mortgage Bank Ltd.     849,252  7,023  842,229  849,252 

OTP Banka Slovensko, a.s. 142,566  3,547  43,827  7,587  36,240  189,940 

DSK Group 82,668  216  301,552  225,110  76,442  384,436 

OTP Leasing, a.s. 10,366  395  8,917  8,917    19,678 

OTP Bank Romania S.A. 22,169    2,396  2,068  328  24,565 

OTP banka Hrvatska group 59,792  693  90,014  47,974  42,040  150,499 

Other subsidiaries* 17,606         17,606 

Total 1,281,319  136,039  1,965,805  743,408  1,222,397  3,383,163 

Consolidated 1,195,374  136,039  1,965,805  743,408  1,222,397  3,297,218 

*OTP Garancia Insurance Ltd., Bank Center No. 1. Ltd., HIF Ltd. and OTP Faktoring Slovensko, a.s. taken together
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The por t folio of securities held-to -maturity grew 

by 17.2% in 2005, amounting to HUF 289.8 billion 

as at December 31, 2005. 

On the l iabil i t ies side, deposits from customers 

amounted to HUF 3,428.2 bil l ion as of December 

31, 2005, which was 18.1% more than a year 

earl ier and 36.8% larger than the Bank ’s por t folio. 

74.8% of customer deposits came from retail 

customers, 19.3% from corporate, and 5.9% 

from municipal customers. 

The growth in the deposit por t folio was primarily 

due to the increase in the corporate and retail 

deposits of the parent bank and DSK, the deposits 

of OTP Building Society and the consolidation of 

OTP banka Hrvatska. The contribution of the 

foreign subsidiaries to the aggregated deposit 

total increased from 17.2% to 24.6% in 2005.

IFRS consol idated provis ions for loan and 

placement losses were HUF 105.9 bi l l ion, of 

which HUF 101.4 bi l l ion related to the qual i f ied 

por t fol io, and which resul ted in a provis ioning 

coverage ratio of 24.1%. Within this, HUF 89.6 billion 

was avai lable to cover the HUF 119.1 bi l l ion 

in non-per forming loans, which meant 

a coverage ratio of 75.2%. 

Consolidated gross loan volume by qualifying categories

The quali ty of the IFRS loan por t folio was good 

at the end of 2005: per forming receivables 

represented 87.2% of the total volume, the share 

of the “to -be-monitored” category was 9.1%, and 

non-per forming loans accounted for 3.6%, with 

this lat ter f igure having risen 0.1 of a percentage 

point compared to the previous year. 18.2% of 

the consolidated quali f ied por t folio and 23.5% of 

the non-per forming loans were recorded on the 

balance sheets of the Bank ’s foreign subsidiaries.

  Restated

 31/12/2004 31/12/2005 Change

 HUF mn share % HUF mn share % HUF mn % share %

Performing 2,284,688 88.3 2,876,541 87.2 591,853 25.9 (1.1)

Qualified 301,423 11.7 420,677 12.8 119,254 39.6 1.1

To-be-monitored 210,752 8.1 301,581 9.1 90,829 43.1 1.0

NPLs 90,671 3.5 119,096 3.6 28,425 31.3 0.1

Below average 25,381 1.0 27,627 0.8 2,246 8.8 (0.1)

Doubtful  19,493 0.8 27,802 0.8 8,309 42.6 0.1

Bad 45,797 1.8 63,668 1.9 17,871 39.0 0.2

Total 2,586,111 100.0 3,297,218 100.0 711,107 27.5  

  Restated  Change

 31/12/2004 31/12/2005 %

Qualified volume (HUF mn) 301,423 420,677 39.6

Provision (HUF mn) 79,315 101,354 33.5

Coverage % 26.3 24.1 (2.2)

NPLs (HUF mn) 90,671 119,096 31.3

Provision (HUF mn)  89,613 

Coverage %   75.2  

Coverage of qualified customer loans
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Compared to the end of December 2004, the 

deposit portfolio of the parent bank and of DSK 

grew considerably. OTP Bank’s corporate deposit 

portfolio increased by HUF 42.1 billion and its retail 

deposit total by HUF 131.8, while municipality 

deposi ts decreased by HUF 8.4 bi l l ion. 

At DSK, the increase in the deposit portfolio was 

HUF 101.1 bil l ion, of which the growth in the 

retail por t folio accounted for HUF 69.1 bil l ion. 

The portfolio of issued securities grew by 71.3% 

over the year, amounting to HUF 543.5 billion by 

year-end. Growth was attributable to OTP Bank’s 

issuance of foreign currency-based bonds in a total 

nominal value of EUR 800 million in the third and 

fourth quarters of 2005.

Consolidated results

OTP Bank’s consolidated after-tax profit for 2005 

according to IFRS was HUF 158.3 billion, which 

exceeded that of 2004 by HUF 26.8 billion, or by 

20.3%, and was HUF 25.4 billion, or 19.1%, more 

than the Bank’s non-consolidated profit. 

Consolidated income statement of OTP Bank

  Corporate  Municipal Retail Total

OTP Bank Ltd. 474,052  161,993  1,870,412  2,506,457 

OTP Building Society Ltd. 4,100  6  74,718  78,825 

Merkantil Bank Ltd. 1,848    2,743  4,591 

Merkantil Car Ltd. 12  0  85  97 

OTP Banka Slovensko, a. s. 71,063  21,152  59,636  151,851 

DSK Group 66,560  13,853  352,002  432,415 

OTP Bank Romania S.A. 15,279  756  9,294  25,329 

OTP Faktoring Slovensko, a.s. 709      709 

OTP banka Hrvatska group 33,168  5,350  193,978  232,496 

Total 666,791  203,111  2,562,869  3,432,771 

Consolidated 662,214  203,111  2,562,869  3,428,194 

Consolidated deposit volume - as at December 31, 2005 (HUF million)

 2004 2005 Change

  HUF mn HUF mn HUF mn %

Interest income 433,678 459,024 25,346 5.8

Interest expense 172,789 161,799 (10,990) (6.4)

Net interest income 260,889 297,225 36,336 13.9

Provision for loan and placement losses 16,048 28,042 11,994 74.7

Net interest income after provision 

for loan and placement losses 244,841 269,183 24,342 9.9

Fee income 91,625 118,884 27,259 29.8

Foreign exchange gains, net 1,250 3,879 2,629 210.3

Gains and losses on securities, net 6,466 9,708 3,242 50.1

Gains on real estate transactions, net 1,818 96 (1,722) (94.7)

Dividend income and gains and losses of associated 

 companies 593 672 79 13.4
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Consolidated net interest income in 2005 was 

HUF 297.2 bill ion, which represents an increase 

for the year of 13.9%, and exceeded the Bank’s 

non-consolidated net interest income by 76.2%. 

Provisions were 74.7% higher in 2005 than in the 

same period of the previous year, and amounted to 

HUF 28.0 bill ion. The increase was signif icant at 

the parent bank, at Merkantil Bank, and OTP Banka 

Slovensko and at OTP Bank Romania, and was also 

due to the inclusion of OTP Leasing, a.s. within 

the consolidation circle. The rise in risk- related 

expenses is explained in part by the expansion 

in lending, and par tly by the group’s prudent 

provisioning policy. The ratio of provisioning to 

average gross loans was 0.95%, compared 

to 0.69% in 2004.

The interest margin on the average balance sheet 

total (HUF 4,689.1 bill ion) as per end-of-period 

data was 6.34% in 2005, or 51 basis points lower 

than in 2004. The net interest margin (af ter 

provisioning) was 5.74%, compared to 6.42% a 

year earlier. The gross interest margin for 2005 

– excluding the impact of swap deals on interest 

income – was 6.20%, and the net interest margin 

was 5.60%, which, i f we take into account 

the net interest income from swap transactions 

(HUF 6,584 mil l ion), were respectively 23 

and 40 basis points lower than in 2004. 

Non-interest income was in total 33.8% higher than 

in the previous year, and amounted to HUF 216.5 billion. 

Fees and commissions received grew by 29.8%, 

to HUF 118.9 billion. This is 12.8% below the non-

consolidated fee and commission income figure, 

primarily due to the exclusion from the consolidation 

total of commissions from the Mortgage Bank 

(HUF 52.7 billion). Consolidated fee and commission 

expenses decreased by 3.2% over the year. Net fees 

and commissions amounted to HUF 99.0 billion, 

which is an increase of 39.3% compared to 2004. 

Net price gains on securities trading amounted to 

HUF 9.7 billion, compared to HUF 6.5 billion in 

2004, due to price gains realised on the securities 

portfolio and to the gains from the securities 

transactions of OTP Garancia Insurance. Net foreign 

exchange gains amounted to HUF 3.9 billion, 

compared to HUF 1.3 billion in 2004, due mainly 

to changes in the result of swap positions. Gains 

on real estate transactions were HUF 96 million 

on a consolidated level. Insurance premium revenues 

amounted to HUF 69.8 billion, which was 41.5% 

higher than in 2004. Compared to 2004, insurance 

expenses grew by 45.2%. The net insurance result 

grew by 24.8%, to HUF 11.3 billion, relative to 2004. 

Other non- interest income, amounting to 

HUF 13.5 billion, was 26.1% higher than a year earlier. 

Non-interest expenses, amounting to HUF 293.6 billion, 

6  Calculation method: (non-interest expenses – fee expenses) / (net interest income before provisions + non-interest income – fee expenses)

continued 2004 2005 Change

  HUF mn HUF mn HUF mn %

Insurance premiums 49,337 69,793 20,456 41.5

Other income 10,680 13,465 2,785 26.1

Total non-interest income 161,769 216,497 54,728 33.8

Fee expenses 20,588 19,930 (658) (3.2)

Personnel expenses 79,538 95,235 15,697 19.7

Depreciation and amortization 29,150 21,897 (7,253) (24.9)

Insurance expenses 40,264 58,468 18,204 45.2

Other expenses 81,046 98,073 17,027 21.0

Total non-interest expense 250,586 293,603 43,017 17.2

Income before income taxes 156,024 192,077 36,053 23.1

Income taxes 24,506 33,803 9,297 37.9

Income after income taxes 131,518 158,274 26,756 20.3

Minority interest (12) (39) (27) 223.4

Net income 131,506 158,235 26,729 20.3
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exceeded those of 2004 by 17.2%, and the Bank’s 

non-consolidated figure by 89.6%. Consolidated 

personnel expenses were 19.7% higher than 

a year earl ier. The increase in personnel 

expenses already contains the impact of the IFRS 

2 standard (HUF 7.5 billion). Depreciation fell 

considerably relative to 2004, by HUF 7.3 billion. 

Other non-interest expenses grew by 21.0%, 

to HUF 98.1 billion. In 2005, non-corporate taxes 

represented an expense of HUF 27.7 billion, 77.1% 

more than in 2004. Within this, the separate tax 

imposed on credit institutions and financial 

enterprises (net interest income tax) was also 

recognised among other expenses, in an amount 

of HUF 10.2 billion. Without the separate credit 

insti tutions tax, the increase in consolidated 

non- interest expenses was 13.1%.

The Bank’s consolidated cost-to-income ratio in 

2005 (according to a calculation method  similar 

to that used in Hungary) was 55.4%, 178 basis 

points lower than a year earlier. 

Consolidated return on average assets (ROAA) 

reached 3.38% (in 2004: 3.45%), while 

consolidated return on average equity (ROAE) 

was 32.3%, or 3.0 percentage points lower than 

in the previous year. Real return on equity (real 

ROAE) was 28.7% in 2005. Basic earnings per 

ordinary share (basic EPS) was HUF 603, which is 

HUF 102 higher than the 2004 figure, while diluted 

EPS was HUF 599 in 2005 (in 2004: HUF 499). 
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N O N - C O N S O L I D A T E D  F I N A N C I A L  R E S U L T S 

O F  O T P  B A N K  A C C O R D I N G  T O  I F R S 

Non-consolidated balance sheet of OTP Bank
  Restated

 31/12/2004 31/12/2005  Change

  HUF mn HUF mn HUF mn %

Cash, due from banks and balances with the NBH 399,401 379,249 (20,152) (5.0)

Placements with other banks, net of allowance for 

 placement losses 200,100 393,659 193,559 96.7

Financial assets at fair value through

 statement of operations 22,059 34,054 11,995 54.4

Securities available-for-sale 324,130 371,433 47,303 14.6

Gross loans 1,296,051 1,497,670 201,619 15.6

Allowance for loan losses (19,810) (22,162) (2,352) 11.9

Accrued interest receivable 1,276,241 1,475,508 199,267 15.6

Investments in subsidiaries 41,180 41,276 96 0.2

Investments in subsidiaries 154,298 223,881 69,583 45.1

Securities held-to-maturity 507,503 521,797 14,294 2.8

Premises, equipment and intangible assets, net 96,538 105,569 9,031 9.4

Other assets 33,025 46,447 13,422 40.6

Total assets 3,054,475 3,592,873 538,398 17.6

Due to banks and deposits from the NBH

 and other banks 203,777 255,211 51,434 25.2

Deposits from customers 2,340,924 2,506,457 165,533 7.1

Liabilities from issued securities 1,997 202,267 200,270 —

Accrued interest payable 9,414 5,735 (3,679) (39.1)

Other liabilities 94,987 102,881 7,894 8.3

Subordinated bonds and loans 14,324 47,023 32,699 228.3

Total liabilities 2,665,423 3,119,574 454,151 17.0

Total shareholders’ equity 389,052 473,299 84,247 21.7

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity 3,054,475 3,592,873 538,398 17.6

Non-consolidated balance sheet

The Bank ’s balance sheet total as at December 

31, 2005 was HUF 3,592.9 bil l ion; 17.6%, or 

HUF 538.4 bil l ion, higher than a year earl ier. 

On the assets side, cash, due from banks and 

balances with the National Bank of Hungary were 

5.0% lower, while placements with other banks 

were 96.7%, or HUF 193.6 bil l ion, higher than a 

year earl ier. Financial assets at fair value through 

prof i t or loss grew by 54.4%, or HUF 12.0 bil l ion, 

of which the growth in securities held for trading 

accounted for HUF 5.2 bil l ion.

Within securities available-for-sale, which 

amounted to HUF 371.4 billion (annual increase of 

14.6%), the government bond portfolio accounted 

for HUF 67.6 billion, that of mortgage bonds for 

HUF 253.4 billion, and that of other bonds for HUF 

42.6 bill ion, while the portfolio of Hungarian 

discount treasury bills was HUF 7.9 bill ion.

Gross loans were HUF 1,497.7 bil l ion as at 

December 31, 2005, representing a growth 

of 15.6% over the year. Provisions for loan losses 

rose by 11.9%, to HUF 22.2 bil l ion. The net 

portfolio of loans and bills of exchange amounted 

to HUF 1,475.5 billion as at December 31, 2005, 

representing a 15.6% rise for the year as a whole. 
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Within the gross loan portfolio, loans to businesses 

amounted to HUF 902.7 billion (representing an 

annual increase of 12.0%), municipal placements 

to HUF 131.1 billion (annual increase of 12.9%), 

consumer loans to HUF 253.7 bil l ion 

(24.0% increase), housing and mortgage loans to 

HUF 210.2 billion (also a 24.0% increase). Loans to 

businesses represented 60.3% of the loan portfolio, 

retail loans 30.9%, and loans to municipalities 8.8%. 

Non-consolidated gross loan volume by business lines of OTP Bank

  31/12/2004 31/12/2005 Change

  HUF mn HUF mn HUF mn %

Corporate 805,804  902,696  96,892  12.0

Municipal 116,175  131,107  14,932  12.9

Retail  374,072  463,867  89,795  24.0

 Consumer 204,657  253,718  49,061  24.0

 Housing 169,415  210,149  40,734  24.0

Total 1,296,051  1,497,670  201,619  15.6

Non-consolidated gross loan volume by qualifying categories

 31/12/2004 31/12/2005 Change

 HUF mn share % HUF mn share % HUF mn % share %

Performing 1,227,903 94.7 1,418,879 94.7 190,976 15.6 0.0

Qualified 68,148 5.3 78,791 5.3 10,643 15.6 0.0

To-be-monitored 35,822 2.8 44,250 3.0 8,428 23.5 0.2

NPLs 32,326 2.5 34,541 2.3 2,215 6.9 (0.2)

Below average 14,401 1.1 13,160 0.9 (1,241) (8.6) (0.2)

Doubtful  12,107 0.9 14,119 0.9 2,012 16.6 0.0

Bad 5,818 0.4 7,262 0.5 1,444 24.8 0.0

Total 1,296,051 100.0 1,497,670 100.0 201,619 15.6  

The quality of the loan portfolio was good at the 

end of December 2005: performing receivables 

represented 94.7% of the total volume, the same 

as in 2004. The “to-be-monitored” category 

accounted for 3.0% of the total, and non-performing 

loans for 2.3%. The coverage ratio in respect 

of the quali f ied por t folio was 28.1%, and for 

non-per forming loans, 53.4%.

Coverage of qualified customer loans

Non-consolidated IFRS results of OTP Bank

The por t folio of securities held-to -maturity rose 

by 2.8% in 2005, to HUF 521.8 bil l ion, of which 

the por t folio of government bonds accounted 

for HUF 201.4 bi l l ion and the por t fol io of 

mor tgage bonds for HUF 289.8 bi l l ion. 

  31/12/2004 31/12/2005 Change %

Qualified volume (HUF mn) 68,148 78,791 15.6

Provision (HUF mn) 19,810 22,162 11.9

Coverage % 29.1 28.1 (0.9)

NPLs (HUF mn) 32,326 34,541 6.9

Provision (HUF mn)  18,449 

Coverage %   53.4  
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In the framework of the Bank ’s foreign currency-

based bond program, due to the bonds of nominal 

value EUR 500 issued in the third quar ter and 

of EUR 300 mil l ion issued in the four th quar ter, 

the por t folio of own- issued securities within 

the Bank ’s l iabil i t ies grew signif icantly, by over 

HUF 200 bil l ion, and by the end of the year, 

accounted for 5.6% of al l l iabil i t ies. 

The Bank ’s ratio of gross loans to deposits 

was 59.8% by year-end, compared to 55.4% 

on December 31, 2004.

The Bank’s shareholders’ equity was 21.7% higher 

than a year earlier, amounting to HUF 473.3 billion, 

or 13.2% of the balance sheet total . 

The HUF 84.2 bil l ion rise in the Bank ’s equity 

was chief ly due to a HUF 91.8 bil l ion, or 35.1%, 

increase in retained earnings and reserves, 

without prof i t , a HUF 19.4 bil l ion, or 17.1%, 

increase in balance sheet prof i t and – as a 

reducing i tem – a HUF 26.9 bil l ion, or 195.1%, 

increase in the book value of repurchased 

treasury shares.

Equity per share increased by 21.7% to reach 

HUF 1,690.4 at the end of 2005.

Non-consolidated results

OTP Bank’s pre-tax profit according to IFRS was 

HUF 155.8 billion in 2005, which exceeded the 

previous year’s result by HUF 23.4 billion, or 17.7%. 

The increase in profits was attributable to a dynamic, 

17.0% growth in income (including net commissions 

and net interest income before provisioning), an 11.2% 

increase in non-interest expenses net of commissions 

paid, which was significantly less than the increase 

in non-interest income, and to a HUF 7.8 billion rise in 

provisions. Dividends received accounted for 

HUF 5.4 billion of the growth in income. The increase 

in pre-tax profits, calculated using tax conditions 

comparable to those as of the base period (i.e. excluding 

the HUF 10.2 billion expense-increasing impact 

of  he introduction in 2005 of the special tax 

imposed on credit institutions and financial 

enterprises), was HUF 25.4%.

In the context of an increase (from 14.3% to 14.7%) 

compared to 2004 in the actual rate of tax (calculated 

together with the special credit institution tax), the 

Bank’s after-tax profit amounted to HUF 132.8 billion, 

which was 17.1%, or HUF 19.4 billion, higher than in the 

previous year. (Without the special credit institution tax, 

the Bank’s after-tax profit would have increased by 26.0%, 

to HUF 143.0 billion.) The Bank will – in line with its 

proclaimed dividend policy – pay out 40% of its after-

tax profit according to HAS (Hungarian accounting 

standards) as dividends to its shareholders, which means 

that in 2006 it will pay dividends of HUF 197 per 

ordinary share of nominal value HUF 100, to its owners.

Basic and diluted earnings per ordinary share (EPS) 

were HUF 492 and HUF 488 respectively in 2005 

(in 2004: HUF 420 and HUF 418). 

The Bank’s return on average assets (ROAA) 

and return on average equity (ROAE) were 4.00% 

and 30.8% in 2005 (in 2004: 3.92% and 34.1%). 

Non-consolidated deposit volume of OTP Bank 
  31/12/2004 31/12/2005 Change

  HUF mn HUF mn HUF mn %

Corporate  431,921 474,052 42,131 9.8

Municipal 170,431 161,993 (8,439) (5.0)

Retail 1,738,572 1,870,412 131,841 7.6

Total 2,340,924 2,506,457 165,533 7.1

On the liabilities side, deposits from customers grew by 

7.1% from December 31, 2004. The share of deposits 

from customers in the Bank’s liabilities fell from 

76.6% in 2004 to 69.8%. Of the deposits from 

customers, amounting to a total of HUF 2,506.5 billion, 

88.1% were forint deposits. 74.6% of the deposit 

total (HUF 1,870.4 billion; an annual increase of 

7.6%) consisted of retail deposits, while corporate 

deposits represented 18.9% (a 9.8% increase) 

and municipal deposits, 6.5% (a 5.0% fall). 
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Non-consolidated income statement of OTP Bank
  Restated

 2004 2005  Change

  HUF mn HUF mn HUF mn %

Interest income 290,935 281,402 (9,533) (3.3)

Interest expense 139,852 112,763 (27,089) (19.4)

Net interest income 151,083 168,639 17,556 11.6

Provision for loan and placement losses 8,628 16,435 7,807 90.5

Net interest income after provision

 for loan and placement losses 142,455 152,204 9,749 6.8

Fee income 113,299 136,264 22,965 20.3

Foreign exchange gains, net 914 1,603 689 75.4

Gains on securities, net 1,081 3,103 2,022 187.0

Losses on real estate transactions, net (103) (28) 75 (72.8)

Dividend income 8,500 13,937 5,437 64.0

Other income 2,654 3,541 887 33.4

Non-interest income 126,345 158,420 32,075 25.4

Fee expenses 9,692 13,840 4,148 42.8

Personnel expenses 54,342 62,437 8,095 14.9

Depreciation and amortization 13,401 15,244 1,843 13.8

Other expenses 59,006 63,301 4,295 7.3

Total non-interest expenses 136,441 154,822 18,381 13.5

Income before income taxes  132,359 155,802 23,443 17.7

Income taxes 18,882 22,954 4,072 21.6

Net income after income taxes 113,477 132,848 19,371 17.1

The Bank ’s net interest income grew by 11.6%, 

from HUF 151.1 bil l ion to HUF 168.6 bil l ion, in 

2005, as a result of a 3.3% increase in interest 

income and a 19.4% fall in interest expenses. 

Interest income from loans accounted for 52.4% 

of interest income in 2005, which represents an 

expansion of 7.6% over the year (6.9% without 

the gains on swap deals). Gains on swap deals 

accounted for HUF 0.9 bi l l ion of 

the HUF 147.4 bi l l ion in income.

Within interest income, income from placements 

with other banks (gains/losses on swap deals 

excluded) dropped by 14.4%, due primarily to 

market rates of interest. Income from interest 

on securities held-to -maturity fel l by 26.2% 

compared to 2004, and amounted to 

HUF 39.3 bil l ion in 2005, which represented 

14.0% of total interest income. 

Recorded among interest revenue from interbank 

placements and loans, as well as under interest 

expense related to liabilities towards banks and 

interest expense towards customers, was the net 

HUF 7.3 billion interest result from swap transactions, 

which was HUF 8.5 billion less than in 2004. 

By far the bulk of interest expenses, 72.3%, was 

accounted for by interest paid on customer deposits 

in 2005 (in 2004: 85.2%), which fell by 31.6%, 

to HUF 81.5 billion. The interest paid on issued 

securities amounted to HUF 1.7 billion, with the 

HUF 1.5 billion increase being attributable to the 

significant expansion of the volume of securities issued.

At HUF 16.4 bi l l ion, provisions for expected 

loan and placement losses were 90.5% higher 

than in 2004. The ratio of provisioning to 

the average gross loan por t fol io was 1.18%, 

compared to 0.72% in 2004.

In 2005, the Bank ’s gross interest margin 

was 5.07%, while the net interest margin 

(af ter provisioning) was 4.58%, respectively 

a 15 and 34 basis point decrease compared 
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to 2004. Without recognition of the interest  

result from swap deals, in 2005 the gross interest 

margin was 4.86%, while the net interest  

margin was 4.36%, with the former representing  

an 18 basis point increase, and the lat ter  

a 2 basis point decrease compared to 2004.

Non- interest income grew by HUF 32.1 bil l ion, 

or 25.4%, to HUF 158.4 bil l ion. 86.0% of non-

interest income, which amounted to HUF 136.3 billion 

(representing a growth of 20.3%) in 2005, came 

from fees and commissions received. Fees and 

commissions paid rose by 42.8%, to HUF 13.8 billion, 

and thus net fees and commissions were 18.2% 

higher than in 2004, amounting to HUF 122.4 billion. 

Net price gains on securities were HUF 3.1 bill ion, 

compared to HUF 1.1 bill ion in 2004, while the net 

result of foreign exchange transactions was a 

profit of HUF 1.6 billion, compared to HUF 0.9 billion 

in 2004. In 2005, the Bank received HUF 13.9 billion 

in dividends from its subsidiaries, compared to 

HUF 8.5 billion 2004. Other income grew by 33.4%, 

to HUF 3.5 bi l l ion, compared to 2004. 

Non-interest expenses, amounting to HUF 154.8 billion, 

were 13.5% higher in total than a year earl ier. 

Within this, personnel expenses grew 

by 14.9% to HUF 62.4 billion (of which HUF 7.5 billion 

was at tributable to the adoption of the IFRS 2 

standard), while depreciation rose by 13.8% to 

HUF 15.2 bil l ion. Other non- interest expenses, 

amounting to HUF 63.3 bil l ion, were 7.3% higher 

than in 2004. Within this, the special tax imposed 

on credit insti tutions and f inancial enterprises 

was also recognised among other expenses, 

 

in an amount of HUF 10.2 bi l l ion. Without  

the separate credi t inst i tut ions and f inancial 

enterprises tax , the growth in non- interest 

expenses was 6.0%. The Bank ’s cost-to - income 

ratio (according to a calculation method similar 

to the one used in Hungary) was 45.0% in 2005, 

which was 233 basis points lower than in 2004 

(47.3%). The cost-to - income ratio calculated 

without the credit insti tutions tax was 41.8%, or 

557 basis points lower than in the previous year.

Capitalisation, capital adequacy 
(according to HAR)

OTP Bank’s shareholders’ equity grew from 

HUF 325.0 billion on December 31, 2004 

to HUF 407.6 billion, or by 25.4% – significantly 

exceeding the rate of the growth of the balance 

sheet total . Due to this, the ratio of shareholders’ 

equity to the balance sheet total increased 

from 10.7% at the end of 2004 to 11.3%. 

Although the Bank ’s solvency ratio declined 

somewhat, from 11.19% at the end of 2004 to 

10.56% on December 31, 2005, it was well  

in excess of the 8% stipulated by the Act on Credit 

Institutions and Financial Enterprises. 

The fall in this ratio was caused by a growth 

in the Bank’s guarantee capital that lagged behind 

the expansion in lending activity: compared with 

the previous year, risk-weighted assets grew  

by 18.8%, while the guarantee capital was 12.2% 

higher than at the end of the previous year.
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Calculation of the capital adequacy ratio

    31/12/2004 31/12/2005 Change

    HUF mn HUF mn HUF mn %

 I.   Primary capital elements 328,510 387,123 58,613 17.8

A) subscribed capital 28,000 28,000 0 0.0

B) capital reserve 52 52 0 0.0

C) general reserve 51,807 65,642 13,835 26.7

D) general risk reserve 18,120 21,534 3,41t4 18.8

E) profit reserve 177,401 202,544 25,143 14.2

F) balance sheet profit 53,130 69,351 16,221 30.5

 II.  Deductible components of primary capital 51,950 79,192 27,242 52.4

A) capital subscribed not yet paid −— — — —

B) intangible assets 51,950 79,192 27,242 52.4

 III. Primary capital (I–II.) 276,560 307,931 31,371 11.3

 IV.  Secondary capital 12,459 42,850 30,391 243.9

 V. Guarantee capital before deductions (III+IV.) 289,019 350,781 61,762 21.4

 VI.  Book value of financial institutions. insurance companies 

   and investment services companies and subordinated

   loans issued to them 90,099 128,810 38,711 43.0

 VII. Guarantee capital according to the rules of prudence (V–VI.) 198,920 221,971 23,051 11.6

 VIII. Capital requirement of limit breaches and sovereign risk 5,902 5,362 (540) (9.1)

 IX. Guarantee capital for calculating the capital adequacy ratio 193,018 216,609 23,591 12.2

 X. Risk-weighted total assets 1,725,655 2,050,855 325,200 18.8

 XI. Capital adequacy ratio % 11.19 10.56    

Of the various factors taken into account when 

calculating the numerator of the solvency ratio, the 

total of the positive components of the primary capital 

increased by 17.8% over the course of 2005, while 

the total of the negative components of the primary 

capital increased by 52.4%. As a result, the Bank’s 

primary capital increased by 11.3%, or by 

HUF 31.4 billion, in 2005. The secondary capital that 

can be taken into account in calculating the guarantee 

capital rose markedly, by nearly three-and-a-half times 

its value a year earlier. On December 31, 2005 

the guarantee capital before deductions was 

HUF 350.8 billion, which exceeded the previous year’s 

figure by 24.1%. Of the various deductible factors, the 

total of investments in financial institutions, insurance 

companies and investment companies grew by 

HUF 38.7 billion, or 43.0%, while the amount of capital 

that needed to be set aside for covering possible limit 

breaches, as per the Act on Credit Institutions and 

Financial Enterprises, declined by HUF 0.5 billion, or 

9.1%, during 2004. The guarantee capital that may be 

taken into account for the purpose of calculating the 

solvency ratio stood at HUF 216.6 bil l ion on 

December 31, 2005 (a 12.2% growth). 

Of the increase in the volume of risk-weighted assets 

(the adjusted balance sheet total), 74.4% is attributable 

to the change in the risk-weighted value of balance 

sheet items and 25.6% to the change in risk-weighted 

off-balance sheet items. 

The risk-weighted value of balance-sheet items 

grew by 17.3% (HUF 241.9 bill ion) to reach 

HUF 1,638.9 billion, while total assets grew by 18.1% 

– as a result of the fact that, due to the increase in the 

share of customer placements, there has been a slight 

shift in the structure of the asset portfolio towards 

placements with a higher risk-weighting. The risk-

weighted value of off-balance-sheet items and contingent 

and future liabilities, which is used for calculating 

the risk-weighted balance sheet total, increased by 

HUF 83.3 billion, representing a 25.4% increase over 

the previous year. This change is explained by the 

increase in contingent liabilities (primarily the existing 

liabilities arising from the unused portion of credit lines 

and from assumed guarantees). 
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In 2005 the activi ties of OTP Bank ’s subsidiaries 

were in l ine with the Bank ’s targets and with 

the expectations of the owners. The combined 

balance sheet totals of the ful ly consolidated 

subsidiaries rose by 37.8%, from HUF 2,006 billion 

to HUF 2,764 bil l ion (of which the balance sheet 

total of OTP banka Hrvatska, purchased 

in 2005, was HUF 298.2 bi l l ion).

The aggregate af ter- tax prof i t of the ful ly 

consol idated subsidiar ies amounted 

to HUF 44.0 bi l l ion in 2005, which was 

HUF 5.7 bil l ion, or 14.8%, higher than in 2004.

Total assets and profit after tax of the fully consolidated subsidiaries

 Total assets Profit after tax

 31/12/2004 31/12/2005 Change   2004 2005 Change 

Subsidiary HUF mn HUF mn HUF mn % HUF mn HUF mn HUF mn %

 Merkantil Bank Ltd. 58,939 136,688 77,749 131.9 2,605 2,620 15 0.6

 Merkantil Car Ltd. 135,399 113,121 (22,278) (16.5) 916 3,638 2,722 297.2

 Merkantil Lease Ltd. 1,594 1,684 90 5.6 275 87 (187) (68.4)

 NIMO 2002. Ltd. 1,300 1,734 434 33.4 6 7 2 16.7

Merkantil Group 197,232 253,227 55,995 28.4 3,802 6,352 2,550 67.1

OTP Building Society Ltd. 66,274 86,653 20,379 30.7 664 1,390 726 109.3

OTP Mortgage Bank Ltd. 879,117 956,072 76,955 8.8 13,181 5,248 (7,933) (60.2)

OTP Banka Slovensko, a. s. 214,887 262,858 47,971 22.3 512 1,373 861 168.2

DSK Group 410,499 583,423 172,924 42.1 11,993 16,572 4,579 38.2

OTP Bank Romania S.A. 44,565 55,225 10,660 23.9 50 (2,122) (2,172) —

OTP banka Hrvatska d.d. — 298,175 — — — 2,135 — —

OTP Garancia Insurance Ltd. 11 8,496 157,225 38,729 32.7 3,400 6,704 3,304 97.2

OTP Fund Management Ltd. 8,601 11,519 2,918 33.9 2,775 3,853 1,078 38.2

HIF Ltd. 12,340 14,369 2,029 16.4 127 133 6 4.7

OTP Real Estate Ltd. 18,239 20,454 2,215 12.1 845 940 95 11.2

OTP Factoring Ltd. 7,826 11,700 3,874 49.5 589 564 (25) (4.2)

OTP Factoring Asset Management Ltd. 1,565 1,459 (106) (6.8) 17 66 49 288.2

Bank Center No. 1. Ltd. 7,885 8,255 370 4.7 115 343 228 199.3

OTP Fund Servicing

and Consulting Ltd. 1,967 2,245 278 14.1 95 167 72 75.8

OTP Mérleg Ltd. 1,353 — — — (43) — — —

Inga Companies 11,122 10,736 (386) (3.5) 120 147 27 22.5

Concordia Info Ltd. 3,196 3,610 414 13.0 37 50 13 35.1

OTP Card Manufacturing Ltd. 823 803 (20) (2.4) 39 41 2 5.1

OTP Faktoring Slovensko, a.s. — 3,692 — — — 27 — —

OTP Leasing, a.s. — 22,680 — — — 23 — —

Subsidiaries total 2,005,987 2,764,380 758,393 37.8 38,318 44,006 5,688 14.8

R E S U L T S  O F  T H E  M A I N  S U B S I D I A R I E S
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Main indicators of Merkantil Group
 
  2004 2005 Change % 

ROAA % 2.12 2.82 0.70

ROAE % 25.5 32.7 7.2

Cost/income ratio % 44.0 36.4 (7.6)

Main financial data of Merkantil Group   
    

  31/12/2004  31/12/2005 Change

  HUF mn HUF mn HUF mn %

Gross loans 172,525 229,655 57,130 33.1

Provisions (10,738) (15,268) (4,530) 42.2

Net loans 161,787 214,387 52,600 32.5

Receivables due to leasing 16,072 16,262 190 1.2

Deposits  5,495 4,688 (807) (14.7)

Issued securities 35,072 35,016 (56) (0.2)

Liabilities to credit institutions 129,079 181,516 52,437 40.6

Shareholders’ equity 16,018 22,833 6,815 42.5

Total assets 197,232 253,227 55,995 28.4

Profit before tax 4,782 8,633 3,851 80.5

Profit after tax 3,801 6,352 2,551 67.1

Merkantil Group’s aggregate balance sheet total 

as at December 31, 2005 was HUF 253.2 billion, 

up by 28.4%, or HUF 56.0 billion, on a year 

earlier. The group’s aggregated after-tax profit 

for 2005 amounted to HUF 6.4 billion, 

representing a 67.1% rise from a year earlier. 

Merkantil Group concluded close to 63,000 new 

vehicle financing contracts in 2005, which was 

3.9%, or over 2,000 contracts, more than the 

number of new contracts concluded in 2004. Based 

on the total number of contracts, the proportion 

of foreign currency loan facilities was 91%, that 

of forint-denominated loans was 6.2%, that of cars 

sold under financial lease contracts was 2.5% 

and that of permanent lease facilities was 0.3%. 

The aggregate (gross) loan portfolio was 

HUF 229.7 billion as at December 31, 2005, 

which was HUF 57.1 billion, or 33.1%, higher 

than in the previous year. 

In 2005, Merkantil Group achieved HUF 19.0 billion 

in net interest income, representing a 12.9% 

rise compared to the previous year. 

Non-interest income grew by 9.3%, while non-

interest expenses were more than 20.9% lower 

than in 2004. Gross interest margin was 8.43% 

in 2005, i.e. 96 basis points lower than in 2004. 

The group’s aggregated cost-to-income ratio 

was 36.4% in 2005 (in 2004: 44.0%).
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Main indicators of Merkantil Bank Ltd.
 
  2004 2005 Change % 

ROAA % 4.15 2.68 (1.47)

ROAE % 22.7 19.4 (3.3)

Cost/income ratio % 46.9 43.9 (3.0)

Main financial data of Merkantil Bank Ltd.   

  31/12/2004  31/12/2005 Change

  HUF mn HUF mn HUF mn %

Gross loans 50,442 126,025 75,583 149.8

Retail  34,231 95,363 61,132 178.6

Corporate 16,190 30,629 14,439 89.2

Municipal 21 33 12 57.1

Provisions (5,378) (7,222) (1,844) 34.3

Net loans 45,064 118,803 73,739 163.6

Deposits  4,664 4,591 (73) (1.6)

Issued securities 35,072 35,016 (56) (0.2)

Liabilities to credit institutions 521 75,983 75,462 —

Shareholders’ equity 12,179 14,801 2,622 21.5

Subscribed capital 2,000 2,000 0 0.0

Total assets 58,939 136,688 77,749 131.9

Profit before tax 2,950 2,834 (116) (3.9)

Profit after tax 2,605 2,620 15 0.6

In 2005 Merkantil Bank’s gross loan portfolio 

was close to two-and-a-half times, or HUF 75.6 billion, 

higher than that of the previous year, and its 

balance sheet total also grew substantially, 

by 131.9%, reaching HUF 136.7 billion as at 

December 31. The dynamic expansion of the 

portfolio was attributable in part to the fact 

that the bank took over the provision of foreign-

currency vehicle-financing loans from Merkantil 

Car during the year.

78.1% of the HUF 126.0 billion loan portfolio 

was qualified as of the end of 2005, the bulk 

of which (92%) had been placed in the 

“to-be-monitored” category, as the bank 

automatically includes foreign currency loans 

in this category. 6.5% of the gross portfolio 

consisted of non-performing loans.

In addition to the interbank credit line provided 

by the parent bank, the volume of issued 

securities – which amounted to HUF 35.0 billion 

at year-end 2005 and the bulk of which 

(HUF 33.3 billion) were sold through OTP Bank’s 

branch network – was also significant in 

the bank’s liabilities structure. In addition, 

the bank had deposit liabilities of HUF 4.6 billion, 

which was 1.6% lower than at the end of the 

previous year.

No material change occurred in the distribution 

of income from business activities in 2005. 

Interest income and administration fees from 

vehicle financing continued to provide a decisive 

contribution to the bank’s total interest and 

interest-type income. The bank earned 

HUF 7.2 billion in interest revenues in 2005, 

which was 11.4% higher than in the previous year. 

The gross interest rate margin calculated on 

the average asset portfolio was 7.40%. 

The bank’s provisions for loan and placement 

losses were HUF 1.9 billion in 2005, which was 

HUF 1.5 billion higher than in 2004. The net 

interest margin after provisioning was 5.42%.

The bank’s after-tax profit amounted to 

HUF 2.6 billion, which was HUF 15 million, 

or 0.6%, higher than in the previous year.
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Main indicators of Merkantil Car Ltd. 

  2004 2005 Change %

ROAA % 0.81 2.93 2.12

ROAE % 54.2 96.5 42.3

Cost/income ratio % 25.4 26.1 0.7

Main financial data of Merkantil Car Ltd.   

  31/12/2004  31/12/2005 Change 

  HUF mn HUF mn HUF mn %

Gross loans 122,083 103,630 (18,453) (15.1)

Retail  103,709 93,973 (9,736) (9.4)

Corporate 18,119 9,609 (8,510) (47.0)

Municipal 255 48 (207) (81.1)

Provisions (5,360) (8,046) (2,686) 50.1

Net loans 116,723 95,584 (21,138) (18.1)

Receivables due to leasing 15,250 15,132 (118) (0.8)

Deposits  831 97 (734) (88.3)

Liabilities to credit institutions 128,083 104,832 (23,251) (18.2)

Shareholders’ equity 1,950 5,588 3,638 186.6

Subscribed capital 50 50 0 0.0

Total assets 135,399 113,121 (22,278) (16.5)

Profit before tax 1,471 5,638 4,167 283.3

Profit after tax 916 3,638 2,722 297.3

Merkantil Car’s balance sheet total was 

HUF 113.1 billion at the end of 2005, which 

was 16.5% lower than that of the previous year. 

The decrease was attributable to the fact that 

Merkantil Bank assumed the granting of foreign-

currency vehicle-financing loans. 

The (gross) loan portfolio was HUF 103.6 billion 

as at December 31, 2005, which was HUF 18.5 billion, 

or 15.1%, lower than in the previous year.

99.6% of the loan portfolio was qualified at 

year-end 2005, and this was comprised almost 

exclusively (92%) of the “to-be-monitored” 

category, due to the fact that foreign-currency 

loans are automatically included in this category.

Merkantil Car earned HUF 11.6 billion in 

interest income in 2005, which was 9.8% 

higher than in the pervious year. The gross 

interest rate margin calculated on the average 

asset portfolio was 9.35%.

The Company’s provisions for loan and 

placement losses were HUF 2.7 billion 

in 2005, which was 2.1% lower than in 2004. 

Net interest margin after provisioning was 

7.15%. The ratio of provisions to the average 

gross loan and leasing portfolio was 2.13%.

Merkantil Car’s after-tax profit rose from 

HUF 916 million to HUF 3,638 million, or close 

to four times that of the previous year, in 2005. 

Its return on average assets (ROAA) was 2.93%, 

and its return on average equity (ROAE) was 96.5%. 



50 OTP BANK Annual Report 2005

Main indicators of OTP Building Society Ltd.

  2004 2005 Change %

ROAA % 1.12 1.82 0.70

ROAE % 15.1 26.5 11.4

Cost/income ratio % 65.2 44.7 (20.5)

Main financial data of OTP Building Society Ltd. 
    

  31/12/2004 31/12/2005 Change

  HUF mn HUF mn HUF mn %

Loans  7,929 6,189 (1,740) (21.9)

Deposits 59,492 78,825 19,333 32.5

Shareholders’ equity 4,671 5,822 1,151 24.6

Subscribed capital 2,000 2,000 0 0.0

Total assets 66,274 86,653 20,379 30.7

Profit before tax 783 1,819 1,036 132.3

Profit after tax 664 1,390 726 109.3

The balance sheet total of OTP Building Society, 

thanks to a dynamic increase in its deposit 

portfolio, rose by 30.7% in 2005.

The 32.5% growth in the deposit portfolio was 

due to 106,000 new contracts concluded in 

2005 produced, as well as to an increase in 

contractual volumes.

The loan portfolio fell 2005, as it had done in 

the previous year. Compared to the 2004 figure, 

the portfolio decreased by nearly 22%, which 

was attributable to a fall in the take-up of loans 

resulting from changes to the favourable terms 

and conditions of subsidised loans.

OTP Building Society achieved a 54.7% market 

share of the building-society savings market in 

terms of the number of valid (active) contracts 

and a 48.7% market share in terms 

of contractual volumes. 

The after-tax profit of OTP Building Society more 

than doubled compared to the previous year, rising 

from HUF 664 million to HUF 1,390 million, the 

bulk of which was attributable to a 32.5% rise in 

the deposit portfolio and to a reduction in costs.

The company will pay HUF 1,348 million in 

dividend on its after-tax profits in 2005 to its 

owner, OTP Bank.
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Main indicators of OTP Mortgage Bank Ltd.

  2004 2005 Change %

ROAA % 1.71 0.57 (1.14)

ROAE % 41.3 14.0 (27.3)

Cost/income ratio % 22.2 29.1 6.9

Main financial data of OTP Mortgage Bank Ltd.
    

 31/12/2004 31/12/2005 Change

  HUF mn HUF mn HUF mn %

Gross loans 770,265 849,252 78,987 10.3

Issued mortgage bonds 790,914 812,700 21,786 2.8

Shareholders’ equity 37,859 36,939 (920) (2.4)

Subscribed capital 20,000 20,000 0 0.0

Total assets 879,117 956,072 76,955 8.8

Profit before tax 15,652 6,799 (8,853) (56.6)

Profit after tax 13,181 5,248 (7,933) (60.2)

The loan portfolio of OTP Mortgage Bank grew 

from HUF 770.3 billion in 2004 to HUF 849.3 billion 

2005. This growth, which was less strong than 

in the year before, as well as developments in 

the composition of the portfolio, reflect market 

trends. From March 2005, in addition to forint-

denominated housing loans, OTP Mortgage 

Bank also purchased foreign-currency housing 

and mortgage-type loans. The loan portfolio 

assumed by OTP Mortgage Bank in 2005 

was HUF 146.3 billion, within which 

the share of foreign-currency loans was 

approximately 40%.

Fully performing loans accounted for 97.95%, 

“to-be-monitored” loans 1.97%, and doubtful 

loans 0.08% of the loan portfolio at year-end 

2005. Under a cooperation agreement, 

OTP Bank repurchased some HUF 4 billion 

in non-performing loan receivables from 

the Mortgage Bank in 2005.

Along with the expansion of its loan portfolio, 

the volume of mortgage bonds issued by the 

Mortgage Bank also grew. As at December 31, 

2005, the closing portfolio was HUF 812.7 billion. 

In accordance with amendments to the law, 

a new domestic bond issuance program, 

one that is in line with European regulations, 

has been developed, which enables the 

Mortgage Bank to distribute its mortgage 

bonds not only in forint but also in euro and 

Swiss francs, in a quick and flexible manner 

in line with its funding requirements related 

to receivables purchases. 

Among the three mortgage banks in Hungary 

(OTP, FHB and HVB), OTP Mortgage Bank has 

a market share of over 60% in terms of both 

the volume of mortgage bonds it has issued 

and the housing loan portfolio.

OTP Mortgage Bank’s pre-tax profit fell by 

56.6%, to HUF 6.8 billion, which was due 

primarily to an increase (from HUF 26.1 billion 

in 2004 to HUF 52.8 billion in 2005) in fees 

and commissions paid to OTP Bank. 

Taking into account the fees paid to OTP Bank, 

the value contribution of OTP Mortgage Bank 

exceeded HUF 59 billion.
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Main indicators of OTP Garancia Insurance Ltd.
   

  2004 2005 Change %

ROAA % 3.12 4.86 1.74

ROAE % 27.2 37.7 10.5

Cost/income ratio % 93.1 90.5 (2.6)

Main financial data of OTP Garancia Insurance Ltd.
    

  31/12/2004  31/12/2005 Change

  HUF mn HUF mn HUF mn %

Insurance technical reserves 98,680 131,116 32,436 32.9

Shareholders’ equity 14,272 21,336 7,064 49.5

Subscribed capital 7,351 7,351 0 0.0

Total assets 118,496 157,225 38,729 32.7

Gross insurance premiums 55,603 75,763 20,160 36.3

 Life insurances 26,672 44,569 17,897 67.1

 Non-life insurances 28,930 31,193 2,263 7.8

Insurance expenses 40,370 59,699 19,329 47.9

 Damages and insurance services 25,917 27,263 1,346 5.2

 Change in reserves 14,453 32,436 17,983 124.4

Profit before tax 4,049 7,936 3,887 96.0

Profit after tax 3,400 6,704 3,304 97.2

OTP Garancia Insurance Ltd. achieved premium 

revenue of HUF 75.8 billion in 2005, which 

was 36.3%, or HUF 20.2 billion, higher than in 

the previous year. Of total premium revenues, 

the revenues of the life and bank assurance 

divisions amounted to HUF 44.6 billion, 

representing an outstanding 67.1% rise, while 

those of the non-life division were HUF 31.2 billion. 

Within life insurance premium revenue, the 

revenue from one-off premium-payment life 

insurance policies grew dynamically, by 124.3%, 

or HUF 15.8 billion, while revenue from regular 

payment insurance policies grew by 14.9%. 

The company’s insurance expenses rose from 

HUF 40.4 billion to HUF 59.7 billion in 2005. 

Of the insurance expense total, gross damage 

payments were HUF 27.3 billion. The change in 

net reserves amounted to HUF 32.4 billion, which 

represents an over two-fold rise compared 

to the previous year-end figure. 

Thus total insurance technical reserves stood, 

after a close to 33% growth, at HUF 131.1 billion 

as at December 31, 2005.

The company’s balance sheet total grew 

by 32.7% compared to the previous year, 

to HUF 157.2 billion, and its shareholders’ 

equity increased from the previous year’s 

HUF 14.3 billion to HUF 21.3 billion. 

The company’s after-tax profit was close to 

twice that of the previous year, rising to 

HUF 6.7 million, while return on average assets 

(ROAA) increased from 3.12% to 4.86%, 

and return on average equity (ROAE) rose 

from 27.2% to 37.7%. The company will pay 

HUF 4.5 billion in dividend on its after-tax 

profits in 2005 to OTP Bank.
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Main indicators of OTP Fund Management Ltd. 
   

  2004 2005 Change %

ROAA % 27.28 38.30 11.02

ROAE % 47.3 46.4 (0.9)

Cost/income ratio % 20.2 21.2 1.0

Main financial data of OTP Fund Management Ltd.   
    

  31/12/2004  31/12/2005 Change

  HUF mn HUF mn HUF mn %

Managed assets 760,800 1,096,900 336,100 44.2

Managed assets in investment funds 391,000 580,400 189,400 48.4

Managed assets in pension funds  294,900 405,800 110,900 37.6

from this OTP Pension Funds 288,600 396,200 107,600 37.3

Other managed assets 75,000 110,700 35,700 47.6

Shareholders’ equity 6,352 10,256 3,904 61.5

Subscribed capital 900 900 0 0.0

Total assets 8,601 11,519 2,918 33.9

Profit before tax 3,300 4,631 1,331 40.3

Profit after tax 2,775 3,853 1,078 38.8

Within the net asset value of the funds managed 

by OTP Fund Management, the net asset value 

of the Optima Fund stood at HUF 411.9 billion 

at year-end 2005, which represents a rise of 

29.5%. The assets of the Maxima, Paletta, UBS 

Fund of Funds, Quality Equity Fund and Fantázia 

Structured Equity Fund also rose, while the assets 

held in the Euró and Dollár Funds fell over the 

course of 2005. 

At the end of 2005, the Fund Manager’s share 

of the securities funds market was 38.3% 

(compared to 40.5% at the end of 2004). 

With respect to the pension fund market, 

the Fund Manager maintained its share of 

approximately 18–19% of total assets under 

management in 2005.

The company achieved an after-tax profit of 

HUF 3,853 million in 2005, which resulted in 

a return on average assets (ROAA) of 38.3% 

and a 46.4% return on average equity (ROAE). 

The company’s cost-to-income ratio was 21.2% 

in 2005. The Fund Manager will pay HUF 3.8 billion 

in dividends on its after-tax profits 

in 2005 to OTP Bank.



54 OTP BANK Annual Report 2005

Main indicators of DSK Group 

  2004 2005 Change % 

ROAA % 3.27 3.33 0.06

ROAE % 24.0 26.3 2.3

Cost/income ratio % 50.0 45.2 (4.8)

Main financial data of DSK Group   
    

  31/12/2004  31/12/2005 Change

  HUF mn HUF mn HUF mn %

Gross loans 273,413 384,436 111,023 40.6

Retail  210,380 301,552 91,173 43.3

Corporate 62,850 82,668 19,818 31.5

Municipal 183 216 33 18.0

Provisions (5,505) (10,902) (5,397) 98.0

Net loans 267,908 373,534 105,626 39.4

Deposits  331,347 432,415 101,068 30.5

Retail  282,900 352,002 69,102 24.4

Corporate 41,805 66,560 24,755 59.2

Municipal 6,642 13,853 7,211 108.6

Liabilities to credit institutions 16,933 67,627 50,694 299.4

Shareholders’ equity 54,563 71,243 16,680 30.6

Subscribed capital 14,430 14,430 0 0.0

Total assets 410,499 583,423 172,924 42.1

Profit before tax 13,359 19,601 6,242 46.7

Profit after tax 11,993 16,572 4,579 38.2

The group’s after-tax profit was HUF 16.6 billion 

in 2005, representing a 38.2% increase over the 

2004 figure, and thus ROAA and ROAE stood at 

3.33% and 26.3% respectively at year-end 2005.

DSK Bank’s balance sheet total on December 

31, 2005 stood at more than HUF 583.4 billion, 

or 42.1% higher than at year-end 2004, giving 

DKS Bank a market share of 13.6% and making it 

Bulgaria’s largest bank. The bank’s loans grew by 

40.6%, further increasing the bank’s market share 

(to 16.2%), and its deposits grew by 30.5%, as a 

result of which DKS maintained its market-leading 

position in this respect too (with a share of 14.8%). 

The group’s shareholders’ equity was HUF 71.2 billion 

as at 2005, representing a 30.6% rise.

In compliance with the stipulations of the 

National Bank of Bulgaria, the Bank’s solvency ratio 

was 12.21%, compared to 13.41% a year earlier.

DKS Group’s net interest income before 

provisioning rose by HUF 9.7 billion, amounting to 

close to HUF 34.3 billion (+39.4% annual increase), 

and thus net interest margin was 6.9% in 2005.

Non-interest income, with revenues from net 

fees and commissions considered, fell by 9.9%, 

despite the fact that income from net fees and 

commissions grew by 38.8% in 2005.

The group’s cost-to-income ratio declined by 

close to 5 percentage points, to 45.2%, in 2005.
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Main indicators of OTP banka Hrvatska d.d.*

  2004 2005

ROAA % —  1.00

ROAE %  —  10.6

Cost/income ratio %  —  67.2

  31/12/2004 31/12/2005

  HUF mn HUF mn

Gross loans   —  150,499

Retail  —  90,014

Corporate  —  59,792

Municipal  —  693

Deposits  —  232,496

Retail  —  193,978

Corporate  —  33,168

Municipal  —  5,350

Shareholders’ equity  —  30,571

Subscribed capital  —  17,304

Total assets  —  298,175

Profit before tax  —  3,117

Profit after tax  —  2,135

On March 10, 2005 OTP Bank acquired the 

Croatian Nova banka as it was then known, which 

has been operating as OTP banka Hrvatska (OBH) 

since September 2005.

As at December 31, 2005 OBH’s consolidated 

balance sheet total was HUF 298.2 billion, which 

gave the Bank a share of the Croatian market of 3.4%.

The Bank’s gross loans amounted to HUF 150.5 billion 

at year-end 2005, which meant its market share 

was 3.1% at the end of the year. Deposits from 

customers were HUF 232.5 billion at year-end, 

corresponding to a market share of 4.1%.

OBH’s net interest income was HUF 7.4 billion in 

2005. The group’s non-interest income reached 

HUF 3.9 billion, while its non-interest expenses 

rose to HUF 7.9 billion. Its cost-to-income ratio 

was 67.2% in 2005.

In 2005 OBH contributed HUF 2.1 billion to 

the OTP Group’s consolidated profits with its 

after-tax profits that it achieved in Q2-Q4 of 2005 

following the conclusion of the acquisition. 

The Bank’s annualised ROAA was 1.00%, 

and its ROAE 10.6%.

From its after-tax profits of 2005, OBH will pay 

OTP Bank HUF 3,563 million in dividends on its 

stand-alone performance, which in 2005 differed 

substantially from OBH’s group-level performance due 

to the one-off result of intra-group real estate sales.

*Figures for the period af ter acquisition of OTP banka Hrvatska (2-4Q 2005) and annualized financial indicators

Main financial data of OTP banka Hrvatska d.d.
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Main indicators of OTP Banka Slovensko, a. s.
   

  2004 2005 Change %

ROAA % 0.27 0.57 0.30

ROAE % 3.5 8.6 5.1

Cost/income ratio % 97.5 78.7 (18.8)

Main financial data of OTP Banka Slovensko, a. s. 
    

  31/12/2004 31/12/2005 Change

  HUF mn HUF mn HUF mn %

Gross loans  134,581 189,940 55,359 41.1

Retail 25,214 43,827 18,613 73.8

Corporate 108,333 142,566 34,233 31.6

Municipal 1,033 3,547 2,514 243.4

Deposits 139,929 151,851 11,922 8.5

Retail 61,316 59,636 (1,680) (2.7)

Corporate 59,178 71,063 11,885 20.1

Municipal 19,434 21,152 1,718 8.8

Shareholders’ equity 14,954 17,128 2,174 14.5

Subscribed capital 11,831 11,831 0 0.0

Total assets 214,887 262,858 47,971 22.3

Profit before tax 512 1,373 861 168.1

Profit after tax 512 1,373 861 168.1

The Slovak bank’s balance sheet total was 

HUF 262.9 billion as at the end of 2005, which 

represents a 22.3% rise compared to year-end 

2004, and giving it a 2.8% share of the Slovak 

banking market.

In 2005, OBS’s credit portfolio rose by 41.1%, 

to HUF 189.9 billion, representing a 5.3% market 

share at year-end. Its deposit portfolio rose 

by 8.5%, to HUF 151.9 billion, in 2005 and its 

market share was 3.2% as at December 31, 2005.

The Bank’s shareholders’ equity rose by 14.5%, 

to HUF 17.1 billion, in the reporting period. 

The Bank’s net interest income increased from 

HUF 4,954 million in 2004 to HUF 5,401 million 

in 2005. The Bank’s non-interest income, 

compared with the previous year’s figure,  

grew by over 130%, to HUF 6.3 billion,  

by the end of 2005. Non-interest expenses 

increased by 24.1% and amounted to HUF 9.3 

billion in 2005. OBS’s cost-to-income ratio,  

having dropped by 19 basis points, improved  

to 78.7% in 2005.  OBS’s after-tax profit 

for 2005 according to IFRS amounted to HUF  

1.4 billion, compared to HUF 512 million  

in the previous year. OBS’s ROAA was 0.57%  

at the end of 2005, and its ROAE 8.6%. 

OBS will pay HUF 1,116 million in dividend 

on its after-tax profits in 2005 to OTP Bank.
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Main indicators of OTP Bank Romania S.A.
   

  2004 2005 Change %

ROAA  — (4.25) —

ROAE  — (19.8) —

Cost/income ratio  80.6 142.2 61.6

Main financial data of OTP Bank Romania S.A.   

  31/12/2004  31/12/2005 Change

  HUF mn HUF mn HUF mn %

Gross loans 16,345 24,565 8,220 50.3

Retail  258 2,396 2,138 828.7

Corporate 16,087 22,169 6,082 37.8

Municipal 0 0 0 —

Provisions (276) (463) (187) 67.8

Net loans 16,069 24,102 8,033 50.0

Deposits  28,703 25,329 (3,374) (11.8)

Retail  12,764 9,294 (3,470) (27.2)

Corporate 15,939 15,279 (660) (4.1)

Municipal 0 756 756 —

Liabilities to credit institutions 7,572 15,482 7,910 104.5

Shareholders’ equity 7,692 13,731 6,039 78.5

Subscribed capital 5,104 12,577 7,473 146.4

Total assets 44,565 55,225 10,660 23.9

Profit before tax 84 (2,182) (2,266) —

Profit after tax 50 (2,122) (2,172) —

OTP Bank Romania’s balance sheet total 

exceeded HUF 55.2 billion as at December 31, 

2005, which exceeded the year-end 2004 figure 

by 23.9%. The Bank’s market share based on 

balance sheet total was 0.64% at year-end 2005. 

The Bank’s shareholders’ equity – due mainly to 

a capital increase of EUR 30 million in September 

2005 – amounted to HUF 13.7 billion 

(representing a 78.5% rise) as at December 31, 2005.

The Bank’s net interest income (before provisioning) 

grew by 39.7%, to HUF 1.6 billion, while non-interest 

income (net fees and commissions included)  

rose by 164.9% to HUF 1.7 billion.

OTP Bank Romania closed the 2005 business 

year with a loss of HUF 2.1 billion.
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OTP Buiding Society Ltd. , Merkanti l Bank Ltd. , 

OBS, DSK, OBR and OBH. As at end-2005, 

the consol idated capital requirement was 

HUF 12.2 bi l l ion, which was at tr ibutable mainly 

to foreign exchange posit ions. 

The exposure of the group members’ foreign 

exchange positions is restricted by the imposing of 

individual and global open position (overnight and 

intraday) as well as loss limits. In 2005, group-level 

average net exposure was HUF 35.7 billion.

 

In 2005, the OTP Group’s plentiful liquidity declined 

as a result of the dynamic growth in lending activity. 

Due to the substantial demand for foreign currency loans, 

the bulk of the group’s foreign currency placements 

are financed by loans taken up by OTP Bank and the 

securities issued by it. The Mortgage Bank raises funds 

through the issue of securities, which are purchased 

by institutional and retail investors. 

In 2005, the interest rate exposure of the Bank 

Group was essentially determined by the positions 

of OTP Bank Ltd., OTP Mortgage Bank Ltd. and 

DKS Bank. Since the mortgage bonds issued by the 

Mortgage Bank to fund its loans were purchased 

by OTP Bank Ltd., the funding source for the loans 

on the Mortgage Bank’s books were in effect 

OTP Bank’s customer deposits. On group level, 

the volume of liabilities that can be repriced within 

one year or less exceeds that of assets that can be 

repriced within one year or less. Such a position 

is beneficial to the Bank Group in the event that 

market rates continue to decrease. 

Developments in 
OTP Bank Ltd.’s liquidity

OTP Bank Ltd.’s l iquidi ty pol icy: bearing 

prof i tabi l i ty in mind, the Bank should be able 

to honour i ts payment obl igations when they fal l 

due and execute the necessary transactions. 

In order to measure liquidity risk exposure, the Bank 

checks the balance of the mandatory reserve 

Liquidity and market risk 
management

In 2005, the OTP Group continued to create a 

centralised market risk-management system (including 

human resources, hardware and software), as is 

generally used internationally. The group-level regulation 

on market risk management, approved by the Board 

of Directors of OTP Bank, specifies the minimum 

methodological, limit-setting and reporting requirements 

that each group member must meet. It also stipulates 

the maximum acceptable level of market risk exposure 

applicable to the group as a whole. 

With the help of a computer system, OTP Bank Ltd. 

monitors, in real time, the position of foreign and 

domestic group members with the largest risk 

exposure, and thus dealing room liquidity and 

the utilisation of limits related to market positions 

can be checked at any time during the day, and  

he managers concerned receive an automatically 

generated report regarding any potential limit 

overruns. In 2005, the automated measurement of 

OTP Group’s banking-book interest and medium-term 

liquidity risk exposure was commenced.

At OTP Bank Ltd., the supreme forum for asset-

liability and market risk management is the Asset-

Liability Committee. Every year the Committee 

reviews, at group and bank level, the measurement 

methods and the established limits, the basis of 

which is the maximum acceptable level of loss. 

The Committee receives a report on the liquidity, 

interest rate and market risk exposure of the Bank 

and the Bank Group each quarter, and the top 

management of the Bank receives one each month. 

OTP Group’s liquidity and market 
risk exposure

Pursuant to Government Decree no. 244/2000., 

the capital requirement for trading book positions, 

counterparty risks and exchange rate risks must be 

consolidated in the case of OTP Mortgage Bank Ltd., 

A S S E T - L I A B I L I T y  M A N A G E M E N T
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account and the treasury por t folio on a daily 

basis, and cash f low eight days in advance. 

I t prepares a gap analysis in the form of a maturity 

balance sheet and determines, based on the 

plans, the treasury’s placement possibil i t ies and/

or i ts fund raising requirement. The business 

areas and executive of f icers concerned receive 

repor ts on risk exposure and l imit uti l isation.

At the end of 2005, the value of the cumulative 

net base position in the 5-year-or- less categories 

of the Bank ’s maturity balance sheet – compiled 

through a structuring per formed on the basis of 

the scheduled maturity date of deposits – showed 

a considerable positive balance. The long-term 

liquidity position was af fected greatly by the fact 

that in 2005 the Bank, in order to f inance foreign 

currency loans and the subsidiaries of the 

OTP Group, issued foreign currency bonds of a 

nominal value of EUR 800 mil l ion and a maturity 

of 5 years and subordinated debenture bonds of 

a nominal value of EUR 125 million and a maturity 

of 10 years. The value of loans taken up by OTP 

Bank on the capital market for purposes other 

than re -f inancing rose to EUR 1,396, 96.3% 

(EUR 1,344 mil l ion) of which had been drawn 

down in euro or Swiss francs as of year-end 

2005. The excess forint l iquidity meant the Bank 

could also raise EUR- and CHF-denominated 

funds in the form of FX swaps. 

By the end of 2005, the volume of foreign 

currency loans had grown by over one-and-a-half 

times (57%) the year-end 2004 figure. The growth 

in foreign currency loans was at tributable to 

the business activi ty of both the Bank and i ts 

subsidiaries. A major par t of the loans were 

extended by the Bank to i ts af f i l iates, mainly 

for vehicle f inancing. The coverage of foreign 

currency loans by foreign currency deposits from 

customers fel l from 58% to 41% over the year, 

and in the case of the euro, from 55% to 40%. 

In the wake of the foreign bank acquisitions, an 

increasingly large por tion –two thirds – of assets 

are denominated in foreign currency. In 2005, 

the value of foreign currency deposits from 

customers expressed in euro rose by close to 

10%, while their forint value, due to the 2.8% 

weakening of the forint exchange rate, was 

11% higher. In 2005, the growth in the share 

of euro -denominated deposi ts within foreign 

currency deposi ts ceased, and then decl ined, 

from 63.6% previously to 61.6%.

Applying stricter rules than the law, which 

stipulates that a large deposit is one that exceeds 

15% of the guarantee capital, the Bank deems any 

deposit in excess of HUF 2 bill ion as large. 

The portfolio of the Bank’s cash, negotiable 

securities and short-term central bank and 

placements with other banks is over 7.45 times 

higher than the aggregate portfolio of the individual 

large deposits. Similarly to the end-2004 proportion, 

the Bank’s cash, securities held for trading and 

deposits held with the central bank and other 

commercial banks accounted for 19% of the balance 

sheet total as at year-end 2005. 

OTP Bank Ltd.’s 
interest rate exposure

The Bank aims to contain al l potential loss arising 

from an adverse shif t in market rates and 

manifesting i tself in a fal l in net interest income 

or the market value of the por t folio, within cer tain 

specif ied l imits. To this end, the Bank measures 

i ts interest rate exposure on a continuous basis 

and notif ies the management in the event of any 

l imit overrun.

In 2005 the intra -year gap of the combined forint 

repricing balance of the banking and trading book 

por t folio (i .e. the value of the receivables 

belonging to the given time category less the 

l iabil i t ies belonging to the same time category) 

was, similarly to the previous years, shor t , that is, 

i t revealed a substantial excess of l iabil i t ies. 

The Bank ’s interest rate exposure is largely 

determined by the fact that almost i ts entire 

deposit por t folio is repriced within 3 months, 

par tly since deposits are placed only for shor t 

periods and par tly because their interest rates are 

not f ixed and are also not tied to money-market 

instruments, but may, depending on market 

conditions, be repriced by the Bank entirely at i ts 

Asset-liability management
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against the euro, which – due to the relative 

stability of the HUF/EUR cross-rate – strengthened 

the dollar by 18% against the forint . OTP Bank 

Ltd. made the most of the oppor tunities of fered 

by the movements in the market. The prof i t of the 

Arbitrage Division was HUF 1.2 bil l ion in 2005.

 

Capital requirement 
for OTP Bank Ltd.’s market 
risk exposure 

Since the second quarter of 2001, in conformity 

with Government Decree no. 244/2000,  

the Bank has been preparing daily reports for the 

Supervisory Authority on the capital requirement 

for the interest rate, counterpar ty and foreign 

exchange rate risk, determined in accordance 

with the ‘standard method’, of the Bank ’s trading 

book positions. The average capital requirement 

was HUF 3.3 bil l ion higher in 2005 than in 2004, 

and reached HUF 8.3, of which HUF 1.1 bil l ion 

was allocated to position risk, HUF 0.3 bil l ion  

to counterpar ty risk and HUF 7 bil l ion  

to exchange rate risk. I t was exchange rate risk 

that rose the most, due mainly to the increase  

in open foreign exchange positions caused  

by the acquisitions. 

The Bank determines the capital requirement 

each day, also using the internal model (VaR). 

Average (overall) capital requirement calculated 

with the VaR model was HUF 5.5 bil l ion in 2005. 

As from April 1, 2006, based on the approval of 

the Board of Directors and the Hungarian 

Supervisory Authority, the Bank uses the internal 

model to calculate the capital requirement 

for i ts exchange rate r isk .

own discretion, and at the same time, the portfolio 

of f ixed-rated securities held for investment 

purposes exceeded HUF 600 bil l ion. The share 

of OTP long-maturity f ixed-rated mortgage bonds 

within OTP Bank ’s por t folio did not changed 

substantial ly, and therefore the average remaining 

period to maturity (duration) of the aggregate 

por t folio of mortgage bonds fel l by half a year, 

to 3.25 years, over the course of the year under 

review. The shor t- term discount securities issued 

by the Mortgage Bank expired, and were effectively 

renewed through the subscription of newly 

issued shor t- term f ixed-rate mortgage bonds. 

The interest rate exposure of the foreign 

currency-denominated por t folio is not material .

OTP Bank Ltd.’s 
exchange rate exposure

The Asset-Liabil i ty Commit tee contains foreign 

exchange rate exposure through individual and 

global net open position (overnight and intraday) 

as well as loss l imits.

 

The Bank is present in both the domestic and 

foreign FX spot and derivatives markets. In 2005, 

the average size of OTP Bank Ltd.’s net open 

posi t ion was HUF 35.7 bi l l ion, which was due, 

almost in i ts entirety, to i ts foreign interests 

(in the repor ting year OTP banka Hrvatska, 

formerly Nova banka, joined the bank group). 

The average net open posi t ion held by the 

deal ing room was HUF 3.7 bi l l ion. 

In 2005, the forint weakened by 2% against the 

euro. The US dollar strengthened signif icantly 
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Financial Summary (consolidated IFRS data)      

Balance Sheet (in HUF bn)          
As at December 31 2001 2002 2003 2004* 2005*
Cash, due from banks and balances with the
 National Bank of Hungary 381.8 355.4 276.5 465.9 483.2
Placements with other banks, net of allowance
 for placement losses 332.1 295.9 252.3 286.2 438.8
Financial assets at fair value through statements of operations — — — 70.6 48.1
Securities available-for-sale 228.6 220.1 377.0 295.8 409.9
Gross loans 821.7 1,336.9 2,046.7 2,586.1 3,297.2

 Retail 305.6 579.4 1,189.1 1,547.4 1,965.8
 Corporate 460.3 629.3 764.9 920.6 1,195.4
 Municipal 55.8 128.3 92.8 118.1 136.0

Allowance for loan losses 50.4 56.2 64.2 79.3 105.9
Net loans 771.3 1,280.7 1,982.6 2,506.8 3,191.3
Equity investments 2.8 5.5 5.9 9.4 12.4
Securities held-to-maturity 401.6 352.9 299.8 247.3 289.8
Premises, equipment and intangible assets, net 73.3 93.6 167.3 174.8 233.2
Other assets 98.1 112.5 99.4 105.6 109.2
Total assets 2,289.6 2,716.6 3,460.8 4,162.4 5,215.9
Due to banks and deposits from the
 National Bank of Hungary and other banks 37.0 79.1 126.4 254.1 364.1
Deposits from customers 1,891.5 2,151.2 2,689.8 2,902.2 3,428.2

 Retail 1,470.5 1,613.6 2,000.0 2,155.8 2,562.9
 Corporate 265.9 381.2 501.4 549.8 662.2
 Municipal 155.0 156.4 188.5 196.5 203.1

Liabilities from issued securities 40.1 84.9 124.9 317.2 543.5
Other liabilities 136.5 162.0 192.1 240.8 285.6
Subordinated bonds and loans 17.3 15.5 15.4 14.3 47.0
Total liabilities 2,122.4 2,492.6 3,148.6 3,728.7 4,668.4
Total shareholders’ equity 167.3 223.6 311.8 433.7 547.5
Total liabilities and shareholders equity 2,289.6 2,716.6 3,460.8 4,162.4 5,215.9
Net assets per share (NAV) ** (HUF, diluted) 817.7 970.2 1,236.0 1,486.6 1,862.8          

Profit and Loss Account (in HUF bn)          
For the years ended December 31 2001 2002 2003 2004* 2005*

Net interest income 113.5 134.3 176.1 260.9 297.2
Provision for loan and placement losses 6.2 8.8 10.8 16.0 28.0

Net interest income after provision for loan and placement losses 107.3 125.5 165.3 244.8 269.2
Fee income 49.2 63.6 81.6 91.6 118.9
Foreign exchange gains, net 3.1 (2.8) 5.2 1.3 3.9
Gains and losses on securities, net (0.3) 1.1 (7.6) 6.5 9.7
Gains on real estate transactions, net 2.2 0.8 1.5 1.8 0.1
Dividend income and gains and losses of associated companies 0.7 0.6 0.4 0.6 0.7
Insurance premiums 39.0 49.7 56.3 49.3 69.8
Other 5.0 11.5 12.2 10.7 13.5

Total non-interest income 99.0 124.6 149.6 161.8 216.5
Fee expense 9.1 13.0 19.9 20.6 19.9
Personnel expenses 41.4 50.2 61.3 79.5 95.2
Depreciation and amortization 15.0 17.0 19.8 29.2 21.9
Insurance expenses   39.8 41.8 40.3 58.5
Other 80.3 56.9 69.4 81.0 98.1

Total non-interest expense 145.8 176.9 212.2 250.6 293.6
Profit before tax 60.5 73.1 102.7 156.0 192.1
Profit after tax 49.0 59.2 83.3 131.5 158.2
Earnings per share (EPS) **          

 Base HUF 191 229 320 501 603
 Diluted HUF 191 228 319 499 599

Key Ratios 2001 2002 2003 2004* 2005*
Loan to deposit ratio % 38.7 53.6 65.0 69.4 70.6
Cost/income ratio % 67.2 66.7 62.9 57.2 55.4
Capital adequacy ratio %*** 14.11 13.43 10.54 11.19 10.55
ROAA % 2.25 2.36 2.70 3.45 3.38
ROAE % 32.6 30.3 31.1 35.3 32.3

   *Due to the changes of the accounting standards figures are not comparable with previous years’ data    
 **From March 11, 2002 each ordinary share with a face value of HUF 1,000 was splitted into 10 ordinary shares with a face value of HUF 100 each, for this NAV and EPS  
    ratios of previous years were corrected
***OTP Bank non-consolidated, according to HAR
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Balance Sheet 
(consolidated, based on IFRS, as at December 31, 2005 and December 31, 2004, in HUF million)

    Restated

  2005 2004

Cash, due from banks and balances with the National Bank of Hungary 483,191 465,887

Placements with other banks. net of allowance for placement losses 438,768 286,200

Financial assets at fair value through statements of operations 48,054 70,580

Securities available-for-sale 409,945 295,835

Loans net of allowance for loan losses 3,191,298 2,506,795

Accrued interest receivable 37,870 31,400

Equity investments 12,357 9,389

Securities held-to-maturity 289,803 247,259

Premises, equipment and intangible assets, net 233,245 174,775

Other assets 71,371 74,239

Total assets 5,215,902 4,162,359

Due to banks and deposits from the National Bank of Hungary and other banks 364,124 254,125

Deposits from customers 3,428,193 2,902,190

Liabilities from issued securities 543,460 317,222

Accrued interest payable 24,902 27,015

Other liabilities 260,728 213,798

Subordinated bonds and loans 47,023 14,324

Total liabilities 4,668,430 3,728,674

Share capital 28,000 28,000

Retained earnings and reserves 572,567 431,127

Treasury shares (53,586) (25,867)

Minority interest 491 425

Total shareholders’ equity 547,472 433,685

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity 5,215,902 4,162,359

The accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements on pages 69 to 109 form an integral part of these consolidated 

financial statements.

IFRS consolidated financial statements
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    Restated

  2005 2004

Interest income:    

Loans 340,793 241,233

Placements with other banks 43,734 42,431

Due from banks and balances with the National Bank of Hungary 29,174 33,818

Securities held for trading 2,708 6,648

Securities available-for-sale 25,235 82,553

Securities held-to-maturity 17,380 26,995

Total interest income 459,024 433,678

Interest expense:    

Due to banks and deposits from the National Bank of Hungary and other banks 34,501 20,640

Deposits from customers 99,703 131,824

Liabilities from issued securities 25,959 19,382

Subordinated bonds and loans 1,636 943

Total interest expense 161,799 172,789

Net interest income 297,225 260,889

Provision for loan and placement losses 28,042 16,048

Net interest income after provision for loan and placement losses 269,183 244,841

Non-interest income:    

Fee income 118,884 91,625

Foreign exchange gains, net 3,879 1,250

Gains and losses on securities, net 9,708 6,466

Gains on real estate transactions, net 96 1,818

Dividend income and gains and losses of associated companies 672 593

Insurance premiums 69,793 49,337

Other 13,465 10,680

Total non-interest income 216,497 161,769

Non-interest expenses:    

Fee expenses 19,930 20,588

Personnel expenses 95,235 79,538

Depreciation and amortization 21,897 29,150

Insurance expenses 58,468 40,264

Other 98,073 81,046

Total non-interest expense 293,603 250,586

Income before income taxes 192,077 156,024

Income taxes 33,803 24,506

Income after income taxes 158,274 131,518

Minority interest (39) (12)

Net income 158,235 131,506

Earnings per share (in HUF)    

Basic 603 501

Diluted 599 499

The accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements on pages 69 to 109 form an integral part of these consolidated 

financial statements.

Profit and Loss Account
(consolidated, based on IFRS, for the years ended December 31, 2005 and December 31, 2004, in HUF million)
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Statement of Cash Flow
(consolidated, based on IFRS, for the years ended December 31, 2005 and December 31, 2004, in HUF million)

 

    Restated

  2005 2004

Operating activities    

Income before income taxes 192,077 156,024

Adjustments to reconcile income before income taxes to net cash provided by operating activities    

Income tax paid (29,208) (26,871)

Depreciation and amortization 21,897 29,150

Provision for loan and placement losses 28,042 16,048

Provision for permanent diminution in value of equity investments 166 426

Provision/(Release of allowance) for losses on other assets 88 (569)

Release of allowance for losses on off-balance sheet commitments and contingent liabilities, net (1,544) (924)

Net increase in insurance reserves 31,763 14,390

Share-based compensation 7,497 2,348

Unrealised losses on fair value adjustment of securities held for trading 41 547

Unrealised losses/(gains) on fair value adjustment of derivative financial instruments 797 (631)

Changes in operating assets and liabilities    

Net (increase)/decrease in accrued interest receivables (4,827) 1,257

Net decrease/(increase) in other assets, excluding advances for investments

 and before allowance for losses 5,843 (3,593)

Net (increase)/decrease in accrued interest payable (3,679) 10,244

Net increase in other liabilities 1,207 24,082

Net cash provided by operating activities 250,160 221,928

Investing activities    

Net (increase) in placement with other bank before provision for placement losses (79,136) (19,638)    

Net (increase)/decrease in securities available-for-sale (42,774) 17,234

Net (increase) in equity investments, before provision for permanent diminution in value (2,465) (3,902)

Net cash outflow from acquisition of subsidiaries (57,667) (9,441)

Net decrease in debt securities held-to-maturity (41,376) 52,888

Net (increase)/decrease in advances for investments. included in other assets (14) 56

Net (increase) in loans, before provision for loan losses (590,490) (522,581)

Net additions to premises, equipment and intangible assets (33,580) (29,957)

Net cash used in investing activities (847,502) (515,341)

Financing activities    

Net increase in due to banks and deposits from the National Bank of Hungary and other banks 100,798 122,254

Net increase in deposits from customers 313,162 187,356

Net increase in liabilities from issued securities 226,238 192,335

Increase/(decrease) in subordinated bonds and loans 31,466 (1,089)

Increase/(decrease) of minority interest 66 (7)

Foreign currency translation gains/(losses) 4,449 (2,740)

Net change in treasury shares (20,293) 1,513

Net (decrease)/increase in compulsory reserves at National Bank of Hungary (10,981) 1,627

Dividends paid (41,240) (16,823)

Net cash provided by financing activities 603,665 484,426

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 6,323 191,013

Cash and cash equivalents as at January 1 355,673 164,660

Cash and cash equivalents as at end of period 361,996 355,673

Analysis of cash and cash equivalents opening and closing balance    

Cash, due from banks and balances with the National Bank of Hungary 465,887 276,501

Compulsory reserve established by the National Bank of Hungary (110,214) (111,841)

Cash and cash equivalents as at January 1 355,673 164,660

Cash, due from banks and balances with the National Bank of Hungary 483,191 465,887

Compulsory reserve established by the National Bank of Hungary (121,195) (110,214)

Cash and cash equivalents as at end of period 361,996 355,673

The accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements on pages 69 to 109 form an integral part of these consolidated 

financial statements.

IFRS consolidated financial statements



68 OTP BANK Annual Report 2005

Statement of changes in Shareholders’ Equity
(consolidated, based on IFRS, for the years ended December 31, 2005 and December 31, 2004. in HUF million)

 

  Share capital Retained earnings Treasury  Minority Total

  and reserves shares interest

Balance as at January 1, 2004 (Restated) 28,000 309,220 (25,420) 432 312,232

Net income — 131,506 — — 131,506

Fair value adjustment of securities

available-for-sale recognised directly through equity — 4,881 — — 4,881

Share-based compensation — 4,433 — — 4,433

Dividend for the year 2003 — (16,800) — — (16,800)

Repurchased treasury shares

– profit on sale of treasury shares — 1,960 — — 1,960  

– sale and purchase of treasury shares — — (447) (447) — 

Derivative financial instruments designated

 as cash flow hedge — (1,333) — (1,333) —

Foreign currency translation loss         — (2,740)          — — (2,740)

Minority interest         —           —           — (7) (7)

Balance as at December 31, 2004 (Restated) 28,000 431,127 (25,867) 425 433,685

Net income — 158,235 — — 158,235

Fair value adjustment of securities

 available-for-sale recognised directly through equity — 2,051 — — 2,051

Share-based compensation — 7,497 — — 7,497

Derecognition of opening balance of negative goodwill  — 3,034 —   — 3,034

Dividend for the year 2004 — (41,206) — — (41,206)

Repurchased treasury shares

– profit on sale of treasury shares — 7,426 — — 7,426

– sale and purchase of treasury shares — — (27,719) (27,719) —

Derivative financial instruments designated as cash-flow hedge — (46) — — (46)

Foreign currency translation gain         — 4,449          — — 4,449

Minority interest         —           —           — 66 66

Balance as at December 31, 2005 28,000 572,567 (53,586) 491 547,472

           

The accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements on pages 69 to 109 form an integral part of these consolidated 

financial statements.
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N O T E S  T O  C O N S O L I D A T E D  I F R S 

F I N A N C I A L  S T A T E M E N T S  A S  A T 

D E C E M B E R  31 ,  2 0 0 5

The Annual General Meeting on April 25, 2001 

approved the conversion of HUF 1,150 mill ion 

nominal value preference shares issued by 

the Bank to common shares. 

In the first quarter of the year of 2002 the nominal 

value of the common shares of the Bank has decreased 

from HUF 1,000 to HUF 100 per share.

As at December 31, 2005 approximately 90.4% 

of the Bank’s shares were held by domestic and foreign 

private and institutional investors. The remaining shares 

are owned by employees (3.1%) and the Bank (6.5%).

The Bank provides a full range of commercial banking 

services through a wide network of 927 branches. 377 

branches are in Hungary, 357 branches are  

in Bulgaria, 78 branches are in Slovakia, 26 branches 

are in Romania and 89 branches are in Croatia.

As at December 31, 2005 the number of employees at 

the Bank and its subsidiary companies (together the 

“Group”) was 17,977. The average number of 

employees for the year ended December 31, 2005 

was 17,669.

1.2. Accounting

The Group maintains its accounting records and prepares 

its statutory accounts in accordance with the commercial, 

banking and fiscal regulations prevailing in Hungary and 

in case of foreign subsidiaries in accordance with  

the local commercial, banking and fiscal regulations.

The Group’s functional currency is the Hungarian 

Forint (“HUF”).

1.1. General

National Savings and Commercial Bank Ltd. (the “Bank” 

or “OTP”) was established on December 31, 1990, 

when the predecessor State-owned company was 

transformed into a limited liability company.

The Bank’s registered office address is 

16 Nador street, Budapest 1051.

As at December 31, 1994, 79% of the Bank’s shares 

were held directly or indirectly by the Hungarian 

Government and the remaining 21% were held by 

domestic investors or represented as own shares 

(less than 3%). In spring 1995, 20% of the shares 

were transferred by the Hungarian Government to 

the Hungarian Social Security Funds. Subsequent 

to the successful privatization of the Bank by a public 

offering in summer 1995, the Bank’s shares were 

introduced to the Budapest and the Luxembourg 

stock exchanges and were also listed on SEAQ 

London and PORTAL (USA).

At an extraordinary General Assembly, 

on September 3, 1997, the Bank issued a preferential 

voting share with a nominal value of HUF 1 thousand 

(the “Special Share”) to the State Privatization 

and Holding Company. The Special Share gives 

the power to the State Privatization and Holding 

Company to control the outcome of certain 

shareholder votes in accordance with the Bank’s 

Articles of Association and the right to delegate 

one member to the Bank’s Board of Directors and 

one member to the Supervisory Board of the Bank.

By public offerings in fall 1997 and fall 1999, the State 

Privatization and Holding Company sold the remaining 

common shares.

NOTE 1:     ORGANIZATION AND BASIS OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
     STATEMENTS



asset at fair value through statements of operations”. 

In this category is classified the previously held for 

trading assets and other instruments which upon 

initial recognition are designated by the entity as to 

be held at fair value through statements of operations.

Due to the retrospective application of IAS 39 

Revised, an opening adjustment of HUF 1,313 million 

loss has been presented in retained earnings and 

reserves as of January 1, 2004. Due to restatement 

of prior periods, income after income tax decreased 

by HUF 6,978 million for the year ended December 

31, 2004 from what was previously reported.

IFRS 2 Share based payments (in HUF mn)

For equity settled share based compensation, under 

IFRS 2 the Group is required to measure the fair 

value of services received, based on the fair value 

of the equity instrument granted, and to recognise 

such expense in the consolidated financial statements.  

IFRS 2 has been adopted retrospectively from 

January 1, 2005 in respect of options which 

have a grant date later than November 7, 2002.

The Annual General Meeting for the year 2000 

approved a five year share option and bonus program 

for the years 2000 to 2004 granting options and bonus 

shares on an annual basis. For the options for the years 

2003 and 2004, the grant date is December 31, 2002.

Due to the retrospective application of IFRS 2, an 

opening adjustment of HUF 2,085 million is presented 

separately in retained earnings and reserves as of 

January 1, 2004. Due to restatement of prior periods, 

income after income tax was decreased by 

HUF 2,348 million for the year ended December 31, 2004.

IFRS 3 Business Combinations (in HUF mn)

The Group applied IFRS 3 Business Combinations 

from March 31, 2004 for new acquisitions. Effective 

from January 1, 2005 the Group for all subsidiaries:

– discontinued amortising goodwill and the amount 

of goodwill net of accumulated amortization 

became the carrying amount;

– tests the goodwill for impairment in accordance 

with IAS 36 Impairment of Assets;

– negative goodwill was derecognised with a 

corresponding adjustment to the opening balance 

of retained earnings.

Some of the accounting principles prescribed for 

statutory purposes are different from those generally 

recognized in international financial markets. Certain 

adjustments have been made to the Bank’s Hungarian 

consolidated statutory accounts, in order to present  

the consolidated financial position and results  

of operations of the Bank in accordance with all 

standards and interpretations approved  

by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB),  

which are referred to as International Financial 

Reporting Standards (IFRS). These standards and 

interpretations were previously called International 

Accounting Standards (IAS).

The consolidated financial statements have been 

prepared in accordance with International Financial 

Reporting Standards as adopted by the European  

Union (the “EU”).  IFRS as adopted by the EU do not 

currently dif fer from IFRS as issued by the 

International Accounting Standards Board (IASB), 

except for port folio hedge accounting under  

IAS 39 which has not been approved by the EU.  

As the Group does not apply portfolio hedge 

accounting under IAS 39, there is no impact on 

these consolidated financial statements, had it been 

approved by the EU at the balance sheet date.

1.2.1. The effect of adopting 
revised International Financial 
Reporting Standards effective 
from January 1, 2005 on the 2004 
financial statements

Effective from January 1, 2005 the Group adopted 

revised IAS 39 (“Financial Instruments: Recognition 

and Measurement”), IFRS 2 (“Share-based payment”) 

and IFRS 3 (“Business combinations”). Revisions to a 

number of other IAS also took effect in the consolidated 

condensed financial statements of the Group, but those 

revisions concerned matters of detailed application 

which have no significant effect on amounts reported.

IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition 

and Measurement (in HUF mn)

IAS 39 Revised, which is effective after January 1, 

2005 changes the category held for trading 

instruments by introducing a new category “a financial 

OTP BANK Annual Report 200570
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Summary of the effects of introduction of IAS 39 revised and IFRS 2 for the year ended 

December 31, 2004 is as follows:

 As original reported for the  Restated for 

 year ended the year ended  

 December 31, 2004 December 31, 2004

Fair value adjustment of available-for-sale 

 securities recognized in profit and loss 8,303 —

Deferred tax effect   (1,325)  —

Contribution to net income     6,978 —

Share based compensation —   (2,348)

Net income after income taxes 140,832 131,506

Fair value adjustment of available-for-sale

 securities recognized directly through equity — 8,303

Deferred tax effect —   (1,325)

Effect to equity   —  6,978

Share based compensation through directly equity — 2,348

Shareholders’ equity without minority interest 433,260 433,260

Minority interest   — 425

Total shareholders’ equity  433,260 433,685

– IFRS 7 ‘Financial Instruments: Disclosures’ 

(ef fective January 1, 2007);

– Amendments to IAS 39 ‘Financial Instruments: 

Recognition and Measurement’ in respect  

of cash f low hedge accounting (ef fective 

January 1, 2006);

– Amendments to IAS 39 ‘Financial Instruments: 

Recognition and Measurement’ and IFRS 4 

‘ Insurance Contracts’ for f inancial guarantee 

contracts (ef fective January 1, 2006); 

– Amendments to IAS 1 ‘Presentation of 

Financial Statements’ on capital disclosures 

(ef fective January 1, 2007). 

The adoption of these standards in the future 

periods is not expected to have a material impact 

on the consolidated prof i t or equity.

The most significant item is the goodwill acquired 

through the acquisition of DSK Bank EAD, the related 

balances as at December 31, 2004 are the following:

Cost 38,076

Accumulated amortization   (9,535)

Net book value 28,541

Amortization for the year 2004 7,615

Negative goodwill was acquired through the acquisition 

of OTP Banka Slovensko, a.s. the related balances 

as at December 31, 2004 are the following:

Cost    4,204

Accumulated amortization  (1,170)

Net book value   3,034

Amortization for the year 2004 130

As of January 1, 2005 derecognition of negative 

goodwill will increase the opening balance of retained 

earnings and reserves by HUF 3,034 million.

1.2.2. Changes in accounting 
policies arising from the adoption 
of new IFRSs and amendments 
to IASs effective January 1, 2006 

At the date of authorisation of these f inancial 

statements, the following standards were  

in issue but not yet ef fective:
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NOTE 2:     SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Effective for acquisitions af ter March 31, 2004 

goodwill arising on acquisition is expressed in the 

functional currency of the foreign operation and 

translated at the closing rate in the consolidated 

balance sheet. The resulting exchange dif ference 

is presented as an element of retained earnings 

and reserves in the Consolidated Balance Sheet.

2.3. Principles of consolidation

Included in these consolidated financial statements 

are the accounts of those subsidiaries in which the 

Bank holds a controlling interest. The list of the 

major fully consolidated subsidiaries, the 

percentage of issued capital owned by the Bank 

and the description of their activities is provided in 

Note 30. However, certain subsidiaries in which 

the Bank holds a controlling interest have not been 

consolidated in accordance with IFRS because the 

ef fect of consolidating such companies is not 

material to the consolidated financial statements 

as a whole (see Note 2.10.).

2.4. Accounting for acquisitions

Upon acquisition, subsidiaries are accounted for 

under the fair value method of accounting.  

Any goodwill or negative goodwill arising on 

acquisition is recognized in the consolidated balance 

sheet and accounted for as indicated below.

Acquisition before March 31, 2004

Goodwill, which represents the residual cost of the 

acquisition after recognizing the acquirer’s interest in 

the fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities 

acquired, is held as an intangible asset and recorded as 

Depreciation and amortization in the Consolidated 

Statement of Operations, in anticipation of future 

economic benefits, on a straight-line basis over a period 

of five years. The value of any goodwill held in the 

Consolidated Balance Sheet is reassessed on an annual 

basis, determined on the basis of specific identification 

of the investment. If it is no longer probable that  

the goodwill will be recovered from future economic 

benefits, it is recognized immediately as an expense.

Significant accounting policies applied in the preparation 

of the accompanying consolidated financial statements 

are summarized below:

2.1. Basis of presentation

These consolidated financial statements have been 

prepared under the historical cost convention with 

the exception of certain financial instruments, which 

are recorded on fair value. Revenues and expenses 

are recorded in the period in which they are earned 

or incurred.

The presentation of consolidated financial statements 

in conformity with IFRS requires management of the 

Bank to make estimates and assumptions that affect 

the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and 

disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities as of the 

date of the financial statements and their reported 

amounts of revenues and expenses during the 

reporting period. Actual results could differ from 

those estimates. Future changes in economic 

conditions, business strategies, regulatory 

requirements, accounting rules and other factors 

could result in a change in estimates that could have 

a material impact on future financial statements.

2.2. Foreign currency translation

Assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies 

are translated into HUF at exchange rates quoted by the 

National Bank of Hungary (“NBH”), or if there is no 

official rate, at exchange rate quoted by OTP Bank as of 

the date of the consolidated financial statements. 

Income and expenses arising in foreign currencies are 

converted at the rate of exchange on the transaction 

date. Resulting foreign exchange gains or losses are 

recorded in the Consolidated Statement of Operations.

Net dif ferences resulting from translating foreign 

currency financial statements of consolidated 

subsidiaries are presented as an element of 

retained earnings and reserves in the Consolidated 

Balance Sheet.
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The excess, as at the date of the exchange 

transaction, of the Bank ’s interest in the fair 

values of the identi f iable assets and l iabi l i t ies 

acquired over the cost of the acquisi t ion,  

is recognised as negative goodwil l among 

intangible assets .

The extent that negative goodwill relates to 

expectations of future losses and expenses that 

are identif ied in the Bank ’s plan for the acquisition 

and can be measured reliably, but which do not 

represent identif iable l iabil i t ies at the date of 

acquisition, that por tion of negative goodwill is 

recognised as Other income in the Consolidated 

Statement of Operations when the future losses 

and expenses are recognised.

To the extent that negative goodwill does not relate 

to identifiable expected future losses and expenses 

that can be measured reliably at the date of 

acquisition, negative goodwill is recognised as other 

income on a systematic basis over the remaining 

weighted average useful life of the identifiable 

acquired depreciable/amortisable assets.

Acquisition after March 31, 2004

The Bank has appl ied IFRS 3 Business 

Combinations since March 31, 2004 for 

acquisi t ions af ter that date. Goodwil l , which 

represents the residual cost of the acquisi t ion 

af ter recognizing the acquirer’s interest in 

the fair value of the identi f iable assets, l iabi l i t ies 

and contingent l iabi l i t ies acquired, is held as 

an intangible asset and recorded at cost less 

any accumulated impairment losses in the 

Consol idated Financial Statements .

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is 

tested for impairment annually, or more frequently 

i f events or changes in circumstances indicate 

that i t might be impaired.

Negative goodwill , when the acquirer’s interest 

in the net fair value of the acquired identif iable 

net assets exceeds the cost of the business 

combination, is recognized immediately in the 

Consolidated Statement of Operations as a gain.

2.5. Securities held-to-maturity

Investments in securities are accounted on 

a set tlement date basis and are initial ly measured 

at fair value. At subsequent repor ting dates, 

securities that the Group has the expressed 

intention and abil i ty to hold to maturity (held-to -

maturity securities) are measured at amortised 

cost, less any impairment losses recognised 

to ref lect irrecoverable amounts. The annual 

amortisation of any discount or premium on 

the acquisition of a held-to -maturity security is 

aggregated with other investment income 

receivable over the term of the investment  

so that the revenue recognised in each period 

represents a constant yield on the investment.

Held-to -maturity investments include securities, 

which the Group has the abil i ty and intent to hold 

to maturity. Such securities comprise mainly 

securities issued by the Hungarian Government 

and mortgage bonds.

2.6. Financial assets at fair value 
through income statement

2.6.1. Securities held for trading

Investments in securi t ies are accounted on  

a set tlement date basis and are initial ly measured 

at fair value. Held for trading investments are 

measured at subsequent repor t ing dates at fair 

value. Unreal ised gains and losses on held for 

trading securi t ies are recognised in prof i t / loss 

and included in the Consol idated Statement  

of Operations for the period. Such securities 

consist of Hungarian and foreign discounted and 

interest bearing Treasury bi l ls and government 

bonds and other securi t ies . Other securi t ies 

include shares in commercial companies, 

shares in investment funds.

IFRS consolidated financial statements
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hedged risk are recognised in the reserve among 

consolidated shareholders’ equity. Amounts 

deferred in equity are transferred to the 

Consolidated Statement of Operations and 

classif ied as revenue or expense in the periods 

during which the hedged assets and l iabil i t ies 

af fect the result for the period. The inef fective 

element of the hedge is charged directly  

to the Consolidated Statement of Operations.

Certain derivative transactions, while providing 

effective economic hedges under the Group’s risk 

management policy, do not quali fy for hedge 

accounting under the specif ic rules of IAS 39 

and are therefore treated as derivatives held  

for trading with fair value gains and losses 

charged directly to the Consolidated Statement  

of Operations.

 

2.7. Securities available-for-sale

Investments in securities are accounted on a 

set tlement date basis and are initial ly measured 

at fair value. Available -for-sale investments are 

measured at subsequent repor ting dates at fair 

value. Unrealised gains and losses on available -

for-sale f inancial instruments are recognised 

directly in equity, unless such available -for-sale 

security is par t of an ef fective fair value hedge. 

Such gains and losses wil l be repor ted when 

realised in prof i t and loss for the applicable 

period. Such securities consist of Hungarian and 

foreign discounted and interest bearing Treasury 

bil ls and government bonds and other securities. 

Other securities include shares in commercial 

companies, shares in investment funds, bonds 

issued by companies and mortgage bonds issued 

by other f inancial insti tutions. 

Available -for-sale securities are remeasured at fair 

value based on quoted prices or amounts derived 

from cash f low models. In circumstances where 

the quoted market prices are not readily available, 

the fair value of debt securities is estimated using 

the present value of future cash f lows and the 

unquoted equity instruments is measured at cost.

2.6.2. Derivative financial 
instruments

In the normal course of business, the Group is  

a par ty to contracts for derivative f inancial 

instruments, which represent a very low initial 

investment compared to the notional value of the 

contract. The derivative f inancial instruments 

used include interest rate forward or swap 

agreements and currency forward and swap 

agreements. These f inancial instruments are used 

by the Group to hedge interest rate risk and 

currency exposures associated with i ts 

transactions in the f inancial markets.

Derivative f inancial instruments are initial ly 

measured at fair value and at subsequent 

repor ting dates at their fair value. Fair values are 

obtained from quoted market prices, discounted 

cash f low models and options pricing models as 

appropriate. Changes in the fair value of 

derivative f inancial instruments that do not quali fy 

for hedge accounting are recognised in prof i t/

loss and included in the Consolidated Statement 

of Operations for the period. All derivatives are 

carried as assets when fair value is positive and 

as l iabil i t ies when fair value is negative.

2.6.3. Derivative financial 
instruments designated as 
a fair-value or cash flow hedge

Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are 

designated and quali fy as fair value hedges and 

that prove to be highly ef fective in relation to the 

hedged risk, are recorded in the Consolidated 

Statement of Operations along with the 

corresponding change in fair value of the hedged 

asset or l iabil i ty that is at tributable to the specif ic 

hedged risk. The inef fective element of the hedge 

is charged directly to the Consolidated Statement 

of Operations.

Changes in fair value of derivatives that are 

designated and quali fy as cash f low hedges and 

that prove to be highly ef fective in relation to 
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Those available -for-sale f inancial assets that do 

not have a quoted market price and whose fair 

value cannot be reliably measured by other 

models mentioned above, are measured at cost, 

less al lowance for permanent diminution in value, 

when appropriate. 

2.8. Loans, placements with other 
banks and allowance for loan and 
placement losses

Loans and placements with other banks are stated at 

the principal amounts outstanding, net of allowance 

for loan or placements losses, respectively. Interest is 

accrued and credited to income based on the 

principal amount outstanding. When a borrower is 

unable to meet payments as they come due or, in the 

opinion of the management, there is an indication 

that a borrower may be unable to meet payments as 

they come due, all unpaid interest is reversed.

The amount of provision is the dif ference 

between the carrying amount and the 

recoverable amount, being the present value of 

the expected cash f lows, including amounts 

recoverable from guarantees and collateral, 

discounted at the original ef fective interest rate.

Provisions for losses on loans and placements with 

other banks represent managements assessment for 

potential losses in relation to these activities.

The allowances for loan and placement losses are 

maintained to cover losses that have been 

specifically identified and for potential losses which 

may be present based on portfolio performance.

Write-offs are generally recorded after all 

reasonable restructuring or collection activities have 

taken place and the possibility of further recovery is 

considered to be remote. The loan is written off 

against the related account “Provisions for loan and 

placement losses” in the profit and loss account.  

If the reason for provisioning is no longer deemed 

appropriate, the redundant provisioning charge is 

released into income.

2.9. Sale and repurchase 
agreements

Where debt or equity securities are sold under 

a commitment to repurchase them at a pre-

determined price, they remain on the balance sheet 

and the consideration received is recorded in 

liabilities Due to Banks. Conversely, debt or equity 

securities purchased under a commitment to resell 

are not recognised in the balance sheet and the 

consideration paid is recorded in Placement  

with other Banks. Interest is accrued evenly over  

the life of the repurchase agreement.

2.10. Equity investments

Companies where the Bank has a signif icant 

interest are accounted for using the equity 

method. However, cer tain associated companies 

in which the Bank holds a signif icant interest have 

not been accounted for in accordance with the 

equity method because the ef fect of using the 

equity method to account for such companies is 

not material to the consolidated f inancial 

statements as a whole. Shares which are 

intended to be disposed of are included among 

securities available -for-sale.

Unconsolidated subsidiaries and associated 

companies that were not accounted for using the 

equity method and other investments where the 

Bank does not hold a controll ing or signif icant 

interest are recorded at the cost of acquisition, 

less al lowance for permanent diminution in value, 

when appropriate.

Gains and losses on the sale of equity investments 

are determined on the basis of the specif ic 

identi f ication of the cost of each investment.

2.11. Premises, equipment and 
intangible assets

Premises, equipment and intangible assets are 

stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation 

and amortization. The depreciable amount 

IFRS consolidated financial statements



76 OTP BANK Annual Report 2005

Group’s net investment in the lease. Finance  

lease income in allocated to accounting periods  

so as to reflect a constant rate of return on  

the Group’s net investment outstanding in respect  

of the leases. Direct costs such as commissions 

are included in the ini t ial measurement  

of the f inance lease receivables. 

Rental income from operating leases is recognised on 

a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.

The Group as lessee

Assets held under finance leases, which confer 

rights and obligations similar to those attached 

to owned assets, are capitalised at their fair value 

and depreciated over the useful lives of assets. 

The capital element of each future lease 

obligation is recorded as a l iabi l i ty, while  

the interest elements are charged to the 

Consolidated Statement of Operations over  

the period of the leases to produce a constant 

rate of charge on the balance of capital  

payments outstanding.

Payments made under operating leases are 

charged to the Consolidated Statement of 

Operations on a straight- line basis over the term 

of the lease. When an operating lease is 

terminated before the lease period has expired, 

any payment required to be made to the lessor 

by way of penalty is recognised as an expense 

in the period in which termination takes place.

2.13. Properties held for resale

Proper ties held for resale are accounted for  

at historical cost less allowance for permanent 

diminution in value and are included in Other 

assets in the Consolidated Balance Sheet. 

Properties held for resale include property held 

for sale in the normal course of business as  

a result of construction or development, real  

estate held due to work out of loans and property 

acquired exclusively with a view to subsequent 

disposal in the near future.

(book value less residual value) of the non-current 

assets must be allocated over them useful l i fe. 

Depreciation and amortization are computed 

using the straight- l ine method over the estimated 

useful l ives of the assets based on the following 

annual percentages:

Buildings 1–10%

Machinery and equipment 2.5–50%

Vehicles 10–50%

Leased assets 14.5–33.3%

Sof tware 12.5–50%

Property rights 14.5–50%

Depreciation and amortization on premises, 

equipment and intangible assets commences 

on the day such assets are placed into service.

At each balance sheet date, the Group reviews  

the carrying value of i ts tangible and intangible 

assets to determine if there is any indication that 

those assets have suf fered an impairment loss.  

I f any such indication exists, the recoverable 

amount of the asset is estimated to determine the 

extent (if any) of the impairment loss. Where it is 

not possible to estimate the recoverable amount  

of an individual asset, the Group estimates  

the recoverable amount of the cash-generating  

unit to which the asset belongs.

Where the carrying value of premises, equipment 

and other tangible f ixed assets is greater than the 

estimated recoverable amount, i t is writ ten down 

immediately to the estimated recoverable amount.

2.12. Leases

Leases are classif ied as f inance leases whenever 

the terms of the lease transfer substantial ly al l 

the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee. 

All other leases are classif ies as operating leases.

The Group as lessor

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases 

are recorded as receivables at the amount of the 
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country where the company is incorporated, 

adjusted for deferred taxation.

Deferred taxation is accounted for, using the balance 

sheet liability method in respect of temporary 

differences in the tax bases of assets and liabilities and 

their carrying value for financial reporting purposes, 

measured at the tax rates that apply to the future 

period when the asset is expected to be realised  

or the liability is settled.

2.19. Off-balance sheet 
commitments and contingent 
liabilities

In the ordinary course of i ts business, the Group  

has entered into off-balance sheet commitments 

such as guarantees, commitments to extend credit 

and letters of credit and transactions with financial 

instruments. The al lowance for losses on 

commitments and contingent l iabi l i t ies is 

maintained at a level adequate to absorb probable 

future losses. Management determines the 

adequacy of the allowance based upon reviews  

of individual items, recent loss experience, current 

economic conditions, the risk characteristics  

of the various categories of transactions and other 

pertinent factors.

The Group recognises an allowance when it has  

a present obligation as a result of a past event; it is 

probable that an outflow of resources embodying 

economic benefits wil l be required to set tle  

the obligation; and a reliable estimate can be made 

of the obligation.

2.20. Share-based compensation

The Bank has applied the requirements of IFRS 2 

Share-based payments. In accordance with the 

transitional provisions, IFRS 2 has been applied to 

all grants of equity instruments af ter November 7, 

2002 that were unvested as of January 1, 2005.

The Bank issues equity-settled share-based 

compensations to certain employees. 

2.14. Insurance reserves

Insurance reserves are accrued for liabilities from life 

and non-life insurance contracts and are included  

in Other liabilities. The level of such reserves reflects  

the amount of future liabilities expected as at the date  

of the consolidated financial statements. The provision 

for outstanding claims and claim settlement expenses 

for non-life policies are based upon estimates of the 

expected losses for all classes of business. The reserve 

includes reported claims, claims incurred but not 

reported and claim adjustment expenses. This provision 

takes into account mortality factors within Hungary  

and other countries where insurance operations are 

conducted and is based upon mortality tables approved 

by regulatory authorities.

2.15. Treasury shares

Treasury shares are purchased on the stock 

exchange and the over-the-counter market by the 

Bank and its subsidiaries and are presented in the 

Consolidated Balance Sheet at acquisition cost as 

a deduction from consolidated shareholders’ equity.

Gains and losses on the sale of treasury shares 

are credited or charged directly to consolidated 

retained earnings and reserves.

2.16. Interest income and interest 
expense

Interest income and expense are recognised in the 

consolidated statement of operations on an accrual basis. 

2.17. Fees and commissions

Fees and commissions are recognised in the 

consolidated statement of operations on an accrual basis.

2.18. Income taxes

The annual taxation charge is based on the tax 

payable under f iscal regulations prevail ing in the 

IFRS consolidated financial statements



78 OTP BANK Annual Report 2005

format represents two business segments 

– banking (f inance) and insurance.

Segment results include revenue and expenses 

directly at tributable to a segment and the relevant 

por tion of revenue and expenses that can be 

allocated to a segment, whether from external 

transactions or from transactions with other 

segments of the Group. Unallocated i tems mainly 

comprise administrative expenses. Segment 

results are determined before any adjustments  

for minority interest.

Segment assets and l iabil i t ies comprise those 

operating assets and l iabil i t ies that are directly 

at tributable to the segment on a reasonable basis. 

Segment assets are determined af ter deducting 

related adjustments that are repor ted as direct 

of fsets in the Group’s balance sheet.

2.23. Comparative figures

Certain amounts in the 2004 consolidated financial 

statements have been reclassi f ied to conform 

to the current year presentation.

Equity-settled share-based compensations are 

measured at fair value at the date of grant. The fair 

value determined at the grant date of the equity-

settled share-based compensations is expensed on 

a straight- line basis over the year, based on the 

Bank’s estimate of shares that will eventually vest.

Fair value is measured by use of a binomial model. 

The expected life used in the model has been 

adjusted, based on management’s best estimate, 

for the effects of non-transferability, exercise 

restrictions, and behavioural considerations.

2.21. Consolidated statement of 
cash flows

For the purposes of reporting consolidated cash 

flows, cash and cash equivalents include cash,  

due from banks and balances with the National 

Bank of Hungary, excluding compulsory reserve 

established by the National Bank of Hungary. 

Consolidated cash flows from hedging activities 

are classif ied in the same category as the item 

being hedged.

2.22. Segment reporting 

Segment information is based on two segments 

formats. The primary format represents the 

Group’s geographical markets. The secondary 

3.1. Impairment of loans and 
advances 

The Group regularly assesses i ts loan por t folio 

for possible impairment. Management determines 

the adequacy of the al lowances based upon 

reviews of individual loans and placements, 

recent loss experience, current economic 

conditions, the risk characteristics of the various 

The presentation of financial statements in conformity 

with IFRS requires the management of the Group to 

make judgement about estimates and assumptions that 

effect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and 

the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities as at 

the date of the financial statements and their reported 

amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting 

period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. 

Significant areas of subjective judgement include:

NOTE 3:      SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND DECISIONS 
     IN THE APPLICATION OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES  
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3.3. Provisions

The Group is involved in a number of ongoing 

legal disputes.  Based upon historical experience 

and exper t repor ts, the Bank assesses the 

developments in these cases, and the l ikel ihood 

and the amount of potential f inancial losses 

which are appropriately provided for. 

3.4. Insurance liabilities

Insurance liabilities for life and non-life insurance 

contracts reflect the amount of future liabilities 

expected at the date of the consolidated financial 

statements. Such reserves are based on past 

experience, mortali ty tables and management 

estimates. Changes in these assumptions may 

ef fect the level of such l iabil i t ies.

categories of loans and other pertinent factors. 

Provisioning involves many uncer tainties  

about the outcome of those risks and requires  

the management of the Group to make many 

subjective judgements in estimating  

the loss amounts.

3.2. Valuation of instruments 
without direct quotations 

Financial instruments without direct quotations  

in an active market are valued using the valuation 

model technique. The models are regularly 

reviewed and each model is calibrated for the most 

recent available market data. While the models  

are built only on available data, their use is subject  

to cer tain assumptions and estimates (eg, for 

correlations, volatilities, etc). Changes in the model 

assumptions may affect the reported market value 

of the relevant financial instruments. 

NOTE 4:     CASH, DUE FROM BANKS AND BALANCES WITH THE NATIONAL  
     BANK OF HUNGARY (in HUF million)

 2005  2004

Cash on hand:

In HUF 47,676 53,364

In foreign currency   25,609   19,298

   73,285   72,662

Due from banks and balances with the National Bank of Hungary:

Within one year:

In HUF 404,753 390,267

In foreign currency     5,153     2,958

 409,906 393,225

Total 483,191 465,887

amounted to HUF 121,195 mil l ion and 

HUF 110,214 mil l ion for the years ended 

December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

Based on the requirements for compulsory reserve 

set by the National Bank of Hungary, the balance of 

compulsory reserves maintained by the Group 

IFRS consolidated financial statements
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NOTE 6:      FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH STATEMENTS 
     OF OPERATIONS (in HUF million)

  Restated

 2005 2004

Securities held for trading:

Discounted treasury bills 160 40,225

Hungarian Government interest bearing treasury bills 1,485 2,756

Government bonds 34,151 22,478

Mortgage bonds 895 680

Other securities      1,282   1,119

 37,973 67,258

Derivative financial instruments designated as held for trading 10,081   3,322

Total 48,054 70,580

NOTE 5:     PLACEMENTS WITH OTHER BANKS, NET OF ALLOWANCE 
    FOR PLACEMENT LOSSES (in HUF million)

rates in the range from 0.0% to 12.0% and from 

0.4% to 7.0%, respectively.

Placements with other banks in HUF as at 

December 31, 2005 and 2004 bear interest rates 

in the range from 0.5% to 7.6% and from 8.5% 

to 12.5%, respectively.

Placements of foreign subsidiaries with their respective 

National Banks amounted to HUF 77,879 million 

and HUF 71,420 million for the years ended 

December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

Placements with other banks in foreign currency 

as at December 31, 2005 and 2004 bear interest 

 2005  2004

Within one year:

In HUF 94,110 126,866

In foreign currency 317,654 149,206

 411,764 276,072

Over one year:

In HUF 3,000 —

In foreign currency   24,004   10,129

   27,004   10,129

 438,768 286,201

Allowance for placement losses — (1)

Total 438,768 286,200

 2005 2004

Balance as at January 1 1 182

Release of allowance for placement losses (1) (181)

Closing balance — 1

An analysis of the change in the allowance for placement losses is as follows:
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denominated in USD, EUR and BGN as at 

December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

Interest rates on securi t ies held for trading 

are ranged from 2.16% to 9.5% and from 1.4% 

to 13.4% as at December 31, 2005 and 2004, 

respectively.

Approximately 42.69% and 46%  

of the government bonds were denominated  

in foreign currency as at December 31, 2005 

and 2004, respectively. Approximately 16.62%, 

30.81%, 23.96%, and 28.61% of this por t fol io 

was denominated in USD, EUR, SKK  

and BGN as at December 31, 2005, and 22.1%, 

33.7%, and 44.2% of this por t fol io was 

IFRS consolidated financial statements

  Restated

 2005 2004

Within five years:

Variable interest 1,492 1,358

Fixed interest 27,160 55,795

 28,652 57,153

Over five years:

Variable interest 3,764 3,594

Fixed interest         5,100   6,356

   8,864   9,950

Non-interest bearing securities      457      155

Total 37,973 67,258

Interest conditions and the remaining maturities of held for trading securities can be analyzed as follows:

NOTE 7:      SECURITIES AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE (in HUF million)

denominated in USD, EUR, HRK and BGN as at 

December 31, 2005, and 5%, 28.7%, 37.8%, and 

28.5% of this portfolio was denominated in USD, 

EUR, SKK and BGN as at December 31, 2004, 

respectively.

Interest rates on securities available-for-sale 

are ranged from 1.6% to 8.08% and from 1.6% 

to 12.5% as at December 31, 2005 and 2004, 

respectively.

Approximately 74.52% and 77.3% of the 

avai lable - for-sale securi t ies por t fol io was 

denominated in HUF as at December 31, 2005 

and 2004, respectively.

Approximately 22.51% and 22.9% of the 

government bonds were denominated in foreign 

currency as at December 31, 2005 and 2004, 

respectively. Approximately 3.82%, 54.25%, 

21.36%, and 20.57% of this portfolio was 

  Restated

 2005 2004

Available-for-sale securities:

Government bonds 283,342 204,436

Discounted Treasury bills 51,621 49,949

Mortgage bonds 541 1,493

Other securities   74,442   39,957

Total 409,946 295,835
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NOTE 8:     LOANS, NET OF ALLOWANCE FOR LOAN LOSSES (in HUF million)

Restated 

 2005 2004

Loans and trade bills within one year 925,331 689,286

Loans and trade bills over one year 2,371,887 1,896,824

 3,297,218 2,586,110

Allowance for loan losses     (105,920)     (79,315)

Total 3,191,298 2,506,795

bear interest rates in the range from 4% to 22.3%  

and from 4% to 22.8%, respectively.

Foreign currency loans as at December 31, 2005 

and 2004, bear interest rates in the range from 

0.04% to 24% and from 1% to 31%, respectively.

Approximately 4% and 3.9% of the gross loan 

portfolio represented loans on which interest  

is not being accrued as at December 31, 2005 

and 2004, respectively.

Foreign currency loans represent approximately 

45.76% and 33.8% of the total loan portfolio, 

before allowance for losses, as at December 31, 

2005 and 2004, respectively.

Loans denominated in HUF, with maturity within 

one year as at December 31, 2005 and 2004, 

bear interest rates in the range from 6% to 30% 

and from 6% to 32%, respectively.

Loans denominated in HUF, with maturity over one 

year as at December 31, 2005 and 2004,  

An analysis of the loan portfolio by type, before allowance for loan losses, is as follows:

 2005 2004

Commercial loans 1,195,374 36% 920,606 36%

Municipality loans 136,039 4% 118,115 5%

Housing loans 1,222,397 37% 1,015,491 39%

Consumer loans    743,408   23%    531,898   20%

Total 3,297,218 100% 2,586,110 100%

An analysis of the change in the allowance for loan losses is as follows: 

 2005 2004

Balance as at January 1 79,315 64,156

Provision for loan losses 28,043 16,229

Write-offs (1,808) (835)

Foreign currency translation gain/(loss)        370    (235)      

Closing balance 105,920 79,315

  Restated

 2005 2004

Within five years:

Variable interest 116,784 60,677

Fixed interest 182,887 179,957

 299,671 240,634

Over five years:

Variable interest 4,261 3,866

Fixed interest   81,364   32,175

   85,625   36,041

Non-interest bearing securities   24,650   19,160

Total 409,946 295,835

Interest conditions and the remaining maturities of available-for-sale financial assets can be analyzed as follows:
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NOTE 9:     EQUITY INVESTMENTS (in HUF million)

 2005 2004

Equity investments:

Unconsolidated subsidiaries 11,356 8,389

Associated companies 679 141

Other   2,466   2,837

 14,501 11,367

Allowance for permanent diminution in value (2,144) (1,978)

Total 12,357   9,389

 

 2005 2004

Total assets of unconsolidated subsidiaries 63,102 34,145

An analysis of the change in the allowance for permanent diminution in value is as follows: 

 2005 2004 

Balance as at January 1 1,978 1,552

Provision for permanent diminution in value    166    426

Closing balance 2,144 1,978

NOTE 10:     HELD-TO-MATURITY INVESTMENTS (in HUF million)

 2005 2004

Government securities 242,094 226,355

Hungarian Government discounted Treasury bills 29,962 6,125

Mortgage bonds 11,264 9,526

Other debt securities     6,483     5,283

 289,803 247,289

Allowance for permanent diminution in value          —         (30)

Total 289,803 247,259

 2005 2004

Within five years:

Variable interest 60,836 68,536

Fixed interest 155,524 106,492

 216,360 175,028

Over five years:

Variable interest 43,051 42,870

Fixed interest   30,392   29,391

   73,443   72,261

Total 289,803 247,289

Interest conditions and the remaining maturities of investments in debt securities can be 

analysed as follows:
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to 10% and from 6.3% to 10% as at  

December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively. 

Interest on fixed rate and variable rate securities  

is, in most cases, paid semi -annually.

The fair value of held-to -maturity investments 

was HUF 291,894 mil l ion and HUF 247,477 

mil l ion as at December 31, 2005 and 2004, 

respectively.

Approximately 80.33% and 88.4% of the debt 

securities portfolio was denominated in HUF as at 

December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively. In most 

cases, interests on variable rate bonds are based 

on the interest rates of 90-day Hungarian Government 

Treasury bills and are adjusted semi-annually.

Interest rates on f ixed interest securities 

denominated in HUF are ranged from 3.25%  

 2005 2004

Balance as at January 1 30 30

Release of allowance (30) —

Closing balance — 30

An analysis of the change in the allowance for permanent diminution in value is as follows:

NOTE 11:     PREMISES, EQUIPMENT AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS, NET (in HUF million)

For the year ended December 31, 2005: 

 Intangible Land and Machinery,  Construction

 assets buildings and equipment in progress Total

Cost

Balance as at January 1, 2005 82,328 94,626 83,970 12,227 273,151

Acquisition of subsidiary 141 6,783 891 258 8,073

Net additions 49,723 10,065 15,878  75,666

Foreign currency translation differences 1,562 1,554 672 70 3,858

Net disposals   (3,150)  (15,504)  (9,985)      (125)  (28,764)

Balance as at December 31, 2005 130,604   97,524 91,426  12,430 331,984

Depreciation and amortization     

Balance as at January 1, 2005 30,381 15,673 52,322 — 98,376

Net charge 7,766 2,801 11,347 — 21,914

Foreign currency translation differences 91 337 462 — 890

Net disposals  (9,501) (5,444) (7,496)          — (22,441)

Balance as at December 31, 2005  28,737  13,367 56,635          —  98,739

Net book value 

Balance as at January 1, 2005  51,947  78,953 31,648  12,227 174,775

Balance as at December 31, 2005 101,867  84,157 34,791  12,430 233,245
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An analysis of the changes in the goodwill and negative goodwill for the year ended 

December 31,  2005 is as follows:

 Goodwill Negative goodwill

Cost

Balance as at January 1, 2005 44,177 4,204

Additions 35,809 —

Foreign currency translation differences 1,411 —

Disposals from the effect of adopting revised IFRS (10,632)         (4,204)

Balance as at December 31, 2005  70,765 —

Amortization  

Balance as at January 1, 2005 10,632 1,170

Charge — —

Disposals from the effect of adopting revised IFRS          (10,632) (1,170)

Balance as at December 31, 2005          —  —

Net book value  

Balance as at January 1, 2005   33,545  3,034

Balance as at December 31, 2005   70,765       —

For the year ended December 31, 2004:

 Intangible Land and Machinery,  Construction

 assets buildings and equipment in progress Total

Cost

Balance as at January 1, 2004 68,374 89,997 90,695 6,516 255,582

Acquisition of subsidiary 430 903 339 33 1,705

Net additions 17,421 5,508 22,637 5,724 51,290

Foreign currency translation differences (93) (882) (198) (46) (1,219)

Net disposals  (3,804)    (900) (29,503)         —  (34,207)

Balance as at December 31, 2004 82,328 94,626  83,970  12,227 273,151

Depreciation and amortization 

Balance as at January 1, 2004 18,524 13,392 56,329 — 88,245

Net charge 13,602 2,482 13,066 — 29,150

Foreign currency translation differences (36) (31) (91) — (158)

Net disposals  (1,709)     (170) (16,982)         — (18,861)

Balance as at December 31, 2004  30,381 15,673  52,322         —   98,376

Net book value

Balance as at January 1, 2004 49,850 76,605  34,366    6,516 167,337

Balance as at December 31, 2004 51,947 78,953  31,648  12,227 174,775
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NOTE 12:   OTHER ASSETS (in HUF million)

  Restated 

 2005 2004

Property held for sale 13,408 13,289

Due from Hungarian Government for interest subsidies 3,895 19,964

Trade receivables 5,456 3,734

Advances for securities and investments 511 497

Taxes recoverable 1,654 1,438

Inventories 1,926 1,899

Other advances 7,758 3,250

Receivables from leasing activities 13,840 13,391

Receivables due from insurance bond holders 1,883 1,667

Receivables due from pension funds and fund management 2,243 1,283

Prepayments and accrued income 7,792 6,793

Receivables from investment services 1,231 203

  Restated 

 2005 2004

Fair value of derivative financial instruments 452 812

Other 12,749   9,391

 74,798 77,611

Allowance for losses on other assets  (3,427)  (3,372)

Total 71,371 74,239

Allowance for losses on other assets mainly consists of allowances for property held for sale, trade receivables, 

receivables from leasing activities and reinsurance receivables.

An analysis of the changes in the goodwill and negative goodwill for the year ended December 31, 

2004 is as follows:

 Goodwill Negatív goodwill

Cost 

Balance as at January 1, 2004 39,288 4,216

Additions 4,928 —

Foreign currency translation differences  (39) —

Disposals — (12)

Balance as at December 31, 2004 44,177 4,204

Amortization  

Balance as at January 1, 2004 2,964 1,040

Charge 7,668    130

Balance as at December 31, 2004 10,632 1,170

Net book value  

Balance as at January 1, 2004 36,324 3,176

Balance as at December 31, 2004 33,545 3,034
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An analysis of the change in the allowance for losses on other assets is as follows:

 2005 2004

Balance as at January 1 3,372 3,939

Release of allowance for losses 

on other assets (54) (569)

Credit 128 —

Foreign currency translation loss    (19)             2

Closing balance 3,427 3,372

NOTE 14:     DEPOSITS FROM CUSTOMERS (in HUF million)

 2005 2004

Within one year: 

In HUF 2,214,998 2,071,188

In foreign currency 1,137,175    769,103

 3,352,173 2,840,291

Over one year:

In HUF 72,480     60,654

In foreign currency        3,540        1,245

      76,020      61,899

Total 3,428,193 2,902,190

NOTE 13:     DUE TO BANKS AND DEPOSITS FROM THE NATIONAL BANK OF  
     HUNGARY AND OTHER BANKS (in HUF million)

 2005 2004

Within one year:

In HUF 8,018 18,366

In foreign currency 126,766 119,574

 134,784 137,940

Over one year:

In HUF 20,510 8,609

In foreign currency 208,830 107,576

 229,340 116,185

Total 364,124 254,125

Due to banks and deposits from the National Bank  

of Hungary and other banks payable in foreign currency 

within one year as at December 31, 2005 and 2004, 

bear interest rates in the range from 0.05% to 6.5% 

and from 0.5% to 17.4%, respectively.

Due to banks and deposits from the National Bank 

of Hungary and other banks payable in foreign currency 

over one year as at December 31, 2005 and 2004, 

bear interest rates in the range from 0.7% to 6.5% 

and from 0.5% to 6%, respectively.

Due to banks and deposits from the National Bank 

of Hungary and other banks payable in HUF within one 

year as at December 31, 2005 and 2004, bear interest 

rates in the range from 4.9% to 5.3% and from 8.9% 

to 12%, respectively.

Due to banks and deposits from the National Bank 

of Hungary and other banks payable in HUF over 

one year as at December 31, 2005 and 2004, bear 

interest rates in the range from 3.1% to 4.5% and 

from 3% to 9.5%, respectively.
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2005 and 2004, bear interest rates in the range 

from 0.1% to 18.5% and from 0.1% to 21%, 

respectively.

Deposits from customers payable in foreign 

currency over one year as at December 31, 2005 

and 2004, bear interest rates in the range 

from 2% to 18% and from 2% to 19%, respectively.

Deposits from customers payable in HUF within 

one year as at December 31, 2005 and 2004, 

bear interest rates in the range from 0.2% to 6.5% 

and from 0.5% to 9.9%, respectively.

Deposits from customers payable in HUF over 

one year as December 31, 2005 and 2004, bear 

interest rates in the range from 1% to 4.5% 

and from 3% to 6.5%, respectively.

Deposits from customers payable in foreign 

currency within one year as at December 31, 

NOTE 15:     LIABILITIES FROM ISSUED SECURITIES (in HUF million)

An analysis of deposits from customers by type, is as follows: 

  2005  2004

Commercial deposits 662,215 19% 549,830 19%

Municipality deposits 203,110 6% 196,515 7%

Consumer deposits 2,562,868   75% 2,155,845   74%

Total 3,428,193 100% 2,902,190 100%

on July 1, 2005 due July 1, 2010 and EUR 300 million 

variable-rate bonds at three month EURIBOR + 0,15% 

quarterly, on December 20, 2005 due December 

20, 2010, at a price of 99,81%.

46.42% and 78.1% of issued securities are 

denominated in HUF as at December 31, 2005 and 

2004, and bear interest rates in the range from 

0.3% to 12.5% and from 1.2% to 12%, respectively.

The Bank issued EUR 500 million variable-rate 

bonds at three month EURIBOR + 0,16% quarterly, 

An analysis of significant issued securities as at December 31, 2005 is as follows: 

Variable-rate Euro Bonds 202,267

Mortgage bonds 267,432

Other securities   73,761

Total 543,460
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NOTE 16:     OTHER LIABILITIES (in HUF million)

  Restated

 2005 2004

Deferred tax liabilities 2,761 2,175

Taxes payable 8,363 7,224

Giro clearing accounts 22,744 10,250

Accounts payable 12,253 14,199

Insurance liabilities 130,354 98,591

Salaries and social security payable 10,839 12,140

Liability from security trading 9,307 17,041

Provision for losses on off-balance sheet

 commitments and contingent liabilities 7,376 7,378

Dividends payable 617 566

Advances received from customers 689 2,400

Accrued expenses 10,214 14,565

Loan for collection 1,860 2,005

Suspense accounts 5,427 —

Advancement of Government grants for housing purposes 2,150 829

Fair value of derivative financial instruments designated

 as hedge accounting relationship 2,230 1,987

Fair value of derivative financial instruments designated

 as held for trading 8,199 1,200

Liabilities from trading activities (repurchase agreement) 5,785 12,523

Other   19,560     8,725

Total 260,728 213,798

The provision for losses on off-balance sheet commitments and contingent liabilities are 

detailed as follows:

 2005 2004

Provision for litigation 2,138 1,430

Provision for losses on off-balance sheet

 commitments and contingent liabilities 3,674 4,460

Other provision for expected liabilities 1,234 1,126

Provision for housing warranties    330    362

Total 7,376 7,378

constructors for any claims. The recovery of such 

claims is, however, dependent upon the financial 

status of the constructors, which is impaired  

in cer tain cases. A provision has been recorded  

to account for the estimated possible future losses 

due to housing warranties. The provision for housing 

warranties for pre 1991 construction was  

reversed by December 31, 2004 in l ine with  

the expenses related to housing warranties.  

The remaining provision for housing warranties 

relates to warranties from OTP Real Estate Ltd.

The provision for losses on other of f-balance sheet 

commitments and contingent liabilities primarily 

relates to commitments stemming from guarantees 

and credit lines issued by the Bank and other 

Group companies.

As part of its operations, until 1991, the Bank 

financed and constructed residential 

accommodations for resale on which it was required 

to provide a ten year guarantee against defective 

workmanship. The Bank has recourse against the 



90 OTP BANK Annual Report 2005

Movements in the allowance for losses on commitments and contingent liabilities can be 

summarized as follows:

 2005 2004

Balance as at January 1 7,378 8,357

Release of allowance for possible off-balance sheet 

 commitments and contingent liabilities (1,544) (924)

Release of allowance for housing warranties — (76)

Additions through business combinations 1,545 21

Foreign currency translation differences       (3)       —

Closing balance  7,376 7,378

Movements in insurance liabilities can be summarized as follows:

 2005 2004

Balance as at January 1 98,591 84,201

Net increase in insurance liabilities   31,763 14,390

Closing balance 130,354 98,591

NOTE 17:     SUBORDINATED BONDS AND LOANS

subordinated loan from the European Bank 

for Reconstruction and Development with 

the original maturi ty of December 27, 2006. 

The maturi ty date was modif ied 

to August 27, 2008 on August 22, 2003. 

The loan is unsecured, subordinate 

to the other l iabi l i t ies and has a twelve -year 

maturi ty, with interest payable at s ix-month 

LIBOR + 1.4% from December 27, 1996 unti l 

December 29, 1997, at six-month LIBOR + 1.0% 

from December 29, 1997 unti l 

June 28, 1999, at six-month LIBOR + 1.7% from 

June 28, 1999 unti l December 27, 2003 

and at s ix-month LIBOR + 1.35% from 

December 28, 2003 unti l August 27, 2008.

On March 4, 2005, the Bank issued EUR 125 million 

in bonds, which are subordinated to the other 

l iabil i t ies of the Bank. Interest on subordinated 

bonds is variable and payable at three-month 

EURIBOR + 0.55% quarterly. The original maturity 

of the bonds is 10 years. 

In 1993, the Bank issued HUF 5 bil l ion in bonds, 

which are subordinated to the other liabilities 

of the Bank and subscribed by the Hungarian 

Ministry of Finance. Interest on subordinated 

bonds and the frequency of payment of interests  

are based on condition of interest of 2013/C 

credit consolidated government bonds, which is 

a variable - rate bond, the interest payable  

and the rate of interest are f ixed twice a year.  

The semi -annual interest payable was 4.36%  

as at December 20, 2002, 3.25% as at June 20, 

2003, 4.8% as at December 20, 2003, 4.88%  

as at June 20, 2004 and 6.05% as  

at December 20, 2004, 5.46% as at June 20, 

2005, 3.08% as at December 20, 2005.  

The original maturity was 20 years. The proceeds  

of the subordinated bonds were invested  

in Hungarian Government bonds with similar 

interest conditions and maturity.

In December 1996, the Bank obtained a USD 

30 million and DEM 31.14 million (15.92 million in EUR) 



91IFRS consolidated financial statements

NOTE 18:     SHARE CAPITAL (in HUF millon)

 2005 2004

Authorized, issued and fully paid:

 Common shares 28,000 28,000

 28,000 28,000

From September 3, 1997, the Bank has one 

preferential voting share (the “Special Share”) 

NOTE 19:     RETAINED EARNINGS AND RESERVES (in HUF millon)

  Restated 

      2005     2004

Balance as at January 1 431,127 309,220

Fair value adjustment of available-for-sale securities 

 recognised through equity 2,051 4,881

Share-based compensation 7,497 4,433

Net income after income taxes 158,235 131,506

Gain on sale of treasury shares 7,426 1,960

Foreign currency translation gain/(loss) 4,449 (2,740)

Derivative financial instruments designated as cash-flow hedge (46) (1,333)

Derecognition of opening balance of negative goodwill  3,034 —

Dividends (41,206) (16,800)

Closing balance 572,567 431,127

The Annual General Meeting on April 29, 2005 

decided that the Bank distributes HUF 41,206 million 

dividend for the year ended December 31, 2004.

Dividends for the year ended December 31, 

2005 wil l be approved by the Annual General 

Meeting in April , 2006. The proposed dividend 

is HUF 55,160 mil l ion.

The Bank ’s unconsolidated reserves under 

Hungarian Accounting Standards were 

HUF 310,215 million and HUF 243,848 million 

as at December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively. 

Of these amounts, legal reserves represent 

HUF 107,619 mil l ion and HUF 66,395 mil l ion as 

at December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively. 

The legal reserves are not available for distribution.

outstanding with a nominal value of HUF 1 thousand 

(see Note 1.1.).
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NOTE 20:     TREASURY SHARES (in HUF million)

 2005 2004

Nominal value (Common Shares) 1,796   1,801

Carrying value at acquisition cost 53,586 25,867

NOTE 21:     MINORITY INTEREST (in HUF million)

NOTE 22:    OTHER EXPENSES (in HUF million)

     2005      2004

Balance as at January 1 425 432

Minority interest purchased 398 (18)

Foreign currency translation gain/(loss) 23 (1)

Purchase of minority interest (394) —

Minority interest included in net income   39   12

Closing balance 491 425

     2005     2004

Release of allowance for securities held-to-maturity (30) —

Provision for permanent diminution 

 in value of equity investments 166 426

Provision/(release of allowance) for other assets 118 (569)

Release of allowance for off-balance sheet

 commitments and contingent liabilities (1,544) (924)

Administration expenses. including rent 29,831 25,996

Advertising 6,308 5,975

Taxes. other than income taxes 17,591 15,667

Special tax for banks 10,151 —

Services 22,993 22,029

Professional fees 5,169   4,003

Other   7,320   8,443

Total 98,073 81,046
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  Restated 

 2005  2004

  

Current tax 32,803 25,774

Deferred tax   1,000  (1,268)

Total 33,803 24,506

A reconciliation of the deferred tax liability is as follows:

  Restated 

 2005 2004

Balance as at January 1 (2,175) (2,579)

Acquisition of subsidiaries 1,795 97

Foreign currency translation (loss)/gain (180) 122

Deferred tax (charge)/credit (1,000)    1,268

Recognised in retained earnings and reserves (1,201) (1,083)

Closing balance (2,761) (2,175)

 

  Restated 

 2005      2004

Net income before income taxes 192,077 156,024

Income tax with statutory tax rate 30,732 24,868

Income tax adjustments are as follows:

 2005 2004

Reversal of statutory general provision (1,191) (699)

Reversal of statutory goodwill and negative goodwill (1,318) 288

Revaluation of investments denominated in foreign

 currency to historical cost 305 (346)

Profit on sale of Treasury Shares 1,188 314

Fair value of share-based compensations  1,200 376

Other   2,887    (295)

Income tax  33,803 24,506

Effective tax rate 17.6% 15.7%

A reconciliation of the income tax charges is as follows:

A reconciliation of the income tax charge is as follows:

NOTE 23:     INCOME TAXES (in HUF million)

relates to the Bank’s subsidiaries incorporated 

in Croatia and the 30% rate relates to the Bank’s 

United Kingdom subsidiary.

Deferred tax is calculated at the income tax rate of 16% 

in Hungary and Romania and 15% in Bulgaria, as these 

are the income tax rates effective from January 1, 2005.

The Group is presently liable for income tax at rates 

of 15%, 16%, 19%, 20% and 30% of taxable income. 

The 15% rate relates to the Bank’s subsidiaries 

incorporated in Bulgaria. The 16% rate relates to the 

Bank and its subsidiaries incorporated in Hungary 

and Romania. The 19% rate relates to the Bank’s 

subsidiaries incorporated in Slovakia. The 20% rate 
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A reconciliation of the deferred tax asset and liability is as follows:

  Restated 

 2005  2004

Premium and discount amortization on investment securities — 115

Allowance for losses on off-balance sheet commitments

 and contingent liabilities on derivative financial instruments — 5

Difference in accounting for finance leases 233 20

Fair value adjustment of derivative financial instruments 464 217

Repurchase agreements — 4

Losses available for carry forward  1,023    —

Other     —  142

Deferred tax asset  1,720   503

  Restated 

 2005 2004

Fair value adjustment of held for trading and available-for-sale

 financial assets (88) —

Allowance for losses on off-balance sheet commitments

and contingent liabilities on derivative financial instruments (99) —

Fair value adjustment of derivative financial instruments (1,304) (558)

Repurchase agreements (4) —

Fixed assets  (2,606) (1,842)

Temporary differences arising on consolidation (337) (278)

Other     (43)        —

Deferred tax liabilities (4,481) (2,678)

Net deferred tax liabilities  (2,761) (2,175)

NOTE 24:     FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

geographical and industry segments. Such risks 

are monitored on a revolving basis and subject 

to an annual or more frequent review. The exposure 

to any one borrower including banks and brokers 

is further restricted by sub-limits covering on and 

off-balance sheet exposures and daily delivery risk 

limits in relation to trading items such as forward 

foreign exchange contracts. Actual exposures 

against limits are monitored daily. Exposure to credit 

r isk is managed through regular analysis of 

the ability of borrowers and potential borrowers 

to meet interest and capital repayment obligations 

and by changing these lending l imits where 

appropriate. Exposure to credit risk is also managed 

in par t by obtaining collateral and corporate 

and personal guarantees.

A f inancial instrument is any contract that gives 

rise to the right to receive cash or another 

f inancial asset from another par ty (f inancial asset) 

or the obligation to deliver cash or another 

f inancial asset to another par ty (f inancial l iabil i ty).

Financial instruments may result in cer tain risks 

to the Group. The most signif icant risks the Group 

faces include:

Credit risk

The Group takes on exposure to credit risk which is 

the risk that a counter-party will be unable to pay 

amounts in ful l when due. The Group structures 

the levels of credit risk it undertakes by placing 

l imits on the amount of risk accepted in relation 

to one borrower, or Banks of borrowers, and to 
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NOTE 25:     OFF-BALANCE SHEET ITEMS AND DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL 
     INSTRUMENTS  (in HUF million)

instruments. The following represent notional 

amounts of these of f-balance sheet f inancial 

instruments, unless stated otherwise.

In the normal course of business, the Group 

becomes a par ty to various f inancial transactions 

that are not ref lected on the balance sheet and 

are referred to as of f-balance sheet f inancial 

Foreign currency risk

See Note 33.

Liquidity risk

See Note 34.

Interest rate risk

See Note 35.

Market risk

The Group takes on exposure to market risks. 

Market risks arise from open positions in interest 

rate, currency and equity products, all of which are 

exposed to general and specific market movements. 

The Group applies a ‘value at risk ’ methodology 

to estimate the market risk of positions held and 

the maximum losses expected, based upon a number 

of assumptions for various changes in market 

conditions. The Management Board of the Group 

sets limits on the value of risk that may be accepted, 

which is monitored on a daily basis.

(a) Contingent liabilities
 2005 2004

Commitments to extend credit 620,231 464,843

Guarantees arising from banking activities 118,203 98,514

Confirmed letters of credit 12,850 3,094

Legal disputes 4,180 2,567

Others        164        113

Total 755,628 569,131
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Guarantees, i rrevocable let ters of credi t 

and undrawn loan commitments are subject 

to s imi lar credi t r isk monitoring and credi t 

pol ic ies as uti l ised in the extension of loans. 

The management of the Group bel ieves 

the market r isk associated with guarantees, 

i rrevocable let ters of credi t and undrawn 

loans commitments to be minimal .

Legal disputes

At the balance sheet date the Group was 

involved in various claims and legal proceedings 

of a nature considered normal to i ts business. 

The level of these claims and legal proceedings 

correspond to the level of claims and legal 

proceedings in previous years.

The Group believes that the various asser ted 

claims and l i t igations in which i t is involved 

wil l not material ly af fect i ts f inancial position, 

future operating results or cash f lows, although 

no assurance can be given with respect 

to the ultimate outcome of any such claim 

or l i t igation. Provision due to legal disputes 

were HUF 2,138 mil l ion and HUF 1,430 mil l ion 

as at December 31, 2005 and 2004, 

respectively.

Commitments to extend credit, from 

guarantees and letters of credit

The primary purpose of these instruments is 

to ensure that funds are available to a customer 

as required. Guarantees and standby let ters of 

credit , which represent irrevocable assurances 

that the Group wil l make payments in the event 

that a customer cannot meet i ts obligations 

to third par ties, carry the same credit r isk as 

loans. Documentary and commercial let ters 

of credit , which are writ ten under takings by 

the Group on behalf of a customer authorising 

a third par ty to draw draf ts on the Group up to 

a stipulated amount under specif ic terms and 

conditions, are collateralised by the underlying 

shipments of goods to which they relate and 

therefore carry less risk than a direct borrowing.

Commitments to extend credit represent unused 

por tions of authorisations to extend credit in the 

form of loans, guarantees or let ters of credit . 

With respect to credit r isk on commitments to 

extend credit , the Group is potential ly exposed 

to loss in an amount equal to the total unused 

commitments. However, the l ikely amount 

of loss is less than the total unused commitments 

since most commitments to extend credit 

are contingent upon customers maintaining 

specif ic credit standards.
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As December 31, 2005, the Group has derivative 

instruments with positive fair values of HUF 10,533 million 

and negative fair values of HUF 10,429 million. 

Positive fair values of derivative instruments 

designated as hedge accounting relationships are 

included in other assets, while positive fair values 

of derivative instruments designated as held for 

trading are included in financial assets at fair value 

through statements of operations. Negative fair 

values of derivative instruments are included in other 

liabilities. Corresponding figures as at December 31, 

2004 are HUF 4,134 million and HUF 3,187 million. 

Foreign currency contracts

Foreign currency contracts are agreements 

to exchange specif ic amounts of currencies 

The Group maintains strict control limits on net open 

derivative positions, i.e. the difference between 

purchase and sale contracts, by both amount and 

term. At any one time the amount subject to credit 

risk is limited to the current fair value of instruments 

that are favourable to the Group (i.e. assets), which 

in relation to derivatives is only a small fraction 

of the contract or notional values used to express 

the volume of instruments outstanding. This credit 

risk exposure is managed as part of the overall 

lending limits with customers, together with 

potential exposures from market movements. 

Collateral or other security is not usually obtained 

for credit risk exposures on these instruments, except 

of trading with clients, where the Group in most 

of the cases requires margin deposits.

(b) Derivatives and other options (nominal amount,
 unless otherwise stated)
  Restated 

 2005    2004

Foreign currency contracts  

Assets 50,242 35,946

Liabilities   51,571  (38,672)

Net    (1,329)    (2,726)

Net fair value       (856)      (911)

Foreign exchange swaps and interest rate swaps 

designated as held for trading   

Assets 613,217 278,077

Liabilities 597,038 (288,168)

Net   16,179   (10,091)

Net fair value     1,228      3,035

Foreign exchange swaps and interest rate swaps 

designated as hedge accounting relationships  

Assets 12,031 27,873

Liabilities   14,023 (21,672)

Net   (1,992)     6,201

Net fair value      (687)        411

Option contracts  

Assets — 2,205

Liabilities           —           —

Net           —     2,205

Net fair value           —           —

Other options  

Assets — 6,834

Liabilities        341      (704)

Net      (341)     6,130

Net fair value           —           —
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Such notional pr incipal amounts of ten are used 

to express the volume of these transactions 

but are not actual ly exchanged between 

the counter-par t ies . 

The Group’s interest rate swaps were used for 

management of interest rate exposures and have 

been accounted for at mark- to -market fair value.

Forward rate agreements

A forward rate agreement is an agreement to 

set tle amounts at a specif ied future date based on 

the dif ference between an interest rate index and 

an agreed upon f ixed rate. Market risk arises from 

changes in the market value of contractual 

positions caused by movements in interest rates. 

The Group l imits i ts exposure to market risk 

by entering into generally matching or of fset ting 

positions and by establishing and monitoring 

l imits on unmatched positions. Credit r isk is 

managed through approval procedures that 

establish specif ic l imits for individual 

counterpar ties. The Group’s forward rate 

agreements were transacted for management 

of interest rate exposures and have been 

accounted for at mark-to -market fair value.

For an analysis of the allowance for losses on 

of f balance sheet commitments and contingent 

l iabil i t ies, see Note 16.

at a specif ied rate of exchange, at a spot date 

(set tlement occurs two days af ter the trade date) 

or at a forward date (set tlement occurs more 

than two days af ter the trade date). The notional 

amount of these contracts does not represent 

the actual market or credit r isk associated 

with these contracts.

Foreign currency contracts are used by the Group 

for risk management and trading purposes. 

The Group’s risk management foreign currency 

contracts were used to hedge against exchange 

rate fluctuations on loans and advances to credit 

institutions denominated in foreign currency.

Foreign exchange swaps and interest rate 

swaps

The Group enters into foreign -exchange swap 

and interest rate swap transactions. The swap 

transaction is a complex agreement concerning 

to the swap of cer tain f inancial instruments, 

which usual ly consist of a prompt and one 

or more futures contracts .

Interest rate swaps obl igate two par t ies to 

exchange one or more payments calculated with 

reference to f ixed or periodical ly reset rates 

of interest appl ied to a speci f ic notional pr incipal 

amount . Notional pr incipal is the amount upon 

which interest rates are appl ied to determine 

the payment streams under interest rate swaps. 

of the average market price of the month before 

the Annual General Meeting.

The 2005 Annual General Meeting approved a five 

year share option program for the years 2005  

to 2009 under which options are granted annually. 

Such options have a grant date of April 29, 2005. 

The maximum number of shares available is 

2.92 million annually.

The 2000 Annual General Meeting approved 

a f ive year share option and bonus program for 

the years 2000 to 2004 granting options and 

bonus shares on an annual basis. Such options 

are for the years 2003 and 2004, the grant date 

is December 31, 2002.

The exercise price of the share options related 

to the years 2003 and 2004 is equal to half 

NOTE 26:    SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION
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for the years 2005 to 2009 is two years. 

The exercise period of the option program 

for the years 2005 to 2009 must be opened 

af ter the calendar year but not later than 

August 31. I f the options remain unexercised 

before the end of the exercise period, such 

options expire. Additionally, options are forfeited 

i f the employee leaves the Bank before 

the options vest .

The exercise prices of the options for each year 

for the years 2005 to 2009 is equal to the average 

market price of OTP shares in the two month 

period ending on the last day of the month of 

the Annual General Meeting.

The exercise period of the share options granted 

for the years of 2003 and 2004 is one year 

and for the f ive year share option program 

outstanding at December 31, 2005 had a weighted 

average exercise price of HUF 6,079 with 

a weighted average remaining contractual l i fe 

of 18 months.

The weighted average share price at the date of 

exercise for share options of 2003 and 2004 

exercised during the year ended December 31, 

2005 was HUF 6,116 and 7,333. The options 

 For the year ended December 31, 2004 For the year ended December 31, 2005

 Options Weighted average  Options Weighted average 

 (piece of shares) exercise price (in HUF) (piece of shares)   exercise price (in HUF)

Outstanding at beginning of period 3,599,930 2,548 3,575,930 2,552

Granted during the period — — 4,251,500 5,446

Forfeited during the period — — 30,000 3,107

Exercised during the period 24,000 1,980 4,451,230 2,661

Outstanding at the end of the period 3,575,930 2,552 3,346,200 6,079

Exercisable at the end of the period 1,761,930 1,980 446,200 3,107

The inputs into the Binominal model are as follows:

 2003 2004 2005

Weighted average share price (HUF) 2,210 2,210 6,060

Weighted average exercise price (HUF) 1,211 1,264 6,536

Expected volatility (%) 25 30 35

Expected life (average year) 2.42 3.42 3.34

Risk free rate (%) 7.30 7.17 7.46

Expected dividends (%) 1.24 1.24 2.41

In connection with the share -based payment 

programs approved by the Bank and applying 

IFRS 2, HUF 7,497 mil l ion and HUF 2,348 mil l ion 

has been recognised as an expense for the years 

ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, 

respectively. 

Expected volati l i ty was determined by calculating 

the historical volati l i ty of the Bank ’s share price 

over three months prior to the grant date. 

The expected l i fe used in the model has been 

adjusted, based on management’s best estimate, 

for the ef fects of non-transferabil i ty, exercise 

restrictions, and behavioural considerations. 
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NOTE 27:   RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (in HUF million)

The amount of loans extended to unconsolidated 

subsidiaries was HUF 45,603 mil l ion and 

HUF 16,991 mil l ion as at December 31, 2005 

and 2004, respectively.

The compensation of key management personnel, 

such as the members of the Board of Directors, 

members of the Supervisory Board, key 

employees of the Bank and i ts major subsidiaries 

involved in the decision-making process 

according to the compensation categories 

def ined in IAS 24, is summarised below:

The members of the Board of Directors and 

the Supervisory Board had credit l ines of 

HUF 188 mil l ion and HUF 194 mil l ion as at 

December 31, 2005 and 2004. Such credit  

is made available at normal market conditions.

In the normal course of business, the Bank gives loans 

and provides services to other related parties at 

normal market conditions. The amount of these loans 

was HUF 283 million and HUF 294 million, with 

commitments to extend credit and guarantees 

of HUF 112 million and HUF 126 million as 

at December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

 2005 2004

Short-term employee benefits 9,964 9,156

Termination benefits      15    116

Share-based compensation  4,517  1,113

Total 14,496 10,385

NOTE 28:   CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (in HUF million)

 2005 2004

Cash, due from banks and balances with

 the National Bank of Hungary 483,191 465,887

Compulsory reserve established by 

 the National Bank of Hungary (121,195) (110,214)

  361,996  355,673

NOTE 29:   ACQUISITIONS (in HUF million)

in cash. The Bank acquired 100% of the shares 

of OTP banka Hrvatska d.d. through a series 

of transactions.

On July 30, 2004 the Group completed the 

acquisition of 100% of the shares of RoBank S.A., 

a Romanian bank (renamed OTP Bank Romania S.A.). 

The purchase price of RoBank S.A . 

of USD 47.5 mil l ion was provided in cash.

(a) Purchase and consolidation of 
subsidiary undertakings

On March 10, 2005 the Group completed 

the acquisi t ion of 95.59% of the shares of Nova 

banka d.d., a Croatian bank (renamed OTP banka 

Hrvatska d.d.) , which has subsequently been 

increased to 100%. The total purchase price of 

Nova banka d.d. of EUR 248 mil l ion was provided 
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The fair value of the assets and liabilities acquired, and related goodwill is as follows:

 At acquisition date At acquisition date 

 OTP banka Hrvatska d.d. OTP Bank Romania S.A.

Cash, due from banks, and balances with 

 the National Bank (2,274) (326)

Placements with other banks. net of allowance for

 placement losses (73,431) (14,046)

Securities available-for-sale (40,929) (214)

Loans, net of allowance for loan losses (122,056) (17,856)

Accrued interest receivable (1,643) (225)

Equity investment (669) (35)

Debt securities held-to-maturity (1,168) (375)

Premises. equipment and intangible assets (7,944) (1,705)

Other assets (3,439) (1,011)

Due to banks and deposits from the

 National Bank and other banks 9,201 5,469

Deposits from customers 212,841 25,001

Accrued interest payable 1,566 376

Other liabilities 4,580 106

Subordinated loans      1,233         —

Net asset value  (24,132)   (4,841)

Goodwill  (35,809)   (4,926)

Cash consideration  (59,941) (9,767)

(b)  Analysis of net outflow of cash in respect of purchase of subsidiaries
 2005  2004

Cash consideration (59,941) (9,767)

Cash acquired    2,274     326

Net cash outflow (57,667) (9,441)

NOTE 30:     MAJOR SUBSIDIARIES

They are fully consolidated companies and 

incorporated in Hungary unless indicated otherwise.

Equity investments in companies in which the Bank 

has a controlling interest are detailed below. 

Name  Ownership (Direct and Indirect) Activity

December 31,   December 31, 

2005                2004

OTP Garancia Insurance Ltd. 100.00% 100.00% insurance

OTP Real Estate Ltd. 100.00% 100.00% real estate management and development

OTP Real Estate Management Ltd. — 100.00% real estate management

HIF Ltd. (United Kingdom) 100.00% 100.00% forfaiting

Merkantil Bank Ltd. 100.00% 100.00% financing car purchases

Merkantil Car Ltd. 100.00% 100.00% financing car purchases, leasing

OTP Building Society Ltd. 100.00% 100.00% financing flat purchase and reconstruction
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The table above provides an analysis of the Group’s 

main currency exposures. The remaining currencies 

are shown within ‘Others’. Whilst the Group monitors 

i ts foreign exchange position for compliance with 

the regulatory requirements of the National Bank of 

Hungary and own limit system established in respect 

Name  Ownership (Direct and Indirect) Activity

continued   December 31,   December 31, 

  2005                2004

Bank Center No. 1. Ltd. 100.00% 100.00% letting real estates

OTP Factoring Ltd. 100.00% 100.00% work-out

Inga Companies 100.00% 100.00% property management

OTP Fund Management Ltd. 100.00% 100.00% fund management

OTP Mortgage Bank Ltd. 100.00% 100.00% mortgage lending

OTP Fund Services and Consulting Ltd. 100.00% 100.00% fund services

OTP Banka Slovensko, a. s. (Slovakia) 97.23% 97.23% commercial banking services

DSK Bank EAD (Bulgaria) 100.00% 100.00% commercial banking services

OTP Bank Romania S.A. (Romania) 100.00% 100.00% commercial banking services

OTP banka Hrvatska d.d. (Croatia) 100.00% — commercial banking services

NOTE 31:     TRUST ACTIVITIES

of the Bank, they have been excluded from the 

accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheet. The total 

amount of such loans managed by the Bank as a trustee 

amounted to HUF 46,825 million and HUF 47,301 million 

as at December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

The Bank acts as a trustee for certain loans granted by 

companies or employers to their employees, mainly for 

housing purposes. The ultimate risk for these loans rests 

with the party advancing the funds. As these loans and 

related funds are not considered to be assets or liabilities 

NOTE 32:     CONCENTRATION OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

or the National Bank of Hungary as at December 31, 

2005 and 2004, respectively.

Approximately 18.5% and 22.5% of the Group’s 

total assets consist of receivables from, 

or securities issued by, the Hungarian Government 

NOTE 33:     NET FOREIGN CURRENCY POSITION AND FOREIGN 
     CURRENCY RISK (in HUF million)

As at December 31, 2005 USD EUR Others Total

Assets 201,662 746,710 1,128,786 2,077,158

Liabilities (174,739) (858,881) (838,748) (1,872,368)

Off-balance sheet assets and liabilities, net   (35,644)   (71,103) (259,463)   (366,210)

Net position     (8,721)  (183,274)     30,575    (161,420)

As at December 31, 2004 USD EUR Others Total

Assets 121,154 421,323 623,386 1,165,863

Liabilities (115,360) (417,814) (567,746) (1,100,920)

Off-balance sheet assets and liabilities, net   (16,449)         286   (30,990)    (47,153)

Net position   (10,655)      3,795     24,650       17,790
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Liquidity risk is a measure of the extent to which the 

Group may be required to raise funds to meet its 

commitments associated with financial instruments. 

The Group maintains its liquidity profiles in accordance 

with regulations laid down by the National Bank 

of Hungary. The following tables provide an analysis 

NOTE 34:     MATURITY ANALYSIS OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 
     AND LIQUIDITY RISK (in HUF million)

of assets, liabilities and shareholders’ equity into relevant 

maturity groupings based on the remaining period from 

the balance sheet date to the contractual maturity date. 

It is presented under the most prudent consideration 

of maturity dates where options or repayment 

schedules allow for early repayment possibilities.

As at December 31, 2005

 Within 3 Within one year Within 5 years  Over 5 years Total 

 months and over 3 months and over one year 

Cash, due from banks and balances

 with the National Bank of Hungary 483,191 — — — 483,191

Placements with other banks. net of

 allowance for placement losses 391,722 17,502 26,933 2,611 438,768

Financial assets at fair value through

 statements of operations 2,029 6,524 29,119 10,382 48,054

Securities available-for-sale 49,966 86,875 170,402 102,702 409,945

Loans, net of allowance for loan losses 320,488 518,413 1,157,581 1,194,816 3,191,298

Accrued interest receivable 33,294 3,142 795 639 37,870

Equity investments — — 36 12,321 12,357

Debt securities held-to-maturity 42,339 81,780 92,235 73,449 289,803

Premises, equipment and intangible assets, net 331 1,120 84,030 147,764 233,245

Other assets      29,182   24,344      14,727        3,118     71,371

Total assets 1,352,542 739,700 1,575,858 1,547,802 5,215,902

Due to banks and deposits from the

 National Bank of Hungary and other banks 109,974 24,478 193,144 36,528 364,124

Deposits from customers 3,068,438 283,734 63,995 12,026 3,428,193

Liabilities from issued securities 21,318 44,345 273,509 204,288 543,460

Accrued interest payable 14,751 6,843 3,119 189 24,902

Other liabilities 109,301 8,391 52,950 90,086 260,728

Subordinated bonds and loans             —           —       9,831   37,192      47,023

Total liabilities 3,323,782 367,791   596,548 380,309 4,668,430

Share capital — — — 28,000 28,000

Retained earnings and reserves — — — 572,567 572,567

Treasury shares (200) (15,431) (37,955) — (53,586)

Minority interests             —          —                          — 491           491

Total shareholders’ equity          (200) (15,431)    (37,955) 601,058    547,472

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity  3,323,582 352,360   558,593 981,367 5,215,902

Liquidity (deficiency)/excess (1,971,040) 387,340 1,017,265 566,435            —

of l imits on open positions. The measurement 

of the Group’s open foreign currency position 

involves monitoring the ‘value at risk ’ limit on 

the foreign exchange exposure of the Group.
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As at December 31, 2004 (Restated)

 Within 3 Within one year Within 5 years  Over 5 years Total 

 months and over 3 months and over one year 

Cash, due from banks and balances 

 with the National Bank of Hungary 465,887 — — — 465,887

Placements with other banks, net of

 allowance for placement losses 258,986 17,147 9,755 312 286,200

Financial assets at fair value through 

statements of operations 27,930 25,458 7,103 10,089 70,580

Securities available-for-sale 33,535 46,717 161,313 54,270 295,835

Loans, net of allowance for loan losses 221,991 406,757 1,022,698 855,349 2,506,795

Accrued interest receivable 27,677 2,738 622 363 31,400

Equity investments — — — 9,389 9,389

Debt securities held-to-maturity 1,577 63,378 113,186 69,118 247,259

Premises, equipment and intangible

 assets, net (2,719) 1,056 45,670 130,768 174,775

Other assets       41,503   17,706      14,311          719      74,239

Total assets  1,076,367 580,957 1,374,658 1,130,377 4,162,359

Due to banks and deposits from the

 National Bank of Hungary and other banks 76,319 61,340 98,175 18,291 254,125

Deposits from customers 2,619,350 220,945 55,693 6,202 2,902,190

Liabilities from issued securities 24,780 42,159 42,222 208,061 317,222

Accrued interest payable 15,451 8,574 2,891 99 27,015

Other liabilities 104,237 10,131 30,624 68,806 213,798

Subordinated bonds and loans               —           —       9,324       5,000      14,324

Total liabilities  2,840,137 343,149   238,929   306,459 3,728,674

Share capital — — — 28,000 28,000

Retained earnings and reserves — — — 431,127 431,127

Treasury shares (327) (14,659) (1,300) (9,581) (25,867)

Minority interests — — — 425 425

Total shareholders’ equity          (327) (14,659)     (1,300)   449,971    433,685

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity  2,839,810 328,490   237,629   756,430 4,162,359

Liquidity (deficiency)/excess (1,763,443) 252,467 1,137,029   373,947              —
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NOTE 35:     INTEREST RATE RISK MANAGEMENT

In addition, the signif icant spread existing 

between the dif ferent types of interest bearing 

assets and liabilities enables the Group to benefit 

from a high level of f lexibil i ty in adjusting 

for i ts interest rate matching and interest rate 

risk exposure.

The fol lowing table presents the interest 

repricing dates of the Group. Variable yield 

assets and l iabi l i t ies have been repor ted 

according to their next repricing date. 

Fixed income assets and liabilities have been 

repor ted according to their maturi ty.

Interest rate r isk is the risk that the value 

of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes 

in market interest rates. The length of time 

for which the rate of interest is f ixed on a financial 

instrument, therefore, indicates to what extent 

it is exposed to interest rate risk.

The majority of the Group ‘s interest bearing 

assets and liabilities are structured to match either 

shor t- term assets and shor t- term liabil i t ies, 

or long-term assets and liabilities with repricing 

opportunities within one year, or long-term assets 

and corresponding l iabil i t ies where repricing 

is per formed simultaneously.
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Within 1 month Over 1 month and 
within 3 months

Over 3 months and 
within 12 months

Over 1 year and 
within 2 years Over 2 years Non-interest-

bearing Total Total

HUF Currency HUF Currency HUF Currency HUF Currency HUF Currency HUF Currency HUF Currency

ASSETS
Due to banks and deposits from the National 
Bank of Hungary and other banks 28,522 99,893 – 187,842 – 15,685 1 11,329 4 16,856 1 3,991 28,528 335,596 364,124

     fixed rate 701 38,616 – 7,500 – 5,454 1 5,455 3 9,872 – – 705 66,897 67,602

     variable rate 27,821 61,277 – 180,342 – 10,231 – 5,874 1 6,984 – – 27,822 264,708 292,530

     non-interest-bearing – – – – – – – – – – 1 3,991 1 3,991 3,992

Deposits from customers 2,057,329 954,508 152,830 87,925 21,851 87,677 12,701 1,424 42,183 2,718 584 6,463 2,287,478 1,140,715 3,428,193

     fixed rate 744,560 277,454 152,830 79,369 21,851 74,031 12,701 1,149 42,183 1,881 – – 974,125 433,884 1,408,009

     variable rate 1,312,769 677,054 – 8,556 – 13,646 – 275 – 837 – – 1,312,769 700,368 2,013,137

     non-interest-bearing – – – – – – – – – – 584 6,463 584 6,463 7,047

Liabilities from issued securities 19,657 128,759 31,549 85,100 38,567 6,746 4,823 6,682 149,743 63,907 7,919 8 252,258 291,202 543,460

     fixed rate 6,602 2,700 9,491 9,248 38,567 6,746 4,823 6,682 149,743 63,907 – – 209,226 89,283 298,509

     variable rate 13,055 126,059 22,058 75,852 – – – – – – – – 35,113 201,911 237,024

     non-interest-bearing – – – – – – – – – – 7,919 8 7,919 8 7,927
Fair value of derivative financial instruments 
in other liabilities 44,023 118,047 52,582 148,297 18,614 41,790 18,591 202 158,557 7,066 – – 292,367 315,402 607,769

     fixed rate 43,214 111,919 40,396 74,913 14,281 41,790 18,591 202 158,557 7,066 – – 275,039 235,890 510,929

     variable rate 809 6,128 12,186 73,384 4,333 – – – – – – – 17,328 79,512 96,840

Subordinated bonds and loans 5,000 – – 31,591 – 10,432 – – – – – – 5,000 42,023 47,023

     variable rate 5,000 – – 31,591 – 10,432 – – – – – – 5,000 42,023 47,023

As at December 31, 2005

Within 1 month Over 1 month and 
within 3 months

Over 3 months and 
within 12 months

Over 1 year and 
within 2 years Over 2 years Non-interest-

bearing Total Total

HUF Currency HUF Currency HUF Currency HUF Currency HUF Currency HUF Currency HUF Currency

ASSETS
Cash, due from banks and balances with the 
National Bank of Hungary 404,859 4,733 4 1,021 72 – – – 1 3,423 47,493 21,585 452,429 30,762 483,191 

     fixed rate 404,400 3,526 2 – – – – – – – – – 404,402 3,526 407,928 

     variable rate 459 1,207 2 1,021 72 – – – – – – – 533 2,228 2,761 

     non-interest-bearing – – – – – – – – 1 3,423 47,493 21,585 47,494 25,008 72,502 

Placements with other banks, net of allowan-
ce for possible placement losses 76,910 265,237 20,000 16,954 200 8,832 – 89 – 1,321 – 49,225 97,110 341,658 438,768 

     fixed rate 73,910 243,879 20,000 7,754 200 3,943 – 89 – 1,137 – – 94,110 256,802 350,912 

     variable rate 3,000 21,358 – 9,200 – 4,889 – – – 184 – – 3,000 35,631 38,631 

     non-interest-bearing – – – – – – – – – – – 49,225 – 49,225 49,225 

Securities held for trading 369 3,763 1,110 522 1,850 1,755 8,169 972 10,300 8,706 198 259 21,996 15,977 37,973 

     fixed rate 369 – 211 – 1,778 1,755 8,169 972 10,300 8,706 – - 20,827 11,433 32,260 

     variable rate – 3,763 899 522 72 – – – – – – – 971 4,285 5,256 

     non-interest-bearing – – – – – – – – – – 198 259 198 259 457 

Securities available-for-sale 30,305 7,136 39,580 16,241 57,919 17,499 30,678 28,100 124,714 33,148 22,296 2,329 305,492 104,453 409,945 

     fixed rate 7,591 463 11,544 1,704 57,378 12,266 30,678 28,100 124,714 28,666 – – 231,905 71,199 303,104 

     variable rate 22,714 6,673 28,036 14,537 541 5,233 – – – 4,482 – – 51,291 30,925 82,216 

     non-interest-bearing – – – – – – – – – – 22,296 2,329 22,296 2,329 24,625 

Loans 456,855 645,890 459,196 485,887 55,760 94,195 58,626 32,058 714,857 171,614 7,506 8,854 1,752,800 1,438,498 3,191,298 

     fixed rate 4,760 6,863 7,127 8,347 5,644 24,209 3,552 9,862 7,881 47,569 – – 28,964 96,850 125,814 

     variable rate 452,095 639,027 452,069 477,540 50,116 69,986 55,074 22,196 706,976 124,045 – – 1,716,330 1,332,794 3,049,124 

     non-interest-bearing – – – – – – – – – – 7,506 8,854 7,506 8,854 16,360 

Debt securities held-to-maturity 23,688 14,532 61,639 10,495 60,892 4,927 9,945 6,186 76,596 20,348 – 555 232,760 57,043 289,803 

     fixed rate – 2,973 5,933 9,852 50,102 3,760 9,945 6,186 76,596 20,348 – – 142,576 43,119 185,695 

     variable rate 23,688 11,559 55,706 643 10,790 1,167 – – – – – – 90,184 13,369 103,553 

     non-interest-bearing – – – – – – – – – – – 555 – 555 555 

Fair value of derivative financial instruments 90,496 80,844 108,836 92,128 69,538 2,261 16,752 – 45,549 101,459 – – 331,171 276,692 607,863 

     fixed rate 82,516 72,723 97,269 18,141 56,724 2,261 16,752 – 45,549 101,459 – – 298,810 194,584 493,394 

     variable rate 7,980 8,121 11,567 73,987 12,814 – – – – – – – 32,361 82,108 114,469 

As at December 31, 2005
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Within 1 month Over 1 month and 
within 3 months

Over 3 months and 
within 12 months

Over 1 year and 
within 2 years Over 2 years Non-interest-

bearing Total Total

HUF Currency HUF Currency HUF Currency HUF Currency HUF Currency HUF Currency HUF Currency

ASSETS
Due to banks and deposits from the National 
Bank of Hungary and other banks 16,356 151,394 3,460 62,873 6,679 6,944 – 3,351 – 2,024 480 564 26,975 227,150 254,125 

     fixed rate 14,486 51,530 – 9,198 72 3,339 – 337 – 2,024 – – 14,558 66,428 80,986 

     variable rate 1,870 99,864 3,460 53,675 6,607 3,605 – 3,014 – – – – 11,937 160,158 172,095 

     non-interest-bearing – – – – – – – – – – 480 564 480 564 1,044 

Deposits from customers 1,735,862 680,874 345,501 41,204 12,552 42,108 11,533 518 26,098 126 296 5,518 2,131,842 770,348 2,902,190 

     fixed rate 538,670 213,563 345,501 41,204 12,552 42,108 11,533 518 26,098 126 – – 934,354 297,519 1,231,873 

     variable rate 1,197,192 467,311 – – – – – – – – – – 1,197,192 467,311 1,664,503 

     non-interest-bearing – – – – – – – – – – 296 5,518 296 5,518 5,814 

Liabilities from issued securities 13,030 1,205 42,435 127 38,295 210 – 52 153,987 67,708 95 78 247,842 69,380 317,222 

     fixed rate 263 1,205 20,627 127 38,193 210 – 52 153,987 67,708 – – 213,070 69,302 282,372 

     variable rate 12,767 – 21,808 – 102 – – – – – – – 34,677 – 34,677 

     non-interest-bearing – – – – – – – – – – 95 78 95 78 173 
Fair value of derivative financial instruments 
in other liabilities 13,087 87,629 29,353 67,794 58,173 18,559 5,000 3,935 31,761 7,133 – 1 137,374 185,051 322,425 

     fixed rate 1,587 79,662 3,353 17,430 28,412 18,559 5,000 3,935 31,761 7,133 – – 70,113 126,719 196,832 

     variable rate 11,500 7,967 26,000 50,364 29,761 – – – – – – – 67,261 58,331 125,592 

     non-interest-bearing – – – – – – – – – – – 1 – 1 1 

Subordinated bonds and loans – – – – 5,000 9,324 – – – – – – 5,000 9,324 14,324 

     variable rate – – – – 5,000 9,324 – – – – – – 5,000 9,324 14,324 

Net position (584,819) (277,765) 185,100 179,717 86,682 (2,656) 94,750 11,360 561,156 2,446 75,998 51,938 418,867 (34,960) 383,907

As at December 31, 2004

Within 1 month Over 1 month and 
within 3 months

Over 3 months and 
within 12 months

Over 1 year and 
within 2 years Over 2 years Non-interest-

bearing Total Total

HUF Currency HUF Currency HUF Currency HUF Currency HUF Currency HUF Currency HUF Currency

ASSETS
Cash, due from banks and balances with the 
National Bank of Hungary 390,087 1,021 353 – – – – – – – 53,191 21,235 443,631 22,256 465,887 

     fixed rate 383,007 944 – – – – – – – – – – 383,007 944 383,951 

     variable rate 7,080 77 353 – – – – – – – – – 7,433 77 7,510 

     non-interest-bearing – – – – – – – – – – 53,191 21,235 53,191 21,235 74,426 
Placements with other banks, net of allowan-
ce for possible placement losses 121,879 101,553 800 16,873 200 10,035 – 7 24 – 3,962 30,867 126,865 159,335 286,200 

     fixed rate 119,108 97,140 500 5,066 200 4,802 – 7 24 – – – 119,832 107,015 226,847 

     variable rate 2,771 4,413 300 11,807 – 5,233 – – – – – – 3,071 21,453 24,524 

     non-interest-bearing – – – – – – – – – – 3,962 30,867 3,962 30,867 34,829 

Securities held for trading 5,710 2,677 19,572 4,027 17,114 2,311 73 313 5,490 9,815 155 1 48,114 19,144 67,258 

     fixed rate 5,624 – 18,734 202 17,040 635 73 313 5,490 9,815 – – 46,961 10,965 57,926 

     variable rate 86 2,677 838 3,825 74 1,676 – – – – – – 998 8,178 9,176 

     non-interest-bearing – – – – – – – – – – 155 1 155 1 156 

Securities available-for-sale 24,680 14,688 44,570 7,446 51,082 2,851 27,964 3,557 70,636 29,202 17,921 1,238 236,853 58,982 295,835 

     fixed rate 1,847 – 29,008 1,570 50,752 1,823 27,964 3,557 70,636 29,202 – – 180,207 36,152 216,359 

     variable rate 22,833 14,688 15,562 5,876 330 1,028 – – – – – – 38,725 21,592 60,317 

     non-interest-bearing – – – – – – – – – – 17,921 1,238 17,921 1,238 19,159 

Loans 552,944 495,624 394,328 305,704 32,782 37,767 33,079 7,686 628,101 12,382 1,640 4,758 1,642,874 863,921 2,506,795 

     fixed rate 7,653 8,972 17,508 6,356 4,713 13,455 4,962 4,069 12,165 10,286 – – 47,001 43,138 90,139 

     variable rate 545,291 486,652 376,820 299,348 28,069 24,312 28,117 3,617 615,936 2,096 – – 1,594,233 816,025 2,410,258 

     non-interest-bearing – – – – – – – – – – 1,640 4,758 1,640 4,758 6,398 

Debt securities held-to-maturity 24,187 811 75,795 190 53,130 1,832 26,167 3,718 39,490 21,939 – – 218,769 28,490 247,259 

     fixed rate 499 53 – 190 42,340 1,519 26,167 3,718 39,490 21,907 – – 108,496 27,387 135,883 

     variable rate 23,688 758 75,795 – 10,790 313 – – – 32 – – 110,273 1,103 111,376 

Fair value of derivative financial instruments 74,029 26,963 70,431 17,475 53,073 19,693 24,000 3,935 29,261 6,099 – – 250,794 74,165 324,959 

     fixed rate 53,729 26,963 255 17,475 14,312 18,709 24,000 3,935 29,261 6,099 – – 121,557 73,181 194,738 

     variable rate 20,300 – 70,176 – 38,761 984 – – – – – – 129,237 984 130,221 

As at December 31, 2004
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NOTE 36:     EARNINGS PER SHARE

the year at tributable to common shareholders, 

by the weighted average number of common 

shares outstanding during the period.

Consolidated Earnings per share attributable 

to the Group’s common shares are determined 

based on dividing consolidated net income for 

Diluted Earnings per share are determined after 

additionally taking into consideration the option 

rights granted.

The weighted average number of common shares 

outstanding during the period does not include 

treasury shares.

NOTE 37:     SEGMENT REPORTING (in HUF million)

Business segments are distinguishable 

components of the Group that provide products 

or services that are subject to r isks and rewards 

that are dif ferent to those of other business 

segments. Business segments are the secondary 

repor ting segments.

Geographical segments provide products or services 

within a particular economic environment that 

is subject to dif ferent risks and rewards that are 

dif ferent to those of components operating in other 

economic environments. Geographical segments 

are the primary reporting segments.

  Restated 

 2005 2004

Consolidated net income (in HUF mn) 158,235 131,506

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding during 

the year for calculating basic EPS (piece) 262,195,663 262,425,151

Consolidated Basic Earnings per share (in HUF) 603 501

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding during 

the year for calculating diluted EPS (piece) 264,320,310 263,565,631

Consolidated Diluted Earnings per share (in HUF) 599 499
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37.1. Primary reporting format by geographical segments
 Hungary United  Slovakia Bulgaria Romania Croatia Elimination Consolidated

  Kingdom

Interest income        

External 387,773 854 11,714 43,442 3,706 11,535 — 459,024

Inter-segment        797    — —      284       —          —  (1,081)            —

Total 388,570 854 11,714 43,726 3,706 11,535 (1,081) 459,024

Non-interest income        

External 192,097 65 7,400 11,167 1,851 3,917 — 216,497

Inter-segment           70   —        —      382        —       —  (452)            —

Total 192,167 65 7,400 11,549 1,851 3,917 (452) 216,497

Segment income 

before income taxes 172,430 194 809 19,601 (2,182) 3,117 (1,892) 192,077

Income taxes — — — — — — —     (33,803)

Net income after 

income taxes — — — — — — — 158,274

Segment assets 4,003,566 14,369 287,763 610,114 60,094 332,083 (92,087) 5,215,902

Segment liabilities 3,657,452 12,249 270,635 509,237 41,450 267,603 (90,196) 4,668,430

Capital expenditure 1,964 — 482 5,567 1,972 — — 9,985

Depreciation 17,640 1 897 2,481 462 416 –- 21,897

Allowance for loan

and placement losses 20,196 8 1,647 5,151 777 253 10 28,042

NOTE 38:     POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS

Based on the authorization of the Annual General 

Meeting of the year 2005, the Bank repurchased 

1,000,000 pieces of own shares between 

January 1 and 25, 2006 at an average price 

of HUF 7,405.

On October 24, 2005 the Bank made a binding bid for 

purchasing 89.39% of the shares of Niska banka a.d. 

registered in Serbia. The purchase agreement 

was signed on December 23, 2005 at pr ice of 

EUR 14.21 million. The transaction was closed on 

March 7, 2006. The total assets of Niska banka were 

approximately 38 million EUR as at December 31, 2005.

37.2. Secondary segment information by business segments
 Banking segment Insurance segment

Total segment income 588,998 82,860

Segment net income before income taxes 187,109 7,580

Segment assets 5,094,822 157,225

Capital expenditure 8,517 310
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Balance Sheet
(unconsolidated, based on IFRS, as at December 31, 2005 and December 31, 2004, in HUF million)

 

    Restated 

  2005 2004

Cash, due from banks and balances with the National Bank of Hungary 379,249 399,401

Placements with other banks. Net of allowance for placement losses 393,659 200,100

Financial assets at fair value through statement of operations 34,054 22,059

Securities available-for-sale 371,433 324,130

Loans, net of allowance for loan losses 1,475,508 1,276,241

Accrued interest receivable 41,276 41,180

Investments in subsidiaries 223,881 154,298

Securities held-to-maturity 521,797 507,503

Premises, equipment and intangible assets, net 105,569 96,538

Other assets 46,447 33,025

Total assets 3,592,873 3,054,475

Due to banks and deposits from the National Bank of Hungary and other banks 255,211 203,777

Deposits from customers 2,506,457 2,340,924

Liabilities from issued securities 202,267 1,997

Accrued interest payable 5,735 9,414

Other liabilities 102,881 94,987

Subordinated bonds and loans 47,023 14,324

Total liabilities 3,119,574 2,665,423

Share capital 28,000 28,000

Retained earnings and reserves 486,051 374,860

Treasury shares (40,752) (13,808)

Total shareholders’ equity 473,299 389,052

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity 3,592,873 3,054,475

The accompanying notes to unconsolidated financial statements on pages 115 to 151 form an integral part of these unconsolidated 

financial statements. 
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Profit and Loss Account
(unconsolidated, based on IFRS, for the years ended December 31, 2005 and December 31, 2004, in HUF million)

 

    Restated 

  2005 2004

Interest income:    

Loans 147,368 136,968

Placements with other banks 36,961 40,634

Due from banks and balances with the National Bank of Hungary 27,957 30,872

Securities held for trading 2,108 2,581

Securities available-for sale 27,742 26,677

Securities held-to-maturity 39,266 53,203

 Total interest income   281,402 290,935

Interest expense:

Due to banks and deposits from the National Bank of Hungary and other banks 27,989 19,699

Deposits from customers   81,504 119,116

Liabilities from issued securities   1,677 167

Subordinated bonds and loans   1,593 870

 Total interest expense   112,763 139,852

Net interest income 168,639 151,083

Provision for loan and placement losses    16,435 8,628

Net interest income after provision for loan and placement losses 152,204 142,455

Non-interest income:    

Fees and commissions 136,264 113,299

Foreign exchange gains, net 1,603 914

Gains on securities, net 3,103 1,081

Losses on real estate transactions, net  (28) (103)

Dividend income 13,937 8,500

Other 3,541 2,654

 Total non-interest income 158,420 126,345

Non-interest expenses:    

Fees and commissions 13,840 9,692

Personnel expenses 62,437 54,342

Depreciation and amortization 15,244 13,401

Other 63,301 59,006

 Total non-interest expenses 154,822 136,441

Income before income taxes  155,802 132,359

Income taxes 22,954 18,882

Net income after income taxes 132,848 113,477

Earnings per share (in HUF)    

Basic 492 420

Diluted 488 418

 

The accompanying notes to unconsolidated financial statements on pages 115 to 151 form an integral part of these unconsolidated 

financial statements. 
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Statement of Cash Flow
(unconsolidated, based on IFRS, for the years ended December 31, 2005 and December 31, 2004, in HUF million)

 

    Restated 

  2005 2004

Operating activities    

Income before income taxes 155,802 132,359

Adjustments to reconcile income before income taxes to net cash provided by operating activities:    

Income tax paid (21,071) (19,508)

Depreciation and amortization 15,244 13,401

Provision for loan and placement losses 16,435 8,628

Release of provision for permanent diminution in value of investments in subsidiaries (1,909) (253)

Provision/(release of allowance) for losses of other assets 46 (1,314)

(Release of allowance)/provision for losses on off-balance sheet commitments 

 and contingent liabilities, net (1,984) 901

Share-based compensation 7,497 2,348

Unrealised losses on fair value adjustment of securities held for trading 7 23

Unrealised losses/(gains) on fair value adjustment of derivative financial instruments 1,868 (635)

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:    

Net changes in financial assets through statements of operations  (5,192) 34,070

Net increase in accrued interest receivable (96) (9,388)

Net (increase)/decrease in other assets, excluding advances for investments 

and before provisions for losses (14,231) 12,495

Net (decrease)/increase in accrued interest payable (3,679) 1,519

Net (decrease)/increase in other liabilities (754) 16,585

Net cash provided by operating activities 147,983 191,231

Investing activities    

Net increase in placements with other banks before provision for placement losses (193,558) (4,710)

Net increase in securities available-for-sale (41,795) (48,151)

Net increase in investments in subsidiaries before provision for permanent diminution in value (67,674) (15,237)

Net (increase)/decrease in securities held-to-maturity (14,294) 117,806

Net (decrease)/increase in advances for investments included in other assets (14) 33

Net increase in loans before provision for possible loan losses (215,703) (214,625)

Net additions to premises, equipment and intangible assets (24,275) (23,539)

Net cash used in investing activities (557,313) (218,423)   

Financing activities    

Net increase in due to banks and deposits from the National Bank of Hungary and other banks 51,434 112,696

Net increase in deposits from customers 165,533 76,396

Net increase/(decrease) in liabilities from issued securities 200,270 (42)

Increase/(decrease) in subordinated bonds and loans 32,699 (1,089)

Net change in treasury shares (19,518) 2,480

Net (increase)/decrease in the compulsory reserve established by the National Bank of Hungary (12,489) 3,816

Dividends paid (41,240) (16,823)

Net cash provided by financing activities 376,689 177,434

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (32,641) 150,242

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 293,685 143,443

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 261,044 293,685

Analysis of cash and cash equivalents opening and closing balance

Cash, due from banks and balances with the National Bank of Hungary 399,401 252,975

Compulsory reserve established by the National Bank of Hungary (105,716) (109,532)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 293,685 143,443

Cash, due from fanks and balances with the National Bank of Hungary 379,249 399,401

Compulsory reserve established by the National Bank of Hungary (118,205) (105,716)

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 261,044 293,685

 

The accompanying notes to unconsolidated financial statements on pages 115 to 151 form an integral part of these unconsolidated 

financial statements.
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Statement of changes in Shareholders’ Equity
(unconsolidated, based on IFRS, for the years ended December 31, 2005 and December 31, 2004, in HUF million)

 

Balance as at January 1, 2004 (restated) 28,000 262,504 (14,328) 276,176     

Net income after income taxes — 113,477 — 113,477

Fair value adjustment of securities available-for-sale 

recognised directly through equity — 11,371 — 11,371

Share-based compensation   2,348   2,348

Dividend for the year 2003 — (16,800) — (16,800)

Profit on sale of treasury shares — 1,960 — 1,960

Sale and purchase of treasury shares  — — 520 520

Balance as at December 31, 2004 (Restated) 28,000 374,860 (13,808) 389,052 

Net income after income taxes — 132,848 — 132,848

Fair value adjustment of securities available-for-sale 

recognised directly through equity — 4,626 — 4,626

Share-based compensation — 7,497 — 7,497

Dividend for the year 2004 — (41,206) — (41,206)

Profit on sale of treasury shares — 7,426 — 7,426

Sale and purchase of treasury shares  — — (26,944) (26,944)

Balance as at December 31, 2005 28,000 486,051 (40,752) 473,299

The accompanying notes to unconsolidated financial statements on pages 115 to 151 form an integral part of these unconsolidated 

financial statements.

Share

capital

Retained earnings

and reserves

Treasury 

shares Total
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N O T E S  T O  U N C O N S O L I D A T E D  I F R S 

F I N A N C I A L  S T A T E M E N T S  A S  A T 

D E C E M B E R  31 ,  2 0 0 5

NOTE 1:     ORGANIZATION AND BASIS OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Annual General Meeting on April 25, 2001 

approved the conversion of HUF 1,150 million 

nominal value preference shares issued by 

the Bank to common shares. 

In the first quarter of the year of 2002 the nominal 

value of the common shares of the Bank decreased 

from HUF 1,000 to HUF 100 per share.

As at December 31, 2005 approximately 90.4% 

of the Bank ’s shares were held by domestic 

and foreign private and insti tutional investors. 

The remaining shares are owned by employees 

(3.1%) and the Bank (6.5%).

The Bank provides a full range of commercial 

banking services through a nationwide network 

of 377 branches in Hungary.

As at December 31, 2005 the number of 

employees at the Bank was 7,999. The average 

number of employees for the year ended 

December 31, 2005 was 7,842.

1.2. Accounting

The Bank maintains its accounting records and 

prepares its statutory accounts in accordance with 

the commercial, banking and fiscal regulations 

prevail ing in Hungary. 

The Bank’s functional currency is the Hungarian 

Forint (“HUF”). 

Some of the accounting principles prescribed 

for statutory purposes are dif ferent from those 

general ly recognized in international f inancial 

1.1. General

National Savings and Commercial Bank Ltd. (the 

“Bank” or “OTP”) was established on December 31, 

1990, when the predecessor State-owned 

company was transformed into a limited liability 

company. The Bank’s registered office address is 

16, Nador street, Budapest 1051.

As at December 31, 1994, 79% of the Bank’s 

shares were held directly or indirectly by the 

Hungarian Government and the remaining 21% 

were held by domestic investors or represented 

as own shares (less than 3%). In spring 1995, the 

Hungarian Government transferred 20% of the 

Bank’s shares to the Hungarian Social Security 

Funds. Subsequent to the successful initial public 

offering in summer 1995, the Bank’s shares were 

introduced to the Budapest and the Luxembourg 

stock exchanges and were also listed on SEAQ 

London and PORTAL (USA).

At an extraordinary General Assembly on 

September 3, 1997, the Bank issued a preferential 

voting share with a nominal value of HUF 1 thousand  

(the “Special Share”) to the State Privatization 

and Holding Company. The Special Share gives 

the power to the State Privatization and Holding 

Company to control the outcome of certain 

shareholder votes in accordance with the Bank’s 

Articles of Association and the right to delegate 

one member to the Bank’s Board of Directors and 

one member to the Supervisory Board of the Bank. 

By public offerings in fall 1997 and fall 1999, the 

State Privatization and Holding Company sold the 

remaining common shares.
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Financial Instruments: Recognition and 

Measurement

IAS 39 Revised, which is effective after January 1, 

2005 changes the category held for trading 

instruments by introducing a new category „a financial 

asset at fair value through statements of operations”. 

In this category is classified previously held for trading 

assets and other instruments which upon initial 

recognition are designated by the entity as to be held 

at fair value through statements of operations.

Due to the retrospective application of IAS 39 

Revised, an opening adjustment of HUF 5,297 million 

has been presented in retained earnings and reserves 

as of January 1, 2004. Due to restatement of prior 

periods, income after income tax decreased by 

HUF 11,371 million for the year ended December 31, 

2004, from what was previously reported.

IFRS 2 Share based payment

For equity settled share based compensation, under 

IFRS 2 the Bank is required to measure the fair value 

of services received, based on the fair value 

of the equity instrument granted, and to recognise such 

expense in the unconsolidated financial statements. 

IFRS 2 has been adopted retrospectively from 

January 1, 2005 in respect of options which have 

a grant date later than November 7, 2002.

The Annual General Meeting for the year 2000 

approved a f ive year share option and bonus 

program for the years 2000 to 2004 granting 

options and bonus shares on an annual basis. 

For the options for the years 2003 and 2004, 

the grant date is December 31, 2002.

Due to the retrospective application of IFRS 2, 

an opening adjustment of HUF 2,085 mil l ion 

is presented separately in retained earnings 

and reserves as of January 1, 2004. Due to 

restatement of prior periods, income after income 

tax was decreased by HUF 2,348 mil l ion 

for the year ended December 31, 2004.

markets . Cer tain adjustments have been made 

to the Bank ’s Hungarian unconsolidated statutory 

accounts (see Note 33), in order to present 

the unconsolidated f inancial posi t ion and results 

of operations of the Bank in accordance with 

al l standards and interpretations approved by 

the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB), 

which are referred to as International Financial 

Reporting Standards (IFRS). These standards and 

interpretations were previously cal led 

International Accounting Standards (IAS).

The unconsolidated f inancial statements have 

been prepared in accordance with International 

Financial Repor ting Standards as adopted by the 

European Union (the “EU”).  IFRS as adopted by 

the EU do not currently dif fer from IFRS as issued 

by the International Accounting Standards Board 

(IASB), except for por t fol io hedge accounting 

under IAS 39 which has not been approved 

by the EU. As the Bank does not apply por t fol io 

hedge accounting under IAS 39, there is no 

impact on these unconsolidated f inancial 

statements, had i t been approved by the EU 

at the balance sheet date.

 

1.2.1.  The effect of adopting 
revised International Financial 
Reporting Standards effective 
from January 1, 2005 on the 2004 
financial statements

Effective from January 1, 2005 the Bank adopted 

revised IAS 39 (“Financial Instruments: 

Recognition and Measurement”), and IFRS 2 

(“Share-based payment”). Revisions to a number 

of other IAS also took ef fect in the unconsolidated 

condensed f inancial statements of the Bank, 

but those revisions concerned matters of detailed 

application which have no signif icant ef fect 

on amounts repor ted.
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– Amendments to IAS 39 ‘Financial Instruments: 

Recognition and Measurement’ and IFRS 4 

‘Insurance Contracts’ for financial guarantee 

contracts (effective January 1, 2006); 

– Amendments to IAS 1 ‘Presentation of Financial 

Statements’ on capital disclosures (effective 

January 1, 2007). 

The adoption of these standards in the future 

periods is not expected to have a material impact 

on the unconsolidated profit or equity.

1.2.2. Changes in accounting 
policies arising from the adoption 
of new IFRSs and amendments to 
IASs effective January 1, 2006 

At the date of authorisation of these financial 

statements, the following standards were in issue 

but not yet effective:

– IFRS 7 ‘Financial Instruments: Disclosures’ 

(effective January 1, 2007);

–  Amendments to IAS 39 ‘Financial Instruments: 

Recognition and Measurement’ in respect of cash 

flow hedge accounting (effective January 1, 2006);

NOTE 2:     SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

with the exception of certain financial instruments, 

which are recorded on fair value. Revenues 

and expenses are recorded in the period in which 

they are earned or incurred.

The presentation of unconsolidated f inancial 

statements in conformity with IFRS requires 

management of the Bank to make estimates 

and assumptions that affect the reported amounts 

Significant accounting policies applied in the 

preparation of the accompanying unconsolidated 

financial statements are summarized below:

2.1. Basis of presentation

These unconsolidated financial statements have 

been prepared under the historical cost convention 

Summary of the effects of introduction of IAS 39 Revised and IFRS 2 for the year ended 

December 31, 2004 is as follows (in HUF million):

 As originally reported for 

 the year ended  

 December 31, 2004

Fair value adjustment of available-for-sale securities 

recognized in profit and loss 14,632 1,095

Deferred tax effect (2,341)  (175)

Contribution to net income 12,291  920 

Share based compensation  —  (2,348)

Net income after income taxes 127,196 113,477

Fair value adjustment of available-for-sale 

securities recognized directly through equity — 13,537

Deferred tax effect  —  (2,166)

Effect to equity  —  11,371

Share based compensation directly through equity  —  2,348

Total shareholders’ equity  389,052 389,052

Restated for the 

year ended 

December 31, 2004
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of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent 

assets and liabilities as of the date of the financial 

statements and their reported amounts of revenues 

and expenses during the reporting period. Actual 

results could dif fer from those estimates. Future 

changes in economic conditions, business 

strategies, regulatory requirements, accounting 

rules and other factors could result in a change 

in estimates that could have a material impact on 

future financial statements.

2.2. Foreign currency translation

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated 

in foreign currencies are translated into HUF at 

exchange rates quoted by the National Bank 

of Hungary (“NBH”) as of the date of the financial 

statements. Income and expenses arising in foreign 

currencies are converted at the rate of exchange 

on the transaction date. Resulting foreign exchange 

gains or losses are recorded in the Unconsolidated 

Statement of Operations.

2.3. Consolidated financial 
statements

These financial statements present the Bank’s 

unconsolidated financial position and results 

of operations. Consolidated financial statements 

are currently being prepared by the Bank and 

consolidated net income and shareholders’ equity 

may dif fer signif icantly from that presented 

in these unconsolidated f inancial statements. 

See Note 2.8 for the description of the method 

of accounting for investments in subsidiaries 

and associated companies in these unconsolidated 

financial statements.

2.4. Securities held-to-maturity 

Investments in securities are accounted on a 

settlement date basis and are initially measured at 

cost. At subsequent reporting dates, securities that 

the Bank has the expressed intention and ability 

to hold to maturity (held-to-maturity securities) 

are measured at amortised cost, less any impairment 

losses recognised to reflect irrecoverable amounts. 

The annual amor tisation of any discount 

or premium on the acquisition of a held-to-maturity 

security is aggregated with other investment 

income receivable over the term of the investment 

so that the revenue recognised in each period 

represents a constant yield on the investment. 

Held-to -maturity investments include securities, 

which the Bank has the abil i ty and intent to hold 

to maturity. Such securities comprise mainly 

securities issued by the Hungarian Government 

and mor tgage bonds. 

2.5.  Financial assets at fair value 
through statement of operations

2.5.1. Securities held for trading

Investments in securities are accounted on a 

settlement date basis and are initially measured 

at fair value. Held for trading investments are 

measured at subsequent reporting dates at fair 

value. Unrealised gains and losses on held for 

trading securities is recognised in profit/loss and 

included in the Unconsolidated Statement of 

Operations for the period. Such securities consist 

of discounted and interest bearing Treasury bills, 

Hungarian Government bonds, mortgage bonds and 

other securities. Other securities include shares in 

commercial companies, shares in investment funds. 

2.5.2. Derivative financial 
instruments

In the normal course of business, the Bank 

is a par ty to contracts for derivative f inancial 

instruments, which represent a very low initial 

investment compared to the notional value of 

the contract. The derivative financial instruments 

used include interest rate forward or swap 

agreements and currency forward or swap 

agreements. These f inancial instruments are 

used by the Bank to hedge interest rate risk 
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are therefore treated as derivatives held for trading 

with fair value gains and losses charged directly 

to the Unconsolidated Statement of Operations.

2.6. Securities available-for-sale 

Investments in securities are accounted on a 

settlement date basis and are initially measured at fair 

value. Available-for-sale investments are measured 

at subsequent repor ting dates at fair value. 

Unrealised gains and losses on available-for-sale 

financial instruments are recognised directly in 

equity, unless such available-for-sale security is part 

of an effective fair value hedge. Such gains and 

losses will be reported when realised in profit and 

loss for the applicable period. Such securities consist 

of discounted Treasury bills, Hungarian Government 

bonds, mortgage bonds and other securities. Other 

securities include shares in investment funds, bonds 

issued by companies and foreign government bonds. 

Available-for-sale securities are remeasured at fair 

value based on quoted prices or amounts derived 

from cash flow models. In circumstances where 

the quoted market prices are not readily available, 

the fair value of debt securities is estimated using 

the present value future cash flows and the fair value 

of unquoted equity instruments is measured at cost.

Those available-for-sale financial assets that do not have 

a quoted market price and whose fair value cannot be 

reliably measured by other models mentioned above, 

are measured at cost, less allowance for permanent 

diminution in value, when appropriate. 

2.7. Loans, placements with other 
banks and allowance for loan and 
placement losses

Loans and placements with other banks are stated 

at the principal amounts outstanding, 

net of al lowance for loan or placement losses, 

respectively. Interest is accrued and credited 

to income based on the principal amounts 

outstanding. When a borrower is unable to meet 

payments as they come due or, in the opinion 

and currency exposures associated with i ts 

transactions in the f inancial markets.

Derivative financial instruments are initially 

measured at fair value and at subsequent reporting 

dates at their fair value. Fair values are obtained 

from quoted market prices, discounted cash flow 

models and options pricing models as appropriate. 

Changes in the fair value of derivative financial 

instruments that do not quali fy for hedge 

accounting are recognised in prof i t/loss and 

included in the Unconsolidated Statement 

of Operation for the period. All derivatives 

are carried as assets when fair value is positive 

and as l iabil i t ies when fair value is negative.

2.5.3. Derivative financial 
instruments designated as 
a fair-value or cash flow hedge

Changes in the fair value of derivatives that 

are designated and quali fy as fair value hedges 

and that prove to be highly ef fective in relation 

to the hedged r isk , are recorded in the prof i t 

Unconsol idated Statement of Operations along 

with the corresponding change in fair value 

of the hedged asset or liability that is attributable 

to the speci f ic hedged r isk . The inef fective 

element of the hedge is charged directly 

to the Unconsolidated Statement of Operations.

Changes in fair value of derivatives that are 

designated and quali fy as cash f low hedges and 

that prove to be highly ef fective in relation to 

hedged risk, are recognised in the reserve among 

shareholders’ equity. Amounts deferred in equity 

are transferred to the Unconsolidated Statement 

of Operations and classif ied as revenue or 

expense in the periods during which the hedged 

assets and l iabi l i t ies af fect the result for the 

period. The inef fective element of the hedge is 

charged directly to the Unconsolidated 

Statement of Operations.

Certain derivative transactions, while providing 

ef fective economic hedges under the Bank’s risk 

management positions, do not qualify for hedge 

accounting under the specific rules of IAS 39 and 
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of the management, there is an indication that 

a borrower may be unable to meet payments 

as they come due, all unpaid interest is reversed. 

The amount of provision is the difference between 

the carrying amount and the recoverable amount, 

being the present value of the expected cash flows, 

including amounts recoverable from guarantees and 

collateral, discounted at the original effective interest rate.

The allowances for loan and placement losses are 

maintained at levels adequate to absorb probable 

future losses.

2.8. Investments in subsidiaries

Investments in subsidiaries representing 

a control l ing interest comprise those investments 

where the Bank, through direct and indirect 

ownership interest , has the power to govern 

the financial and operating policies of the investee.

Investments in subsidiaries are recorded 

at the cost of acquisi t ion, less al lowance for 

permanent diminution in value, when appropriate. 

2.9. Sale and repurchase 
agreements

Where debt or equity securities are sold under 

a commitment to repurchase them at a pre-determined 

price, they remain on the balance sheet and the 

consideration received is recorded in Due to Banks. 

Conversely, debt or equity securities purchased under 

a commitment to resell are not recognised in the 

balance sheet and the consideration paid is recorded 

in Placement with other Banks. Interest is accrued 

evenly over the life of the repurchase agreement.

2.10. Premises, equipment and 
intangible assets

Premises, equipment and intangible assets 

are stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation 

and amortization. The depreciable amount (book 

value less residual value) of the non-current assets 

must be allocated over them useful life. Depreciation 

and amortization are computed using the straight-

line method over the estimated useful lives of the 

assets based on the following annual percentages:

Buildings 1–2%

Machinery and equipment 8–33.3%

Leased assets 16.7–33.3%

Vehicles 15–20%

Sof tware 20–33.3%

Proper ty rights 16.7%

Depreciation and amor tization on premises, 

equipment and intangible assets commences 

on the day such assets are placed into service.

At each balance sheet date, the Bank reviews 

the carrying value of i ts tangible and intangible 

assets to determine if there is any indication that 

those assets have suf fered an impairment loss. 

I f any such indication exists, the recoverable 

amount of the asset is estimated to determine 

the extent (i f any) of the impairment loss. Where 

i t is not possible to estimate the recoverable 

amount of an individual asset, the Bank estimates 

the recoverable amount of the cash-generating 

unit to which the asset belongs. Where 

the carrying value of premises, equipment 

and other tangible f ixed assets is greater than 

the estimated recoverable amount, i t is writ ten 

down immediately to the estimated 

recoverable amount.

2.11. Leases

Assets held under f inance leases, which confer 

rights and obligations similar to those attached 

to owned assets, are capitalised at their fair value 

and depreciated over the useful lives of assets. 

The capital element of each future lease obligation 

is recorded as a liability, while the interest elements 

are charged to the Unconsolidated Statement 

of Operations over the period of the leases 

to produce a constant rate of charge 

on the balance of capital payments outstanding.

Payments made under operating leases are charged 

to the Unconsolidated Statement of Operations 
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 and letters of credit and transactions with financial 

instruments. The allowance for losses on 

commitments and contingent l iabil i t ies is 

maintained at a level adequate to absorb probable 

future losses. Management determines the 

adequacy of the al lowance based upon reviews 

of individual items, recent loss experience, current 

economic conditions, the risk characteristics 

of the various categories of transactions and 

other per tinent factors.

The Bank recognises an al lowance when i t has 

a present obl igation as a result of a past event; 

i t is probable that an out f low of resources 

embodying economic benef i ts wil l be required 

to set tle the obligation; and a rel iable estimate 

can be made of the obligation.

2.16. Share-based payments

The Bank has applied the requirements of IFRS 2 

Share-based Payment. In accordance with the 

transitional provisions, IFRS 2 has been applied to 

all grants of equity instruments after November 7, 

2002 that were unvested as of January 1, 2005.

The Bank issues equity-settled share-based 

payments to certain employees. Equity-settled 

share-based payments are measured at fair value 

at the date of grant. The fair value determined at 

the grant date of the equity-settled share-based 

payments is expensed on a straight- line basis over 

the year, based on the Bank’s estimate of shares 

that wi l l eventual ly vest .

Fair value is measured by use of a binomial model. 

The expected l i fe used in the model has been 

adjusted, based on management’s best estimate, 

for the ef fects of non-transferabil i ty, exercise 

restrictions, and behavioural considerations.

2.17. Unconsolidated statement of 
cash flows

For the purposes of repor ting cash f lows, cash 

and cash equivalents include cash, due from 

on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. When 

an operating lease is terminated before the lease period 

has expired, any payment required to be made to 

the lessor by way of penalty is recognised as an expense 

in the period in which termination takes place.

2.12. Treasury shares

Treasury shares are purchased on the stock 

exchange and the over-the-counter market by 

the Bank and are presented in the Unconsolidated 

Balance Sheet at acquisition cost as a deduction 

from shareholders’ equity. Gains and losses on 

the sale of treasury shares are credited or charged 

directly to retained earnings and reserves.

2.13. Interest income and interest 
expense

Interest income and expense are recognised 

in the unconsolidated statement of operations 

on an accrual basis .

2.14. Income taxes

The annual taxation charge is based on the tax 

payable under Hungarian fiscal law, adjusted 

for deferred taxation. Deferred taxation is accounted 

for, using the balance sheet liability method in respect 

of temporary dif ferences in the tax bases of assets 

and liabilities and their carrying value for financial 

reporting purposes, measured at the tax rates that 

are expected to apply when the asset is realised 

or the liability is settled, based on tax rates that 

have been enacted at the date of the 

Unconsolidated Balance Sheet.

2.15. Off-balance sheet 
commitments and contingent 
liabilities 

In the ordinary course of its business, the Bank 

has entered into of f-balance sheet commitments 

such as guarantees, commitments to extend credi 
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banks and balances with the National Bank 

of Hungary, excluding compulsory reserve 

establ ished by the National Bank of Hungary. 

Cash f lows from hedging activities are classif ied 

in the same category as the i tem being hedged.

2.18. Comparative figures

Certain amounts in the 2005 unconsolidated 

f inancial statements have been reclassif ied 

to conform with the current year presentation. 

2.19. Significant accounting 
estimates and decisions in the 
application of accounting policies 

(a) Impairment of loans and 
advances 

The Bank regularly assesses its loan portfolio 

for possible impairment. Management determines 

the adequacy of the allowances based upon 

reviews of individual loans and placements, recent 

loss experience, current economic conditions, 

the risk characteristics of the various categories 

of loans and other per tinent factors.

(b) Valuation of instruments 
without direct quotations 

Financial instruments without direct quotations 

in an active market are valued using the valuation 

model technique. The models are regularly reviewed 

and each model is calibrated for the most recent 

available market data. While the models are built 

only on available data, their use is subject to certain 

assumptions and estimates (eg, for correlations, 

volatilities, etc). Changes in the model assumptions 

may affect the reported market value of the relevant 

financial instruments. 

(c) Provisions

The Bank is involved in a number of ongoing 

legal disputes.  Based upon historical experience 

and exper t repor ts, the Bank assesses the 

developments in these cases, and the l ikelihood 

and the amount of potential f inancial losses which 

are appropriately provided for. (see Note 15)
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to approximately HUF 118,205 mil l ion and 

HUF 105,716 mil l ion as at December 31, 2005 

and 2004, respectively.

Based on the requirements for compulsory 

reserves set by the National Bank of Hungary, 

the balance of compulsory reserves amounted 

NOTE 3:     CASH, DUE FROM BANKS AND BALANCES WITH THE NATIONAL  
     BANK OF HUNGARY (in HUF million)

 2005 2004

Cash on hand:  

In HUF 47,122 53,122

In foreign currency  2,661  2,743

 49,783 55,865

Due from banks and balances with NBH: 

  Within one year:  

In HUF 327,299 341,940

In foreign currency  2,167  1,596

 329,466 343,536

Total 379,249 399,401

NOTE 4:     PLACEMENTS WITH OTHER BANKS AND ALLOWANCE FOR   
     PLACEMENT LOSSES (in HUF million)

 2005 2004

Within one year:  

In HUF 90,309 127,437

In foreign currency 192,258  61,339

 282,567 188,776

Over one year:  

In HUF 3,300 300

In foreign currency 107,792  11,025

 111,092  11,325

Total 393,659 200,101

Allowance for placement losses  —  (1)

Total 393,659 200,100

Placements with other banks in HUF as at 

December 31, 2005 and 2004 bear interest 

rates in the range from 5% to 7.6% and from 

9% to 12.5%, respectively.

Placements with other banks in foreign currency 

as at December 31, 2005 and 2004 bear interest 

rates in the range from 0.05% to 12% and from 

0.4% to 7%, respectively.
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at December 31, 2005. Approximately 90% 

and 10% of this por t fol io was denominated 

in USD and EUR as at December 31, 2004.

Interest rates on securities held for trading 

ranged from 3% to 12% and from 3% to 13.4% 

as at December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

Approximately 99.3% and 98.1% of the held for 

trading securities portfolio was denominated in HUF 

as at December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

Approximately 0.9% and 4.2% of the government 

bonds were denominated in foreign currency 

as at December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively. 

This por t folio was denominated in USD as 

NOTE 5:     FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH STATEMENTS 
     OF OPERATIONS (in HUF million)

  Restated 

  2005 2004

Securities held for trading  

Hungarian Government discounted Treasury bills 160 5,055

Hungarian Government interest bearing Treasury bills 1,485 2,756

Government bonds 19,743 8,538

Mortgage bonds 2,356 2,238

Other securities  199  171

 23,943 18,758

Derivative financial instruments designated as held for trading 10,111  3,301

Total 34,054 22,059

 2005 2004

Balance as at January 1 1 182

Release of provision for placement losses   (1) (181)

Balance as at December 31  —  1

An analysis of the change in the allowance for placement losses is as follows:

  Restated 

  2005 2004

Within five years:  

Variable interest 953 768

Fixed interest 19,400 11,547

 20,353 12,315

Over five years:  

Variable interest 18 141

Fixed interest  3,373  6,147

  3,391  6,288

Non interest-bearing securities  199  155

Total 23,943 18,758

Interest conditions and the remaining maturities of held for trading securities can be analysed 

as follows:
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2004, respectively. The whole government bond 

portfolio denominated in foreign currency was 

denominated in EUR as at December 31, 2005.

Interest rates on available-for-sale securities ranged 

from 1.6% to 12% and from 2.9% to 12.3% as 

at December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

Approximately 91% and 94.9% of 

the available-for-sale securities portfolio was 

denominated in HUF as at December 31, 2005 

and 2004, respectively.

92.3% and 100% of the government bonds were 

denominated in HUF as at December 31, 2005 and 

NOTE 6:     SECURITIES AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE (in HUF million)

  Restated 

  2005 2004

Government bonds 67,567 60,252

Hungarian Government discounted Treasury bills 7,858 —

Mortgage bonds 253,365 235,405

Other securities  42,643  28,473

 371,433 324,130

  Restated 

  2005 2004

Within five years:  

Variable interest 94,121 88,770

Fixed interest  94,108 110,913

 188,229 199,683

Over five years:  

Variable interest 24,600 21,044

Fixed interest 148,649  94,339

 173,249 115,383

Non interest-bearing securities  9,955  9,064

Total 371,433 324,130

NOTE 7:     LOANS AND ALLOWANCE FOR LOAN LOSSES (in HUF million)

  2005 2004

Short-term loans and trade bills (within one year) 605,390 491,209

Long-term loans and trade bills (over one year)  892,280  804,842

 1,497,670 1,296,051 

Allowance for loan losses (22,162)  (19,810)

 1,475,508 1,276,241
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below. All companies are incorporated in Hungary 

unless indicated otherwise.

Investments in subsidiaries in companies in which 

the Bank has a controlling interest are detailed 

Loans denominated in foreign currency loans 

represent approximately 41% and 34% of the loan 

portfolio, before allowance for losses, as at 

December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

Loans denominated in HUF, with a maturity within 

one year as at December 31, 2005 and 2004 bear 

interest rates in the range from 11.3% to 30% 

and from 13.8% to 32%, respectively.

Loans denominated in HUF, with a maturity over 

one year as at December 31, 2005 and 2004 

bear interest rates in the range from 4% to 22.8%.

Foreign currency loans as at December 31, 2005 

and 2004 bear interest rates in the range from 

1.1% to 16.5% and from 1.9% to 8.4%, respectively.

Approximately 2.3% and 2.5% of the gross loan 

portfolio represented loans on which interest is 

not being accrued as at December 31, 2005 

and  2004, respectively.

   2005 ¿¿ 2004

Commercial loans 902,696 60% 805,804 62%

Municipality loans 131,107 9% 116,175 9%

Housing loans 210,150 14% 169,415 13%

Consumer loans  226,153 15%  180,421 14%

Mortgage backed loans  27,564  2%  24,236  2%

 1,497,670 100% 1,296,051 100%

An analysis of the loan portfolio by type, before allowances for loan losses, is as follows:

The Bank sells non-performing loans without 

recourse at estimated fair value to a wholly owned 

subsidiary, OTP Factoring Ltd, see Note 25.

NOTE 8:     INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (in HUF million)

  2005 2004

Investments in subsidiaries:  

Controlling interest 226,453 158,521

Significant interest 75 75

Other  861  1,119

 227,389 159,715

Allowance for permanent diminution in value  (3,508)  (5,417)

 223,881 154,298

  2005 2004

Balance as at January 1 19,810 18,636

Provision for loan losses 16,436 8,809

Write-offs  (14,084)  (7,635)

Balance as at December 31  22,162 19,810

An analysis of the change in the allowance for loan losses is as follows:
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 *The name of RoBank S.A. changed to OTP Bank Romania S. A. in the third quarter of 2005.

**The name of Nova banka d.d. changed to OTP banka Hrvatska in the third quarter of 2005.

An analysis of the change in the allowance for permanent diminution in value is as follows:

  2005 2004

Balance as at January 1 5,417 5,670

Release of provision for permanent diminution in value (1,909) (253)

Balance as at December 31  3,508 5,417

 

 

OTP Garancia Insurance Ltd. 100.00% 7,472 100.00% 7,472

OTP Real Estate Ltd. 100.00% 1,228 100.00% 1,228

OTP Real Estate Management Ltd. — — 100.00% 750

Merkantil Bank Ltd. 100.00% 1,600 100.00% 1,600

OTP Building Society Ltd. 100.00% 1,950 100.00% 1,950

HIF Ltd. (United Kingdom) 100.00% 1,132 100.00% 1,132

Bank Center No. 1. Ltd. 100.00% 9,364 100.00% 9,364

OTP Factoring Ltd. 100.00% 150 100.00% 150

INGA One Ltd. 100.00% 375 100.00% 407

INGA Two Ltd. 100.00% 5,892 100.00% 5,892

OTP Fund Servicies and Consulting Ltd. 100.00% 1,372 100.00% 1,372

OTP Fund Management Ltd. 100.00% 1,653 100.00% 1,653

OTP Mortgage Bank Ltd. 100.00% 20,000 100.00% 20,000

AIR-Invest Ltd. 100.00% 3,674 100.00% 3,524

DSK Bank EAD (Bulgaria) 100.00% 79,162 100.00% 79,162

OTP Banka Slovensko, a.s. (Slovakia) 97.23% 10,037 97.23% 10,037

OTP Bank Romania S. A. (Romania)* 100.00% 19,746 100.00% 12,273

OTP banka Hrvatska (Croatia)** 100.00% 59,941 — —

OTP Card Factory Ltd. 100.00% 450 100.00% 450

OTP Life Annuity Ltd. 100.00% 500 — —

IOLO OWEN & Co. Limited 99.25% 400 — —

OTP SCD Lease Ltd. 75.00% 210 — —

Other  —  145 —  105

Total   226,453  158,521

Held 

(direct and

indirect)

 Cost

Held 

(direct and

indirect)

 Cost

2005 2004
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to 10% as at December 31, 2005 and 2004, 

respectively. Interest on f ixed rate and variable 

rate securi t ies is , in most cases, paid 

semi -annually.

The fair value of held-to-maturity investments 

was HUF 533,791 million and HUF 508,581 million 

as at December 31, 2005 and 2004, 

respectively.

Approximately 99.6% of the debt securities 

portfolio was denominated in HUF as at December 

31, 2005 and 2004, respectively. In most cases, 

interest on variable rate securities is based on the 

interest rates of 90 day Hungarian Government 

Treasury bills and is adjusted semi-annually. 

Interest rates on fixed interest securities denominated 

in HUF ranged from 5.5% to 10% and from 6.3% 

NOTE 9:     HELD-TO-MATURITY INVESTMENTS (in HUF million)

  2005 2004

Government securities 201,380 210,891

Hungarian Government discounted Treasury bills 29,962 6,125

Mortgage bonds 289,755 289,787

Other debt securities  700  700

 521,797 507,503

Interest conditions and the remaining maturities of held-to-maturity investments can be 

analysed as follows:

  2005 2004

Within five years:  

Variable interest 50,037 66,778

Fixed interest 345,850 283,114

 395,887 349,892

Over five years:  

Variable interest 37,294 40,642

Fixed interest  88,616 116,969

 125,910 157,611

Total 521,797 507,503
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NOTE 10:     PREMISES, EQUIPMENT AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS (in HUF million)

 Intangible Land and Machinery,  Construction

 assets buildings and equipment in progress Total

Cost     

Balance as at January 1, 2005 38,501 52,778 56,574 10,127 157,980

Net additions 17,887 5,412 7,608 — 30,907

Net disposals (2,823) (515) (3,711) (3,713) (10,762)

Balance as at December 31, 2005 53,565 57,675 60,471 6,414 178,125

Depreciation and amortization     

Balance as at January 1, 2005 18,534 7,501 35,407 — 61,442

Net additions 6,974 1,227 7,053 — 15,254

Net disposals (340) (172) (3,628) — (4,140)

Balance as at December 31, 2005 25,168 8,556 38,832 — 72,556

Net book value     

Balance as at January 1, 2005 19,967 45,277 21,167 10,127 96,538

Balance as at December 31, 2005 28,397 49,119 21,639 6,414 105,569

For the year ended December 31, 2005:

For the year ended December 31, 2004:

 Intangible Land and Machinery,  Construction

 assets buildings and equipment in progress Total

Cost     

Balance as at January 1, 2004 30,666 49,366 62,452 4,386 146,870

Net additions 10,285 4,198 15,494 5,741 35,718

Net disposals (2,450) (786) (21,372) — (24,608)

Balance as at December 31, 2004 38,501 52,778 56,574 10,127 157,980

Depreciation and amortization     

Balance as at January 1, 2004 14,830 6,369 39,271 — 60,470

Net additions 4,888 1,263 7,352 — 13,503

Net disposals (1,184) (131) (11,216) — (12,531)

Balance as at  December 31, 2004 18,534 7,501 35,407 — 61,442

Net book value     

Balance as at January 1, 2004 15,836 42,997 23,181 4,386 86,400

Balance as at December 31, 2004 19,967 45,277 21,167 10,127 96,538
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NOTE 11:     OTHER ASSETS (in HUF million)

  Restated 

  2005 2004

Receivables due to collection of Hungarian Government securities — 33

Property held for sale 4 205

Due from Government for interest subsidies 3,736 5,619

Trade receivables 4,194 2,621

Advances for securities and investments 509 495

Taxes recoverable 37 2

Inventories 481 784

Other advances 2,289 638

Credits sold under deferred payment scheme 280 176

Receivables from OTP Mortgage Bank Ltd. 25,778 13,216

Receivables from investing services 1,231 203

Prepayments and accrued income 5,342 5,749

Fair value of derivative financial instruments 

designated as hedge accounting relationships 35 812

Other 3,433 3,371

 47,349 33,924 

Allowance for losses on other assets (902) (899)

 46,447 33,025

An analysis of the change in the allowance for losses on other assets is as follows:

 2005 2004

Balance as at January 1 899 2,213

Provision/(credit) for possible losses 46 (1,314)

Provision reversal (43) —

Balance as at December 31 902 899  

NOTE 12:     DUE TO BANKS AND DEPOSITS FROM THE NATIONAL BANK 
     OF HUNGARY AND OTHER BANKS (in HUF million)

   2005 2004

Within one year:

 In HUF  11,138 22,334

 In foreign currency  86,198 86,356

   97,336 108,690

Over one year:

 In HUF  20,350 8,491

 In foreign currency  137,525 86,596

   157,875 95,087

Total  255,211 203,777
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Due to banks and deposits from the National Bank 

of Hungary and other banks payable in foreign 

currency within one year as at December 31, 2005 

and 2004, bear interest rates in the range from 

0.5% to 4.55% and from 0.5% to 4.9%, respectively.

Due to banks and deposits from the National Bank 

of Hungary and other banks payable in foreign 

currency over one year as at December 31, 2005 

and 2004, bear interest rates in the range form 

0.7% to 6.1% and from 0.5% to 5%, respectively.

Due to banks and deposits from the National 

Bank of Hungary and other banks payable in HUF 

within one year as at December 31, 2005 and 

2004, bear interest rates in the range from 4.9% 

to 5.3% and from 8.9% to 12%, respectively.

Due to banks and deposits from the National 

Bank of Hungary and other banks payable in HUF 

over one year as at December 31, 2005 and 

2004, bear interest rates in the range from 3.1% 

to 4.5% and from 3% to 9.5%, respectively.

NOTE 13:     DEPOSITS FROM CUSTOMERS (in HUF million)

   2005 2004

Within one year:

 In HUF  2,190,095 2,050,048

 In foreign currency  298,767 269,900

   2,488,862 2,319,948

Over one year:

 In HUF  17,595 20,976

   17,595 20,976

Total  2,506,457 2,340,924 

bear interest rates in the range from 1% to 4.5% 

and from 4.3% to 6.5%, respectively.

Deposits from customers payable in foreign 

currency as at December 31, 2005 and 2004, 

bear interest rates in the range from 0.1% to 4.8% 

and from 0.1% to 5%, respectively.

Deposits from customers payable in HUF within 

one year as at December 31, 2005 and 2004, 

bear interest rates in the range from 0.2% to 6% 

and from 0.5% to 9.9%, respectively.

Deposits from customers payable in HUF over 

one year as at December 31, 2005 and 2004, 

An analysis of deposits from customers by type is as follows:

 2005  2004

Commercial deposits 474,052 19% 431,921 19%

Municipality deposits 161,993 6% 170,431 7%

Consumer deposits 1,870,412 75% 1,738,572 74%

 2,506,457 100% 2,340,924 100%
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Liabil i t ies from issued securities denominated 

in HUF bear interest rates in the range from 

0.3% to 1% and from 2% to 7.5% as at 

December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

Liabi l i t ies from issued securi t ies denominated 

in foreign currency bear interest rates in the range 

from 0.3% to 2.6% as at December 31, 2005 

and 2004, respectively.

The Bank issued EUR 500 mil l ion variable - rate 

bonds at three month EURIBOR + 0.16% 

quar terly, on July 1, 2005 due 1, July 2010 

and EUR 300 mil l ion variable - rate bonds 

at three month EURIBOR + 0.15% quar terly, 

on December 20, 2005 due December 20, 2010, 

at a price of 99.81%.

NOTE 14:     LIABILITIES FROM ISSUED SECURITIES (in HUF million) 

 2005 2004

With original maturity:

Within one year  355 1,997

Over one year  201,912 — 

  202,267 1,997

NOTE 15:     OTHER LIABILITIES (in HUF million)

  Restated 

 2005 2004

Taxes payable 6,221 4,992

Deferred tax liabilities 2,793 1,761

Giro clearing accounts 18,361 7,603

Accounts payable 8,268 10,799

Salaries and social security payable 8,092 8,038

Liabilities from security trading 9,307 17,040

Allowances for losses on off-balance sheet commitments 

contingent liabilities 7,882 9,866

Margin account balance — 87

Dividends payable 581 617

Accrued expenses 6,444 10,242

Suspense accounts 1,998 846

Loans for collection 1,860 2,005

Advancement of Government grants for housing purposes 5,427 —

Fair value of derivative financial instruments designated 

 as hedge accounting relationships 722 400

Fair value of derivative financial instruments designated

 as held for trading 8,757 1,178

Liabilities from trading activities (repurchase agreement) 5,785 12,523

Other 10,383 6,990

 102,881 94,987
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against the constructors for any claims. 

The recovery of such claims is, however, dependent 

upon the f inancial status of the constructors, 

which is impaired in cer tain cases. An allowance 

has been recorded to account for the estimated 

possible future losses due to housing warranties. 

The al lowance for housing warranties were 

reversed unti l December 31, 2004 in l ine with 

the expenses related to housing warranties. 

The allowance for losses on other off-balance sheet 

commitments and contingent liabilities primarily 

relates to commitments stemming from guarantees 

and credit l ines issued by the Bank.

As par t of i ts operations, unti l 1991, the Bank 

f inanced and constructed residential 

accommodations for resale on which it was 

required to provide a ten year guarantee against 

defective workmanship. The Bank has recourse 

NOTE 16:     SUBORDINATED BONDS AND LOANS

in Hungarian Government bonds with similar 

interest conditions and maturi ty.

In December 1996, the Bank obtained a USD 30 million 

and DEM 31.14 million (15.92 million in EUR) 

subordinated loan from the European Bank for 

Reconstruction and Development with the original 

maturity of December 27, 2006. The maturity date 

was modified to August 27, 2008 on August 22, 

2003. The loan is unsecured, subordinate to the 

other liabilities and has a twelve-year maturity, with 

interest payable at six-month LIBOR + 1.4% from 

December 27, 1996 unti l December 29, 1997, 

at six-month LIBOR + 1.0% from December 29, 

1997 until June 28, 1999, at six-month LIBOR + 1.7% 

from June 28, 1999 until December 27, 2003 

In 1993, the Bank issued HUF 5 bill ion in bonds, 

which are subordinated to the other liabilities of 

the Bank and subscribed by the Hungarian Ministry 

of Finance. Interest on subordinated bonds and 

the frequency of payment of interests are based on 

condition of interest of 2013/C credit consolidated 

government bonds, which is a variable-rate bond, 

the interest payable and the rate of interest 

are fixed twice a year. The semi-annual interest 

payable was 4.36% as at December 20, 2002, 

3.25% as at June 20, 2003, 4.8% as at December 

20, 2003, 4.88% as at June 20, 2004, 6.05% 

as at December 20, 2004, 5.46% as at June 20, 

2005, and 3.08% as at December 20, 2005. 

The original maturity was 20 years. The proceeds 

of the subordinated bonds were invested 

The allowances for losses on off-balance sheet commitments and contingent liabilities are 

detailed as follows:

 2005 2004

Allowance for litigation 1,453 1,414

Allowance for other off-balance sheet commitments. contingent liabilities 6,429 7,588

Other allowances for expected liabilities – 864

 7,882 9,866

Movements in the allowance for possible losses on commitments and contingent liabilities 

can be summarized as follows:

 2005 2004

Balance as at January 1 9,866 9,041

(Credit)/allowance for off-balance sheet

 commitments and contingent liabilities, net (1,984) 901

Release of allowance for housing warranties  — (76)

Balance as at December 31 7,882 9,866
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and at six-month LIBOR + 1.35% from 

December 28, 2003 unti l August 27, 2008.

On March 4, 2005, the Bank issued EUR 125 million 

in bonds, which are subordinated to the other 

l iabi l i t ies of the Bank. Interest on subordinated 

bonds is variable and payable at three -month 

EURIBOR + 0.55% quar terly. 

The original maturity of the bonds is 10 years.

NOTE 17:     SHARE CAPITAL (in HUF million)

outstanding with a nominal value of HUF 1 thousand 

(see Note 1.1.).

From September 3, 1997, the Bank has one 

preferential voting share (the “Special Share”) 

 2005 2004

Authorized, issued and fully paid:  

 Common shares  28,000 28,000

 28,000 28,000

NOTE 18:     RETAINED EARNINGS AND RESERVES (in HUF million)

  Restated 

 2005 2004

Balance as at January 1 374,860 262,504

Net income after income taxes 132,848 113,477

Fair value adjustment of available-for-sale securities 

 recognised through equity 4,626 11,371

Share-based compensation 7,497 2,348

Profit on sale of Treasury Shares 7,426 1,960

Dividend (41,206) (16,800)

Balance as at December 31 486,051 374,860

Dividends of HUF 41,206 million for the year ended 

December 31, 2004 were proposed and approved 

by the Annual General Meeting on April 29, 2005. 

Dividends for the year ended December 31, 

2005 wil l be approved by the Annual General 

Meeting in Apri l , 2006. The proposed dividend 

is HUF 55,160 mil l ion.

The Bank ’s reserves under Hungarian Accounting 

Standards were HUF 310,215 mil l ion and 

HUF 243,848 mil l ion as at December 31, 2005 

and 2004, respectively. Of these amounts, legal 

reserves represent HUF 107,619 mil l ion and 

HUF 66,395 mil l ion as at December 31, 2005 

and 2004, respectively. The legal reserves are 

not avai lable for distr ibution.
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The Bank is presently liable for income tax at a rate of 16% of tax base.

NOTE 19:     TREASURY SHARES (in HUF million)

 2005 2004

Nominal value 1,005 1,010

Carrying value at acquisition cost 40,752 13,808

NOTE 20:     OTHER EXPENSES (in HUF million)

  Restated 

 2005 2004

Release of provision for permanent diminution 

 in value of investments in subsidiaries (1,909) (253)

Provision/(release of provision) for other assets 46 (1,314)

(Release of provision)/provision for possible losses 

 on off-balance sheet commitments. contingent liabilities (1,984) 901

Administration expenses. including rent 20,265 19,002

Advertising 4,028 3,810

Taxes. other than income tax 23,068 11,493

Services 15,811 16,099

Professional fees 2,686 2,278

Other  1,290 6,990

 63,301 59,006

NOTE 21:     INCOME TAXES (in HUF million)

  Restated 

 2005 2004

Current tax 22,804 18,728

Deferred tax  150 154

 22,954 18,882
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A reconciliation of the deferred tax asset/(liability) is as follows:

  Restated 

 2005 2004

Balance as at January 1 (1,761) 559

Deferred tax charge (150) (154)

Tax effect of fair value adjustment of available-for-sale 

 securities recognised through equity (882) (2,166)

Balance as at December 31 (2,793) (1,761)

A reconciliation of the income tax charge is as follows:

  Restated 

 2005 2004

Net income before income taxes 155,802 132,359

Income tax with statutory tax rate (16%) 24,928 21,177

  

Income tax adjustments are as follows:

  

Reversal of statutory general provision (651) (722)

Reversal of statutory goodwill and negative goodwill (1,318) (1,226)

Revaluation of investments denominated in foreign currency 

 to historical cost 305 (346)

Profit on sale of Treasury Shares 1,188 314

Fair value of share-based compensations (IFRS 2) 1,200 376

Dividend income (2,230) (1,360)

Other (468) 669

Income tax 22,954 18,882 

Effective tax rate 14.7% 14.3%

The breakdown of the deferred tax asset/(liability) is as follows:

  Restated 

 2005 2004

Premium and discount amortization on investment securities 68 115

Provision for possible losses on off-balance sheet 

 commitments and contingent liabilities  5 5

Difference in accounting for finance leases 158 60

Fair value adjustment of derivative financial instruments 90 

Repurchase agreement — 4

Deferred tax asset 321 184

  

Fair value adjustment of held for trading 

 and available-for-sale financial assets/securities (2,629) (1,611)

Fair value adjustment of derivative financial instruments — (37)

Repurchase agreement (4) —

Difference in depreciation and amortization of fixed assets (481) (297)

Deferred tax liabilities (3,114) (1,945)

Net deferred tax liabilities (2,793) (1,761)
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NOTE 22:     FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

and potential borrowers to meet interest 

and capi tal repayment obl igations and 

by changing these lending l imits where 

appropriate. Exposure to credit r isk is also 

managed in par t by obtaining col lateral 

and corporate and personal guarantees.

Market risk

The Bank takes on exposure to market risks. 

Market risks arise from open positions in interest 

rate, currency and equity products, all of which 

are exposed to general and specif ic market 

movements. The Bank applies a ‘Value at Risk ’ 

methodology to estimate the market risk 

of positions held and the maximum losses expected, 

based upon a number of assumptions for various 

changes in market conditions. The Management 

Board sets limits on the value of risk that may 

be accepted, which is monitored on a daily basis.

Liquidity risk

See Note 29.

Foreign currency risk

See Note 30.

Interest rate risk 

See Note 31.

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise 

to the right to receive cash or another financial asset 

from another party (financial asset) or the obligation 

to deliver cash or another financial asset to another 

party (financial liability).

Financial instruments may result in cer tain risks 

to the Bank. The most signif icant risks the Bank 

faces include:

Credit risk

The Bank takes on exposure to credit risk which 

is the risk that a counter-party will be unable to 

pay the whole amount in full when due. The Bank 

structures the levels of credit risk it undertakes 

by placing limits on the amount of risk accepted 

in relation to one borrower, or Banks of borrowers, 

and to geographical and industry segments. 

Such risks are monitored on a revolving basis 

and subject to an annual or more frequent review. 

The exposure to any one borrower including banks 

and brokers is fur ther restricted by sub- l imits 

covering on and of f-balance sheet exposures 

and daily delivery risk limits in relation to trading 

items such as forward foreign exchange contracts. 

Actual exposures against limits are monitored daily. 

Exposure to credit r isk is managed through 

regular analysis of the abi l i ty of borrowers 

NOTE 23:     OFF-BALANCE SHEET ITEMS AND DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL   
     INSTRUMENTS (in HUF million)

instruments . The fol lowing represent 

notional amounts of these of f-balance sheet 

f inancial instruments, unless stated 

otherwise.

In the normal course of business, the Bank 

par ticipates in various f inancial transactions 

that are not ref lected on the balance sheet 

and are referred to as of f-balance sheet f inancial 
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monitoring and credit policies as utilised in the 

extension of loans. The management of the Bank 

believes the market risk associated with guarantees, 

irrevocable letters of credit and undrawn loans 

commitments to be minimal.

Legal disputes

At the balance sheet date the Bank was involved 

in various claims and legal proceedings 

of a nature considered normal to i ts business. 

The level of these claims and legal proceedings 

correspond to the level of claims and legal 

proceedings in previous years. 

The Bank believes that the various asserted claims 

and l i t igations in which i t is involved wil l not 

material ly af fect i ts f inancial posi t ion, future 

operating results or cash f lows, al though 

no assurance can be given with respect to the 

ultimate outcome of any such claim or litigation. 

Provis ion due to legal disputes were 

HUF 1,453 million and HUF 1,414 million as 

at December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

Contingent liabilities related 

to OTP Mortgage Bank Ltd.

Under a syndicate agreement with i ts 

fully owned subsidiary, OTP Mortgage Bank Ltd., 

the Bank guarantees, in return for an annual fee, 

to purchase al l mor tgage loans held 

by OTP Mor tgage Bank Ltd. that become 

Commitments to extend credit, from 

guarantees and letters of credit

The primary purpose of these instruments is 

to ensure that funds are available to a customer 

as required. Guarantees and standby letters of credit, 

which represent irrevocable assurances that the 

Bank wil l make payments in the event that 

a customer cannot meet i ts obligations to third 

par ties, carry the same credit r isk as loans. 

Documentary and commercial letters of credit, which 

are writ ten undertakings by the Bank on behalf 

of a customer authorising a third party to draw drafts 

on the Bank up to a stipulated amount under specific 

terms and conditions, are collateralised by the 

underlying shipments of goods to which they relate 

and therefore carry less risk than a direct borrowing. 

Commitments to extend credit represent unused 

portions of authorisations to extend credit in the form 

of loans, guarantees or letters of credit. With respect 

to credit risk on commitments to extend credit, 

the Bank is potentially exposed to loss in an amount 

equal to the total unused commitments. However, 

the likely amount of loss is less than the total unused 

commitments since most commitments to extend 

credit are contingent upon customers maintaining 

specif ic credit standards.

Guarantees, irrevocable letters of credit and undrawn 

loan commitments are subject to similar credit risk 

(a) Contingent liabilities and commitments
 2005 2004

Commitments to extend credit 566,647 446,702

Guarantees arising from banking activities 132,369 92,780

Confirmed letters of credit 10,540 2,480

Legal disputes 3,410 2,127

Contingent liabilities related to OTP Mortgage Bank Ltd, 49,452 38,783

Other 164 102

 762,582 582,974
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Provis ion due to recourse agreements 

were HUF 4,945 million and HUF 3,878 million 

as at December 31, 2005 and 2004, 

respectively.

non-per forming. OTP Mortgage Bank Ltd. 

almost uti l ises credit r isk monitoring and credit 

policies for the granting of loans similar 

to those used by the Bank.

(b) Derivatives (nominal amount, unless otherwise stated)

 2005 2004

Foreign currency contracts designated as held for trading 

 Assets 39,329 32,604

 Liabilities 40,570 35,320

 Net value (1,241) (2,716)

 Net fair value  (856) (911)

   

Foreign exchange swaps and interest rate swaps 

designated as held for trading  

 Assets 612,543 207,207

 Liabilities 601,539 196,856

 Net value 11,004 10,351

 Net fair value  2,210 3,035

   

Interest rate swaps designated in hedge accounting relationships  

 Assets 12,031 27,873

 Liabilities 14,023 21,672

 Net value (1,992) 6,201

 Net fair value   (687) 411

  

Option contracts  

 Assets — 2,205

 Liabilities — —

 Net value — 2,205

 Net fair value  — —

  

Other options  

 Assets — 6,834

 Liabilities — —

 Net value — 6,834

 Net fair value  — —
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The Bank maintains strict control limits on net open 

derivative positions, i.e. the difference between 

purchase and sale contracts, by both amount and 

term. At any time the amount subject to credit risk is 

limited to the current fair value of instruments that are 

favourable to the Bank (i.e. assets), which in relation 

to derivatives is only a small fraction of the contract 

or notional values used to express the volume of 

instruments outstanding. This credit risk exposure is 

managed as part of the overall lending limits referring 

to customers, together with potential exposures from 

market movements. Collateral or other security is not 

usually obtained for credit risk exposures on these 

instruments, except of trading with clients, where the 

Bank in most of the cases requires margin deposits.

As at December 31, 2005, the Bank has derivative 

instruments with positive fair values of HUF 10,146 million 

and negative fair values of HUF 9,479 million. 

Positive fair values of derivative instruments 

designated as hedge accounting relationships are 

included in other assets, while positive fair values of 

derivative instruments designated as held for trading 

are included in financial assets at fair value through 

statements of operations. Negative fair values of 

derivative instruments are included in other liabilities. 

Corresponding figures as at December 31, 2004 

are HUF 4,113 million and HUF 1,578 million. 

Foreign currency contracts

Foreign currency contracts are agreements 

to exchange specif ic amounts of currencies 

at a specif ied rate of exchange, at a spot date 

(settlement occurs two days after the trade date) 

or at a forward date (settlement occurs more than 

two days after the trade date). The notional amount 

of these contracts does not represent the actual 

market or credit risk associated with these contracts.  

Foreign currency contracts are used by the Bank for 

risk management and trading purposes.  The Bank’s 

risk management foreign currency contracts were 

used to hedge against exchange rate fluctuations 

on loans and advances to credit insti tutions 

denominated in foreign currency.

Foreign exchange swaps and interest 

rate swaps

The Bank enters into foreign-exchange swap 

and interest rate swap transactions. The swap 

transaction is a complex agreement concerning 

to the swap of cer tain f inancial instruments, 

which usually consist of a prompt and one 

or more futures contracts.

Interest rate swaps obligate two parties to exchange 

one or more payments calculated with reference 

to fixed or periodically reset rates of interest applied 

to a specific notional principal amount. Notional 

principal is the amount upon which interest rates 

are applied to determine the payment streams 

under interest rate swaps.

Such notional principal amounts often are used to 

express the volume of these transactions but are 

not actually exchanged between the counter-parties. 

The Bank’s interest rate swaps were used for 

management of interest rate exposures and have 

been accounted for at mark-to-market fair value.

Forward rate agreements

A forward rate agreement is an agreement to settle 

amounts at a speci f ied future date based 

on the dif ference between an interest rate index 

and an agreed upon fixed rate. Market risk arises 

from changes in the market value of contractual 

positions caused by movements in interest rates. 

The Bank limits its exposure to market risk by 

entering into generally matching or offsetting 

positions and by establishing and monitoring limits 

on unmatched positions. Credit risk is managed 

through approval procedures that establish specific 

limits for individual counter-parties. The Bank’s 

forward rate agreements were transacted for 

management of interest rate exposures and have 

been accounted for at mark-to-market fair value.

For an analysis of the provision for possible losses 

on off-balance sheet commitments and contingent 

l iabil i t ies, see Note 15.
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NOTE 24:     SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION

The exercise prices of the options for each year  

or the years 2005 to 2009 is equal to the average 

market price of OTP shares in the two month period 

ending on the last day of the month of the Annual 

General Meeting.

The exercise period of the share options granted 

for the years of 2003 and 2004 is one year 

and for the f ive year share option program 

for the years 2005 to 2009 is two years. 

The exercise period of the option program 

for the years 2005 to 2009 must be opened 

after the actual year but not later than August 31. 

I f the options remain unexercised before 

the end of the exercise period, such options 

expire. Additionally, options are for feited if the 

employee leaves the Bank before the options vest.

The 2000 Annual General Meeting approved a five 

year share option and bonus program for the years 

2000 to 2004 granting options and bonus shares on 

an annual basis. For the options for the years 2003 

and 2004, the grant date is December 31, 2002.

The exercise price of the share options related to 

the years 2003 and 2004 is equal to half of the 

average market price of OTP shares of the month 

before the Annual General Meeting.

The 2005 Annual General Meeting approved a five 

year share option program for the years 2005 to 

2009 under which options are granted annually. 

Such options are subject to IFRS 2 and have a grant 

date of April 29, 2005. The maximum number of 

shares which are available is 2.92 million in a year.

 For the year ended December 31, 2004 For the year ended December 31, 2005

 Options Weighted average Options Weighted average

 (piece of shares) exercise price (in HUF) (piece of shares) exercise price  (in HUF)

Outstanding at beginning of period 3,599,930 2,548 3,575,930 2,552

Granted during the period — — 4,251,500 5,446

Forfeited during the period — — 30,000 3,107

Exercised during the period 24,000 1,980 4,451,230 2,661

Outstanding at the end of the period 3,575,930 2,552 3,346,200 6,079

Exercisable at the end of the period 1,761,930 1,980 446,200 3,107

The options outstanding at December 31, 

2005 had a weighted average exercise price 

of HUF 6,079 with a weighted average remaining 

contractual life of 18 months.

The weighted average share price at the date of 

exercise for share options of the year of 2003 and 

2004 exercised during the year ended December 

31, 2005 was HUF 6,116 and 7,333, respectively. 
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Expected volati l i ty was determined by calculating 

the historical volati l i ty of the Bank ’s share price 

three months prior to the grant date. 

The expected l i fe used in the model has been 

adjusted, based on management’s best estimate, 

for the ef fects of non-transferabil i ty, exercise 

restrictions, and behavioural considerations. 

In connection with the share -based compensation 

programs approved by the Bank and applying 

IFRS 2, HUF 7,497 mil l ion and HUF 2,348 mil l ion 

has been recognised as an expense 

for the years ended December 31, 2005 

and 2004, respectively.

NOTE 25:     RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Transactions with related parties, 

other than increases in share capital, 

are summarized below:

During the year ended December 31, 2005 and 2004 

the Bank sold, without recourse, non-performing loans 

and the related accrued interest receivable to OTP 

Factoring for HUF 7,776 million and HUF 4,132 million, 

respectively. The gross book value of such credits was 

HUF 21,063 million and HUF 11,224 million, 

respectively, with a corresponding allowance for loan 

losses of HUF 5,196 million and HUF 2,345 million, 

respectively. The underlying mortgage rights were also 

transferred to OTP Factoring. Losses related to such 

transactions are recorded in the unconsolidated 

financial statements, among for loans and placement 

losses, which were HUF 8,091 million and 

HUF 4,747 million, respectively.

Commissions received by the Bank from OTP 

Building Society in relation to f inalised customer 

contracts were HUF 1,349 mil l ion and 

HUF 1,085 mil l ion for the years ended 

December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

Insurance premiums paid by the Bank to 

OTP Garancia Insurance were HUF 2,039 million 

and HUF 1,209 mil l ion for the years ended 

December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

Commissions received by the Bank from 

OTP Fund Management in relation to custody 

activity were HUF 557 million and HUF 337 million, 

in relation to trading activity were HUF 4,996 million 

and HUF 2,505 mil l ion for the years ended 

December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

Commissions paid by the Bank to OTP Real Estate 

in relation to its activity were HUF 2,968 million 

and HUF 2,913 mil l ion for the years ended 

December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

The Bank under a syndication agreement 

administrated mor tgage loans with recourse 

to OTP Mortgage Bank Ltd. of HUF 146,323 million 

and 213,954 mil l ion during the years ended 

December 31, 2005 and 2004 (including interest). 

The book value of these receivables were 

HUF 146,118 million and HUF 213,517 million 

The inputs into the Binominal model are as follows: 

 2003 2004 2005

Weighted average share price (HUF) 2,210 2,210 6,060

Weighted average exercise price (HUF) 1,211 1,264 6,536

Expected volatility (%) 25 30 35

Expected life (average year) 2.42 3.42 3.34

Risk free rate (%) 7.30 7.17 7.46

Expected dividends (%) 1.24 1.24 2.41
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as of December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

During the year ended December 31, 2005 the Bank 

received HUF 51,697 million in fees and commissions 

from OTP Mortgage Bank Company Ltd. For the year 

ended December 31, 2004 such fees and commissions 

were HUF 37,386 million. Such fees and commissions 

are related to services provided to OTP Mortgage Bank 

Ltd. under the syndication agreement.

In the normal course of business, the Bank enters into 

other transactions with its subsidiaries, the amounts 

and volumes of which are not significant to these 

unconsolidated financial statements taken as a whole.

The members of the Board of Directors and the 

Supervisory Board have credit lines of HUF 188 million 

and HUF 184 mil l ion as at December 31, 2005 

NOTE 26:     CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (in HUF million)

NOTE 27:     TRUST ACTIVITIES

or l iabi l i t ies of the Bank, they have been 

excluded from the accompanying Unconsolidated 

Balance Sheet. The total amount of such loans 

managed by the Bank as a trustee amounted 

to HUF 46,825 mil l ion and HUF 47,301 mil l ion 

as at December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

The Bank acts as a trustee for cer tain loans 

granted by companies or employers to their 

employees, mainly for housing purposes. 

The ul t imate r isk for these loans rests with 

the par ty advancing the funds. As these loans 

and related funds are not considered to be assets 

and 2004, respectively. Such credit is made 

avai lable at normal market condit ions.

In the normal course of business, the Bank gives 

loans and provides services to other related parties 

at normal market conditions. The amount of these 

loans was HUF 283 million and HUF 294 million, 

with commitments to extend credit and guarantees 

of HUF 112 million and HUF 126 million as at 

December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

The compensation of key management, 

such as the members of the Board of Directors, 

the members of the Supervisory Board 

and the employees involved in the decision-

making process according 

to the compensation categories def ined 

in IAS 24, is summarised below:

  2005 2004

Short-term employee benefits  4,956 6,376

Share-based compensations  4,517 1,113

  9,473 7,489

 2005 2004

Cash, due from banks and balances with the NBH 379,249 399,401

Compulsory reserve established by the NBH (118,205) (105,716)

 261,044 293,685
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NOTE 29:     MATURITY ANALYSIS OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 
     AND LIQUIDITY RISK (in HUF million)

and shareholders’ equity into relevant maturi ty 

groupings based on the remaining period 

from the balance sheet date to the contractual 

maturi ty date. I t is presented under the most 

prudent consideration of maturi ty dates where 

options or repayment schedules al low for early 

repayment possibi l i t ies .

Liquidity risk is a measure of the extent to which 

the Bank may be required to raise funds to meet 

its commitments associated with financial 

instruments. The Bank maintains its liquidity 

profiles in accordance with regulations laid down 

by the National Bank of Hungary. The following 

tables provide an analysis of assets, liabilities 

NOTE 28:     CONCENTRATION OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

assets consisted of securities issued by the 

OTP Mortgage Bank Ltd. as at December 31, 2005 

and 2004, respectively. There were no other 

signif icant concentrations of the Bank ’s 

assets or l iabi l i t ies as at December 31, 2005 

and 2004, respectively.

Approximately 18% and 21% of the Bank ’s total 

assets consisted of receivables from, or securities 

issued by, the Hungarian Government 

or the National Bank of Hungary as 

at December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively. 

Approximately 15% and 17% of the Bank ’s total 



145Non-consolidated IFRS financial statements

As at December 31, 2005

 Within 3 Within one year Within 5 years  Over 5 years Total 

 months and over 3 months and over one year 

Cash, due from banks and balances with 

 the National Bank of Hungary 379,249 — — — 379,249

Placements with other banks

 net of allowance for placement losses 261,575 20,992 111,092 — 393,659

Financial assets at fair value through 

 statement of operations  2,354 4,861 21,932 4,907 34,054

Securities available-for-sale 28,883 37,380 121,966 183,204 371,433

Loans. net of allowance for loan losses 160,934 432,322 501,097 381,155 1,475,508

Accrued interest receivable 41,237 39 — — 41,276

Investments in subsidiaries — — — 223,881 223,881

Securities held-to-maturity 28,639 66,117 301,131 125,910 521,797

Premises, equipment and intangible assets, net — — 77,685 27,884 105,569

Other assets 40,321 6,086 22 18 46,447

Total assets 943,192 567,797 1,134,925 946,959 3,592,873

Due to banks and deposits from the 

 National Bank of Hungary and other banks 95,058 2,278 128,963 28,912 255,211

Deposits from customers 2,373,083 115,779 17,595 — 2,506,457

Liabilities from issued securities 355 — 201,912, — 202,267

Accrued interest payable 5,735 — — — 5,735

Other liabilities 84,339 8,515 7,419 2,608, 102,881

Subordinated bonds and loans — — 10,431 36,592 47,023

Total liabilities 2,558,570 126,572 366,320 68,112 3,119,574

Share capital — — — 28,000 28,000

Retained earnings and reserves — — — 486,051 486,051

Treasury shares (200) (2,597) (37,955) — (40,752)

Total shareholders’ equity (200) (2,597) (37,955) 514,051 473,299

Total liabilities 

 and shareholders’ equity 2,558,370 123,975 328,365 582,163 3,592,873

Liquidity (deficiency)/excess (1,615,178) 443,822 806,560 364,796 –
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As at December 31, 2004 (Restated)

 Within 3 Within one year Within 5 years  Over 5 years Total 

 months and over 3 months and over one year 

Cash, due from banks and balances with 

 the National Bank of Hungary 399,401 — — — 399,401

Placements with other banks, net of allowance 

 for placement losses 171,652 17,123 11,013 312 200,100

Financial assets at fair value through statement 

 of operations 5,828 8,518 1,278 6,435 22,059

Securities available-for-sale — 5,866 193,817 124,447 324,130

Loans. net of allowance for loan losses 207,259 274,298 568,366 226,318 1,276,241

Accrued interest receivable 41,176 4 — — 41,180

Investments in subsidiaries — — — 154,298 154,298

Securities held-to-maturity 1,334 61,614 286,944 157,611 507,503

Premises, equipment and intangible assets, net — — 42,941 53,597 96,538

Other assets 31,465 1,560 — — 33,025

Total assets 858,115 368,983 1,104,359 723,018 3,054,475

Due to banks and deposits from the 

 National Bank of Hungary and other banks 54,443 54,247 77,762 17,325 203,777

Deposits from customers 2,177,994 141,954 20,976 — 2,340,924

Liabilities from issued securities 196 1,801 — — 1,997

Accrued interest payable 7,714 1,700 — — 9,414

Other liabilities 84,546 10,441 — — 94,987

Subordinated bonds and loans — — 9,324 5,000 14,324

Total liabilities 2,324,893 210,143 108,062 22,325 2,665,423

Share capital — — — 28,000 28,000

Retained earnings and reserves — — — 374,860 374,860

Treasury shares (327) (2,600) (1,300) (9,581) (13,808)

Total shareholders’ equity (327) (2,600) (1,300) 393,279 389,052

Total liabilities 

 and shareholders’ equity 2,324,566 207,543 106,762 415,604 3,054,475

Liquidity (deficiency)/excess (1,466,451) 161,440 997,597 307,414 —
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NOTE 30:     NET FOREIGN CURRENCY POSITION 
     AND FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK (in HUF million)

of Hungary and own l imit system establ ished 

in respect of l imits on open posit ions. 

The measurement of the Bank ’s open foreign 

currency position involves monitoring the ‘Value at Risk’ 

limit on the foreign exchange exposure of the Bank. 

The table above provides an analysis of the Bank’s 

main currency exposures. The remaining currencies 

are shown within ‘Others’. Whilst the Bank monitors 

its foreign exchange position for compliance with 

the regulatory requirements of the National Bank 

NOTE 31:     INTEREST RATE RISK MANAGEMENT

In addition, the significant spread existing between 

the dif ferent types of interest bearing assets 

and liabilities enables the Bank to benefit from 

a high level of flexibility in adjusting for its interest 

rate matching and interest rate risk exposure.

The following table presents the interest repricing 

periods of the Bank. Variable interest bearing assets 

and liabilities have been reported according to their 

next repricing period. Fixed income assets 

and l iabil i t ies have been repor ted according 

to their maturity.

Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial 

instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market 

interest rates. The length of time for which the rate 

of interest is fixed on a financial instrument, therefore, 

indicates to what extent it is exposed to interest rate risk. 

The majority of the Bank’s interest bearing assets and 

liabilities are structured to match either short-term 

assets and short-term liabilities, or long-term assets 

and liabilities with repricing opportunities within one 

year, or long-term assets and corresponding liabilities 

where repricing is performed simultaneously. 

As at December 31, 2005 USD EUR Others Total

Assets 121,070 558,961 366,403 1,046,434

Liabilities (94,248) (543,337) (133,913) (771,498)

Off-balance sheet assets and liabilities, net (30,026) (86,132) (131,702) (247,860)

Net position (3,204) (70,508) 100,788 (27,076)

As at December 31, 2004 USD EUR Others Total

Assets 79,851 342,490 175,954 598,295

Liabilities (77,445) (288,127) (88,355) (453,927)

Off-balance sheet assets and liabilities, net (14,283) (49,401) (32,659) (96,343)

Net position (11,877) 4,962 54,940 48,025
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Within 1 month Over 1 month and 
within 3 months

Over 3 months and 
within 12 months

Over 1 year and 
within 2 years Over 2 years Non-interest-

bearing Total Total

HUF Currency HUF Currency HUF Currency HUF Currency HUF Currency HUF Currency HUF Currency

LIABILITIES
Due to banks and deposits from the National 
Bank of Hungary 31,488 82,126 – 140,214 – 1,383 – – – – – – 31,488 223,723 255,211

     fixed interest 3,811 31,409 – – – – – – – – – – 3,811 31,409 35,220

     variable interest 27,677 50,717 – 140,214 – 1,383 – – – – – – 27,677 192,314 219,991

Deposits from customers 2,058,315 240,986 145,912 30,726 3,463 27,055 – – – – – – 2,207,690 298,767 2,506,457

     fixed interest 745,486 178,942 145,912 30,726 3,463 27,055 – – – – – – 894,861 236,723 1,131,584

     variable interest 1,312,829 62,044 – – – – – – – – – – 1,312,829 62,044 1,374,873

Liabilities from issued securities 356 126,059 – 75,852 – – – – – – – – 356 201,911 202,267

     fixed interest – – – – – – – – – – – – – – –

     variable interest 356 126,059 – 75,852 – – – – – – – – 356 201,911 202,267
Fair value of derivative financial instruments 
in other liabilities 46,581 118,558 52,582 228,793 18,614 41,790 18,591 202 63,512 7,066 – – 199,880 396,409 596,289

     fixed interest 45,772 112,430 40,396 79,540 14,281 41,790 18,591 202 63,512 7,066 – – 182,552 241,028 423,580

     variable interest 809 6,128 12,186 149,253 4,333 – – – – – – – 17,328 155,381 172,709

Subordinated bonds and loans 5,000 – – 31,591 – 10,432 – – – – – – 5,000 42,023 47,023

     variable interest 5,000 – – 31,591 – 10,432 – – – – – – 5,000 42,023 47,023

Net position (1,152,875) (133,187) 403,499 199,508 182,689 (25,355) 28,211 (25) 586,879 6,026 57,011 2,917 105,414 49,884 155,298

As at December 31, 2005

Within 1 month Over 1 month and 
within 3 months

Over 3 months and 
within 12 months

Over 1 year and 
within 2 years Over 2 years Non-interest-

bearing Total Total

HUF Currency HUF Currency HUF Currency HUF Currency HUF Currency HUF Currency HUF Currency

ASSETS
Cash due from banks and balances with the 
National Bank of Hungary 327,299 2,167 – – – – – – – – 47,122 2,661 374,421 4,828 379,249

     fixed interest 327,299 2,167 – – – – – – – – – – 327,299 2,167 329,466

     variable interest – – – – – – – – – – – – – – –

     non-interest-bearing – – – – – – – – – – 47,122 2,661 47,122 2,661 49,783

Placements with other banks 73,409 240,976 20,000 56,119 200 2,955 – – – – – – 93,609 300,050 393,659

     fixed interest 70,109 176,094 20,000 15,965 200 200 – – – – – – 90,309 192,259 282,568

     variable interest 3,300 64,882 – 40,154 – 2,755 – – – – – – 3,300 107,791 111,091

Securities held for trading 444 – 1,300 – 2,230 – 8,208 177 11,394 – 189 1 23,765 178 23,943

     fixed interest 444 – 401 – 2,149 – 8,208 177 11,394 – – – 22,596 177 22,773

     variable interest – – 899 – 72 – – – – – – – 971 – 971

     non-interest-bearing – – – – 9 – – – – – 189 1 198 1 199

Securities available-for-sale 43,742 5,814 15,491 14,230 58,730 5,233 10,091 – 200,022 8,125 9,700 255 337,776 33,657 371,433

     fixed interest – – 2,966 – 21,553 – 10,091 – 200,022 8,125 – – 234,632 8,125 242,757

     variable interest 43,742 5,814 12,525 14,230 37,177 5,233 – – – – – – 93,444 25,277 118,721

     non-interest-bearing – – – – – – – – – – 9,700 255 9,700 255 9,955

Loans 430,778 101,724 395,921 464,197 13,844 42,721 1,806 – 24,517 – – – 866,866 608,642 1,475,508

     fixed interest 154 – 282 758 1,198 501 1,670 – 6,710 – – – 10,014 1,259 11,273

     variable interest 430,624 101,724 395,639 463,439 12,646 42,220 136 – 17,807 – – – 856,852 607,383 1,464,235

Securities held-to-maturity 22,697 – 60,445 – 60,224 2,135 9,945 – 366,351 – – – 519,662 2,135 521,797

     fixed interest – – 5,933 – 50,102 2,135 9,945 – 366,351 – – – 432,331 2,135 434,466

     variable interest 22,697 – 54,512 – 10,122 – – – – – – – 87,331 – 87,331

Fair value of derivative financial instruments 90,496 83,861 108,836 172,138 69,538 2,261 16,752 – 48,107 4,967 – – 333,729 263,227 596,956

     fixed interest 82,516 75,740 97,269 22,690 56,724 2,261 16,752 – 48,107 4,967 – – 301,368 105,658 407,026

     variable interest 7,980 8,121 11,567 149,448 12,814 – – – – – – – 32,361 157,569 189,930

As at December 31, 2005
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Within 1 month Over 1 month and 
within 3 months

Over 3 months and 
within 12 months

Over 1 year and 
within 2 years Over 2 years Non-interest-

bearing Total Total

HUF Currency HUF Currency HUF Currency HUF Currency HUF Currency HUF Currency HUF Currency

LIABILITIES
Due to banks and deposits from the National 
Bank of Hungary 20,399 126,534 3,339 42,741 6,607 3,501 – – – – 480 176 30,825 172,952 203,777

     fixed interest 18,414 28,055 – 4,970 – 1,753 – – – – – – 18,414 34,778 53,192

     variable interest 1,985 98,479 3,339 37,771 6,607 1,748 – – – – – – 11,931 137,998 149,929

     non-interest-bearing – – – – – – – – – – 480 176 480 176 656

Deposits from customers 1,724,869 217,930 342,659 24,562 3,496 27,408 – – – – – – 2,071,024 269,900 2,340,924

     fixed interest 528,076 150,293 342,659 24,562 3,496 27,408 – – – – – – 874,231 202,263 1,076,494

     variable interest 1,196,793 67,637 – – – – – – – – – – 1,196,793 67,637 1,264,430

Liabilities from issued securities 105 – – – 1,800 – – – – – 92 – 1,997 – 1,997

     fixed interest – – – – 1,800 – – – – – – – 1,800 – 1,800

     variable interest 105 – – – – – – – – – – – 105 – 105

     non-interest-bearing – – – – – – – – – – 92 – 92 – 92
Fair value of derivative financial instruments 
in other liabilities 13,087 87,629 29,353 67,794 58,173 18,559 5,000 3,935 31,761 7,133 – – 137,374 185,050 322,424 

     fixed interest 1,587 79,662 3,353 17,430 28,412 18,559 5,000 3,935 31,761 7,133 – – 70,113 126,719 196,832 

     variable interest 11,500 7,967 26,000 50,364 29,761 – – – – – – – 67,261 58,331 125,592 

Subordinated bonds and loans – – – – 5,000 9,324 – – – – – – 5,000 9,324 14,324 

     variable interest – – – – 5,000 9,324 – – – – – – 5,000 9,324 14,324 

Net position (716,658) (326,698) 172,466 302,341 93,520 (10,197) 62,040 3,492 517,070 154 65,228 4,888 193,666 (26,020) 167,646

As at December 31, 2004

Within 1 month Over 1 month and 
within 3 months

Over 3 months and 
within 12 months

Over 1 year and 
within 2 years Over 2 years Non-interest-

bearing Total Total

HUF Currency HUF Currency HUF Currency HUF Currency HUF Currency HUF Currency HUF Currency

ASSETS
Cash due from banks and balances with the 
National Bank of Hungary 342,214 – – – – – – – – – 52,848 4,339 395,062 4,339 399,401

     fixed interest 342,214 – – – – – – – – – – – 342,214 – 342,214

     variable interest – – – – – – – – – – – – – – –

     non-interest-bearing – – – – – – – – – – 52,848 4,339 52,848 4,339 57,187

Placements with other banks 122,774 43,995 800 17,838 200 10,035 – – – – 3,962 496 127,736 72,364 200,100

     fixed interest 119,704 39,635 500 5,066 200 4,802 – – – – – – 120,404 49,503 169,907

     variable interest 3,070 4,360 300 12,772 – 5,233 – – – – – – 3,370 22,365 25,735

     non-interest-bearing – – – – – – – – – – 3,962 496 3,962 496 4,458

Securities held for trading 937 1,747 2,159 3,864 447 1,676 73 – 6,512 1,188 155 – 10,283 8,475 18,758

     fixed interest 937 – 1,321 202 373 – 73 – 6,512 1,188 – – 9,216 1,390 10,606

     variable interest – 1,747 838 3,662 74 1,676 – – – – – – 912 7,085 7,997

     non-interest-bearing – – – – – – – – – – 155 – 155 – 155

Securities available-for-sale 43,862 1,859 13,538 5,409 51,012 1,028 16,288 – 182,071 – 8,835 229 315,605 8,525 324,130

     fixed interest – – – – 13,981 – 16,288 – 182,071 – – – 212,340 – 212,340

     variable interest 43,862 1,859 13,538 5,409 37,030 1,028 – – – – – – 94,430 8,296 102,726

     non-interest-bearing – – – – – – – – – – 8,835 229 8,835 229 9,064

Loans 434,790 30,831 386,288 392,852 11,403 16,163 512 1,691 1,711 – – – 834,704 441,537 1,276,241

     fixed interest 5,215 – 14,043 174 1,126 890 511 984 1,711 – – – 22,606 2,048 24,654

     variable interest 429,575 30,831 372,245 392,678 10,277 15,273 1 707 – – – – 812,098 439,489 1,251,587

Securities held-to-maturity 23,196 – 74,601 – 52,462 – 26,167 1,801 329,276 – – – 505,702 1,801 507,503

     fixed interest 499 – – – 42,340 – 26,167 1,801 329,276 – – – 398,282 1,801 400,083

     variable interest 22,697 – 74,601 – 10,122 – – – – – – – 107,420 – 107,420

Fair value of derivative financial instruments 74,029 26,963 70,431 17,475 53,073 19,693 24,000 3,935 29,261 6,099 – – 250,794 74,165 324,959 

     fixed interest 53,729 26,963 255 17,475 14,312 18,709 24,000 3,935 29,261 6,099 – – 121,557 73,181 194,738 

     variable interest 20,300 – 70,176 – 38,761 984 – – – – – – 129,237 984 130,221 

As at December 31, 2004
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Earnings per share attributable to the Bank’s common 

shares are determined based on dividing income after 

income taxes for the year attributable to common 

shareholders, af ter the deduction of declared 

preference dividends, by the weighted average number 

of common shares outstanding during the year.

NOTE 32:     EARNINGS PER SHARE

  Restated 

 2005 2004

Income after income taxes (in HUF mn) 132,848 113,477

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding 

during the year for calculating basic EPS (piece) 270,109,683 270,339,171

Basic Earnings per share (in HUF) 492 420

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding 

during the year for calculating diluted EPS (piece) 272,234,330 271,479,651

Diluted Earnings per share (in HUF) 488 418

The weighted average number of common 

shares outstanding during the period does not 

include treasury shares.

Diluted earnings per share are determined 

af ter addi t ional ly taking into consideration 

the option rights granted.
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Based on the authorization of the Annual General 

Meeting of the year 2005, the Bank repurchased 

1,000,000 pieces of own shares between 

January 1 and 25, 2006 at an average price 

of HUF 7,405.

On October 24, 2005 the Bank made a binding bid for 

purchasing the 89,39% of the shares of Niska banka a.d. 

registered in Serbia. The purchase agreement was signed 

on December 23, 2005 at the price of EUR 14,21 million. 

The transaction was closed March 7, 2006.

NOTE 34:     POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS

NOTE 33:     RECONCILIATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PREPARED UNDER  
     HUNGARIAN ACCOUNTING STANDARDS AND FINANCIAL   
     STATEMENTS PREPARED UNDER IFRS (in HUF million)

    

Hungarian financial statements 296,978 138,346 (55,160) (598) 379,566

Adjustments to Hungarian financial statements:     

Reversal of statutory general provision 21,570 4,066 — — 25,636

Premium and discount amortization on investment securities (709) 291 — — (418)

Allowance for possible loan losses (1,340) — — — (1,340)

Differences in carrying value of subsidiaries 799 — — — 799

Difference in accounting for finance leases (336) (613) — — (949)

Fair value adjustment of held for trading 

and available-for-sale financial assets (IAS 39) 9,636 847 — 5,508 15,991

Fair value adjustment of derivative financial instruments 451 (796) — — (345)

Loss on sale of Treasury Shares — (7,426) — 7,426 —

Reversal of statutory goodwill and negative goodwill 8,348 8,237 — — 16,585

Revaluation of investments denominated 

in foreign currency to historical cost 39 (1,907) — — (1,868)

Difference in accounting of repo transactions (21) 48 — — 27

Reclassification of direct charges (self revision) — (598) — 598 —

Share-based compensation (IFRS 2) — (7,497) — 7,497 —

Deferred taxation (1,761) (150) — (882) (2,793)

Dividend for the year 2004 (accepted by 

the Annual General Meeting) 41,206 — (41,206) — —

Dividend payable for the year 2005 — — 55,160 — 55,160

International financial statements 374,860 132,848 (41,206) 19,549 486,051

Retained earnings 
and reserves 

January 1, 2005

Net income
for the year

ended
December 31,

2005 Dividend

Direct 
movements 
on reserves

Retained 
earnings

and reserves 
as at 

December 31,
2005
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Balance Sheet 
(consolidated, based on IFRS, as at December 31, 2005 and December 31, 2004, in HUF million)

    Restated

  2005 2004

Cash, due from banks and balances with the National Bank of Hungary 483,191 465,887

Placements with other banks. net of allowance for placement losses 438,768 286,200

Financial assets at fair value through statements of operations 48,054 70,580

Securities available-for-sale 409,945 295,835

Loans net of allowance for loan losses 3,191,298 2,506,795

Accrued interest receivable 37,870 31,400

Equity investments 12,357 9,389

Securities held-to-maturity 289,803 247,259

Premises, equipment and intangible assets, net 233,245 174,775

Other assets 71,371 74,239

Total assets 5,215,902 4,162,359

Due to banks and deposits from the National Bank of Hungary and other banks 364,124 254,125

Deposits from customers 3,428,193 2,902,190

Liabilities from issued securities 543,460 317,222

Accrued interest payable 24,902 27,015

Other liabilities 260,728 213,798

Subordinated bonds and loans 47,023 14,324

Total liabilities 4,668,430 3,728,674

Share capital 28,000 28,000

Retained earnings and reserves 572,567 431,127

Treasury shares (53,586) (25,867)

Minority interest 491 425

Total shareholders’ equity 547,472 433,685

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity 5,215,902 4,162,359

The accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements on pages 69 to 109 form an integral part of these consolidated 

financial statements.

IFRS consolidated financial statements
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    Restated

  2005 2004

Interest income:    

Loans 340,793 241,233

Placements with other banks 43,734 42,431

Due from banks and balances with the National Bank of Hungary 29,174 33,818

Securities held for trading 2,708 6,648

Securities available-for-sale 25,235 82,553

Securities held-to-maturity 17,380 26,995

Total interest income 459,024 433,678

Interest expense:    

Due to banks and deposits from the National Bank of Hungary and other banks 34,501 20,640

Deposits from customers 99,703 131,824

Liabilities from issued securities 25,959 19,382

Subordinated bonds and loans 1,636 943

Total interest expense 161,799 172,789

Net interest income 297,225 260,889

Provision for loan and placement losses 28,042 16,048

Net interest income after provision for loan and placement losses 269,183 244,841

Non-interest income:    

Fee income 118,884 91,625

Foreign exchange gains, net 3,879 1,250

Gains and losses on securities, net 9,708 6,466

Gains on real estate transactions, net 96 1,818

Dividend income and gains and losses of associated companies 672 593

Insurance premiums 69,793 49,337

Other 13,465 10,680

Total non-interest income 216,497 161,769

Non-interest expenses:    

Fee expenses 19,930 20,588

Personnel expenses 95,235 79,538

Depreciation and amortization 21,897 29,150

Insurance expenses 58,468 40,264

Other 98,073 81,046

Total non-interest expense 293,603 250,586

Income before income taxes 192,077 156,024

Income taxes 33,803 24,506

Income after income taxes 158,274 131,518

Minority interest (39) (12)

Net income 158,235 131,506

Earnings per share (in HUF)    

Basic 603 501

Diluted 599 499

The accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements on pages 69 to 109 form an integral part of these consolidated 

financial statements.

Profit and Loss Account
(consolidated, based on IFRS, for the years ended December 31, 2005 and December 31, 2004, in HUF million)
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Statement of Cash Flow
(consolidated, based on IFRS, for the years ended December 31, 2005 and December 31, 2004, in HUF million)

 

    Restated

  2005 2004

Operating activities    

Income before income taxes 192,077 156,024

Adjustments to reconcile income before income taxes to net cash provided by operating activities    

Income tax paid (29,208) (26,871)

Depreciation and amortization 21,897 29,150

Provision for loan and placement losses 28,042 16,048

Provision for permanent diminution in value of equity investments 166 426

Provision/(Release of allowance) for losses on other assets 88 (569)

Release of allowance for losses on off-balance sheet commitments and contingent liabilities, net (1,544) (924)

Net increase in insurance reserves 31,763 14,390

Share-based compensation 7,497 2,348

Unrealised losses on fair value adjustment of securities held for trading 41 547

Unrealised losses/(gains) on fair value adjustment of derivative financial instruments 797 (631)

Changes in operating assets and liabilities    

Net (increase)/decrease in accrued interest receivables (4,827) 1,257

Net decrease/(increase) in other assets, excluding advances for investments

 and before allowance for losses 5,843 (3,593)

Net (increase)/decrease in accrued interest payable (3,679) 10,244

Net increase in other liabilities 1,207 24,082

Net cash provided by operating activities 250,160 221,928

Investing activities    

Net (increase) in placement with other bank before provision for placement losses (79,136) (19,638)    

Net (increase)/decrease in securities available-for-sale (42,774) 17,234

Net (increase) in equity investments, before provision for permanent diminution in value (2,465) (3,902)

Net cash outflow from acquisition of subsidiaries (57,667) (9,441)

Net decrease in debt securities held-to-maturity (41,376) 52,888

Net (increase)/decrease in advances for investments. included in other assets (14) 56

Net (increase) in loans, before provision for loan losses (590,490) (522,581)

Net additions to premises, equipment and intangible assets (33,580) (29,957)

Net cash used in investing activities (847,502) (515,341)

Financing activities    

Net increase in due to banks and deposits from the National Bank of Hungary and other banks 100,798 122,254

Net increase in deposits from customers 313,162 187,356

Net increase in liabilities from issued securities 226,238 192,335

Increase/(decrease) in subordinated bonds and loans 31,466 (1,089)

Increase/(decrease) of minority interest 66 (7)

Foreign currency translation gains/(losses) 4,449 (2,740)

Net change in treasury shares (20,293) 1,513

Net (decrease)/increase in compulsory reserves at National Bank of Hungary (10,981) 1,627

Dividends paid (41,240) (16,823)

Net cash provided by financing activities 603,665 484,426

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 6,323 191,013

Cash and cash equivalents as at January 1 355,673 164,660

Cash and cash equivalents as at end of period 361,996 355,673

Analysis of cash and cash equivalents opening and closing balance    

Cash, due from banks and balances with the National Bank of Hungary 465,887 276,501

Compulsory reserve established by the National Bank of Hungary (110,214) (111,841)

Cash and cash equivalents as at January 1 355,673 164,660

Cash, due from banks and balances with the National Bank of Hungary 483,191 465,887

Compulsory reserve established by the National Bank of Hungary (121,195) (110,214)

Cash and cash equivalents as at end of period 361,996 355,673

The accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements on pages 69 to 109 form an integral part of these consolidated 

financial statements.

IFRS consolidated financial statements
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Statement of changes in Shareholders’ Equity
(consolidated, based on IFRS, for the years ended December 31, 2005 and December 31, 2004. in HUF million)

 

  Share capital Retained earnings Treasury  Minority Total

  and reserves shares interest

Balance as at January 1, 2004 (Restated) 28,000 309,220 (25,420) 432 312,232

Net income — 131,506 — — 131,506

Fair value adjustment of securities

available-for-sale recognised directly through equity — 4,881 — — 4,881

Share-based compensation — 4,433 — — 4,433

Dividend for the year 2003 — (16,800) — — (16,800)

Repurchased treasury shares

– profit on sale of treasury shares — 1,960 — — 1,960  

– sale and purchase of treasury shares — — (447) (447) — 

Derivative financial instruments designated

 as cash flow hedge — (1,333) — (1,333) —

Foreign currency translation loss         — (2,740)          — — (2,740)

Minority interest         —           —           — (7) (7)

Balance as at December 31, 2004 (Restated) 28,000 431,127 (25,867) 425 433,685

Net income — 158,235 — — 158,235

Fair value adjustment of securities

 available-for-sale recognised directly through equity — 2,051 — — 2,051

Share-based compensation — 7,497 — — 7,497

Derecognition of opening balance of negative goodwill  — 3,034 —   — 3,034

Dividend for the year 2004 — (41,206) — — (41,206)

Repurchased treasury shares

– profit on sale of treasury shares — 7,426 — — 7,426

– sale and purchase of treasury shares — — (27,719) (27,719) —

Derivative financial instruments designated as cash-flow hedge — (46) — — (46)

Foreign currency translation gain         — 4,449          — — 4,449

Minority interest         —           —           — 66 66

Balance as at December 31, 2005 28,000 572,567 (53,586) 491 547,472

           

The accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements on pages 69 to 109 form an integral part of these consolidated 

financial statements.
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N O T E S  T O  C O N S O L I D A T E D  I F R S 

F I N A N C I A L  S T A T E M E N T S  A S  A T 

D E C E M B E R  31 ,  2 0 0 5

The Annual General Meeting on April 25, 2001 

approved the conversion of HUF 1,150 mill ion 

nominal value preference shares issued by 

the Bank to common shares. 

In the first quarter of the year of 2002 the nominal 

value of the common shares of the Bank has decreased 

from HUF 1,000 to HUF 100 per share.

As at December 31, 2005 approximately 90.4% 

of the Bank’s shares were held by domestic and foreign 

private and institutional investors. The remaining shares 

are owned by employees (3.1%) and the Bank (6.5%).

The Bank provides a full range of commercial banking 

services through a wide network of 927 branches. 377 

branches are in Hungary, 357 branches are  

in Bulgaria, 78 branches are in Slovakia, 26 branches 

are in Romania and 89 branches are in Croatia.

As at December 31, 2005 the number of employees at 

the Bank and its subsidiary companies (together the 

“Group”) was 17,977. The average number of 

employees for the year ended December 31, 2005 

was 17,669.

1.2. Accounting

The Group maintains its accounting records and prepares 

its statutory accounts in accordance with the commercial, 

banking and fiscal regulations prevailing in Hungary and 

in case of foreign subsidiaries in accordance with  

the local commercial, banking and fiscal regulations.

The Group’s functional currency is the Hungarian 

Forint (“HUF”).

1.1. General

National Savings and Commercial Bank Ltd. (the “Bank” 

or “OTP”) was established on December 31, 1990, 

when the predecessor State-owned company was 

transformed into a limited liability company.

The Bank’s registered office address is 

16 Nador street, Budapest 1051.

As at December 31, 1994, 79% of the Bank’s shares 

were held directly or indirectly by the Hungarian 

Government and the remaining 21% were held by 

domestic investors or represented as own shares 

(less than 3%). In spring 1995, 20% of the shares 

were transferred by the Hungarian Government to 

the Hungarian Social Security Funds. Subsequent 

to the successful privatization of the Bank by a public 

offering in summer 1995, the Bank’s shares were 

introduced to the Budapest and the Luxembourg 

stock exchanges and were also listed on SEAQ 

London and PORTAL (USA).

At an extraordinary General Assembly, 

on September 3, 1997, the Bank issued a preferential 

voting share with a nominal value of HUF 1 thousand 

(the “Special Share”) to the State Privatization 

and Holding Company. The Special Share gives 

the power to the State Privatization and Holding 

Company to control the outcome of certain 

shareholder votes in accordance with the Bank’s 

Articles of Association and the right to delegate 

one member to the Bank’s Board of Directors and 

one member to the Supervisory Board of the Bank.

By public offerings in fall 1997 and fall 1999, the State 

Privatization and Holding Company sold the remaining 

common shares.

NOTE 1:     ORGANIZATION AND BASIS OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
     STATEMENTS



asset at fair value through statements of operations”. 

In this category is classified the previously held for 

trading assets and other instruments which upon 

initial recognition are designated by the entity as to 

be held at fair value through statements of operations.

Due to the retrospective application of IAS 39 

Revised, an opening adjustment of HUF 1,313 million 

loss has been presented in retained earnings and 

reserves as of January 1, 2004. Due to restatement 

of prior periods, income after income tax decreased 

by HUF 6,978 million for the year ended December 

31, 2004 from what was previously reported.

IFRS 2 Share based payments (in HUF mn)

For equity settled share based compensation, under 

IFRS 2 the Group is required to measure the fair 

value of services received, based on the fair value 

of the equity instrument granted, and to recognise 

such expense in the consolidated financial statements.  

IFRS 2 has been adopted retrospectively from 

January 1, 2005 in respect of options which 

have a grant date later than November 7, 2002.

The Annual General Meeting for the year 2000 

approved a five year share option and bonus program 

for the years 2000 to 2004 granting options and bonus 

shares on an annual basis. For the options for the years 

2003 and 2004, the grant date is December 31, 2002.

Due to the retrospective application of IFRS 2, an 

opening adjustment of HUF 2,085 million is presented 

separately in retained earnings and reserves as of 

January 1, 2004. Due to restatement of prior periods, 

income after income tax was decreased by 

HUF 2,348 million for the year ended December 31, 2004.

IFRS 3 Business Combinations (in HUF mn)

The Group applied IFRS 3 Business Combinations 

from March 31, 2004 for new acquisitions. Effective 

from January 1, 2005 the Group for all subsidiaries:

– discontinued amortising goodwill and the amount 

of goodwill net of accumulated amortization 

became the carrying amount;

– tests the goodwill for impairment in accordance 

with IAS 36 Impairment of Assets;

– negative goodwill was derecognised with a 

corresponding adjustment to the opening balance 

of retained earnings.

Some of the accounting principles prescribed for 

statutory purposes are different from those generally 

recognized in international financial markets. Certain 

adjustments have been made to the Bank’s Hungarian 

consolidated statutory accounts, in order to present  

the consolidated financial position and results  

of operations of the Bank in accordance with all 

standards and interpretations approved  

by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB),  

which are referred to as International Financial 

Reporting Standards (IFRS). These standards and 

interpretations were previously called International 

Accounting Standards (IAS).

The consolidated financial statements have been 

prepared in accordance with International Financial 

Reporting Standards as adopted by the European  

Union (the “EU”).  IFRS as adopted by the EU do not 

currently dif fer from IFRS as issued by the 

International Accounting Standards Board (IASB), 

except for port folio hedge accounting under  

IAS 39 which has not been approved by the EU.  

As the Group does not apply portfolio hedge 

accounting under IAS 39, there is no impact on 

these consolidated financial statements, had it been 

approved by the EU at the balance sheet date.

1.2.1. The effect of adopting 
revised International Financial 
Reporting Standards effective 
from January 1, 2005 on the 2004 
financial statements

Effective from January 1, 2005 the Group adopted 

revised IAS 39 (“Financial Instruments: Recognition 

and Measurement”), IFRS 2 (“Share-based payment”) 

and IFRS 3 (“Business combinations”). Revisions to a 

number of other IAS also took effect in the consolidated 

condensed financial statements of the Group, but those 

revisions concerned matters of detailed application 

which have no significant effect on amounts reported.

IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition 

and Measurement (in HUF mn)

IAS 39 Revised, which is effective after January 1, 

2005 changes the category held for trading 

instruments by introducing a new category “a financial 

OTP BANK Annual Report 200570



71IFRS consolidated financial statements

Summary of the effects of introduction of IAS 39 revised and IFRS 2 for the year ended 

December 31, 2004 is as follows:

 As original reported for the  Restated for 

 year ended the year ended  

 December 31, 2004 December 31, 2004

Fair value adjustment of available-for-sale 

 securities recognized in profit and loss 8,303 —

Deferred tax effect   (1,325)  —

Contribution to net income     6,978 —

Share based compensation —   (2,348)

Net income after income taxes 140,832 131,506

Fair value adjustment of available-for-sale

 securities recognized directly through equity — 8,303

Deferred tax effect —   (1,325)

Effect to equity   —  6,978

Share based compensation through directly equity — 2,348

Shareholders’ equity without minority interest 433,260 433,260

Minority interest   — 425

Total shareholders’ equity  433,260 433,685

– IFRS 7 ‘Financial Instruments: Disclosures’ 

(ef fective January 1, 2007);

– Amendments to IAS 39 ‘Financial Instruments: 

Recognition and Measurement’ in respect  

of cash f low hedge accounting (ef fective 

January 1, 2006);

– Amendments to IAS 39 ‘Financial Instruments: 

Recognition and Measurement’ and IFRS 4 

‘ Insurance Contracts’ for f inancial guarantee 

contracts (ef fective January 1, 2006); 

– Amendments to IAS 1 ‘Presentation of 

Financial Statements’ on capital disclosures 

(ef fective January 1, 2007). 

The adoption of these standards in the future 

periods is not expected to have a material impact 

on the consolidated prof i t or equity.

The most significant item is the goodwill acquired 

through the acquisition of DSK Bank EAD, the related 

balances as at December 31, 2004 are the following:

Cost 38,076

Accumulated amortization   (9,535)

Net book value 28,541

Amortization for the year 2004 7,615

Negative goodwill was acquired through the acquisition 

of OTP Banka Slovensko, a.s. the related balances 

as at December 31, 2004 are the following:

Cost    4,204

Accumulated amortization  (1,170)

Net book value   3,034

Amortization for the year 2004 130

As of January 1, 2005 derecognition of negative 

goodwill will increase the opening balance of retained 

earnings and reserves by HUF 3,034 million.

1.2.2. Changes in accounting 
policies arising from the adoption 
of new IFRSs and amendments 
to IASs effective January 1, 2006 

At the date of authorisation of these f inancial 

statements, the following standards were  

in issue but not yet ef fective:
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NOTE 2:     SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Effective for acquisitions af ter March 31, 2004 

goodwill arising on acquisition is expressed in the 

functional currency of the foreign operation and 

translated at the closing rate in the consolidated 

balance sheet. The resulting exchange dif ference 

is presented as an element of retained earnings 

and reserves in the Consolidated Balance Sheet.

2.3. Principles of consolidation

Included in these consolidated financial statements 

are the accounts of those subsidiaries in which the 

Bank holds a controlling interest. The list of the 

major fully consolidated subsidiaries, the 

percentage of issued capital owned by the Bank 

and the description of their activities is provided in 

Note 30. However, certain subsidiaries in which 

the Bank holds a controlling interest have not been 

consolidated in accordance with IFRS because the 

ef fect of consolidating such companies is not 

material to the consolidated financial statements 

as a whole (see Note 2.10.).

2.4. Accounting for acquisitions

Upon acquisition, subsidiaries are accounted for 

under the fair value method of accounting.  

Any goodwill or negative goodwill arising on 

acquisition is recognized in the consolidated balance 

sheet and accounted for as indicated below.

Acquisition before March 31, 2004

Goodwill, which represents the residual cost of the 

acquisition after recognizing the acquirer’s interest in 

the fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities 

acquired, is held as an intangible asset and recorded as 

Depreciation and amortization in the Consolidated 

Statement of Operations, in anticipation of future 

economic benefits, on a straight-line basis over a period 

of five years. The value of any goodwill held in the 

Consolidated Balance Sheet is reassessed on an annual 

basis, determined on the basis of specific identification 

of the investment. If it is no longer probable that  

the goodwill will be recovered from future economic 

benefits, it is recognized immediately as an expense.

Significant accounting policies applied in the preparation 

of the accompanying consolidated financial statements 

are summarized below:

2.1. Basis of presentation

These consolidated financial statements have been 

prepared under the historical cost convention with 

the exception of certain financial instruments, which 

are recorded on fair value. Revenues and expenses 

are recorded in the period in which they are earned 

or incurred.

The presentation of consolidated financial statements 

in conformity with IFRS requires management of the 

Bank to make estimates and assumptions that affect 

the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and 

disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities as of the 

date of the financial statements and their reported 

amounts of revenues and expenses during the 

reporting period. Actual results could differ from 

those estimates. Future changes in economic 

conditions, business strategies, regulatory 

requirements, accounting rules and other factors 

could result in a change in estimates that could have 

a material impact on future financial statements.

2.2. Foreign currency translation

Assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies 

are translated into HUF at exchange rates quoted by the 

National Bank of Hungary (“NBH”), or if there is no 

official rate, at exchange rate quoted by OTP Bank as of 

the date of the consolidated financial statements. 

Income and expenses arising in foreign currencies are 

converted at the rate of exchange on the transaction 

date. Resulting foreign exchange gains or losses are 

recorded in the Consolidated Statement of Operations.

Net dif ferences resulting from translating foreign 

currency financial statements of consolidated 

subsidiaries are presented as an element of 

retained earnings and reserves in the Consolidated 

Balance Sheet.
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The excess, as at the date of the exchange 

transaction, of the Bank ’s interest in the fair 

values of the identi f iable assets and l iabi l i t ies 

acquired over the cost of the acquisi t ion,  

is recognised as negative goodwil l among 

intangible assets .

The extent that negative goodwill relates to 

expectations of future losses and expenses that 

are identif ied in the Bank ’s plan for the acquisition 

and can be measured reliably, but which do not 

represent identif iable l iabil i t ies at the date of 

acquisition, that por tion of negative goodwill is 

recognised as Other income in the Consolidated 

Statement of Operations when the future losses 

and expenses are recognised.

To the extent that negative goodwill does not relate 

to identifiable expected future losses and expenses 

that can be measured reliably at the date of 

acquisition, negative goodwill is recognised as other 

income on a systematic basis over the remaining 

weighted average useful life of the identifiable 

acquired depreciable/amortisable assets.

Acquisition after March 31, 2004

The Bank has appl ied IFRS 3 Business 

Combinations since March 31, 2004 for 

acquisi t ions af ter that date. Goodwil l , which 

represents the residual cost of the acquisi t ion 

af ter recognizing the acquirer’s interest in 

the fair value of the identi f iable assets, l iabi l i t ies 

and contingent l iabi l i t ies acquired, is held as 

an intangible asset and recorded at cost less 

any accumulated impairment losses in the 

Consol idated Financial Statements .

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is 

tested for impairment annually, or more frequently 

i f events or changes in circumstances indicate 

that i t might be impaired.

Negative goodwill , when the acquirer’s interest 

in the net fair value of the acquired identif iable 

net assets exceeds the cost of the business 

combination, is recognized immediately in the 

Consolidated Statement of Operations as a gain.

2.5. Securities held-to-maturity

Investments in securities are accounted on 

a set tlement date basis and are initial ly measured 

at fair value. At subsequent repor ting dates, 

securities that the Group has the expressed 

intention and abil i ty to hold to maturity (held-to -

maturity securities) are measured at amortised 

cost, less any impairment losses recognised 

to ref lect irrecoverable amounts. The annual 

amortisation of any discount or premium on 

the acquisition of a held-to -maturity security is 

aggregated with other investment income 

receivable over the term of the investment  

so that the revenue recognised in each period 

represents a constant yield on the investment.

Held-to -maturity investments include securities, 

which the Group has the abil i ty and intent to hold 

to maturity. Such securities comprise mainly 

securities issued by the Hungarian Government 

and mortgage bonds.

2.6. Financial assets at fair value 
through income statement

2.6.1. Securities held for trading

Investments in securi t ies are accounted on  

a set tlement date basis and are initial ly measured 

at fair value. Held for trading investments are 

measured at subsequent repor t ing dates at fair 

value. Unreal ised gains and losses on held for 

trading securi t ies are recognised in prof i t / loss 

and included in the Consol idated Statement  

of Operations for the period. Such securities 

consist of Hungarian and foreign discounted and 

interest bearing Treasury bi l ls and government 

bonds and other securi t ies . Other securi t ies 

include shares in commercial companies, 

shares in investment funds.

IFRS consolidated financial statements
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hedged risk are recognised in the reserve among 

consolidated shareholders’ equity. Amounts 

deferred in equity are transferred to the 

Consolidated Statement of Operations and 

classif ied as revenue or expense in the periods 

during which the hedged assets and l iabil i t ies 

af fect the result for the period. The inef fective 

element of the hedge is charged directly  

to the Consolidated Statement of Operations.

Certain derivative transactions, while providing 

effective economic hedges under the Group’s risk 

management policy, do not quali fy for hedge 

accounting under the specif ic rules of IAS 39 

and are therefore treated as derivatives held  

for trading with fair value gains and losses 

charged directly to the Consolidated Statement  

of Operations.

 

2.7. Securities available-for-sale

Investments in securities are accounted on a 

set tlement date basis and are initial ly measured 

at fair value. Available -for-sale investments are 

measured at subsequent repor ting dates at fair 

value. Unrealised gains and losses on available -

for-sale f inancial instruments are recognised 

directly in equity, unless such available -for-sale 

security is par t of an ef fective fair value hedge. 

Such gains and losses wil l be repor ted when 

realised in prof i t and loss for the applicable 

period. Such securities consist of Hungarian and 

foreign discounted and interest bearing Treasury 

bil ls and government bonds and other securities. 

Other securities include shares in commercial 

companies, shares in investment funds, bonds 

issued by companies and mortgage bonds issued 

by other f inancial insti tutions. 

Available -for-sale securities are remeasured at fair 

value based on quoted prices or amounts derived 

from cash f low models. In circumstances where 

the quoted market prices are not readily available, 

the fair value of debt securities is estimated using 

the present value of future cash f lows and the 

unquoted equity instruments is measured at cost.

2.6.2. Derivative financial 
instruments

In the normal course of business, the Group is  

a par ty to contracts for derivative f inancial 

instruments, which represent a very low initial 

investment compared to the notional value of the 

contract. The derivative f inancial instruments 

used include interest rate forward or swap 

agreements and currency forward and swap 

agreements. These f inancial instruments are used 

by the Group to hedge interest rate risk and 

currency exposures associated with i ts 

transactions in the f inancial markets.

Derivative f inancial instruments are initial ly 

measured at fair value and at subsequent 

repor ting dates at their fair value. Fair values are 

obtained from quoted market prices, discounted 

cash f low models and options pricing models as 

appropriate. Changes in the fair value of 

derivative f inancial instruments that do not quali fy 

for hedge accounting are recognised in prof i t/

loss and included in the Consolidated Statement 

of Operations for the period. All derivatives are 

carried as assets when fair value is positive and 

as l iabil i t ies when fair value is negative.

2.6.3. Derivative financial 
instruments designated as 
a fair-value or cash flow hedge

Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are 

designated and quali fy as fair value hedges and 

that prove to be highly ef fective in relation to the 

hedged risk, are recorded in the Consolidated 

Statement of Operations along with the 

corresponding change in fair value of the hedged 

asset or l iabil i ty that is at tributable to the specif ic 

hedged risk. The inef fective element of the hedge 

is charged directly to the Consolidated Statement 

of Operations.

Changes in fair value of derivatives that are 

designated and quali fy as cash f low hedges and 

that prove to be highly ef fective in relation to 



75

Those available -for-sale f inancial assets that do 

not have a quoted market price and whose fair 

value cannot be reliably measured by other 

models mentioned above, are measured at cost, 

less al lowance for permanent diminution in value, 

when appropriate. 

2.8. Loans, placements with other 
banks and allowance for loan and 
placement losses

Loans and placements with other banks are stated at 

the principal amounts outstanding, net of allowance 

for loan or placements losses, respectively. Interest is 

accrued and credited to income based on the 

principal amount outstanding. When a borrower is 

unable to meet payments as they come due or, in the 

opinion of the management, there is an indication 

that a borrower may be unable to meet payments as 

they come due, all unpaid interest is reversed.

The amount of provision is the dif ference 

between the carrying amount and the 

recoverable amount, being the present value of 

the expected cash f lows, including amounts 

recoverable from guarantees and collateral, 

discounted at the original ef fective interest rate.

Provisions for losses on loans and placements with 

other banks represent managements assessment for 

potential losses in relation to these activities.

The allowances for loan and placement losses are 

maintained to cover losses that have been 

specifically identified and for potential losses which 

may be present based on portfolio performance.

Write-offs are generally recorded after all 

reasonable restructuring or collection activities have 

taken place and the possibility of further recovery is 

considered to be remote. The loan is written off 

against the related account “Provisions for loan and 

placement losses” in the profit and loss account.  

If the reason for provisioning is no longer deemed 

appropriate, the redundant provisioning charge is 

released into income.

2.9. Sale and repurchase 
agreements

Where debt or equity securities are sold under 

a commitment to repurchase them at a pre-

determined price, they remain on the balance sheet 

and the consideration received is recorded in 

liabilities Due to Banks. Conversely, debt or equity 

securities purchased under a commitment to resell 

are not recognised in the balance sheet and the 

consideration paid is recorded in Placement  

with other Banks. Interest is accrued evenly over  

the life of the repurchase agreement.

2.10. Equity investments

Companies where the Bank has a signif icant 

interest are accounted for using the equity 

method. However, cer tain associated companies 

in which the Bank holds a signif icant interest have 

not been accounted for in accordance with the 

equity method because the ef fect of using the 

equity method to account for such companies is 

not material to the consolidated f inancial 

statements as a whole. Shares which are 

intended to be disposed of are included among 

securities available -for-sale.

Unconsolidated subsidiaries and associated 

companies that were not accounted for using the 

equity method and other investments where the 

Bank does not hold a controll ing or signif icant 

interest are recorded at the cost of acquisition, 

less al lowance for permanent diminution in value, 

when appropriate.

Gains and losses on the sale of equity investments 

are determined on the basis of the specif ic 

identi f ication of the cost of each investment.

2.11. Premises, equipment and 
intangible assets

Premises, equipment and intangible assets are 

stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation 

and amortization. The depreciable amount 

IFRS consolidated financial statements
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Group’s net investment in the lease. Finance  

lease income in allocated to accounting periods  

so as to reflect a constant rate of return on  

the Group’s net investment outstanding in respect  

of the leases. Direct costs such as commissions 

are included in the ini t ial measurement  

of the f inance lease receivables. 

Rental income from operating leases is recognised on 

a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.

The Group as lessee

Assets held under finance leases, which confer 

rights and obligations similar to those attached 

to owned assets, are capitalised at their fair value 

and depreciated over the useful lives of assets. 

The capital element of each future lease 

obligation is recorded as a l iabi l i ty, while  

the interest elements are charged to the 

Consolidated Statement of Operations over  

the period of the leases to produce a constant 

rate of charge on the balance of capital  

payments outstanding.

Payments made under operating leases are 

charged to the Consolidated Statement of 

Operations on a straight- line basis over the term 

of the lease. When an operating lease is 

terminated before the lease period has expired, 

any payment required to be made to the lessor 

by way of penalty is recognised as an expense 

in the period in which termination takes place.

2.13. Properties held for resale

Proper ties held for resale are accounted for  

at historical cost less allowance for permanent 

diminution in value and are included in Other 

assets in the Consolidated Balance Sheet. 

Properties held for resale include property held 

for sale in the normal course of business as  

a result of construction or development, real  

estate held due to work out of loans and property 

acquired exclusively with a view to subsequent 

disposal in the near future.

(book value less residual value) of the non-current 

assets must be allocated over them useful l i fe. 

Depreciation and amortization are computed 

using the straight- l ine method over the estimated 

useful l ives of the assets based on the following 

annual percentages:

Buildings 1–10%

Machinery and equipment 2.5–50%

Vehicles 10–50%

Leased assets 14.5–33.3%

Sof tware 12.5–50%

Property rights 14.5–50%

Depreciation and amortization on premises, 

equipment and intangible assets commences 

on the day such assets are placed into service.

At each balance sheet date, the Group reviews  

the carrying value of i ts tangible and intangible 

assets to determine if there is any indication that 

those assets have suf fered an impairment loss.  

I f any such indication exists, the recoverable 

amount of the asset is estimated to determine the 

extent (if any) of the impairment loss. Where it is 

not possible to estimate the recoverable amount  

of an individual asset, the Group estimates  

the recoverable amount of the cash-generating  

unit to which the asset belongs.

Where the carrying value of premises, equipment 

and other tangible f ixed assets is greater than the 

estimated recoverable amount, i t is writ ten down 

immediately to the estimated recoverable amount.

2.12. Leases

Leases are classif ied as f inance leases whenever 

the terms of the lease transfer substantial ly al l 

the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee. 

All other leases are classif ies as operating leases.

The Group as lessor

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases 

are recorded as receivables at the amount of the 
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country where the company is incorporated, 

adjusted for deferred taxation.

Deferred taxation is accounted for, using the balance 

sheet liability method in respect of temporary 

differences in the tax bases of assets and liabilities and 

their carrying value for financial reporting purposes, 

measured at the tax rates that apply to the future 

period when the asset is expected to be realised  

or the liability is settled.

2.19. Off-balance sheet 
commitments and contingent 
liabilities

In the ordinary course of i ts business, the Group  

has entered into off-balance sheet commitments 

such as guarantees, commitments to extend credit 

and letters of credit and transactions with financial 

instruments. The al lowance for losses on 

commitments and contingent l iabi l i t ies is 

maintained at a level adequate to absorb probable 

future losses. Management determines the 

adequacy of the allowance based upon reviews  

of individual items, recent loss experience, current 

economic conditions, the risk characteristics  

of the various categories of transactions and other 

pertinent factors.

The Group recognises an allowance when it has  

a present obligation as a result of a past event; it is 

probable that an outflow of resources embodying 

economic benefits wil l be required to set tle  

the obligation; and a reliable estimate can be made 

of the obligation.

2.20. Share-based compensation

The Bank has applied the requirements of IFRS 2 

Share-based payments. In accordance with the 

transitional provisions, IFRS 2 has been applied to 

all grants of equity instruments af ter November 7, 

2002 that were unvested as of January 1, 2005.

The Bank issues equity-settled share-based 

compensations to certain employees. 

2.14. Insurance reserves

Insurance reserves are accrued for liabilities from life 

and non-life insurance contracts and are included  

in Other liabilities. The level of such reserves reflects  

the amount of future liabilities expected as at the date  

of the consolidated financial statements. The provision 

for outstanding claims and claim settlement expenses 

for non-life policies are based upon estimates of the 

expected losses for all classes of business. The reserve 

includes reported claims, claims incurred but not 

reported and claim adjustment expenses. This provision 

takes into account mortality factors within Hungary  

and other countries where insurance operations are 

conducted and is based upon mortality tables approved 

by regulatory authorities.

2.15. Treasury shares

Treasury shares are purchased on the stock 

exchange and the over-the-counter market by the 

Bank and its subsidiaries and are presented in the 

Consolidated Balance Sheet at acquisition cost as 

a deduction from consolidated shareholders’ equity.

Gains and losses on the sale of treasury shares 

are credited or charged directly to consolidated 

retained earnings and reserves.

2.16. Interest income and interest 
expense

Interest income and expense are recognised in the 

consolidated statement of operations on an accrual basis. 

2.17. Fees and commissions

Fees and commissions are recognised in the 

consolidated statement of operations on an accrual basis.

2.18. Income taxes

The annual taxation charge is based on the tax 

payable under f iscal regulations prevail ing in the 

IFRS consolidated financial statements
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format represents two business segments 

– banking (f inance) and insurance.

Segment results include revenue and expenses 

directly at tributable to a segment and the relevant 

por tion of revenue and expenses that can be 

allocated to a segment, whether from external 

transactions or from transactions with other 

segments of the Group. Unallocated i tems mainly 

comprise administrative expenses. Segment 

results are determined before any adjustments  

for minority interest.

Segment assets and l iabil i t ies comprise those 

operating assets and l iabil i t ies that are directly 

at tributable to the segment on a reasonable basis. 

Segment assets are determined af ter deducting 

related adjustments that are repor ted as direct 

of fsets in the Group’s balance sheet.

2.23. Comparative figures

Certain amounts in the 2004 consolidated financial 

statements have been reclassi f ied to conform 

to the current year presentation.

Equity-settled share-based compensations are 

measured at fair value at the date of grant. The fair 

value determined at the grant date of the equity-

settled share-based compensations is expensed on 

a straight- line basis over the year, based on the 

Bank’s estimate of shares that will eventually vest.

Fair value is measured by use of a binomial model. 

The expected life used in the model has been 

adjusted, based on management’s best estimate, 

for the effects of non-transferability, exercise 

restrictions, and behavioural considerations.

2.21. Consolidated statement of 
cash flows

For the purposes of reporting consolidated cash 

flows, cash and cash equivalents include cash,  

due from banks and balances with the National 

Bank of Hungary, excluding compulsory reserve 

established by the National Bank of Hungary. 

Consolidated cash flows from hedging activities 

are classif ied in the same category as the item 

being hedged.

2.22. Segment reporting 

Segment information is based on two segments 

formats. The primary format represents the 

Group’s geographical markets. The secondary 

3.1. Impairment of loans and 
advances 

The Group regularly assesses i ts loan por t folio 

for possible impairment. Management determines 

the adequacy of the al lowances based upon 

reviews of individual loans and placements, 

recent loss experience, current economic 

conditions, the risk characteristics of the various 

The presentation of financial statements in conformity 

with IFRS requires the management of the Group to 

make judgement about estimates and assumptions that 

effect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and 

the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities as at 

the date of the financial statements and their reported 

amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting 

period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. 

Significant areas of subjective judgement include:

NOTE 3:      SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND DECISIONS 
     IN THE APPLICATION OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES  
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3.3. Provisions

The Group is involved in a number of ongoing 

legal disputes.  Based upon historical experience 

and exper t repor ts, the Bank assesses the 

developments in these cases, and the l ikel ihood 

and the amount of potential f inancial losses 

which are appropriately provided for. 

3.4. Insurance liabilities

Insurance liabilities for life and non-life insurance 

contracts reflect the amount of future liabilities 

expected at the date of the consolidated financial 

statements. Such reserves are based on past 

experience, mortali ty tables and management 

estimates. Changes in these assumptions may 

ef fect the level of such l iabil i t ies.

categories of loans and other pertinent factors. 

Provisioning involves many uncer tainties  

about the outcome of those risks and requires  

the management of the Group to make many 

subjective judgements in estimating  

the loss amounts.

3.2. Valuation of instruments 
without direct quotations 

Financial instruments without direct quotations  

in an active market are valued using the valuation 

model technique. The models are regularly 

reviewed and each model is calibrated for the most 

recent available market data. While the models  

are built only on available data, their use is subject  

to cer tain assumptions and estimates (eg, for 

correlations, volatilities, etc). Changes in the model 

assumptions may affect the reported market value 

of the relevant financial instruments. 

NOTE 4:     CASH, DUE FROM BANKS AND BALANCES WITH THE NATIONAL  
     BANK OF HUNGARY (in HUF million)

 2005  2004

Cash on hand:

In HUF 47,676 53,364

In foreign currency   25,609   19,298

   73,285   72,662

Due from banks and balances with the National Bank of Hungary:

Within one year:

In HUF 404,753 390,267

In foreign currency     5,153     2,958

 409,906 393,225

Total 483,191 465,887

amounted to HUF 121,195 mil l ion and 

HUF 110,214 mil l ion for the years ended 

December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

Based on the requirements for compulsory reserve 

set by the National Bank of Hungary, the balance of 

compulsory reserves maintained by the Group 

IFRS consolidated financial statements
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NOTE 6:      FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH STATEMENTS 
     OF OPERATIONS (in HUF million)

  Restated

 2005 2004

Securities held for trading:

Discounted treasury bills 160 40,225

Hungarian Government interest bearing treasury bills 1,485 2,756

Government bonds 34,151 22,478

Mortgage bonds 895 680

Other securities      1,282   1,119

 37,973 67,258

Derivative financial instruments designated as held for trading 10,081   3,322

Total 48,054 70,580

NOTE 5:     PLACEMENTS WITH OTHER BANKS, NET OF ALLOWANCE 
    FOR PLACEMENT LOSSES (in HUF million)

rates in the range from 0.0% to 12.0% and from 

0.4% to 7.0%, respectively.

Placements with other banks in HUF as at 

December 31, 2005 and 2004 bear interest rates 

in the range from 0.5% to 7.6% and from 8.5% 

to 12.5%, respectively.

Placements of foreign subsidiaries with their respective 

National Banks amounted to HUF 77,879 million 

and HUF 71,420 million for the years ended 

December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

Placements with other banks in foreign currency 

as at December 31, 2005 and 2004 bear interest 

 2005  2004

Within one year:

In HUF 94,110 126,866

In foreign currency 317,654 149,206

 411,764 276,072

Over one year:

In HUF 3,000 —

In foreign currency   24,004   10,129

   27,004   10,129

 438,768 286,201

Allowance for placement losses — (1)

Total 438,768 286,200

 2005 2004

Balance as at January 1 1 182

Release of allowance for placement losses (1) (181)

Closing balance — 1

An analysis of the change in the allowance for placement losses is as follows:
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denominated in USD, EUR and BGN as at 

December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

Interest rates on securi t ies held for trading 

are ranged from 2.16% to 9.5% and from 1.4% 

to 13.4% as at December 31, 2005 and 2004, 

respectively.

Approximately 42.69% and 46%  

of the government bonds were denominated  

in foreign currency as at December 31, 2005 

and 2004, respectively. Approximately 16.62%, 

30.81%, 23.96%, and 28.61% of this por t fol io 

was denominated in USD, EUR, SKK  

and BGN as at December 31, 2005, and 22.1%, 

33.7%, and 44.2% of this por t fol io was 

IFRS consolidated financial statements

  Restated

 2005 2004

Within five years:

Variable interest 1,492 1,358

Fixed interest 27,160 55,795

 28,652 57,153

Over five years:

Variable interest 3,764 3,594

Fixed interest         5,100   6,356

   8,864   9,950

Non-interest bearing securities      457      155

Total 37,973 67,258

Interest conditions and the remaining maturities of held for trading securities can be analyzed as follows:

NOTE 7:      SECURITIES AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE (in HUF million)

denominated in USD, EUR, HRK and BGN as at 

December 31, 2005, and 5%, 28.7%, 37.8%, and 

28.5% of this portfolio was denominated in USD, 

EUR, SKK and BGN as at December 31, 2004, 

respectively.

Interest rates on securities available-for-sale 

are ranged from 1.6% to 8.08% and from 1.6% 

to 12.5% as at December 31, 2005 and 2004, 

respectively.

Approximately 74.52% and 77.3% of the 

avai lable - for-sale securi t ies por t fol io was 

denominated in HUF as at December 31, 2005 

and 2004, respectively.

Approximately 22.51% and 22.9% of the 

government bonds were denominated in foreign 

currency as at December 31, 2005 and 2004, 

respectively. Approximately 3.82%, 54.25%, 

21.36%, and 20.57% of this portfolio was 

  Restated

 2005 2004

Available-for-sale securities:

Government bonds 283,342 204,436

Discounted Treasury bills 51,621 49,949

Mortgage bonds 541 1,493

Other securities   74,442   39,957

Total 409,946 295,835
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NOTE 8:     LOANS, NET OF ALLOWANCE FOR LOAN LOSSES (in HUF million)

Restated 

 2005 2004

Loans and trade bills within one year 925,331 689,286

Loans and trade bills over one year 2,371,887 1,896,824

 3,297,218 2,586,110

Allowance for loan losses     (105,920)     (79,315)

Total 3,191,298 2,506,795

bear interest rates in the range from 4% to 22.3%  

and from 4% to 22.8%, respectively.

Foreign currency loans as at December 31, 2005 

and 2004, bear interest rates in the range from 

0.04% to 24% and from 1% to 31%, respectively.

Approximately 4% and 3.9% of the gross loan 

portfolio represented loans on which interest  

is not being accrued as at December 31, 2005 

and 2004, respectively.

Foreign currency loans represent approximately 

45.76% and 33.8% of the total loan portfolio, 

before allowance for losses, as at December 31, 

2005 and 2004, respectively.

Loans denominated in HUF, with maturity within 

one year as at December 31, 2005 and 2004, 

bear interest rates in the range from 6% to 30% 

and from 6% to 32%, respectively.

Loans denominated in HUF, with maturity over one 

year as at December 31, 2005 and 2004,  

An analysis of the loan portfolio by type, before allowance for loan losses, is as follows:

 2005 2004

Commercial loans 1,195,374 36% 920,606 36%

Municipality loans 136,039 4% 118,115 5%

Housing loans 1,222,397 37% 1,015,491 39%

Consumer loans    743,408   23%    531,898   20%

Total 3,297,218 100% 2,586,110 100%

An analysis of the change in the allowance for loan losses is as follows: 

 2005 2004

Balance as at January 1 79,315 64,156

Provision for loan losses 28,043 16,229

Write-offs (1,808) (835)

Foreign currency translation gain/(loss)        370    (235)      

Closing balance 105,920 79,315

  Restated

 2005 2004

Within five years:

Variable interest 116,784 60,677

Fixed interest 182,887 179,957

 299,671 240,634

Over five years:

Variable interest 4,261 3,866

Fixed interest   81,364   32,175

   85,625   36,041

Non-interest bearing securities   24,650   19,160

Total 409,946 295,835

Interest conditions and the remaining maturities of available-for-sale financial assets can be analyzed as follows:
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NOTE 9:     EQUITY INVESTMENTS (in HUF million)

 2005 2004

Equity investments:

Unconsolidated subsidiaries 11,356 8,389

Associated companies 679 141

Other   2,466   2,837

 14,501 11,367

Allowance for permanent diminution in value (2,144) (1,978)

Total 12,357   9,389

 

 2005 2004

Total assets of unconsolidated subsidiaries 63,102 34,145

An analysis of the change in the allowance for permanent diminution in value is as follows: 

 2005 2004 

Balance as at January 1 1,978 1,552

Provision for permanent diminution in value    166    426

Closing balance 2,144 1,978

NOTE 10:     HELD-TO-MATURITY INVESTMENTS (in HUF million)

 2005 2004

Government securities 242,094 226,355

Hungarian Government discounted Treasury bills 29,962 6,125

Mortgage bonds 11,264 9,526

Other debt securities     6,483     5,283

 289,803 247,289

Allowance for permanent diminution in value          —         (30)

Total 289,803 247,259

 2005 2004

Within five years:

Variable interest 60,836 68,536

Fixed interest 155,524 106,492

 216,360 175,028

Over five years:

Variable interest 43,051 42,870

Fixed interest   30,392   29,391

   73,443   72,261

Total 289,803 247,289

Interest conditions and the remaining maturities of investments in debt securities can be 

analysed as follows:
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to 10% and from 6.3% to 10% as at  

December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively. 

Interest on fixed rate and variable rate securities  

is, in most cases, paid semi -annually.

The fair value of held-to -maturity investments 

was HUF 291,894 mil l ion and HUF 247,477 

mil l ion as at December 31, 2005 and 2004, 

respectively.

Approximately 80.33% and 88.4% of the debt 

securities portfolio was denominated in HUF as at 

December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively. In most 

cases, interests on variable rate bonds are based 

on the interest rates of 90-day Hungarian Government 

Treasury bills and are adjusted semi-annually.

Interest rates on f ixed interest securities 

denominated in HUF are ranged from 3.25%  

 2005 2004

Balance as at January 1 30 30

Release of allowance (30) —

Closing balance — 30

An analysis of the change in the allowance for permanent diminution in value is as follows:

NOTE 11:     PREMISES, EQUIPMENT AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS, NET (in HUF million)

For the year ended December 31, 2005: 

 Intangible Land and Machinery,  Construction

 assets buildings and equipment in progress Total

Cost

Balance as at January 1, 2005 82,328 94,626 83,970 12,227 273,151

Acquisition of subsidiary 141 6,783 891 258 8,073

Net additions 49,723 10,065 15,878  75,666

Foreign currency translation differences 1,562 1,554 672 70 3,858

Net disposals   (3,150)  (15,504)  (9,985)      (125)  (28,764)

Balance as at December 31, 2005 130,604   97,524 91,426  12,430 331,984

Depreciation and amortization     

Balance as at January 1, 2005 30,381 15,673 52,322 — 98,376

Net charge 7,766 2,801 11,347 — 21,914

Foreign currency translation differences 91 337 462 — 890

Net disposals  (9,501) (5,444) (7,496)          — (22,441)

Balance as at December 31, 2005  28,737  13,367 56,635          —  98,739

Net book value 

Balance as at January 1, 2005  51,947  78,953 31,648  12,227 174,775

Balance as at December 31, 2005 101,867  84,157 34,791  12,430 233,245
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An analysis of the changes in the goodwill and negative goodwill for the year ended 

December 31,  2005 is as follows:

 Goodwill Negative goodwill

Cost

Balance as at January 1, 2005 44,177 4,204

Additions 35,809 —

Foreign currency translation differences 1,411 —

Disposals from the effect of adopting revised IFRS (10,632)         (4,204)

Balance as at December 31, 2005  70,765 —

Amortization  

Balance as at January 1, 2005 10,632 1,170

Charge — —

Disposals from the effect of adopting revised IFRS          (10,632) (1,170)

Balance as at December 31, 2005          —  —

Net book value  

Balance as at January 1, 2005   33,545  3,034

Balance as at December 31, 2005   70,765       —

For the year ended December 31, 2004:

 Intangible Land and Machinery,  Construction

 assets buildings and equipment in progress Total

Cost

Balance as at January 1, 2004 68,374 89,997 90,695 6,516 255,582

Acquisition of subsidiary 430 903 339 33 1,705

Net additions 17,421 5,508 22,637 5,724 51,290

Foreign currency translation differences (93) (882) (198) (46) (1,219)

Net disposals  (3,804)    (900) (29,503)         —  (34,207)

Balance as at December 31, 2004 82,328 94,626  83,970  12,227 273,151

Depreciation and amortization 

Balance as at January 1, 2004 18,524 13,392 56,329 — 88,245

Net charge 13,602 2,482 13,066 — 29,150

Foreign currency translation differences (36) (31) (91) — (158)

Net disposals  (1,709)     (170) (16,982)         — (18,861)

Balance as at December 31, 2004  30,381 15,673  52,322         —   98,376

Net book value

Balance as at January 1, 2004 49,850 76,605  34,366    6,516 167,337

Balance as at December 31, 2004 51,947 78,953  31,648  12,227 174,775
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NOTE 12:   OTHER ASSETS (in HUF million)

  Restated 

 2005 2004

Property held for sale 13,408 13,289

Due from Hungarian Government for interest subsidies 3,895 19,964

Trade receivables 5,456 3,734

Advances for securities and investments 511 497

Taxes recoverable 1,654 1,438

Inventories 1,926 1,899

Other advances 7,758 3,250

Receivables from leasing activities 13,840 13,391

Receivables due from insurance bond holders 1,883 1,667

Receivables due from pension funds and fund management 2,243 1,283

Prepayments and accrued income 7,792 6,793

Receivables from investment services 1,231 203

  Restated 

 2005 2004

Fair value of derivative financial instruments 452 812

Other 12,749   9,391

 74,798 77,611

Allowance for losses on other assets  (3,427)  (3,372)

Total 71,371 74,239

Allowance for losses on other assets mainly consists of allowances for property held for sale, trade receivables, 

receivables from leasing activities and reinsurance receivables.

An analysis of the changes in the goodwill and negative goodwill for the year ended December 31, 

2004 is as follows:

 Goodwill Negatív goodwill

Cost 

Balance as at January 1, 2004 39,288 4,216

Additions 4,928 —

Foreign currency translation differences  (39) —

Disposals — (12)

Balance as at December 31, 2004 44,177 4,204

Amortization  

Balance as at January 1, 2004 2,964 1,040

Charge 7,668    130

Balance as at December 31, 2004 10,632 1,170

Net book value  

Balance as at January 1, 2004 36,324 3,176

Balance as at December 31, 2004 33,545 3,034
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An analysis of the change in the allowance for losses on other assets is as follows:

 2005 2004

Balance as at January 1 3,372 3,939

Release of allowance for losses 

on other assets (54) (569)

Credit 128 —

Foreign currency translation loss    (19)             2

Closing balance 3,427 3,372

NOTE 14:     DEPOSITS FROM CUSTOMERS (in HUF million)

 2005 2004

Within one year: 

In HUF 2,214,998 2,071,188

In foreign currency 1,137,175    769,103

 3,352,173 2,840,291

Over one year:

In HUF 72,480     60,654

In foreign currency        3,540        1,245

      76,020      61,899

Total 3,428,193 2,902,190

NOTE 13:     DUE TO BANKS AND DEPOSITS FROM THE NATIONAL BANK OF  
     HUNGARY AND OTHER BANKS (in HUF million)

 2005 2004

Within one year:

In HUF 8,018 18,366

In foreign currency 126,766 119,574

 134,784 137,940

Over one year:

In HUF 20,510 8,609

In foreign currency 208,830 107,576

 229,340 116,185

Total 364,124 254,125

Due to banks and deposits from the National Bank  

of Hungary and other banks payable in foreign currency 

within one year as at December 31, 2005 and 2004, 

bear interest rates in the range from 0.05% to 6.5% 

and from 0.5% to 17.4%, respectively.

Due to banks and deposits from the National Bank 

of Hungary and other banks payable in foreign currency 

over one year as at December 31, 2005 and 2004, 

bear interest rates in the range from 0.7% to 6.5% 

and from 0.5% to 6%, respectively.

Due to banks and deposits from the National Bank 

of Hungary and other banks payable in HUF within one 

year as at December 31, 2005 and 2004, bear interest 

rates in the range from 4.9% to 5.3% and from 8.9% 

to 12%, respectively.

Due to banks and deposits from the National Bank 

of Hungary and other banks payable in HUF over 

one year as at December 31, 2005 and 2004, bear 

interest rates in the range from 3.1% to 4.5% and 

from 3% to 9.5%, respectively.
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2005 and 2004, bear interest rates in the range 

from 0.1% to 18.5% and from 0.1% to 21%, 

respectively.

Deposits from customers payable in foreign 

currency over one year as at December 31, 2005 

and 2004, bear interest rates in the range 

from 2% to 18% and from 2% to 19%, respectively.

Deposits from customers payable in HUF within 

one year as at December 31, 2005 and 2004, 

bear interest rates in the range from 0.2% to 6.5% 

and from 0.5% to 9.9%, respectively.

Deposits from customers payable in HUF over 

one year as December 31, 2005 and 2004, bear 

interest rates in the range from 1% to 4.5% 

and from 3% to 6.5%, respectively.

Deposits from customers payable in foreign 

currency within one year as at December 31, 

NOTE 15:     LIABILITIES FROM ISSUED SECURITIES (in HUF million)

An analysis of deposits from customers by type, is as follows: 

  2005  2004

Commercial deposits 662,215 19% 549,830 19%

Municipality deposits 203,110 6% 196,515 7%

Consumer deposits 2,562,868   75% 2,155,845   74%

Total 3,428,193 100% 2,902,190 100%

on July 1, 2005 due July 1, 2010 and EUR 300 million 

variable-rate bonds at three month EURIBOR + 0,15% 

quarterly, on December 20, 2005 due December 

20, 2010, at a price of 99,81%.

46.42% and 78.1% of issued securities are 

denominated in HUF as at December 31, 2005 and 

2004, and bear interest rates in the range from 

0.3% to 12.5% and from 1.2% to 12%, respectively.

The Bank issued EUR 500 million variable-rate 

bonds at three month EURIBOR + 0,16% quarterly, 

An analysis of significant issued securities as at December 31, 2005 is as follows: 

Variable-rate Euro Bonds 202,267

Mortgage bonds 267,432

Other securities   73,761

Total 543,460
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NOTE 16:     OTHER LIABILITIES (in HUF million)

  Restated

 2005 2004

Deferred tax liabilities 2,761 2,175

Taxes payable 8,363 7,224

Giro clearing accounts 22,744 10,250

Accounts payable 12,253 14,199

Insurance liabilities 130,354 98,591

Salaries and social security payable 10,839 12,140

Liability from security trading 9,307 17,041

Provision for losses on off-balance sheet

 commitments and contingent liabilities 7,376 7,378

Dividends payable 617 566

Advances received from customers 689 2,400

Accrued expenses 10,214 14,565

Loan for collection 1,860 2,005

Suspense accounts 5,427 —

Advancement of Government grants for housing purposes 2,150 829

Fair value of derivative financial instruments designated

 as hedge accounting relationship 2,230 1,987

Fair value of derivative financial instruments designated

 as held for trading 8,199 1,200

Liabilities from trading activities (repurchase agreement) 5,785 12,523

Other   19,560     8,725

Total 260,728 213,798

The provision for losses on off-balance sheet commitments and contingent liabilities are 

detailed as follows:

 2005 2004

Provision for litigation 2,138 1,430

Provision for losses on off-balance sheet

 commitments and contingent liabilities 3,674 4,460

Other provision for expected liabilities 1,234 1,126

Provision for housing warranties    330    362

Total 7,376 7,378

constructors for any claims. The recovery of such 

claims is, however, dependent upon the financial 

status of the constructors, which is impaired  

in cer tain cases. A provision has been recorded  

to account for the estimated possible future losses 

due to housing warranties. The provision for housing 

warranties for pre 1991 construction was  

reversed by December 31, 2004 in l ine with  

the expenses related to housing warranties.  

The remaining provision for housing warranties 

relates to warranties from OTP Real Estate Ltd.

The provision for losses on other of f-balance sheet 

commitments and contingent liabilities primarily 

relates to commitments stemming from guarantees 

and credit lines issued by the Bank and other 

Group companies.

As part of its operations, until 1991, the Bank 

financed and constructed residential 

accommodations for resale on which it was required 

to provide a ten year guarantee against defective 

workmanship. The Bank has recourse against the 



90 OTP BANK Annual Report 2005

Movements in the allowance for losses on commitments and contingent liabilities can be 

summarized as follows:

 2005 2004

Balance as at January 1 7,378 8,357

Release of allowance for possible off-balance sheet 

 commitments and contingent liabilities (1,544) (924)

Release of allowance for housing warranties — (76)

Additions through business combinations 1,545 21

Foreign currency translation differences       (3)       —

Closing balance  7,376 7,378

Movements in insurance liabilities can be summarized as follows:

 2005 2004

Balance as at January 1 98,591 84,201

Net increase in insurance liabilities   31,763 14,390

Closing balance 130,354 98,591

NOTE 17:     SUBORDINATED BONDS AND LOANS

subordinated loan from the European Bank 

for Reconstruction and Development with 

the original maturi ty of December 27, 2006. 

The maturi ty date was modif ied 

to August 27, 2008 on August 22, 2003. 

The loan is unsecured, subordinate 

to the other l iabi l i t ies and has a twelve -year 

maturi ty, with interest payable at s ix-month 

LIBOR + 1.4% from December 27, 1996 unti l 

December 29, 1997, at six-month LIBOR + 1.0% 

from December 29, 1997 unti l 

June 28, 1999, at six-month LIBOR + 1.7% from 

June 28, 1999 unti l December 27, 2003 

and at s ix-month LIBOR + 1.35% from 

December 28, 2003 unti l August 27, 2008.

On March 4, 2005, the Bank issued EUR 125 million 

in bonds, which are subordinated to the other 

l iabil i t ies of the Bank. Interest on subordinated 

bonds is variable and payable at three-month 

EURIBOR + 0.55% quarterly. The original maturity 

of the bonds is 10 years. 

In 1993, the Bank issued HUF 5 bil l ion in bonds, 

which are subordinated to the other liabilities 

of the Bank and subscribed by the Hungarian 

Ministry of Finance. Interest on subordinated 

bonds and the frequency of payment of interests  

are based on condition of interest of 2013/C 

credit consolidated government bonds, which is 

a variable - rate bond, the interest payable  

and the rate of interest are f ixed twice a year.  

The semi -annual interest payable was 4.36%  

as at December 20, 2002, 3.25% as at June 20, 

2003, 4.8% as at December 20, 2003, 4.88%  

as at June 20, 2004 and 6.05% as  

at December 20, 2004, 5.46% as at June 20, 

2005, 3.08% as at December 20, 2005.  

The original maturity was 20 years. The proceeds  

of the subordinated bonds were invested  

in Hungarian Government bonds with similar 

interest conditions and maturity.

In December 1996, the Bank obtained a USD 

30 million and DEM 31.14 million (15.92 million in EUR) 
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NOTE 18:     SHARE CAPITAL (in HUF millon)

 2005 2004

Authorized, issued and fully paid:

 Common shares 28,000 28,000

 28,000 28,000

From September 3, 1997, the Bank has one 

preferential voting share (the “Special Share”) 

NOTE 19:     RETAINED EARNINGS AND RESERVES (in HUF millon)

  Restated 

      2005     2004

Balance as at January 1 431,127 309,220

Fair value adjustment of available-for-sale securities 

 recognised through equity 2,051 4,881

Share-based compensation 7,497 4,433

Net income after income taxes 158,235 131,506

Gain on sale of treasury shares 7,426 1,960

Foreign currency translation gain/(loss) 4,449 (2,740)

Derivative financial instruments designated as cash-flow hedge (46) (1,333)

Derecognition of opening balance of negative goodwill  3,034 —

Dividends (41,206) (16,800)

Closing balance 572,567 431,127

The Annual General Meeting on April 29, 2005 

decided that the Bank distributes HUF 41,206 million 

dividend for the year ended December 31, 2004.

Dividends for the year ended December 31, 

2005 wil l be approved by the Annual General 

Meeting in April , 2006. The proposed dividend 

is HUF 55,160 mil l ion.

The Bank ’s unconsolidated reserves under 

Hungarian Accounting Standards were 

HUF 310,215 million and HUF 243,848 million 

as at December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively. 

Of these amounts, legal reserves represent 

HUF 107,619 mil l ion and HUF 66,395 mil l ion as 

at December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively. 

The legal reserves are not available for distribution.

outstanding with a nominal value of HUF 1 thousand 

(see Note 1.1.).
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NOTE 20:     TREASURY SHARES (in HUF million)

 2005 2004

Nominal value (Common Shares) 1,796   1,801

Carrying value at acquisition cost 53,586 25,867

NOTE 21:     MINORITY INTEREST (in HUF million)

NOTE 22:    OTHER EXPENSES (in HUF million)

     2005      2004

Balance as at January 1 425 432

Minority interest purchased 398 (18)

Foreign currency translation gain/(loss) 23 (1)

Purchase of minority interest (394) —

Minority interest included in net income   39   12

Closing balance 491 425

     2005     2004

Release of allowance for securities held-to-maturity (30) —

Provision for permanent diminution 

 in value of equity investments 166 426

Provision/(release of allowance) for other assets 118 (569)

Release of allowance for off-balance sheet

 commitments and contingent liabilities (1,544) (924)

Administration expenses. including rent 29,831 25,996

Advertising 6,308 5,975

Taxes. other than income taxes 17,591 15,667

Special tax for banks 10,151 —

Services 22,993 22,029

Professional fees 5,169   4,003

Other   7,320   8,443

Total 98,073 81,046
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  Restated 

 2005  2004

  

Current tax 32,803 25,774

Deferred tax   1,000  (1,268)

Total 33,803 24,506

A reconciliation of the deferred tax liability is as follows:

  Restated 

 2005 2004

Balance as at January 1 (2,175) (2,579)

Acquisition of subsidiaries 1,795 97

Foreign currency translation (loss)/gain (180) 122

Deferred tax (charge)/credit (1,000)    1,268

Recognised in retained earnings and reserves (1,201) (1,083)

Closing balance (2,761) (2,175)

 

  Restated 

 2005      2004

Net income before income taxes 192,077 156,024

Income tax with statutory tax rate 30,732 24,868

Income tax adjustments are as follows:

 2005 2004

Reversal of statutory general provision (1,191) (699)

Reversal of statutory goodwill and negative goodwill (1,318) 288

Revaluation of investments denominated in foreign

 currency to historical cost 305 (346)

Profit on sale of Treasury Shares 1,188 314

Fair value of share-based compensations  1,200 376

Other   2,887    (295)

Income tax  33,803 24,506

Effective tax rate 17.6% 15.7%

A reconciliation of the income tax charges is as follows:

A reconciliation of the income tax charge is as follows:

NOTE 23:     INCOME TAXES (in HUF million)

relates to the Bank’s subsidiaries incorporated 

in Croatia and the 30% rate relates to the Bank’s 

United Kingdom subsidiary.

Deferred tax is calculated at the income tax rate of 16% 

in Hungary and Romania and 15% in Bulgaria, as these 

are the income tax rates effective from January 1, 2005.

The Group is presently liable for income tax at rates 

of 15%, 16%, 19%, 20% and 30% of taxable income. 

The 15% rate relates to the Bank’s subsidiaries 

incorporated in Bulgaria. The 16% rate relates to the 

Bank and its subsidiaries incorporated in Hungary 

and Romania. The 19% rate relates to the Bank’s 

subsidiaries incorporated in Slovakia. The 20% rate 
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A reconciliation of the deferred tax asset and liability is as follows:

  Restated 

 2005  2004

Premium and discount amortization on investment securities — 115

Allowance for losses on off-balance sheet commitments

 and contingent liabilities on derivative financial instruments — 5

Difference in accounting for finance leases 233 20

Fair value adjustment of derivative financial instruments 464 217

Repurchase agreements — 4

Losses available for carry forward  1,023    —

Other     —  142

Deferred tax asset  1,720   503

  Restated 

 2005 2004

Fair value adjustment of held for trading and available-for-sale

 financial assets (88) —

Allowance for losses on off-balance sheet commitments

and contingent liabilities on derivative financial instruments (99) —

Fair value adjustment of derivative financial instruments (1,304) (558)

Repurchase agreements (4) —

Fixed assets  (2,606) (1,842)

Temporary differences arising on consolidation (337) (278)

Other     (43)        —

Deferred tax liabilities (4,481) (2,678)

Net deferred tax liabilities  (2,761) (2,175)

NOTE 24:     FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

geographical and industry segments. Such risks 

are monitored on a revolving basis and subject 

to an annual or more frequent review. The exposure 

to any one borrower including banks and brokers 

is further restricted by sub-limits covering on and 

off-balance sheet exposures and daily delivery risk 

limits in relation to trading items such as forward 

foreign exchange contracts. Actual exposures 

against limits are monitored daily. Exposure to credit 

r isk is managed through regular analysis of 

the ability of borrowers and potential borrowers 

to meet interest and capital repayment obligations 

and by changing these lending l imits where 

appropriate. Exposure to credit risk is also managed 

in par t by obtaining collateral and corporate 

and personal guarantees.

A f inancial instrument is any contract that gives 

rise to the right to receive cash or another 

f inancial asset from another par ty (f inancial asset) 

or the obligation to deliver cash or another 

f inancial asset to another par ty (f inancial l iabil i ty).

Financial instruments may result in cer tain risks 

to the Group. The most signif icant risks the Group 

faces include:

Credit risk

The Group takes on exposure to credit risk which is 

the risk that a counter-party will be unable to pay 

amounts in ful l when due. The Group structures 

the levels of credit risk it undertakes by placing 

l imits on the amount of risk accepted in relation 

to one borrower, or Banks of borrowers, and to 
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NOTE 25:     OFF-BALANCE SHEET ITEMS AND DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL 
     INSTRUMENTS  (in HUF million)

instruments. The following represent notional 

amounts of these of f-balance sheet f inancial 

instruments, unless stated otherwise.

In the normal course of business, the Group 

becomes a par ty to various f inancial transactions 

that are not ref lected on the balance sheet and 

are referred to as of f-balance sheet f inancial 

Foreign currency risk

See Note 33.

Liquidity risk

See Note 34.

Interest rate risk

See Note 35.

Market risk

The Group takes on exposure to market risks. 

Market risks arise from open positions in interest 

rate, currency and equity products, all of which are 

exposed to general and specific market movements. 

The Group applies a ‘value at risk ’ methodology 

to estimate the market risk of positions held and 

the maximum losses expected, based upon a number 

of assumptions for various changes in market 

conditions. The Management Board of the Group 

sets limits on the value of risk that may be accepted, 

which is monitored on a daily basis.

(a) Contingent liabilities
 2005 2004

Commitments to extend credit 620,231 464,843

Guarantees arising from banking activities 118,203 98,514

Confirmed letters of credit 12,850 3,094

Legal disputes 4,180 2,567

Others        164        113

Total 755,628 569,131
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Guarantees, i rrevocable let ters of credi t 

and undrawn loan commitments are subject 

to s imi lar credi t r isk monitoring and credi t 

pol ic ies as uti l ised in the extension of loans. 

The management of the Group bel ieves 

the market r isk associated with guarantees, 

i rrevocable let ters of credi t and undrawn 

loans commitments to be minimal .

Legal disputes

At the balance sheet date the Group was 

involved in various claims and legal proceedings 

of a nature considered normal to i ts business. 

The level of these claims and legal proceedings 

correspond to the level of claims and legal 

proceedings in previous years.

The Group believes that the various asser ted 

claims and l i t igations in which i t is involved 

wil l not material ly af fect i ts f inancial position, 

future operating results or cash f lows, although 

no assurance can be given with respect 

to the ultimate outcome of any such claim 

or l i t igation. Provision due to legal disputes 

were HUF 2,138 mil l ion and HUF 1,430 mil l ion 

as at December 31, 2005 and 2004, 

respectively.

Commitments to extend credit, from 

guarantees and letters of credit

The primary purpose of these instruments is 

to ensure that funds are available to a customer 

as required. Guarantees and standby let ters of 

credit , which represent irrevocable assurances 

that the Group wil l make payments in the event 

that a customer cannot meet i ts obligations 

to third par ties, carry the same credit r isk as 

loans. Documentary and commercial let ters 

of credit , which are writ ten under takings by 

the Group on behalf of a customer authorising 

a third par ty to draw draf ts on the Group up to 

a stipulated amount under specif ic terms and 

conditions, are collateralised by the underlying 

shipments of goods to which they relate and 

therefore carry less risk than a direct borrowing.

Commitments to extend credit represent unused 

por tions of authorisations to extend credit in the 

form of loans, guarantees or let ters of credit . 

With respect to credit r isk on commitments to 

extend credit , the Group is potential ly exposed 

to loss in an amount equal to the total unused 

commitments. However, the l ikely amount 

of loss is less than the total unused commitments 

since most commitments to extend credit 

are contingent upon customers maintaining 

specif ic credit standards.
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As December 31, 2005, the Group has derivative 

instruments with positive fair values of HUF 10,533 million 

and negative fair values of HUF 10,429 million. 

Positive fair values of derivative instruments 

designated as hedge accounting relationships are 

included in other assets, while positive fair values 

of derivative instruments designated as held for 

trading are included in financial assets at fair value 

through statements of operations. Negative fair 

values of derivative instruments are included in other 

liabilities. Corresponding figures as at December 31, 

2004 are HUF 4,134 million and HUF 3,187 million. 

Foreign currency contracts

Foreign currency contracts are agreements 

to exchange specif ic amounts of currencies 

The Group maintains strict control limits on net open 

derivative positions, i.e. the difference between 

purchase and sale contracts, by both amount and 

term. At any one time the amount subject to credit 

risk is limited to the current fair value of instruments 

that are favourable to the Group (i.e. assets), which 

in relation to derivatives is only a small fraction 

of the contract or notional values used to express 

the volume of instruments outstanding. This credit 

risk exposure is managed as part of the overall 

lending limits with customers, together with 

potential exposures from market movements. 

Collateral or other security is not usually obtained 

for credit risk exposures on these instruments, except 

of trading with clients, where the Group in most 

of the cases requires margin deposits.

(b) Derivatives and other options (nominal amount,
 unless otherwise stated)
  Restated 

 2005    2004

Foreign currency contracts  

Assets 50,242 35,946

Liabilities   51,571  (38,672)

Net    (1,329)    (2,726)

Net fair value       (856)      (911)

Foreign exchange swaps and interest rate swaps 

designated as held for trading   

Assets 613,217 278,077

Liabilities 597,038 (288,168)

Net   16,179   (10,091)

Net fair value     1,228      3,035

Foreign exchange swaps and interest rate swaps 

designated as hedge accounting relationships  

Assets 12,031 27,873

Liabilities   14,023 (21,672)

Net   (1,992)     6,201

Net fair value      (687)        411

Option contracts  

Assets — 2,205

Liabilities           —           —

Net           —     2,205

Net fair value           —           —

Other options  

Assets — 6,834

Liabilities        341      (704)

Net      (341)     6,130

Net fair value           —           —
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Such notional pr incipal amounts of ten are used 

to express the volume of these transactions 

but are not actual ly exchanged between 

the counter-par t ies . 

The Group’s interest rate swaps were used for 

management of interest rate exposures and have 

been accounted for at mark- to -market fair value.

Forward rate agreements

A forward rate agreement is an agreement to 

set tle amounts at a specif ied future date based on 

the dif ference between an interest rate index and 

an agreed upon f ixed rate. Market risk arises from 

changes in the market value of contractual 

positions caused by movements in interest rates. 

The Group l imits i ts exposure to market risk 

by entering into generally matching or of fset ting 

positions and by establishing and monitoring 

l imits on unmatched positions. Credit r isk is 

managed through approval procedures that 

establish specif ic l imits for individual 

counterpar ties. The Group’s forward rate 

agreements were transacted for management 

of interest rate exposures and have been 

accounted for at mark-to -market fair value.

For an analysis of the allowance for losses on 

of f balance sheet commitments and contingent 

l iabil i t ies, see Note 16.

at a specif ied rate of exchange, at a spot date 

(set tlement occurs two days af ter the trade date) 

or at a forward date (set tlement occurs more 

than two days af ter the trade date). The notional 

amount of these contracts does not represent 

the actual market or credit r isk associated 

with these contracts.

Foreign currency contracts are used by the Group 

for risk management and trading purposes. 

The Group’s risk management foreign currency 

contracts were used to hedge against exchange 

rate fluctuations on loans and advances to credit 

institutions denominated in foreign currency.

Foreign exchange swaps and interest rate 

swaps

The Group enters into foreign -exchange swap 

and interest rate swap transactions. The swap 

transaction is a complex agreement concerning 

to the swap of cer tain f inancial instruments, 

which usual ly consist of a prompt and one 

or more futures contracts .

Interest rate swaps obl igate two par t ies to 

exchange one or more payments calculated with 

reference to f ixed or periodical ly reset rates 

of interest appl ied to a speci f ic notional pr incipal 

amount . Notional pr incipal is the amount upon 

which interest rates are appl ied to determine 

the payment streams under interest rate swaps. 

of the average market price of the month before 

the Annual General Meeting.

The 2005 Annual General Meeting approved a five 

year share option program for the years 2005  

to 2009 under which options are granted annually. 

Such options have a grant date of April 29, 2005. 

The maximum number of shares available is 

2.92 million annually.

The 2000 Annual General Meeting approved 

a f ive year share option and bonus program for 

the years 2000 to 2004 granting options and 

bonus shares on an annual basis. Such options 

are for the years 2003 and 2004, the grant date 

is December 31, 2002.

The exercise price of the share options related 

to the years 2003 and 2004 is equal to half 

NOTE 26:    SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION
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for the years 2005 to 2009 is two years. 

The exercise period of the option program 

for the years 2005 to 2009 must be opened 

af ter the calendar year but not later than 

August 31. I f the options remain unexercised 

before the end of the exercise period, such 

options expire. Additionally, options are forfeited 

i f the employee leaves the Bank before 

the options vest .

The exercise prices of the options for each year 

for the years 2005 to 2009 is equal to the average 

market price of OTP shares in the two month 

period ending on the last day of the month of 

the Annual General Meeting.

The exercise period of the share options granted 

for the years of 2003 and 2004 is one year 

and for the f ive year share option program 

outstanding at December 31, 2005 had a weighted 

average exercise price of HUF 6,079 with 

a weighted average remaining contractual l i fe 

of 18 months.

The weighted average share price at the date of 

exercise for share options of 2003 and 2004 

exercised during the year ended December 31, 

2005 was HUF 6,116 and 7,333. The options 

 For the year ended December 31, 2004 For the year ended December 31, 2005

 Options Weighted average  Options Weighted average 

 (piece of shares) exercise price (in HUF) (piece of shares)   exercise price (in HUF)

Outstanding at beginning of period 3,599,930 2,548 3,575,930 2,552

Granted during the period — — 4,251,500 5,446

Forfeited during the period — — 30,000 3,107

Exercised during the period 24,000 1,980 4,451,230 2,661

Outstanding at the end of the period 3,575,930 2,552 3,346,200 6,079

Exercisable at the end of the period 1,761,930 1,980 446,200 3,107

The inputs into the Binominal model are as follows:

 2003 2004 2005

Weighted average share price (HUF) 2,210 2,210 6,060

Weighted average exercise price (HUF) 1,211 1,264 6,536

Expected volatility (%) 25 30 35

Expected life (average year) 2.42 3.42 3.34

Risk free rate (%) 7.30 7.17 7.46

Expected dividends (%) 1.24 1.24 2.41

In connection with the share -based payment 

programs approved by the Bank and applying 

IFRS 2, HUF 7,497 mil l ion and HUF 2,348 mil l ion 

has been recognised as an expense for the years 

ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, 

respectively. 

Expected volati l i ty was determined by calculating 

the historical volati l i ty of the Bank ’s share price 

over three months prior to the grant date. 

The expected l i fe used in the model has been 

adjusted, based on management’s best estimate, 

for the ef fects of non-transferabil i ty, exercise 

restrictions, and behavioural considerations. 
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NOTE 27:   RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (in HUF million)

The amount of loans extended to unconsolidated 

subsidiaries was HUF 45,603 mil l ion and 

HUF 16,991 mil l ion as at December 31, 2005 

and 2004, respectively.

The compensation of key management personnel, 

such as the members of the Board of Directors, 

members of the Supervisory Board, key 

employees of the Bank and i ts major subsidiaries 

involved in the decision-making process 

according to the compensation categories 

def ined in IAS 24, is summarised below:

The members of the Board of Directors and 

the Supervisory Board had credit l ines of 

HUF 188 mil l ion and HUF 194 mil l ion as at 

December 31, 2005 and 2004. Such credit  

is made available at normal market conditions.

In the normal course of business, the Bank gives loans 

and provides services to other related parties at 

normal market conditions. The amount of these loans 

was HUF 283 million and HUF 294 million, with 

commitments to extend credit and guarantees 

of HUF 112 million and HUF 126 million as 

at December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

 2005 2004

Short-term employee benefits 9,964 9,156

Termination benefits      15    116

Share-based compensation  4,517  1,113

Total 14,496 10,385

NOTE 28:   CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (in HUF million)

 2005 2004

Cash, due from banks and balances with

 the National Bank of Hungary 483,191 465,887

Compulsory reserve established by 

 the National Bank of Hungary (121,195) (110,214)

  361,996  355,673

NOTE 29:   ACQUISITIONS (in HUF million)

in cash. The Bank acquired 100% of the shares 

of OTP banka Hrvatska d.d. through a series 

of transactions.

On July 30, 2004 the Group completed the 

acquisition of 100% of the shares of RoBank S.A., 

a Romanian bank (renamed OTP Bank Romania S.A.). 

The purchase price of RoBank S.A . 

of USD 47.5 mil l ion was provided in cash.

(a) Purchase and consolidation of 
subsidiary undertakings

On March 10, 2005 the Group completed 

the acquisi t ion of 95.59% of the shares of Nova 

banka d.d., a Croatian bank (renamed OTP banka 

Hrvatska d.d.) , which has subsequently been 

increased to 100%. The total purchase price of 

Nova banka d.d. of EUR 248 mil l ion was provided 
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The fair value of the assets and liabilities acquired, and related goodwill is as follows:

 At acquisition date At acquisition date 

 OTP banka Hrvatska d.d. OTP Bank Romania S.A.

Cash, due from banks, and balances with 

 the National Bank (2,274) (326)

Placements with other banks. net of allowance for

 placement losses (73,431) (14,046)

Securities available-for-sale (40,929) (214)

Loans, net of allowance for loan losses (122,056) (17,856)

Accrued interest receivable (1,643) (225)

Equity investment (669) (35)

Debt securities held-to-maturity (1,168) (375)

Premises. equipment and intangible assets (7,944) (1,705)

Other assets (3,439) (1,011)

Due to banks and deposits from the

 National Bank and other banks 9,201 5,469

Deposits from customers 212,841 25,001

Accrued interest payable 1,566 376

Other liabilities 4,580 106

Subordinated loans      1,233         —

Net asset value  (24,132)   (4,841)

Goodwill  (35,809)   (4,926)

Cash consideration  (59,941) (9,767)

(b)  Analysis of net outflow of cash in respect of purchase of subsidiaries
 2005  2004

Cash consideration (59,941) (9,767)

Cash acquired    2,274     326

Net cash outflow (57,667) (9,441)

NOTE 30:     MAJOR SUBSIDIARIES

They are fully consolidated companies and 

incorporated in Hungary unless indicated otherwise.

Equity investments in companies in which the Bank 

has a controlling interest are detailed below. 

Name  Ownership (Direct and Indirect) Activity

December 31,   December 31, 

2005                2004

OTP Garancia Insurance Ltd. 100.00% 100.00% insurance

OTP Real Estate Ltd. 100.00% 100.00% real estate management and development

OTP Real Estate Management Ltd. — 100.00% real estate management

HIF Ltd. (United Kingdom) 100.00% 100.00% forfaiting

Merkantil Bank Ltd. 100.00% 100.00% financing car purchases

Merkantil Car Ltd. 100.00% 100.00% financing car purchases, leasing

OTP Building Society Ltd. 100.00% 100.00% financing flat purchase and reconstruction
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The table above provides an analysis of the Group’s 

main currency exposures. The remaining currencies 

are shown within ‘Others’. Whilst the Group monitors 

i ts foreign exchange position for compliance with 

the regulatory requirements of the National Bank of 

Hungary and own limit system established in respect 

Name  Ownership (Direct and Indirect) Activity

continued   December 31,   December 31, 

  2005                2004

Bank Center No. 1. Ltd. 100.00% 100.00% letting real estates

OTP Factoring Ltd. 100.00% 100.00% work-out

Inga Companies 100.00% 100.00% property management

OTP Fund Management Ltd. 100.00% 100.00% fund management

OTP Mortgage Bank Ltd. 100.00% 100.00% mortgage lending

OTP Fund Services and Consulting Ltd. 100.00% 100.00% fund services

OTP Banka Slovensko, a. s. (Slovakia) 97.23% 97.23% commercial banking services

DSK Bank EAD (Bulgaria) 100.00% 100.00% commercial banking services

OTP Bank Romania S.A. (Romania) 100.00% 100.00% commercial banking services

OTP banka Hrvatska d.d. (Croatia) 100.00% — commercial banking services

NOTE 31:     TRUST ACTIVITIES

of the Bank, they have been excluded from the 

accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheet. The total 

amount of such loans managed by the Bank as a trustee 

amounted to HUF 46,825 million and HUF 47,301 million 

as at December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

The Bank acts as a trustee for certain loans granted by 

companies or employers to their employees, mainly for 

housing purposes. The ultimate risk for these loans rests 

with the party advancing the funds. As these loans and 

related funds are not considered to be assets or liabilities 

NOTE 32:     CONCENTRATION OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

or the National Bank of Hungary as at December 31, 

2005 and 2004, respectively.

Approximately 18.5% and 22.5% of the Group’s 

total assets consist of receivables from, 

or securities issued by, the Hungarian Government 

NOTE 33:     NET FOREIGN CURRENCY POSITION AND FOREIGN 
     CURRENCY RISK (in HUF million)

As at December 31, 2005 USD EUR Others Total

Assets 201,662 746,710 1,128,786 2,077,158

Liabilities (174,739) (858,881) (838,748) (1,872,368)

Off-balance sheet assets and liabilities, net   (35,644)   (71,103) (259,463)   (366,210)

Net position     (8,721)  (183,274)     30,575    (161,420)

As at December 31, 2004 USD EUR Others Total

Assets 121,154 421,323 623,386 1,165,863

Liabilities (115,360) (417,814) (567,746) (1,100,920)

Off-balance sheet assets and liabilities, net   (16,449)         286   (30,990)    (47,153)

Net position   (10,655)      3,795     24,650       17,790
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Liquidity risk is a measure of the extent to which the 

Group may be required to raise funds to meet its 

commitments associated with financial instruments. 

The Group maintains its liquidity profiles in accordance 

with regulations laid down by the National Bank 

of Hungary. The following tables provide an analysis 

NOTE 34:     MATURITY ANALYSIS OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 
     AND LIQUIDITY RISK (in HUF million)

of assets, liabilities and shareholders’ equity into relevant 

maturity groupings based on the remaining period from 

the balance sheet date to the contractual maturity date. 

It is presented under the most prudent consideration 

of maturity dates where options or repayment 

schedules allow for early repayment possibilities.

As at December 31, 2005

 Within 3 Within one year Within 5 years  Over 5 years Total 

 months and over 3 months and over one year 

Cash, due from banks and balances

 with the National Bank of Hungary 483,191 — — — 483,191

Placements with other banks. net of

 allowance for placement losses 391,722 17,502 26,933 2,611 438,768

Financial assets at fair value through

 statements of operations 2,029 6,524 29,119 10,382 48,054

Securities available-for-sale 49,966 86,875 170,402 102,702 409,945

Loans, net of allowance for loan losses 320,488 518,413 1,157,581 1,194,816 3,191,298

Accrued interest receivable 33,294 3,142 795 639 37,870

Equity investments — — 36 12,321 12,357

Debt securities held-to-maturity 42,339 81,780 92,235 73,449 289,803

Premises, equipment and intangible assets, net 331 1,120 84,030 147,764 233,245

Other assets      29,182   24,344      14,727        3,118     71,371

Total assets 1,352,542 739,700 1,575,858 1,547,802 5,215,902

Due to banks and deposits from the

 National Bank of Hungary and other banks 109,974 24,478 193,144 36,528 364,124

Deposits from customers 3,068,438 283,734 63,995 12,026 3,428,193

Liabilities from issued securities 21,318 44,345 273,509 204,288 543,460

Accrued interest payable 14,751 6,843 3,119 189 24,902

Other liabilities 109,301 8,391 52,950 90,086 260,728

Subordinated bonds and loans             —           —       9,831   37,192      47,023

Total liabilities 3,323,782 367,791   596,548 380,309 4,668,430

Share capital — — — 28,000 28,000

Retained earnings and reserves — — — 572,567 572,567

Treasury shares (200) (15,431) (37,955) — (53,586)

Minority interests             —          —                          — 491           491

Total shareholders’ equity          (200) (15,431)    (37,955) 601,058    547,472

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity  3,323,582 352,360   558,593 981,367 5,215,902

Liquidity (deficiency)/excess (1,971,040) 387,340 1,017,265 566,435            —

of l imits on open positions. The measurement 

of the Group’s open foreign currency position 

involves monitoring the ‘value at risk ’ limit on 

the foreign exchange exposure of the Group.
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As at December 31, 2004 (Restated)

 Within 3 Within one year Within 5 years  Over 5 years Total 

 months and over 3 months and over one year 

Cash, due from banks and balances 

 with the National Bank of Hungary 465,887 — — — 465,887

Placements with other banks, net of

 allowance for placement losses 258,986 17,147 9,755 312 286,200

Financial assets at fair value through 

statements of operations 27,930 25,458 7,103 10,089 70,580

Securities available-for-sale 33,535 46,717 161,313 54,270 295,835

Loans, net of allowance for loan losses 221,991 406,757 1,022,698 855,349 2,506,795

Accrued interest receivable 27,677 2,738 622 363 31,400

Equity investments — — — 9,389 9,389

Debt securities held-to-maturity 1,577 63,378 113,186 69,118 247,259

Premises, equipment and intangible

 assets, net (2,719) 1,056 45,670 130,768 174,775

Other assets       41,503   17,706      14,311          719      74,239

Total assets  1,076,367 580,957 1,374,658 1,130,377 4,162,359

Due to banks and deposits from the

 National Bank of Hungary and other banks 76,319 61,340 98,175 18,291 254,125

Deposits from customers 2,619,350 220,945 55,693 6,202 2,902,190

Liabilities from issued securities 24,780 42,159 42,222 208,061 317,222

Accrued interest payable 15,451 8,574 2,891 99 27,015

Other liabilities 104,237 10,131 30,624 68,806 213,798

Subordinated bonds and loans               —           —       9,324       5,000      14,324

Total liabilities  2,840,137 343,149   238,929   306,459 3,728,674

Share capital — — — 28,000 28,000

Retained earnings and reserves — — — 431,127 431,127

Treasury shares (327) (14,659) (1,300) (9,581) (25,867)

Minority interests — — — 425 425

Total shareholders’ equity          (327) (14,659)     (1,300)   449,971    433,685

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity  2,839,810 328,490   237,629   756,430 4,162,359

Liquidity (deficiency)/excess (1,763,443) 252,467 1,137,029   373,947              —
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NOTE 35:     INTEREST RATE RISK MANAGEMENT

In addition, the signif icant spread existing 

between the dif ferent types of interest bearing 

assets and liabilities enables the Group to benefit 

from a high level of f lexibil i ty in adjusting 

for i ts interest rate matching and interest rate 

risk exposure.

The fol lowing table presents the interest 

repricing dates of the Group. Variable yield 

assets and l iabi l i t ies have been repor ted 

according to their next repricing date. 

Fixed income assets and liabilities have been 

repor ted according to their maturi ty.

Interest rate r isk is the risk that the value 

of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes 

in market interest rates. The length of time 

for which the rate of interest is f ixed on a financial 

instrument, therefore, indicates to what extent 

it is exposed to interest rate risk.

The majority of the Group ‘s interest bearing 

assets and liabilities are structured to match either 

shor t- term assets and shor t- term liabil i t ies, 

or long-term assets and liabilities with repricing 

opportunities within one year, or long-term assets 

and corresponding l iabil i t ies where repricing 

is per formed simultaneously.
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Within 1 month Over 1 month and 
within 3 months

Over 3 months and 
within 12 months

Over 1 year and 
within 2 years Over 2 years Non-interest-

bearing Total Total

HUF Currency HUF Currency HUF Currency HUF Currency HUF Currency HUF Currency HUF Currency

ASSETS
Due to banks and deposits from the National 
Bank of Hungary and other banks 28,522 99,893 – 187,842 – 15,685 1 11,329 4 16,856 1 3,991 28,528 335,596 364,124

     fixed rate 701 38,616 – 7,500 – 5,454 1 5,455 3 9,872 – – 705 66,897 67,602

     variable rate 27,821 61,277 – 180,342 – 10,231 – 5,874 1 6,984 – – 27,822 264,708 292,530

     non-interest-bearing – – – – – – – – – – 1 3,991 1 3,991 3,992

Deposits from customers 2,057,329 954,508 152,830 87,925 21,851 87,677 12,701 1,424 42,183 2,718 584 6,463 2,287,478 1,140,715 3,428,193

     fixed rate 744,560 277,454 152,830 79,369 21,851 74,031 12,701 1,149 42,183 1,881 – – 974,125 433,884 1,408,009

     variable rate 1,312,769 677,054 – 8,556 – 13,646 – 275 – 837 – – 1,312,769 700,368 2,013,137

     non-interest-bearing – – – – – – – – – – 584 6,463 584 6,463 7,047

Liabilities from issued securities 19,657 128,759 31,549 85,100 38,567 6,746 4,823 6,682 149,743 63,907 7,919 8 252,258 291,202 543,460

     fixed rate 6,602 2,700 9,491 9,248 38,567 6,746 4,823 6,682 149,743 63,907 – – 209,226 89,283 298,509

     variable rate 13,055 126,059 22,058 75,852 – – – – – – – – 35,113 201,911 237,024

     non-interest-bearing – – – – – – – – – – 7,919 8 7,919 8 7,927
Fair value of derivative financial instruments 
in other liabilities 44,023 118,047 52,582 148,297 18,614 41,790 18,591 202 158,557 7,066 – – 292,367 315,402 607,769

     fixed rate 43,214 111,919 40,396 74,913 14,281 41,790 18,591 202 158,557 7,066 – – 275,039 235,890 510,929

     variable rate 809 6,128 12,186 73,384 4,333 – – – – – – – 17,328 79,512 96,840

Subordinated bonds and loans 5,000 – – 31,591 – 10,432 – – – – – – 5,000 42,023 47,023

     variable rate 5,000 – – 31,591 – 10,432 – – – – – – 5,000 42,023 47,023

As at December 31, 2005

Within 1 month Over 1 month and 
within 3 months

Over 3 months and 
within 12 months

Over 1 year and 
within 2 years Over 2 years Non-interest-

bearing Total Total

HUF Currency HUF Currency HUF Currency HUF Currency HUF Currency HUF Currency HUF Currency

ASSETS
Cash, due from banks and balances with the 
National Bank of Hungary 404,859 4,733 4 1,021 72 – – – 1 3,423 47,493 21,585 452,429 30,762 483,191 

     fixed rate 404,400 3,526 2 – – – – – – – – – 404,402 3,526 407,928 

     variable rate 459 1,207 2 1,021 72 – – – – – – – 533 2,228 2,761 

     non-interest-bearing – – – – – – – – 1 3,423 47,493 21,585 47,494 25,008 72,502 

Placements with other banks, net of allowan-
ce for possible placement losses 76,910 265,237 20,000 16,954 200 8,832 – 89 – 1,321 – 49,225 97,110 341,658 438,768 

     fixed rate 73,910 243,879 20,000 7,754 200 3,943 – 89 – 1,137 – – 94,110 256,802 350,912 

     variable rate 3,000 21,358 – 9,200 – 4,889 – – – 184 – – 3,000 35,631 38,631 

     non-interest-bearing – – – – – – – – – – – 49,225 – 49,225 49,225 

Securities held for trading 369 3,763 1,110 522 1,850 1,755 8,169 972 10,300 8,706 198 259 21,996 15,977 37,973 

     fixed rate 369 – 211 – 1,778 1,755 8,169 972 10,300 8,706 – - 20,827 11,433 32,260 

     variable rate – 3,763 899 522 72 – – – – – – – 971 4,285 5,256 

     non-interest-bearing – – – – – – – – – – 198 259 198 259 457 

Securities available-for-sale 30,305 7,136 39,580 16,241 57,919 17,499 30,678 28,100 124,714 33,148 22,296 2,329 305,492 104,453 409,945 

     fixed rate 7,591 463 11,544 1,704 57,378 12,266 30,678 28,100 124,714 28,666 – – 231,905 71,199 303,104 

     variable rate 22,714 6,673 28,036 14,537 541 5,233 – – – 4,482 – – 51,291 30,925 82,216 

     non-interest-bearing – – – – – – – – – – 22,296 2,329 22,296 2,329 24,625 

Loans 456,855 645,890 459,196 485,887 55,760 94,195 58,626 32,058 714,857 171,614 7,506 8,854 1,752,800 1,438,498 3,191,298 

     fixed rate 4,760 6,863 7,127 8,347 5,644 24,209 3,552 9,862 7,881 47,569 – – 28,964 96,850 125,814 

     variable rate 452,095 639,027 452,069 477,540 50,116 69,986 55,074 22,196 706,976 124,045 – – 1,716,330 1,332,794 3,049,124 

     non-interest-bearing – – – – – – – – – – 7,506 8,854 7,506 8,854 16,360 

Debt securities held-to-maturity 23,688 14,532 61,639 10,495 60,892 4,927 9,945 6,186 76,596 20,348 – 555 232,760 57,043 289,803 

     fixed rate – 2,973 5,933 9,852 50,102 3,760 9,945 6,186 76,596 20,348 – – 142,576 43,119 185,695 

     variable rate 23,688 11,559 55,706 643 10,790 1,167 – – – – – – 90,184 13,369 103,553 

     non-interest-bearing – – – – – – – – – – – 555 – 555 555 

Fair value of derivative financial instruments 90,496 80,844 108,836 92,128 69,538 2,261 16,752 – 45,549 101,459 – – 331,171 276,692 607,863 

     fixed rate 82,516 72,723 97,269 18,141 56,724 2,261 16,752 – 45,549 101,459 – – 298,810 194,584 493,394 

     variable rate 7,980 8,121 11,567 73,987 12,814 – – – – – – – 32,361 82,108 114,469 

As at December 31, 2005
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Within 1 month Over 1 month and 
within 3 months

Over 3 months and 
within 12 months

Over 1 year and 
within 2 years Over 2 years Non-interest-

bearing Total Total

HUF Currency HUF Currency HUF Currency HUF Currency HUF Currency HUF Currency HUF Currency

ASSETS
Due to banks and deposits from the National 
Bank of Hungary and other banks 16,356 151,394 3,460 62,873 6,679 6,944 – 3,351 – 2,024 480 564 26,975 227,150 254,125 

     fixed rate 14,486 51,530 – 9,198 72 3,339 – 337 – 2,024 – – 14,558 66,428 80,986 

     variable rate 1,870 99,864 3,460 53,675 6,607 3,605 – 3,014 – – – – 11,937 160,158 172,095 

     non-interest-bearing – – – – – – – – – – 480 564 480 564 1,044 

Deposits from customers 1,735,862 680,874 345,501 41,204 12,552 42,108 11,533 518 26,098 126 296 5,518 2,131,842 770,348 2,902,190 

     fixed rate 538,670 213,563 345,501 41,204 12,552 42,108 11,533 518 26,098 126 – – 934,354 297,519 1,231,873 

     variable rate 1,197,192 467,311 – – – – – – – – – – 1,197,192 467,311 1,664,503 

     non-interest-bearing – – – – – – – – – – 296 5,518 296 5,518 5,814 

Liabilities from issued securities 13,030 1,205 42,435 127 38,295 210 – 52 153,987 67,708 95 78 247,842 69,380 317,222 

     fixed rate 263 1,205 20,627 127 38,193 210 – 52 153,987 67,708 – – 213,070 69,302 282,372 

     variable rate 12,767 – 21,808 – 102 – – – – – – – 34,677 – 34,677 

     non-interest-bearing – – – – – – – – – – 95 78 95 78 173 
Fair value of derivative financial instruments 
in other liabilities 13,087 87,629 29,353 67,794 58,173 18,559 5,000 3,935 31,761 7,133 – 1 137,374 185,051 322,425 

     fixed rate 1,587 79,662 3,353 17,430 28,412 18,559 5,000 3,935 31,761 7,133 – – 70,113 126,719 196,832 

     variable rate 11,500 7,967 26,000 50,364 29,761 – – – – – – – 67,261 58,331 125,592 

     non-interest-bearing – – – – – – – – – – – 1 – 1 1 

Subordinated bonds and loans – – – – 5,000 9,324 – – – – – – 5,000 9,324 14,324 

     variable rate – – – – 5,000 9,324 – – – – – – 5,000 9,324 14,324 

Net position (584,819) (277,765) 185,100 179,717 86,682 (2,656) 94,750 11,360 561,156 2,446 75,998 51,938 418,867 (34,960) 383,907

As at December 31, 2004

Within 1 month Over 1 month and 
within 3 months

Over 3 months and 
within 12 months

Over 1 year and 
within 2 years Over 2 years Non-interest-

bearing Total Total

HUF Currency HUF Currency HUF Currency HUF Currency HUF Currency HUF Currency HUF Currency

ASSETS
Cash, due from banks and balances with the 
National Bank of Hungary 390,087 1,021 353 – – – – – – – 53,191 21,235 443,631 22,256 465,887 

     fixed rate 383,007 944 – – – – – – – – – – 383,007 944 383,951 

     variable rate 7,080 77 353 – – – – – – – – – 7,433 77 7,510 

     non-interest-bearing – – – – – – – – – – 53,191 21,235 53,191 21,235 74,426 
Placements with other banks, net of allowan-
ce for possible placement losses 121,879 101,553 800 16,873 200 10,035 – 7 24 – 3,962 30,867 126,865 159,335 286,200 

     fixed rate 119,108 97,140 500 5,066 200 4,802 – 7 24 – – – 119,832 107,015 226,847 

     variable rate 2,771 4,413 300 11,807 – 5,233 – – – – – – 3,071 21,453 24,524 

     non-interest-bearing – – – – – – – – – – 3,962 30,867 3,962 30,867 34,829 

Securities held for trading 5,710 2,677 19,572 4,027 17,114 2,311 73 313 5,490 9,815 155 1 48,114 19,144 67,258 

     fixed rate 5,624 – 18,734 202 17,040 635 73 313 5,490 9,815 – – 46,961 10,965 57,926 

     variable rate 86 2,677 838 3,825 74 1,676 – – – – – – 998 8,178 9,176 

     non-interest-bearing – – – – – – – – – – 155 1 155 1 156 

Securities available-for-sale 24,680 14,688 44,570 7,446 51,082 2,851 27,964 3,557 70,636 29,202 17,921 1,238 236,853 58,982 295,835 

     fixed rate 1,847 – 29,008 1,570 50,752 1,823 27,964 3,557 70,636 29,202 – – 180,207 36,152 216,359 

     variable rate 22,833 14,688 15,562 5,876 330 1,028 – – – – – – 38,725 21,592 60,317 

     non-interest-bearing – – – – – – – – – – 17,921 1,238 17,921 1,238 19,159 

Loans 552,944 495,624 394,328 305,704 32,782 37,767 33,079 7,686 628,101 12,382 1,640 4,758 1,642,874 863,921 2,506,795 

     fixed rate 7,653 8,972 17,508 6,356 4,713 13,455 4,962 4,069 12,165 10,286 – – 47,001 43,138 90,139 

     variable rate 545,291 486,652 376,820 299,348 28,069 24,312 28,117 3,617 615,936 2,096 – – 1,594,233 816,025 2,410,258 

     non-interest-bearing – – – – – – – – – – 1,640 4,758 1,640 4,758 6,398 

Debt securities held-to-maturity 24,187 811 75,795 190 53,130 1,832 26,167 3,718 39,490 21,939 – – 218,769 28,490 247,259 

     fixed rate 499 53 – 190 42,340 1,519 26,167 3,718 39,490 21,907 – – 108,496 27,387 135,883 

     variable rate 23,688 758 75,795 – 10,790 313 – – – 32 – – 110,273 1,103 111,376 

Fair value of derivative financial instruments 74,029 26,963 70,431 17,475 53,073 19,693 24,000 3,935 29,261 6,099 – – 250,794 74,165 324,959 

     fixed rate 53,729 26,963 255 17,475 14,312 18,709 24,000 3,935 29,261 6,099 – – 121,557 73,181 194,738 

     variable rate 20,300 – 70,176 – 38,761 984 – – – – – – 129,237 984 130,221 

As at December 31, 2004
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NOTE 36:     EARNINGS PER SHARE

the year at tributable to common shareholders, 

by the weighted average number of common 

shares outstanding during the period.

Consolidated Earnings per share attributable 

to the Group’s common shares are determined 

based on dividing consolidated net income for 

Diluted Earnings per share are determined after 

additionally taking into consideration the option 

rights granted.

The weighted average number of common shares 

outstanding during the period does not include 

treasury shares.

NOTE 37:     SEGMENT REPORTING (in HUF million)

Business segments are distinguishable 

components of the Group that provide products 

or services that are subject to r isks and rewards 

that are dif ferent to those of other business 

segments. Business segments are the secondary 

repor ting segments.

Geographical segments provide products or services 

within a particular economic environment that 

is subject to dif ferent risks and rewards that are 

dif ferent to those of components operating in other 

economic environments. Geographical segments 

are the primary reporting segments.

  Restated 

 2005 2004

Consolidated net income (in HUF mn) 158,235 131,506

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding during 

the year for calculating basic EPS (piece) 262,195,663 262,425,151

Consolidated Basic Earnings per share (in HUF) 603 501

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding during 

the year for calculating diluted EPS (piece) 264,320,310 263,565,631

Consolidated Diluted Earnings per share (in HUF) 599 499
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37.1. Primary reporting format by geographical segments
 Hungary United  Slovakia Bulgaria Romania Croatia Elimination Consolidated

  Kingdom

Interest income        

External 387,773 854 11,714 43,442 3,706 11,535 — 459,024

Inter-segment        797    — —      284       —          —  (1,081)            —

Total 388,570 854 11,714 43,726 3,706 11,535 (1,081) 459,024

Non-interest income        

External 192,097 65 7,400 11,167 1,851 3,917 — 216,497

Inter-segment           70   —        —      382        —       —  (452)            —

Total 192,167 65 7,400 11,549 1,851 3,917 (452) 216,497

Segment income 

before income taxes 172,430 194 809 19,601 (2,182) 3,117 (1,892) 192,077

Income taxes — — — — — — —     (33,803)

Net income after 

income taxes — — — — — — — 158,274

Segment assets 4,003,566 14,369 287,763 610,114 60,094 332,083 (92,087) 5,215,902

Segment liabilities 3,657,452 12,249 270,635 509,237 41,450 267,603 (90,196) 4,668,430

Capital expenditure 1,964 — 482 5,567 1,972 — — 9,985

Depreciation 17,640 1 897 2,481 462 416 –- 21,897

Allowance for loan

and placement losses 20,196 8 1,647 5,151 777 253 10 28,042

NOTE 38:     POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS

Based on the authorization of the Annual General 

Meeting of the year 2005, the Bank repurchased 

1,000,000 pieces of own shares between 

January 1 and 25, 2006 at an average price 

of HUF 7,405.

On October 24, 2005 the Bank made a binding bid for 

purchasing 89.39% of the shares of Niska banka a.d. 

registered in Serbia. The purchase agreement 

was signed on December 23, 2005 at pr ice of 

EUR 14.21 million. The transaction was closed on 

March 7, 2006. The total assets of Niska banka were 

approximately 38 million EUR as at December 31, 2005.

37.2. Secondary segment information by business segments
 Banking segment Insurance segment

Total segment income 588,998 82,860

Segment net income before income taxes 187,109 7,580

Segment assets 5,094,822 157,225

Capital expenditure 8,517 310



110 OTP BANK Annual Report 2005



111Non-consolidated IFRS financial statements

Balance Sheet
(unconsolidated, based on IFRS, as at December 31, 2005 and December 31, 2004, in HUF million)

 

    Restated 

  2005 2004

Cash, due from banks and balances with the National Bank of Hungary 379,249 399,401

Placements with other banks. Net of allowance for placement losses 393,659 200,100

Financial assets at fair value through statement of operations 34,054 22,059

Securities available-for-sale 371,433 324,130

Loans, net of allowance for loan losses 1,475,508 1,276,241

Accrued interest receivable 41,276 41,180

Investments in subsidiaries 223,881 154,298

Securities held-to-maturity 521,797 507,503

Premises, equipment and intangible assets, net 105,569 96,538

Other assets 46,447 33,025

Total assets 3,592,873 3,054,475

Due to banks and deposits from the National Bank of Hungary and other banks 255,211 203,777

Deposits from customers 2,506,457 2,340,924

Liabilities from issued securities 202,267 1,997

Accrued interest payable 5,735 9,414

Other liabilities 102,881 94,987

Subordinated bonds and loans 47,023 14,324

Total liabilities 3,119,574 2,665,423

Share capital 28,000 28,000

Retained earnings and reserves 486,051 374,860

Treasury shares (40,752) (13,808)

Total shareholders’ equity 473,299 389,052

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity 3,592,873 3,054,475

The accompanying notes to unconsolidated financial statements on pages 115 to 151 form an integral part of these unconsolidated 

financial statements. 
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Profit and Loss Account
(unconsolidated, based on IFRS, for the years ended December 31, 2005 and December 31, 2004, in HUF million)

 

    Restated 

  2005 2004

Interest income:    

Loans 147,368 136,968

Placements with other banks 36,961 40,634

Due from banks and balances with the National Bank of Hungary 27,957 30,872

Securities held for trading 2,108 2,581

Securities available-for sale 27,742 26,677

Securities held-to-maturity 39,266 53,203

 Total interest income   281,402 290,935

Interest expense:

Due to banks and deposits from the National Bank of Hungary and other banks 27,989 19,699

Deposits from customers   81,504 119,116

Liabilities from issued securities   1,677 167

Subordinated bonds and loans   1,593 870

 Total interest expense   112,763 139,852

Net interest income 168,639 151,083

Provision for loan and placement losses    16,435 8,628

Net interest income after provision for loan and placement losses 152,204 142,455

Non-interest income:    

Fees and commissions 136,264 113,299

Foreign exchange gains, net 1,603 914

Gains on securities, net 3,103 1,081

Losses on real estate transactions, net  (28) (103)

Dividend income 13,937 8,500

Other 3,541 2,654

 Total non-interest income 158,420 126,345

Non-interest expenses:    

Fees and commissions 13,840 9,692

Personnel expenses 62,437 54,342

Depreciation and amortization 15,244 13,401

Other 63,301 59,006

 Total non-interest expenses 154,822 136,441

Income before income taxes  155,802 132,359

Income taxes 22,954 18,882

Net income after income taxes 132,848 113,477

Earnings per share (in HUF)    

Basic 492 420

Diluted 488 418

 

The accompanying notes to unconsolidated financial statements on pages 115 to 151 form an integral part of these unconsolidated 

financial statements. 
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Statement of Cash Flow
(unconsolidated, based on IFRS, for the years ended December 31, 2005 and December 31, 2004, in HUF million)

 

    Restated 

  2005 2004

Operating activities    

Income before income taxes 155,802 132,359

Adjustments to reconcile income before income taxes to net cash provided by operating activities:    

Income tax paid (21,071) (19,508)

Depreciation and amortization 15,244 13,401

Provision for loan and placement losses 16,435 8,628

Release of provision for permanent diminution in value of investments in subsidiaries (1,909) (253)

Provision/(release of allowance) for losses of other assets 46 (1,314)

(Release of allowance)/provision for losses on off-balance sheet commitments 

 and contingent liabilities, net (1,984) 901

Share-based compensation 7,497 2,348

Unrealised losses on fair value adjustment of securities held for trading 7 23

Unrealised losses/(gains) on fair value adjustment of derivative financial instruments 1,868 (635)

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:    

Net changes in financial assets through statements of operations  (5,192) 34,070

Net increase in accrued interest receivable (96) (9,388)

Net (increase)/decrease in other assets, excluding advances for investments 

and before provisions for losses (14,231) 12,495

Net (decrease)/increase in accrued interest payable (3,679) 1,519

Net (decrease)/increase in other liabilities (754) 16,585

Net cash provided by operating activities 147,983 191,231

Investing activities    

Net increase in placements with other banks before provision for placement losses (193,558) (4,710)

Net increase in securities available-for-sale (41,795) (48,151)

Net increase in investments in subsidiaries before provision for permanent diminution in value (67,674) (15,237)

Net (increase)/decrease in securities held-to-maturity (14,294) 117,806

Net (decrease)/increase in advances for investments included in other assets (14) 33

Net increase in loans before provision for possible loan losses (215,703) (214,625)

Net additions to premises, equipment and intangible assets (24,275) (23,539)

Net cash used in investing activities (557,313) (218,423)   

Financing activities    

Net increase in due to banks and deposits from the National Bank of Hungary and other banks 51,434 112,696

Net increase in deposits from customers 165,533 76,396

Net increase/(decrease) in liabilities from issued securities 200,270 (42)

Increase/(decrease) in subordinated bonds and loans 32,699 (1,089)

Net change in treasury shares (19,518) 2,480

Net (increase)/decrease in the compulsory reserve established by the National Bank of Hungary (12,489) 3,816

Dividends paid (41,240) (16,823)

Net cash provided by financing activities 376,689 177,434

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (32,641) 150,242

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 293,685 143,443

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 261,044 293,685

Analysis of cash and cash equivalents opening and closing balance

Cash, due from banks and balances with the National Bank of Hungary 399,401 252,975

Compulsory reserve established by the National Bank of Hungary (105,716) (109,532)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 293,685 143,443

Cash, due from fanks and balances with the National Bank of Hungary 379,249 399,401

Compulsory reserve established by the National Bank of Hungary (118,205) (105,716)

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 261,044 293,685

 

The accompanying notes to unconsolidated financial statements on pages 115 to 151 form an integral part of these unconsolidated 

financial statements.
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Statement of changes in Shareholders’ Equity
(unconsolidated, based on IFRS, for the years ended December 31, 2005 and December 31, 2004, in HUF million)

 

Balance as at January 1, 2004 (restated) 28,000 262,504 (14,328) 276,176     

Net income after income taxes — 113,477 — 113,477

Fair value adjustment of securities available-for-sale 

recognised directly through equity — 11,371 — 11,371

Share-based compensation   2,348   2,348

Dividend for the year 2003 — (16,800) — (16,800)

Profit on sale of treasury shares — 1,960 — 1,960

Sale and purchase of treasury shares  — — 520 520

Balance as at December 31, 2004 (Restated) 28,000 374,860 (13,808) 389,052 

Net income after income taxes — 132,848 — 132,848

Fair value adjustment of securities available-for-sale 

recognised directly through equity — 4,626 — 4,626

Share-based compensation — 7,497 — 7,497

Dividend for the year 2004 — (41,206) — (41,206)

Profit on sale of treasury shares — 7,426 — 7,426

Sale and purchase of treasury shares  — — (26,944) (26,944)

Balance as at December 31, 2005 28,000 486,051 (40,752) 473,299

The accompanying notes to unconsolidated financial statements on pages 115 to 151 form an integral part of these unconsolidated 

financial statements.

Share

capital

Retained earnings

and reserves

Treasury 

shares Total
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N O T E S  T O  U N C O N S O L I D A T E D  I F R S 

F I N A N C I A L  S T A T E M E N T S  A S  A T 

D E C E M B E R  31 ,  2 0 0 5

NOTE 1:     ORGANIZATION AND BASIS OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Annual General Meeting on April 25, 2001 

approved the conversion of HUF 1,150 million 

nominal value preference shares issued by 

the Bank to common shares. 

In the first quarter of the year of 2002 the nominal 

value of the common shares of the Bank decreased 

from HUF 1,000 to HUF 100 per share.

As at December 31, 2005 approximately 90.4% 

of the Bank ’s shares were held by domestic 

and foreign private and insti tutional investors. 

The remaining shares are owned by employees 

(3.1%) and the Bank (6.5%).

The Bank provides a full range of commercial 

banking services through a nationwide network 

of 377 branches in Hungary.

As at December 31, 2005 the number of 

employees at the Bank was 7,999. The average 

number of employees for the year ended 

December 31, 2005 was 7,842.

1.2. Accounting

The Bank maintains its accounting records and 

prepares its statutory accounts in accordance with 

the commercial, banking and fiscal regulations 

prevail ing in Hungary. 

The Bank’s functional currency is the Hungarian 

Forint (“HUF”). 

Some of the accounting principles prescribed 

for statutory purposes are dif ferent from those 

general ly recognized in international f inancial 

1.1. General

National Savings and Commercial Bank Ltd. (the 

“Bank” or “OTP”) was established on December 31, 

1990, when the predecessor State-owned 

company was transformed into a limited liability 

company. The Bank’s registered office address is 

16, Nador street, Budapest 1051.

As at December 31, 1994, 79% of the Bank’s 

shares were held directly or indirectly by the 

Hungarian Government and the remaining 21% 

were held by domestic investors or represented 

as own shares (less than 3%). In spring 1995, the 

Hungarian Government transferred 20% of the 

Bank’s shares to the Hungarian Social Security 

Funds. Subsequent to the successful initial public 

offering in summer 1995, the Bank’s shares were 

introduced to the Budapest and the Luxembourg 

stock exchanges and were also listed on SEAQ 

London and PORTAL (USA).

At an extraordinary General Assembly on 

September 3, 1997, the Bank issued a preferential 

voting share with a nominal value of HUF 1 thousand  

(the “Special Share”) to the State Privatization 

and Holding Company. The Special Share gives 

the power to the State Privatization and Holding 

Company to control the outcome of certain 

shareholder votes in accordance with the Bank’s 

Articles of Association and the right to delegate 

one member to the Bank’s Board of Directors and 

one member to the Supervisory Board of the Bank. 

By public offerings in fall 1997 and fall 1999, the 

State Privatization and Holding Company sold the 

remaining common shares.
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Financial Instruments: Recognition and 

Measurement

IAS 39 Revised, which is effective after January 1, 

2005 changes the category held for trading 

instruments by introducing a new category „a financial 

asset at fair value through statements of operations”. 

In this category is classified previously held for trading 

assets and other instruments which upon initial 

recognition are designated by the entity as to be held 

at fair value through statements of operations.

Due to the retrospective application of IAS 39 

Revised, an opening adjustment of HUF 5,297 million 

has been presented in retained earnings and reserves 

as of January 1, 2004. Due to restatement of prior 

periods, income after income tax decreased by 

HUF 11,371 million for the year ended December 31, 

2004, from what was previously reported.

IFRS 2 Share based payment

For equity settled share based compensation, under 

IFRS 2 the Bank is required to measure the fair value 

of services received, based on the fair value 

of the equity instrument granted, and to recognise such 

expense in the unconsolidated financial statements. 

IFRS 2 has been adopted retrospectively from 

January 1, 2005 in respect of options which have 

a grant date later than November 7, 2002.

The Annual General Meeting for the year 2000 

approved a f ive year share option and bonus 

program for the years 2000 to 2004 granting 

options and bonus shares on an annual basis. 

For the options for the years 2003 and 2004, 

the grant date is December 31, 2002.

Due to the retrospective application of IFRS 2, 

an opening adjustment of HUF 2,085 mil l ion 

is presented separately in retained earnings 

and reserves as of January 1, 2004. Due to 

restatement of prior periods, income after income 

tax was decreased by HUF 2,348 mil l ion 

for the year ended December 31, 2004.

markets . Cer tain adjustments have been made 

to the Bank ’s Hungarian unconsolidated statutory 

accounts (see Note 33), in order to present 

the unconsolidated f inancial posi t ion and results 

of operations of the Bank in accordance with 

al l standards and interpretations approved by 

the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB), 

which are referred to as International Financial 

Reporting Standards (IFRS). These standards and 

interpretations were previously cal led 

International Accounting Standards (IAS).

The unconsolidated f inancial statements have 

been prepared in accordance with International 

Financial Repor ting Standards as adopted by the 

European Union (the “EU”).  IFRS as adopted by 

the EU do not currently dif fer from IFRS as issued 

by the International Accounting Standards Board 

(IASB), except for por t fol io hedge accounting 

under IAS 39 which has not been approved 

by the EU. As the Bank does not apply por t fol io 

hedge accounting under IAS 39, there is no 

impact on these unconsolidated f inancial 

statements, had i t been approved by the EU 

at the balance sheet date.

 

1.2.1.  The effect of adopting 
revised International Financial 
Reporting Standards effective 
from January 1, 2005 on the 2004 
financial statements

Effective from January 1, 2005 the Bank adopted 

revised IAS 39 (“Financial Instruments: 

Recognition and Measurement”), and IFRS 2 

(“Share-based payment”). Revisions to a number 

of other IAS also took ef fect in the unconsolidated 

condensed f inancial statements of the Bank, 

but those revisions concerned matters of detailed 

application which have no signif icant ef fect 

on amounts repor ted.
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– Amendments to IAS 39 ‘Financial Instruments: 

Recognition and Measurement’ and IFRS 4 

‘Insurance Contracts’ for financial guarantee 

contracts (effective January 1, 2006); 

– Amendments to IAS 1 ‘Presentation of Financial 

Statements’ on capital disclosures (effective 

January 1, 2007). 

The adoption of these standards in the future 

periods is not expected to have a material impact 

on the unconsolidated profit or equity.

1.2.2. Changes in accounting 
policies arising from the adoption 
of new IFRSs and amendments to 
IASs effective January 1, 2006 

At the date of authorisation of these financial 

statements, the following standards were in issue 

but not yet effective:

– IFRS 7 ‘Financial Instruments: Disclosures’ 

(effective January 1, 2007);

–  Amendments to IAS 39 ‘Financial Instruments: 

Recognition and Measurement’ in respect of cash 

flow hedge accounting (effective January 1, 2006);

NOTE 2:     SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

with the exception of certain financial instruments, 

which are recorded on fair value. Revenues 

and expenses are recorded in the period in which 

they are earned or incurred.

The presentation of unconsolidated f inancial 

statements in conformity with IFRS requires 

management of the Bank to make estimates 

and assumptions that affect the reported amounts 

Significant accounting policies applied in the 

preparation of the accompanying unconsolidated 

financial statements are summarized below:

2.1. Basis of presentation

These unconsolidated financial statements have 

been prepared under the historical cost convention 

Summary of the effects of introduction of IAS 39 Revised and IFRS 2 for the year ended 

December 31, 2004 is as follows (in HUF million):

 As originally reported for 

 the year ended  

 December 31, 2004

Fair value adjustment of available-for-sale securities 

recognized in profit and loss 14,632 1,095

Deferred tax effect (2,341)  (175)

Contribution to net income 12,291  920 

Share based compensation  —  (2,348)

Net income after income taxes 127,196 113,477

Fair value adjustment of available-for-sale 

securities recognized directly through equity — 13,537

Deferred tax effect  —  (2,166)

Effect to equity  —  11,371

Share based compensation directly through equity  —  2,348

Total shareholders’ equity  389,052 389,052

Restated for the 

year ended 

December 31, 2004
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of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent 

assets and liabilities as of the date of the financial 

statements and their reported amounts of revenues 

and expenses during the reporting period. Actual 

results could dif fer from those estimates. Future 

changes in economic conditions, business 

strategies, regulatory requirements, accounting 

rules and other factors could result in a change 

in estimates that could have a material impact on 

future financial statements.

2.2. Foreign currency translation

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated 

in foreign currencies are translated into HUF at 

exchange rates quoted by the National Bank 

of Hungary (“NBH”) as of the date of the financial 

statements. Income and expenses arising in foreign 

currencies are converted at the rate of exchange 

on the transaction date. Resulting foreign exchange 

gains or losses are recorded in the Unconsolidated 

Statement of Operations.

2.3. Consolidated financial 
statements

These financial statements present the Bank’s 

unconsolidated financial position and results 

of operations. Consolidated financial statements 

are currently being prepared by the Bank and 

consolidated net income and shareholders’ equity 

may dif fer signif icantly from that presented 

in these unconsolidated f inancial statements. 

See Note 2.8 for the description of the method 

of accounting for investments in subsidiaries 

and associated companies in these unconsolidated 

financial statements.

2.4. Securities held-to-maturity 

Investments in securities are accounted on a 

settlement date basis and are initially measured at 

cost. At subsequent reporting dates, securities that 

the Bank has the expressed intention and ability 

to hold to maturity (held-to-maturity securities) 

are measured at amortised cost, less any impairment 

losses recognised to reflect irrecoverable amounts. 

The annual amor tisation of any discount 

or premium on the acquisition of a held-to-maturity 

security is aggregated with other investment 

income receivable over the term of the investment 

so that the revenue recognised in each period 

represents a constant yield on the investment. 

Held-to -maturity investments include securities, 

which the Bank has the abil i ty and intent to hold 

to maturity. Such securities comprise mainly 

securities issued by the Hungarian Government 

and mor tgage bonds. 

2.5.  Financial assets at fair value 
through statement of operations

2.5.1. Securities held for trading

Investments in securities are accounted on a 

settlement date basis and are initially measured 

at fair value. Held for trading investments are 

measured at subsequent reporting dates at fair 

value. Unrealised gains and losses on held for 

trading securities is recognised in profit/loss and 

included in the Unconsolidated Statement of 

Operations for the period. Such securities consist 

of discounted and interest bearing Treasury bills, 

Hungarian Government bonds, mortgage bonds and 

other securities. Other securities include shares in 

commercial companies, shares in investment funds. 

2.5.2. Derivative financial 
instruments

In the normal course of business, the Bank 

is a par ty to contracts for derivative f inancial 

instruments, which represent a very low initial 

investment compared to the notional value of 

the contract. The derivative financial instruments 

used include interest rate forward or swap 

agreements and currency forward or swap 

agreements. These f inancial instruments are 

used by the Bank to hedge interest rate risk 
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are therefore treated as derivatives held for trading 

with fair value gains and losses charged directly 

to the Unconsolidated Statement of Operations.

2.6. Securities available-for-sale 

Investments in securities are accounted on a 

settlement date basis and are initially measured at fair 

value. Available-for-sale investments are measured 

at subsequent repor ting dates at fair value. 

Unrealised gains and losses on available-for-sale 

financial instruments are recognised directly in 

equity, unless such available-for-sale security is part 

of an effective fair value hedge. Such gains and 

losses will be reported when realised in profit and 

loss for the applicable period. Such securities consist 

of discounted Treasury bills, Hungarian Government 

bonds, mortgage bonds and other securities. Other 

securities include shares in investment funds, bonds 

issued by companies and foreign government bonds. 

Available-for-sale securities are remeasured at fair 

value based on quoted prices or amounts derived 

from cash flow models. In circumstances where 

the quoted market prices are not readily available, 

the fair value of debt securities is estimated using 

the present value future cash flows and the fair value 

of unquoted equity instruments is measured at cost.

Those available-for-sale financial assets that do not have 

a quoted market price and whose fair value cannot be 

reliably measured by other models mentioned above, 

are measured at cost, less allowance for permanent 

diminution in value, when appropriate. 

2.7. Loans, placements with other 
banks and allowance for loan and 
placement losses

Loans and placements with other banks are stated 

at the principal amounts outstanding, 

net of al lowance for loan or placement losses, 

respectively. Interest is accrued and credited 

to income based on the principal amounts 

outstanding. When a borrower is unable to meet 

payments as they come due or, in the opinion 

and currency exposures associated with i ts 

transactions in the f inancial markets.

Derivative financial instruments are initially 

measured at fair value and at subsequent reporting 

dates at their fair value. Fair values are obtained 

from quoted market prices, discounted cash flow 

models and options pricing models as appropriate. 

Changes in the fair value of derivative financial 

instruments that do not quali fy for hedge 

accounting are recognised in prof i t/loss and 

included in the Unconsolidated Statement 

of Operation for the period. All derivatives 

are carried as assets when fair value is positive 

and as l iabil i t ies when fair value is negative.

2.5.3. Derivative financial 
instruments designated as 
a fair-value or cash flow hedge

Changes in the fair value of derivatives that 

are designated and quali fy as fair value hedges 

and that prove to be highly ef fective in relation 

to the hedged r isk , are recorded in the prof i t 

Unconsol idated Statement of Operations along 

with the corresponding change in fair value 

of the hedged asset or liability that is attributable 

to the speci f ic hedged r isk . The inef fective 

element of the hedge is charged directly 

to the Unconsolidated Statement of Operations.

Changes in fair value of derivatives that are 

designated and quali fy as cash f low hedges and 

that prove to be highly ef fective in relation to 

hedged risk, are recognised in the reserve among 

shareholders’ equity. Amounts deferred in equity 

are transferred to the Unconsolidated Statement 

of Operations and classif ied as revenue or 

expense in the periods during which the hedged 

assets and l iabi l i t ies af fect the result for the 

period. The inef fective element of the hedge is 

charged directly to the Unconsolidated 

Statement of Operations.

Certain derivative transactions, while providing 

ef fective economic hedges under the Bank’s risk 

management positions, do not qualify for hedge 

accounting under the specific rules of IAS 39 and 
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of the management, there is an indication that 

a borrower may be unable to meet payments 

as they come due, all unpaid interest is reversed. 

The amount of provision is the difference between 

the carrying amount and the recoverable amount, 

being the present value of the expected cash flows, 

including amounts recoverable from guarantees and 

collateral, discounted at the original effective interest rate.

The allowances for loan and placement losses are 

maintained at levels adequate to absorb probable 

future losses.

2.8. Investments in subsidiaries

Investments in subsidiaries representing 

a control l ing interest comprise those investments 

where the Bank, through direct and indirect 

ownership interest , has the power to govern 

the financial and operating policies of the investee.

Investments in subsidiaries are recorded 

at the cost of acquisi t ion, less al lowance for 

permanent diminution in value, when appropriate. 

2.9. Sale and repurchase 
agreements

Where debt or equity securities are sold under 

a commitment to repurchase them at a pre-determined 

price, they remain on the balance sheet and the 

consideration received is recorded in Due to Banks. 

Conversely, debt or equity securities purchased under 

a commitment to resell are not recognised in the 

balance sheet and the consideration paid is recorded 

in Placement with other Banks. Interest is accrued 

evenly over the life of the repurchase agreement.

2.10. Premises, equipment and 
intangible assets

Premises, equipment and intangible assets 

are stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation 

and amortization. The depreciable amount (book 

value less residual value) of the non-current assets 

must be allocated over them useful life. Depreciation 

and amortization are computed using the straight-

line method over the estimated useful lives of the 

assets based on the following annual percentages:

Buildings 1–2%

Machinery and equipment 8–33.3%

Leased assets 16.7–33.3%

Vehicles 15–20%

Sof tware 20–33.3%

Proper ty rights 16.7%

Depreciation and amor tization on premises, 

equipment and intangible assets commences 

on the day such assets are placed into service.

At each balance sheet date, the Bank reviews 

the carrying value of i ts tangible and intangible 

assets to determine if there is any indication that 

those assets have suf fered an impairment loss. 

I f any such indication exists, the recoverable 

amount of the asset is estimated to determine 

the extent (i f any) of the impairment loss. Where 

i t is not possible to estimate the recoverable 

amount of an individual asset, the Bank estimates 

the recoverable amount of the cash-generating 

unit to which the asset belongs. Where 

the carrying value of premises, equipment 

and other tangible f ixed assets is greater than 

the estimated recoverable amount, i t is writ ten 

down immediately to the estimated 

recoverable amount.

2.11. Leases

Assets held under f inance leases, which confer 

rights and obligations similar to those attached 

to owned assets, are capitalised at their fair value 

and depreciated over the useful lives of assets. 

The capital element of each future lease obligation 

is recorded as a liability, while the interest elements 

are charged to the Unconsolidated Statement 

of Operations over the period of the leases 

to produce a constant rate of charge 

on the balance of capital payments outstanding.

Payments made under operating leases are charged 

to the Unconsolidated Statement of Operations 
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 and letters of credit and transactions with financial 

instruments. The allowance for losses on 

commitments and contingent l iabil i t ies is 

maintained at a level adequate to absorb probable 

future losses. Management determines the 

adequacy of the al lowance based upon reviews 

of individual items, recent loss experience, current 

economic conditions, the risk characteristics 

of the various categories of transactions and 

other per tinent factors.

The Bank recognises an al lowance when i t has 

a present obl igation as a result of a past event; 

i t is probable that an out f low of resources 

embodying economic benef i ts wil l be required 

to set tle the obligation; and a rel iable estimate 

can be made of the obligation.

2.16. Share-based payments

The Bank has applied the requirements of IFRS 2 

Share-based Payment. In accordance with the 

transitional provisions, IFRS 2 has been applied to 

all grants of equity instruments after November 7, 

2002 that were unvested as of January 1, 2005.

The Bank issues equity-settled share-based 

payments to certain employees. Equity-settled 

share-based payments are measured at fair value 

at the date of grant. The fair value determined at 

the grant date of the equity-settled share-based 

payments is expensed on a straight- line basis over 

the year, based on the Bank’s estimate of shares 

that wi l l eventual ly vest .

Fair value is measured by use of a binomial model. 

The expected l i fe used in the model has been 

adjusted, based on management’s best estimate, 

for the ef fects of non-transferabil i ty, exercise 

restrictions, and behavioural considerations.

2.17. Unconsolidated statement of 
cash flows

For the purposes of repor ting cash f lows, cash 

and cash equivalents include cash, due from 

on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. When 

an operating lease is terminated before the lease period 

has expired, any payment required to be made to 

the lessor by way of penalty is recognised as an expense 

in the period in which termination takes place.

2.12. Treasury shares

Treasury shares are purchased on the stock 

exchange and the over-the-counter market by 

the Bank and are presented in the Unconsolidated 

Balance Sheet at acquisition cost as a deduction 

from shareholders’ equity. Gains and losses on 

the sale of treasury shares are credited or charged 

directly to retained earnings and reserves.

2.13. Interest income and interest 
expense

Interest income and expense are recognised 

in the unconsolidated statement of operations 

on an accrual basis .

2.14. Income taxes

The annual taxation charge is based on the tax 

payable under Hungarian fiscal law, adjusted 

for deferred taxation. Deferred taxation is accounted 

for, using the balance sheet liability method in respect 

of temporary dif ferences in the tax bases of assets 

and liabilities and their carrying value for financial 

reporting purposes, measured at the tax rates that 

are expected to apply when the asset is realised 

or the liability is settled, based on tax rates that 

have been enacted at the date of the 

Unconsolidated Balance Sheet.

2.15. Off-balance sheet 
commitments and contingent 
liabilities 

In the ordinary course of its business, the Bank 

has entered into of f-balance sheet commitments 

such as guarantees, commitments to extend credi 
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banks and balances with the National Bank 

of Hungary, excluding compulsory reserve 

establ ished by the National Bank of Hungary. 

Cash f lows from hedging activities are classif ied 

in the same category as the i tem being hedged.

2.18. Comparative figures

Certain amounts in the 2005 unconsolidated 

f inancial statements have been reclassif ied 

to conform with the current year presentation. 

2.19. Significant accounting 
estimates and decisions in the 
application of accounting policies 

(a) Impairment of loans and 
advances 

The Bank regularly assesses its loan portfolio 

for possible impairment. Management determines 

the adequacy of the allowances based upon 

reviews of individual loans and placements, recent 

loss experience, current economic conditions, 

the risk characteristics of the various categories 

of loans and other per tinent factors.

(b) Valuation of instruments 
without direct quotations 

Financial instruments without direct quotations 

in an active market are valued using the valuation 

model technique. The models are regularly reviewed 

and each model is calibrated for the most recent 

available market data. While the models are built 

only on available data, their use is subject to certain 

assumptions and estimates (eg, for correlations, 

volatilities, etc). Changes in the model assumptions 

may affect the reported market value of the relevant 

financial instruments. 

(c) Provisions

The Bank is involved in a number of ongoing 

legal disputes.  Based upon historical experience 

and exper t repor ts, the Bank assesses the 

developments in these cases, and the l ikelihood 

and the amount of potential f inancial losses which 

are appropriately provided for. (see Note 15)
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to approximately HUF 118,205 mil l ion and 

HUF 105,716 mil l ion as at December 31, 2005 

and 2004, respectively.

Based on the requirements for compulsory 

reserves set by the National Bank of Hungary, 

the balance of compulsory reserves amounted 

NOTE 3:     CASH, DUE FROM BANKS AND BALANCES WITH THE NATIONAL  
     BANK OF HUNGARY (in HUF million)

 2005 2004

Cash on hand:  

In HUF 47,122 53,122

In foreign currency  2,661  2,743

 49,783 55,865

Due from banks and balances with NBH: 

  Within one year:  

In HUF 327,299 341,940

In foreign currency  2,167  1,596

 329,466 343,536

Total 379,249 399,401

NOTE 4:     PLACEMENTS WITH OTHER BANKS AND ALLOWANCE FOR   
     PLACEMENT LOSSES (in HUF million)

 2005 2004

Within one year:  

In HUF 90,309 127,437

In foreign currency 192,258  61,339

 282,567 188,776

Over one year:  

In HUF 3,300 300

In foreign currency 107,792  11,025

 111,092  11,325

Total 393,659 200,101

Allowance for placement losses  —  (1)

Total 393,659 200,100

Placements with other banks in HUF as at 

December 31, 2005 and 2004 bear interest 

rates in the range from 5% to 7.6% and from 

9% to 12.5%, respectively.

Placements with other banks in foreign currency 

as at December 31, 2005 and 2004 bear interest 

rates in the range from 0.05% to 12% and from 

0.4% to 7%, respectively.
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at December 31, 2005. Approximately 90% 

and 10% of this por t fol io was denominated 

in USD and EUR as at December 31, 2004.

Interest rates on securities held for trading 

ranged from 3% to 12% and from 3% to 13.4% 

as at December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

Approximately 99.3% and 98.1% of the held for 

trading securities portfolio was denominated in HUF 

as at December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

Approximately 0.9% and 4.2% of the government 

bonds were denominated in foreign currency 

as at December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively. 

This por t folio was denominated in USD as 

NOTE 5:     FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH STATEMENTS 
     OF OPERATIONS (in HUF million)

  Restated 

  2005 2004

Securities held for trading  

Hungarian Government discounted Treasury bills 160 5,055

Hungarian Government interest bearing Treasury bills 1,485 2,756

Government bonds 19,743 8,538

Mortgage bonds 2,356 2,238

Other securities  199  171

 23,943 18,758

Derivative financial instruments designated as held for trading 10,111  3,301

Total 34,054 22,059

 2005 2004

Balance as at January 1 1 182

Release of provision for placement losses   (1) (181)

Balance as at December 31  —  1

An analysis of the change in the allowance for placement losses is as follows:

  Restated 

  2005 2004

Within five years:  

Variable interest 953 768

Fixed interest 19,400 11,547

 20,353 12,315

Over five years:  

Variable interest 18 141

Fixed interest  3,373  6,147

  3,391  6,288

Non interest-bearing securities  199  155

Total 23,943 18,758

Interest conditions and the remaining maturities of held for trading securities can be analysed 

as follows:
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2004, respectively. The whole government bond 

portfolio denominated in foreign currency was 

denominated in EUR as at December 31, 2005.

Interest rates on available-for-sale securities ranged 

from 1.6% to 12% and from 2.9% to 12.3% as 

at December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

Approximately 91% and 94.9% of 

the available-for-sale securities portfolio was 

denominated in HUF as at December 31, 2005 

and 2004, respectively.

92.3% and 100% of the government bonds were 

denominated in HUF as at December 31, 2005 and 

NOTE 6:     SECURITIES AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE (in HUF million)

  Restated 

  2005 2004

Government bonds 67,567 60,252

Hungarian Government discounted Treasury bills 7,858 —

Mortgage bonds 253,365 235,405

Other securities  42,643  28,473

 371,433 324,130

  Restated 

  2005 2004

Within five years:  

Variable interest 94,121 88,770

Fixed interest  94,108 110,913

 188,229 199,683

Over five years:  

Variable interest 24,600 21,044

Fixed interest 148,649  94,339

 173,249 115,383

Non interest-bearing securities  9,955  9,064

Total 371,433 324,130

NOTE 7:     LOANS AND ALLOWANCE FOR LOAN LOSSES (in HUF million)

  2005 2004

Short-term loans and trade bills (within one year) 605,390 491,209

Long-term loans and trade bills (over one year)  892,280  804,842

 1,497,670 1,296,051 

Allowance for loan losses (22,162)  (19,810)

 1,475,508 1,276,241
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below. All companies are incorporated in Hungary 

unless indicated otherwise.

Investments in subsidiaries in companies in which 

the Bank has a controlling interest are detailed 

Loans denominated in foreign currency loans 

represent approximately 41% and 34% of the loan 

portfolio, before allowance for losses, as at 

December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

Loans denominated in HUF, with a maturity within 

one year as at December 31, 2005 and 2004 bear 

interest rates in the range from 11.3% to 30% 

and from 13.8% to 32%, respectively.

Loans denominated in HUF, with a maturity over 

one year as at December 31, 2005 and 2004 

bear interest rates in the range from 4% to 22.8%.

Foreign currency loans as at December 31, 2005 

and 2004 bear interest rates in the range from 

1.1% to 16.5% and from 1.9% to 8.4%, respectively.

Approximately 2.3% and 2.5% of the gross loan 

portfolio represented loans on which interest is 

not being accrued as at December 31, 2005 

and  2004, respectively.

   2005 ¿¿ 2004

Commercial loans 902,696 60% 805,804 62%

Municipality loans 131,107 9% 116,175 9%

Housing loans 210,150 14% 169,415 13%

Consumer loans  226,153 15%  180,421 14%

Mortgage backed loans  27,564  2%  24,236  2%

 1,497,670 100% 1,296,051 100%

An analysis of the loan portfolio by type, before allowances for loan losses, is as follows:

The Bank sells non-performing loans without 

recourse at estimated fair value to a wholly owned 

subsidiary, OTP Factoring Ltd, see Note 25.

NOTE 8:     INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (in HUF million)

  2005 2004

Investments in subsidiaries:  

Controlling interest 226,453 158,521

Significant interest 75 75

Other  861  1,119

 227,389 159,715

Allowance for permanent diminution in value  (3,508)  (5,417)

 223,881 154,298

  2005 2004

Balance as at January 1 19,810 18,636

Provision for loan losses 16,436 8,809

Write-offs  (14,084)  (7,635)

Balance as at December 31  22,162 19,810

An analysis of the change in the allowance for loan losses is as follows:
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 *The name of RoBank S.A. changed to OTP Bank Romania S. A. in the third quarter of 2005.

**The name of Nova banka d.d. changed to OTP banka Hrvatska in the third quarter of 2005.

An analysis of the change in the allowance for permanent diminution in value is as follows:

  2005 2004

Balance as at January 1 5,417 5,670

Release of provision for permanent diminution in value (1,909) (253)

Balance as at December 31  3,508 5,417

 

 

OTP Garancia Insurance Ltd. 100.00% 7,472 100.00% 7,472

OTP Real Estate Ltd. 100.00% 1,228 100.00% 1,228

OTP Real Estate Management Ltd. — — 100.00% 750

Merkantil Bank Ltd. 100.00% 1,600 100.00% 1,600

OTP Building Society Ltd. 100.00% 1,950 100.00% 1,950

HIF Ltd. (United Kingdom) 100.00% 1,132 100.00% 1,132

Bank Center No. 1. Ltd. 100.00% 9,364 100.00% 9,364

OTP Factoring Ltd. 100.00% 150 100.00% 150

INGA One Ltd. 100.00% 375 100.00% 407

INGA Two Ltd. 100.00% 5,892 100.00% 5,892

OTP Fund Servicies and Consulting Ltd. 100.00% 1,372 100.00% 1,372

OTP Fund Management Ltd. 100.00% 1,653 100.00% 1,653

OTP Mortgage Bank Ltd. 100.00% 20,000 100.00% 20,000

AIR-Invest Ltd. 100.00% 3,674 100.00% 3,524

DSK Bank EAD (Bulgaria) 100.00% 79,162 100.00% 79,162

OTP Banka Slovensko, a.s. (Slovakia) 97.23% 10,037 97.23% 10,037

OTP Bank Romania S. A. (Romania)* 100.00% 19,746 100.00% 12,273

OTP banka Hrvatska (Croatia)** 100.00% 59,941 — —

OTP Card Factory Ltd. 100.00% 450 100.00% 450

OTP Life Annuity Ltd. 100.00% 500 — —

IOLO OWEN & Co. Limited 99.25% 400 — —

OTP SCD Lease Ltd. 75.00% 210 — —

Other  —  145 —  105

Total   226,453  158,521

Held 

(direct and

indirect)

 Cost

Held 

(direct and

indirect)

 Cost

2005 2004
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to 10% as at December 31, 2005 and 2004, 

respectively. Interest on f ixed rate and variable 

rate securi t ies is , in most cases, paid 

semi -annually.

The fair value of held-to-maturity investments 

was HUF 533,791 million and HUF 508,581 million 

as at December 31, 2005 and 2004, 

respectively.

Approximately 99.6% of the debt securities 

portfolio was denominated in HUF as at December 

31, 2005 and 2004, respectively. In most cases, 

interest on variable rate securities is based on the 

interest rates of 90 day Hungarian Government 

Treasury bills and is adjusted semi-annually. 

Interest rates on fixed interest securities denominated 

in HUF ranged from 5.5% to 10% and from 6.3% 

NOTE 9:     HELD-TO-MATURITY INVESTMENTS (in HUF million)

  2005 2004

Government securities 201,380 210,891

Hungarian Government discounted Treasury bills 29,962 6,125

Mortgage bonds 289,755 289,787

Other debt securities  700  700

 521,797 507,503

Interest conditions and the remaining maturities of held-to-maturity investments can be 

analysed as follows:

  2005 2004

Within five years:  

Variable interest 50,037 66,778

Fixed interest 345,850 283,114

 395,887 349,892

Over five years:  

Variable interest 37,294 40,642

Fixed interest  88,616 116,969

 125,910 157,611

Total 521,797 507,503
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NOTE 10:     PREMISES, EQUIPMENT AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS (in HUF million)

 Intangible Land and Machinery,  Construction

 assets buildings and equipment in progress Total

Cost     

Balance as at January 1, 2005 38,501 52,778 56,574 10,127 157,980

Net additions 17,887 5,412 7,608 — 30,907

Net disposals (2,823) (515) (3,711) (3,713) (10,762)

Balance as at December 31, 2005 53,565 57,675 60,471 6,414 178,125

Depreciation and amortization     

Balance as at January 1, 2005 18,534 7,501 35,407 — 61,442

Net additions 6,974 1,227 7,053 — 15,254

Net disposals (340) (172) (3,628) — (4,140)

Balance as at December 31, 2005 25,168 8,556 38,832 — 72,556

Net book value     

Balance as at January 1, 2005 19,967 45,277 21,167 10,127 96,538

Balance as at December 31, 2005 28,397 49,119 21,639 6,414 105,569

For the year ended December 31, 2005:

For the year ended December 31, 2004:

 Intangible Land and Machinery,  Construction

 assets buildings and equipment in progress Total

Cost     

Balance as at January 1, 2004 30,666 49,366 62,452 4,386 146,870

Net additions 10,285 4,198 15,494 5,741 35,718

Net disposals (2,450) (786) (21,372) — (24,608)

Balance as at December 31, 2004 38,501 52,778 56,574 10,127 157,980

Depreciation and amortization     

Balance as at January 1, 2004 14,830 6,369 39,271 — 60,470

Net additions 4,888 1,263 7,352 — 13,503

Net disposals (1,184) (131) (11,216) — (12,531)

Balance as at  December 31, 2004 18,534 7,501 35,407 — 61,442

Net book value     

Balance as at January 1, 2004 15,836 42,997 23,181 4,386 86,400

Balance as at December 31, 2004 19,967 45,277 21,167 10,127 96,538
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NOTE 11:     OTHER ASSETS (in HUF million)

  Restated 

  2005 2004

Receivables due to collection of Hungarian Government securities — 33

Property held for sale 4 205

Due from Government for interest subsidies 3,736 5,619

Trade receivables 4,194 2,621

Advances for securities and investments 509 495

Taxes recoverable 37 2

Inventories 481 784

Other advances 2,289 638

Credits sold under deferred payment scheme 280 176

Receivables from OTP Mortgage Bank Ltd. 25,778 13,216

Receivables from investing services 1,231 203

Prepayments and accrued income 5,342 5,749

Fair value of derivative financial instruments 

designated as hedge accounting relationships 35 812

Other 3,433 3,371

 47,349 33,924 

Allowance for losses on other assets (902) (899)

 46,447 33,025

An analysis of the change in the allowance for losses on other assets is as follows:

 2005 2004

Balance as at January 1 899 2,213

Provision/(credit) for possible losses 46 (1,314)

Provision reversal (43) —

Balance as at December 31 902 899  

NOTE 12:     DUE TO BANKS AND DEPOSITS FROM THE NATIONAL BANK 
     OF HUNGARY AND OTHER BANKS (in HUF million)

   2005 2004

Within one year:

 In HUF  11,138 22,334

 In foreign currency  86,198 86,356

   97,336 108,690

Over one year:

 In HUF  20,350 8,491

 In foreign currency  137,525 86,596

   157,875 95,087

Total  255,211 203,777
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Due to banks and deposits from the National Bank 

of Hungary and other banks payable in foreign 

currency within one year as at December 31, 2005 

and 2004, bear interest rates in the range from 

0.5% to 4.55% and from 0.5% to 4.9%, respectively.

Due to banks and deposits from the National Bank 

of Hungary and other banks payable in foreign 

currency over one year as at December 31, 2005 

and 2004, bear interest rates in the range form 

0.7% to 6.1% and from 0.5% to 5%, respectively.

Due to banks and deposits from the National 

Bank of Hungary and other banks payable in HUF 

within one year as at December 31, 2005 and 

2004, bear interest rates in the range from 4.9% 

to 5.3% and from 8.9% to 12%, respectively.

Due to banks and deposits from the National 

Bank of Hungary and other banks payable in HUF 

over one year as at December 31, 2005 and 

2004, bear interest rates in the range from 3.1% 

to 4.5% and from 3% to 9.5%, respectively.

NOTE 13:     DEPOSITS FROM CUSTOMERS (in HUF million)

   2005 2004

Within one year:

 In HUF  2,190,095 2,050,048

 In foreign currency  298,767 269,900

   2,488,862 2,319,948

Over one year:

 In HUF  17,595 20,976

   17,595 20,976

Total  2,506,457 2,340,924 

bear interest rates in the range from 1% to 4.5% 

and from 4.3% to 6.5%, respectively.

Deposits from customers payable in foreign 

currency as at December 31, 2005 and 2004, 

bear interest rates in the range from 0.1% to 4.8% 

and from 0.1% to 5%, respectively.

Deposits from customers payable in HUF within 

one year as at December 31, 2005 and 2004, 

bear interest rates in the range from 0.2% to 6% 

and from 0.5% to 9.9%, respectively.

Deposits from customers payable in HUF over 

one year as at December 31, 2005 and 2004, 

An analysis of deposits from customers by type is as follows:

 2005  2004

Commercial deposits 474,052 19% 431,921 19%

Municipality deposits 161,993 6% 170,431 7%

Consumer deposits 1,870,412 75% 1,738,572 74%

 2,506,457 100% 2,340,924 100%
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Liabil i t ies from issued securities denominated 

in HUF bear interest rates in the range from 

0.3% to 1% and from 2% to 7.5% as at 

December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

Liabi l i t ies from issued securi t ies denominated 

in foreign currency bear interest rates in the range 

from 0.3% to 2.6% as at December 31, 2005 

and 2004, respectively.

The Bank issued EUR 500 mil l ion variable - rate 

bonds at three month EURIBOR + 0.16% 

quar terly, on July 1, 2005 due 1, July 2010 

and EUR 300 mil l ion variable - rate bonds 

at three month EURIBOR + 0.15% quar terly, 

on December 20, 2005 due December 20, 2010, 

at a price of 99.81%.

NOTE 14:     LIABILITIES FROM ISSUED SECURITIES (in HUF million) 

 2005 2004

With original maturity:

Within one year  355 1,997

Over one year  201,912 — 

  202,267 1,997

NOTE 15:     OTHER LIABILITIES (in HUF million)

  Restated 

 2005 2004

Taxes payable 6,221 4,992

Deferred tax liabilities 2,793 1,761

Giro clearing accounts 18,361 7,603

Accounts payable 8,268 10,799

Salaries and social security payable 8,092 8,038

Liabilities from security trading 9,307 17,040

Allowances for losses on off-balance sheet commitments 

contingent liabilities 7,882 9,866

Margin account balance — 87

Dividends payable 581 617

Accrued expenses 6,444 10,242

Suspense accounts 1,998 846

Loans for collection 1,860 2,005

Advancement of Government grants for housing purposes 5,427 —

Fair value of derivative financial instruments designated 

 as hedge accounting relationships 722 400

Fair value of derivative financial instruments designated

 as held for trading 8,757 1,178

Liabilities from trading activities (repurchase agreement) 5,785 12,523

Other 10,383 6,990

 102,881 94,987
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against the constructors for any claims. 

The recovery of such claims is, however, dependent 

upon the f inancial status of the constructors, 

which is impaired in cer tain cases. An allowance 

has been recorded to account for the estimated 

possible future losses due to housing warranties. 

The al lowance for housing warranties were 

reversed unti l December 31, 2004 in l ine with 

the expenses related to housing warranties. 

The allowance for losses on other off-balance sheet 

commitments and contingent liabilities primarily 

relates to commitments stemming from guarantees 

and credit l ines issued by the Bank.

As par t of i ts operations, unti l 1991, the Bank 

f inanced and constructed residential 

accommodations for resale on which it was 

required to provide a ten year guarantee against 

defective workmanship. The Bank has recourse 

NOTE 16:     SUBORDINATED BONDS AND LOANS

in Hungarian Government bonds with similar 

interest conditions and maturi ty.

In December 1996, the Bank obtained a USD 30 million 

and DEM 31.14 million (15.92 million in EUR) 

subordinated loan from the European Bank for 

Reconstruction and Development with the original 

maturity of December 27, 2006. The maturity date 

was modified to August 27, 2008 on August 22, 

2003. The loan is unsecured, subordinate to the 

other liabilities and has a twelve-year maturity, with 

interest payable at six-month LIBOR + 1.4% from 

December 27, 1996 unti l December 29, 1997, 

at six-month LIBOR + 1.0% from December 29, 

1997 until June 28, 1999, at six-month LIBOR + 1.7% 

from June 28, 1999 until December 27, 2003 

In 1993, the Bank issued HUF 5 bill ion in bonds, 

which are subordinated to the other liabilities of 

the Bank and subscribed by the Hungarian Ministry 

of Finance. Interest on subordinated bonds and 

the frequency of payment of interests are based on 

condition of interest of 2013/C credit consolidated 

government bonds, which is a variable-rate bond, 

the interest payable and the rate of interest 

are fixed twice a year. The semi-annual interest 

payable was 4.36% as at December 20, 2002, 

3.25% as at June 20, 2003, 4.8% as at December 

20, 2003, 4.88% as at June 20, 2004, 6.05% 

as at December 20, 2004, 5.46% as at June 20, 

2005, and 3.08% as at December 20, 2005. 

The original maturity was 20 years. The proceeds 

of the subordinated bonds were invested 

The allowances for losses on off-balance sheet commitments and contingent liabilities are 

detailed as follows:

 2005 2004

Allowance for litigation 1,453 1,414

Allowance for other off-balance sheet commitments. contingent liabilities 6,429 7,588

Other allowances for expected liabilities – 864

 7,882 9,866

Movements in the allowance for possible losses on commitments and contingent liabilities 

can be summarized as follows:

 2005 2004

Balance as at January 1 9,866 9,041

(Credit)/allowance for off-balance sheet

 commitments and contingent liabilities, net (1,984) 901

Release of allowance for housing warranties  — (76)

Balance as at December 31 7,882 9,866
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and at six-month LIBOR + 1.35% from 

December 28, 2003 unti l August 27, 2008.

On March 4, 2005, the Bank issued EUR 125 million 

in bonds, which are subordinated to the other 

l iabi l i t ies of the Bank. Interest on subordinated 

bonds is variable and payable at three -month 

EURIBOR + 0.55% quar terly. 

The original maturity of the bonds is 10 years.

NOTE 17:     SHARE CAPITAL (in HUF million)

outstanding with a nominal value of HUF 1 thousand 

(see Note 1.1.).

From September 3, 1997, the Bank has one 

preferential voting share (the “Special Share”) 

 2005 2004

Authorized, issued and fully paid:  

 Common shares  28,000 28,000

 28,000 28,000

NOTE 18:     RETAINED EARNINGS AND RESERVES (in HUF million)

  Restated 

 2005 2004

Balance as at January 1 374,860 262,504

Net income after income taxes 132,848 113,477

Fair value adjustment of available-for-sale securities 

 recognised through equity 4,626 11,371

Share-based compensation 7,497 2,348

Profit on sale of Treasury Shares 7,426 1,960

Dividend (41,206) (16,800)

Balance as at December 31 486,051 374,860

Dividends of HUF 41,206 million for the year ended 

December 31, 2004 were proposed and approved 

by the Annual General Meeting on April 29, 2005. 

Dividends for the year ended December 31, 

2005 wil l be approved by the Annual General 

Meeting in Apri l , 2006. The proposed dividend 

is HUF 55,160 mil l ion.

The Bank ’s reserves under Hungarian Accounting 

Standards were HUF 310,215 mil l ion and 

HUF 243,848 mil l ion as at December 31, 2005 

and 2004, respectively. Of these amounts, legal 

reserves represent HUF 107,619 mil l ion and 

HUF 66,395 mil l ion as at December 31, 2005 

and 2004, respectively. The legal reserves are 

not avai lable for distr ibution.
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The Bank is presently liable for income tax at a rate of 16% of tax base.

NOTE 19:     TREASURY SHARES (in HUF million)

 2005 2004

Nominal value 1,005 1,010

Carrying value at acquisition cost 40,752 13,808

NOTE 20:     OTHER EXPENSES (in HUF million)

  Restated 

 2005 2004

Release of provision for permanent diminution 

 in value of investments in subsidiaries (1,909) (253)

Provision/(release of provision) for other assets 46 (1,314)

(Release of provision)/provision for possible losses 

 on off-balance sheet commitments. contingent liabilities (1,984) 901

Administration expenses. including rent 20,265 19,002

Advertising 4,028 3,810

Taxes. other than income tax 23,068 11,493

Services 15,811 16,099

Professional fees 2,686 2,278

Other  1,290 6,990

 63,301 59,006

NOTE 21:     INCOME TAXES (in HUF million)

  Restated 

 2005 2004

Current tax 22,804 18,728

Deferred tax  150 154

 22,954 18,882
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A reconciliation of the deferred tax asset/(liability) is as follows:

  Restated 

 2005 2004

Balance as at January 1 (1,761) 559

Deferred tax charge (150) (154)

Tax effect of fair value adjustment of available-for-sale 

 securities recognised through equity (882) (2,166)

Balance as at December 31 (2,793) (1,761)

A reconciliation of the income tax charge is as follows:

  Restated 

 2005 2004

Net income before income taxes 155,802 132,359

Income tax with statutory tax rate (16%) 24,928 21,177

  

Income tax adjustments are as follows:

  

Reversal of statutory general provision (651) (722)

Reversal of statutory goodwill and negative goodwill (1,318) (1,226)

Revaluation of investments denominated in foreign currency 

 to historical cost 305 (346)

Profit on sale of Treasury Shares 1,188 314

Fair value of share-based compensations (IFRS 2) 1,200 376

Dividend income (2,230) (1,360)

Other (468) 669

Income tax 22,954 18,882 

Effective tax rate 14.7% 14.3%

The breakdown of the deferred tax asset/(liability) is as follows:

  Restated 

 2005 2004

Premium and discount amortization on investment securities 68 115

Provision for possible losses on off-balance sheet 

 commitments and contingent liabilities  5 5

Difference in accounting for finance leases 158 60

Fair value adjustment of derivative financial instruments 90 

Repurchase agreement — 4

Deferred tax asset 321 184

  

Fair value adjustment of held for trading 

 and available-for-sale financial assets/securities (2,629) (1,611)

Fair value adjustment of derivative financial instruments — (37)

Repurchase agreement (4) —

Difference in depreciation and amortization of fixed assets (481) (297)

Deferred tax liabilities (3,114) (1,945)

Net deferred tax liabilities (2,793) (1,761)
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NOTE 22:     FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

and potential borrowers to meet interest 

and capi tal repayment obl igations and 

by changing these lending l imits where 

appropriate. Exposure to credit r isk is also 

managed in par t by obtaining col lateral 

and corporate and personal guarantees.

Market risk

The Bank takes on exposure to market risks. 

Market risks arise from open positions in interest 

rate, currency and equity products, all of which 

are exposed to general and specif ic market 

movements. The Bank applies a ‘Value at Risk ’ 

methodology to estimate the market risk 

of positions held and the maximum losses expected, 

based upon a number of assumptions for various 

changes in market conditions. The Management 

Board sets limits on the value of risk that may 

be accepted, which is monitored on a daily basis.

Liquidity risk

See Note 29.

Foreign currency risk

See Note 30.

Interest rate risk 

See Note 31.

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise 

to the right to receive cash or another financial asset 

from another party (financial asset) or the obligation 

to deliver cash or another financial asset to another 

party (financial liability).

Financial instruments may result in cer tain risks 

to the Bank. The most signif icant risks the Bank 

faces include:

Credit risk

The Bank takes on exposure to credit risk which 

is the risk that a counter-party will be unable to 

pay the whole amount in full when due. The Bank 

structures the levels of credit risk it undertakes 

by placing limits on the amount of risk accepted 

in relation to one borrower, or Banks of borrowers, 

and to geographical and industry segments. 

Such risks are monitored on a revolving basis 

and subject to an annual or more frequent review. 

The exposure to any one borrower including banks 

and brokers is fur ther restricted by sub- l imits 

covering on and of f-balance sheet exposures 

and daily delivery risk limits in relation to trading 

items such as forward foreign exchange contracts. 

Actual exposures against limits are monitored daily. 

Exposure to credit r isk is managed through 

regular analysis of the abi l i ty of borrowers 

NOTE 23:     OFF-BALANCE SHEET ITEMS AND DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL   
     INSTRUMENTS (in HUF million)

instruments . The fol lowing represent 

notional amounts of these of f-balance sheet 

f inancial instruments, unless stated 

otherwise.

In the normal course of business, the Bank 

par ticipates in various f inancial transactions 

that are not ref lected on the balance sheet 

and are referred to as of f-balance sheet f inancial 
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monitoring and credit policies as utilised in the 

extension of loans. The management of the Bank 

believes the market risk associated with guarantees, 

irrevocable letters of credit and undrawn loans 

commitments to be minimal.

Legal disputes

At the balance sheet date the Bank was involved 

in various claims and legal proceedings 

of a nature considered normal to i ts business. 

The level of these claims and legal proceedings 

correspond to the level of claims and legal 

proceedings in previous years. 

The Bank believes that the various asserted claims 

and l i t igations in which i t is involved wil l not 

material ly af fect i ts f inancial posi t ion, future 

operating results or cash f lows, al though 

no assurance can be given with respect to the 

ultimate outcome of any such claim or litigation. 

Provis ion due to legal disputes were 

HUF 1,453 million and HUF 1,414 million as 

at December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

Contingent liabilities related 

to OTP Mortgage Bank Ltd.

Under a syndicate agreement with i ts 

fully owned subsidiary, OTP Mortgage Bank Ltd., 

the Bank guarantees, in return for an annual fee, 

to purchase al l mor tgage loans held 

by OTP Mor tgage Bank Ltd. that become 

Commitments to extend credit, from 

guarantees and letters of credit

The primary purpose of these instruments is 

to ensure that funds are available to a customer 

as required. Guarantees and standby letters of credit, 

which represent irrevocable assurances that the 

Bank wil l make payments in the event that 

a customer cannot meet i ts obligations to third 

par ties, carry the same credit r isk as loans. 

Documentary and commercial letters of credit, which 

are writ ten undertakings by the Bank on behalf 

of a customer authorising a third party to draw drafts 

on the Bank up to a stipulated amount under specific 

terms and conditions, are collateralised by the 

underlying shipments of goods to which they relate 

and therefore carry less risk than a direct borrowing. 

Commitments to extend credit represent unused 

portions of authorisations to extend credit in the form 

of loans, guarantees or letters of credit. With respect 

to credit risk on commitments to extend credit, 

the Bank is potentially exposed to loss in an amount 

equal to the total unused commitments. However, 

the likely amount of loss is less than the total unused 

commitments since most commitments to extend 

credit are contingent upon customers maintaining 

specif ic credit standards.

Guarantees, irrevocable letters of credit and undrawn 

loan commitments are subject to similar credit risk 

(a) Contingent liabilities and commitments
 2005 2004

Commitments to extend credit 566,647 446,702

Guarantees arising from banking activities 132,369 92,780

Confirmed letters of credit 10,540 2,480

Legal disputes 3,410 2,127

Contingent liabilities related to OTP Mortgage Bank Ltd, 49,452 38,783

Other 164 102

 762,582 582,974
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Provis ion due to recourse agreements 

were HUF 4,945 million and HUF 3,878 million 

as at December 31, 2005 and 2004, 

respectively.

non-per forming. OTP Mortgage Bank Ltd. 

almost uti l ises credit r isk monitoring and credit 

policies for the granting of loans similar 

to those used by the Bank.

(b) Derivatives (nominal amount, unless otherwise stated)

 2005 2004

Foreign currency contracts designated as held for trading 

 Assets 39,329 32,604

 Liabilities 40,570 35,320

 Net value (1,241) (2,716)

 Net fair value  (856) (911)

   

Foreign exchange swaps and interest rate swaps 

designated as held for trading  

 Assets 612,543 207,207

 Liabilities 601,539 196,856

 Net value 11,004 10,351

 Net fair value  2,210 3,035

   

Interest rate swaps designated in hedge accounting relationships  

 Assets 12,031 27,873

 Liabilities 14,023 21,672

 Net value (1,992) 6,201

 Net fair value   (687) 411

  

Option contracts  

 Assets — 2,205

 Liabilities — —

 Net value — 2,205

 Net fair value  — —

  

Other options  

 Assets — 6,834

 Liabilities — —

 Net value — 6,834

 Net fair value  — —
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The Bank maintains strict control limits on net open 

derivative positions, i.e. the difference between 

purchase and sale contracts, by both amount and 

term. At any time the amount subject to credit risk is 

limited to the current fair value of instruments that are 

favourable to the Bank (i.e. assets), which in relation 

to derivatives is only a small fraction of the contract 

or notional values used to express the volume of 

instruments outstanding. This credit risk exposure is 

managed as part of the overall lending limits referring 

to customers, together with potential exposures from 

market movements. Collateral or other security is not 

usually obtained for credit risk exposures on these 

instruments, except of trading with clients, where the 

Bank in most of the cases requires margin deposits.

As at December 31, 2005, the Bank has derivative 

instruments with positive fair values of HUF 10,146 million 

and negative fair values of HUF 9,479 million. 

Positive fair values of derivative instruments 

designated as hedge accounting relationships are 

included in other assets, while positive fair values of 

derivative instruments designated as held for trading 

are included in financial assets at fair value through 

statements of operations. Negative fair values of 

derivative instruments are included in other liabilities. 

Corresponding figures as at December 31, 2004 

are HUF 4,113 million and HUF 1,578 million. 

Foreign currency contracts

Foreign currency contracts are agreements 

to exchange specif ic amounts of currencies 

at a specif ied rate of exchange, at a spot date 

(settlement occurs two days after the trade date) 

or at a forward date (settlement occurs more than 

two days after the trade date). The notional amount 

of these contracts does not represent the actual 

market or credit risk associated with these contracts.  

Foreign currency contracts are used by the Bank for 

risk management and trading purposes.  The Bank’s 

risk management foreign currency contracts were 

used to hedge against exchange rate fluctuations 

on loans and advances to credit insti tutions 

denominated in foreign currency.

Foreign exchange swaps and interest 

rate swaps

The Bank enters into foreign-exchange swap 

and interest rate swap transactions. The swap 

transaction is a complex agreement concerning 

to the swap of cer tain f inancial instruments, 

which usually consist of a prompt and one 

or more futures contracts.

Interest rate swaps obligate two parties to exchange 

one or more payments calculated with reference 

to fixed or periodically reset rates of interest applied 

to a specific notional principal amount. Notional 

principal is the amount upon which interest rates 

are applied to determine the payment streams 

under interest rate swaps.

Such notional principal amounts often are used to 

express the volume of these transactions but are 

not actually exchanged between the counter-parties. 

The Bank’s interest rate swaps were used for 

management of interest rate exposures and have 

been accounted for at mark-to-market fair value.

Forward rate agreements

A forward rate agreement is an agreement to settle 

amounts at a speci f ied future date based 

on the dif ference between an interest rate index 

and an agreed upon fixed rate. Market risk arises 

from changes in the market value of contractual 

positions caused by movements in interest rates. 

The Bank limits its exposure to market risk by 

entering into generally matching or offsetting 

positions and by establishing and monitoring limits 

on unmatched positions. Credit risk is managed 

through approval procedures that establish specific 

limits for individual counter-parties. The Bank’s 

forward rate agreements were transacted for 

management of interest rate exposures and have 

been accounted for at mark-to-market fair value.

For an analysis of the provision for possible losses 

on off-balance sheet commitments and contingent 

l iabil i t ies, see Note 15.
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NOTE 24:     SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION

The exercise prices of the options for each year  

or the years 2005 to 2009 is equal to the average 

market price of OTP shares in the two month period 

ending on the last day of the month of the Annual 

General Meeting.

The exercise period of the share options granted 

for the years of 2003 and 2004 is one year 

and for the f ive year share option program 

for the years 2005 to 2009 is two years. 

The exercise period of the option program 

for the years 2005 to 2009 must be opened 

after the actual year but not later than August 31. 

I f the options remain unexercised before 

the end of the exercise period, such options 

expire. Additionally, options are for feited if the 

employee leaves the Bank before the options vest.

The 2000 Annual General Meeting approved a five 

year share option and bonus program for the years 

2000 to 2004 granting options and bonus shares on 

an annual basis. For the options for the years 2003 

and 2004, the grant date is December 31, 2002.

The exercise price of the share options related to 

the years 2003 and 2004 is equal to half of the 

average market price of OTP shares of the month 

before the Annual General Meeting.

The 2005 Annual General Meeting approved a five 

year share option program for the years 2005 to 

2009 under which options are granted annually. 

Such options are subject to IFRS 2 and have a grant 

date of April 29, 2005. The maximum number of 

shares which are available is 2.92 million in a year.

 For the year ended December 31, 2004 For the year ended December 31, 2005

 Options Weighted average Options Weighted average

 (piece of shares) exercise price (in HUF) (piece of shares) exercise price  (in HUF)

Outstanding at beginning of period 3,599,930 2,548 3,575,930 2,552

Granted during the period — — 4,251,500 5,446

Forfeited during the period — — 30,000 3,107

Exercised during the period 24,000 1,980 4,451,230 2,661

Outstanding at the end of the period 3,575,930 2,552 3,346,200 6,079

Exercisable at the end of the period 1,761,930 1,980 446,200 3,107

The options outstanding at December 31, 

2005 had a weighted average exercise price 

of HUF 6,079 with a weighted average remaining 

contractual life of 18 months.

The weighted average share price at the date of 

exercise for share options of the year of 2003 and 

2004 exercised during the year ended December 

31, 2005 was HUF 6,116 and 7,333, respectively. 
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Expected volati l i ty was determined by calculating 

the historical volati l i ty of the Bank ’s share price 

three months prior to the grant date. 

The expected l i fe used in the model has been 

adjusted, based on management’s best estimate, 

for the ef fects of non-transferabil i ty, exercise 

restrictions, and behavioural considerations. 

In connection with the share -based compensation 

programs approved by the Bank and applying 

IFRS 2, HUF 7,497 mil l ion and HUF 2,348 mil l ion 

has been recognised as an expense 

for the years ended December 31, 2005 

and 2004, respectively.

NOTE 25:     RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Transactions with related parties, 

other than increases in share capital, 

are summarized below:

During the year ended December 31, 2005 and 2004 

the Bank sold, without recourse, non-performing loans 

and the related accrued interest receivable to OTP 

Factoring for HUF 7,776 million and HUF 4,132 million, 

respectively. The gross book value of such credits was 

HUF 21,063 million and HUF 11,224 million, 

respectively, with a corresponding allowance for loan 

losses of HUF 5,196 million and HUF 2,345 million, 

respectively. The underlying mortgage rights were also 

transferred to OTP Factoring. Losses related to such 

transactions are recorded in the unconsolidated 

financial statements, among for loans and placement 

losses, which were HUF 8,091 million and 

HUF 4,747 million, respectively.

Commissions received by the Bank from OTP 

Building Society in relation to f inalised customer 

contracts were HUF 1,349 mil l ion and 

HUF 1,085 mil l ion for the years ended 

December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

Insurance premiums paid by the Bank to 

OTP Garancia Insurance were HUF 2,039 million 

and HUF 1,209 mil l ion for the years ended 

December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

Commissions received by the Bank from 

OTP Fund Management in relation to custody 

activity were HUF 557 million and HUF 337 million, 

in relation to trading activity were HUF 4,996 million 

and HUF 2,505 mil l ion for the years ended 

December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

Commissions paid by the Bank to OTP Real Estate 

in relation to its activity were HUF 2,968 million 

and HUF 2,913 mil l ion for the years ended 

December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

The Bank under a syndication agreement 

administrated mor tgage loans with recourse 

to OTP Mortgage Bank Ltd. of HUF 146,323 million 

and 213,954 mil l ion during the years ended 

December 31, 2005 and 2004 (including interest). 

The book value of these receivables were 

HUF 146,118 million and HUF 213,517 million 

The inputs into the Binominal model are as follows: 

 2003 2004 2005

Weighted average share price (HUF) 2,210 2,210 6,060

Weighted average exercise price (HUF) 1,211 1,264 6,536

Expected volatility (%) 25 30 35

Expected life (average year) 2.42 3.42 3.34

Risk free rate (%) 7.30 7.17 7.46

Expected dividends (%) 1.24 1.24 2.41
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as of December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

During the year ended December 31, 2005 the Bank 

received HUF 51,697 million in fees and commissions 

from OTP Mortgage Bank Company Ltd. For the year 

ended December 31, 2004 such fees and commissions 

were HUF 37,386 million. Such fees and commissions 

are related to services provided to OTP Mortgage Bank 

Ltd. under the syndication agreement.

In the normal course of business, the Bank enters into 

other transactions with its subsidiaries, the amounts 

and volumes of which are not significant to these 

unconsolidated financial statements taken as a whole.

The members of the Board of Directors and the 

Supervisory Board have credit lines of HUF 188 million 

and HUF 184 mil l ion as at December 31, 2005 

NOTE 26:     CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (in HUF million)

NOTE 27:     TRUST ACTIVITIES

or l iabi l i t ies of the Bank, they have been 

excluded from the accompanying Unconsolidated 

Balance Sheet. The total amount of such loans 

managed by the Bank as a trustee amounted 

to HUF 46,825 mil l ion and HUF 47,301 mil l ion 

as at December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

The Bank acts as a trustee for cer tain loans 

granted by companies or employers to their 

employees, mainly for housing purposes. 

The ul t imate r isk for these loans rests with 

the par ty advancing the funds. As these loans 

and related funds are not considered to be assets 

and 2004, respectively. Such credit is made 

avai lable at normal market condit ions.

In the normal course of business, the Bank gives 

loans and provides services to other related parties 

at normal market conditions. The amount of these 

loans was HUF 283 million and HUF 294 million, 

with commitments to extend credit and guarantees 

of HUF 112 million and HUF 126 million as at 

December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

The compensation of key management, 

such as the members of the Board of Directors, 

the members of the Supervisory Board 

and the employees involved in the decision-

making process according 

to the compensation categories def ined 

in IAS 24, is summarised below:

  2005 2004

Short-term employee benefits  4,956 6,376

Share-based compensations  4,517 1,113

  9,473 7,489

 2005 2004

Cash, due from banks and balances with the NBH 379,249 399,401

Compulsory reserve established by the NBH (118,205) (105,716)

 261,044 293,685
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NOTE 29:     MATURITY ANALYSIS OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 
     AND LIQUIDITY RISK (in HUF million)

and shareholders’ equity into relevant maturi ty 

groupings based on the remaining period 

from the balance sheet date to the contractual 

maturi ty date. I t is presented under the most 

prudent consideration of maturi ty dates where 

options or repayment schedules al low for early 

repayment possibi l i t ies .

Liquidity risk is a measure of the extent to which 

the Bank may be required to raise funds to meet 

its commitments associated with financial 

instruments. The Bank maintains its liquidity 

profiles in accordance with regulations laid down 

by the National Bank of Hungary. The following 

tables provide an analysis of assets, liabilities 

NOTE 28:     CONCENTRATION OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

assets consisted of securities issued by the 

OTP Mortgage Bank Ltd. as at December 31, 2005 

and 2004, respectively. There were no other 

signif icant concentrations of the Bank ’s 

assets or l iabi l i t ies as at December 31, 2005 

and 2004, respectively.

Approximately 18% and 21% of the Bank ’s total 

assets consisted of receivables from, or securities 

issued by, the Hungarian Government 

or the National Bank of Hungary as 

at December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively. 

Approximately 15% and 17% of the Bank ’s total 
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As at December 31, 2005

 Within 3 Within one year Within 5 years  Over 5 years Total 

 months and over 3 months and over one year 

Cash, due from banks and balances with 

 the National Bank of Hungary 379,249 — — — 379,249

Placements with other banks

 net of allowance for placement losses 261,575 20,992 111,092 — 393,659

Financial assets at fair value through 

 statement of operations  2,354 4,861 21,932 4,907 34,054

Securities available-for-sale 28,883 37,380 121,966 183,204 371,433

Loans. net of allowance for loan losses 160,934 432,322 501,097 381,155 1,475,508

Accrued interest receivable 41,237 39 — — 41,276

Investments in subsidiaries — — — 223,881 223,881

Securities held-to-maturity 28,639 66,117 301,131 125,910 521,797

Premises, equipment and intangible assets, net — — 77,685 27,884 105,569

Other assets 40,321 6,086 22 18 46,447

Total assets 943,192 567,797 1,134,925 946,959 3,592,873

Due to banks and deposits from the 

 National Bank of Hungary and other banks 95,058 2,278 128,963 28,912 255,211

Deposits from customers 2,373,083 115,779 17,595 — 2,506,457

Liabilities from issued securities 355 — 201,912, — 202,267

Accrued interest payable 5,735 — — — 5,735

Other liabilities 84,339 8,515 7,419 2,608, 102,881

Subordinated bonds and loans — — 10,431 36,592 47,023

Total liabilities 2,558,570 126,572 366,320 68,112 3,119,574

Share capital — — — 28,000 28,000

Retained earnings and reserves — — — 486,051 486,051

Treasury shares (200) (2,597) (37,955) — (40,752)

Total shareholders’ equity (200) (2,597) (37,955) 514,051 473,299

Total liabilities 

 and shareholders’ equity 2,558,370 123,975 328,365 582,163 3,592,873

Liquidity (deficiency)/excess (1,615,178) 443,822 806,560 364,796 –
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As at December 31, 2004 (Restated)

 Within 3 Within one year Within 5 years  Over 5 years Total 

 months and over 3 months and over one year 

Cash, due from banks and balances with 

 the National Bank of Hungary 399,401 — — — 399,401

Placements with other banks, net of allowance 

 for placement losses 171,652 17,123 11,013 312 200,100

Financial assets at fair value through statement 

 of operations 5,828 8,518 1,278 6,435 22,059

Securities available-for-sale — 5,866 193,817 124,447 324,130

Loans. net of allowance for loan losses 207,259 274,298 568,366 226,318 1,276,241

Accrued interest receivable 41,176 4 — — 41,180

Investments in subsidiaries — — — 154,298 154,298

Securities held-to-maturity 1,334 61,614 286,944 157,611 507,503

Premises, equipment and intangible assets, net — — 42,941 53,597 96,538

Other assets 31,465 1,560 — — 33,025

Total assets 858,115 368,983 1,104,359 723,018 3,054,475

Due to banks and deposits from the 

 National Bank of Hungary and other banks 54,443 54,247 77,762 17,325 203,777

Deposits from customers 2,177,994 141,954 20,976 — 2,340,924

Liabilities from issued securities 196 1,801 — — 1,997

Accrued interest payable 7,714 1,700 — — 9,414

Other liabilities 84,546 10,441 — — 94,987

Subordinated bonds and loans — — 9,324 5,000 14,324

Total liabilities 2,324,893 210,143 108,062 22,325 2,665,423

Share capital — — — 28,000 28,000

Retained earnings and reserves — — — 374,860 374,860

Treasury shares (327) (2,600) (1,300) (9,581) (13,808)

Total shareholders’ equity (327) (2,600) (1,300) 393,279 389,052

Total liabilities 

 and shareholders’ equity 2,324,566 207,543 106,762 415,604 3,054,475

Liquidity (deficiency)/excess (1,466,451) 161,440 997,597 307,414 —
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NOTE 30:     NET FOREIGN CURRENCY POSITION 
     AND FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK (in HUF million)

of Hungary and own l imit system establ ished 

in respect of l imits on open posit ions. 

The measurement of the Bank ’s open foreign 

currency position involves monitoring the ‘Value at Risk’ 

limit on the foreign exchange exposure of the Bank. 

The table above provides an analysis of the Bank’s 

main currency exposures. The remaining currencies 

are shown within ‘Others’. Whilst the Bank monitors 

its foreign exchange position for compliance with 

the regulatory requirements of the National Bank 

NOTE 31:     INTEREST RATE RISK MANAGEMENT

In addition, the significant spread existing between 

the dif ferent types of interest bearing assets 

and liabilities enables the Bank to benefit from 

a high level of flexibility in adjusting for its interest 

rate matching and interest rate risk exposure.

The following table presents the interest repricing 

periods of the Bank. Variable interest bearing assets 

and liabilities have been reported according to their 

next repricing period. Fixed income assets 

and l iabil i t ies have been repor ted according 

to their maturity.

Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial 

instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market 

interest rates. The length of time for which the rate 

of interest is fixed on a financial instrument, therefore, 

indicates to what extent it is exposed to interest rate risk. 

The majority of the Bank’s interest bearing assets and 

liabilities are structured to match either short-term 

assets and short-term liabilities, or long-term assets 

and liabilities with repricing opportunities within one 

year, or long-term assets and corresponding liabilities 

where repricing is performed simultaneously. 

As at December 31, 2005 USD EUR Others Total

Assets 121,070 558,961 366,403 1,046,434

Liabilities (94,248) (543,337) (133,913) (771,498)

Off-balance sheet assets and liabilities, net (30,026) (86,132) (131,702) (247,860)

Net position (3,204) (70,508) 100,788 (27,076)

As at December 31, 2004 USD EUR Others Total

Assets 79,851 342,490 175,954 598,295

Liabilities (77,445) (288,127) (88,355) (453,927)

Off-balance sheet assets and liabilities, net (14,283) (49,401) (32,659) (96,343)

Net position (11,877) 4,962 54,940 48,025
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Within 1 month Over 1 month and 
within 3 months

Over 3 months and 
within 12 months

Over 1 year and 
within 2 years Over 2 years Non-interest-

bearing Total Total

HUF Currency HUF Currency HUF Currency HUF Currency HUF Currency HUF Currency HUF Currency

LIABILITIES
Due to banks and deposits from the National 
Bank of Hungary 31,488 82,126 – 140,214 – 1,383 – – – – – – 31,488 223,723 255,211

     fixed interest 3,811 31,409 – – – – – – – – – – 3,811 31,409 35,220

     variable interest 27,677 50,717 – 140,214 – 1,383 – – – – – – 27,677 192,314 219,991

Deposits from customers 2,058,315 240,986 145,912 30,726 3,463 27,055 – – – – – – 2,207,690 298,767 2,506,457

     fixed interest 745,486 178,942 145,912 30,726 3,463 27,055 – – – – – – 894,861 236,723 1,131,584

     variable interest 1,312,829 62,044 – – – – – – – – – – 1,312,829 62,044 1,374,873

Liabilities from issued securities 356 126,059 – 75,852 – – – – – – – – 356 201,911 202,267

     fixed interest – – – – – – – – – – – – – – –

     variable interest 356 126,059 – 75,852 – – – – – – – – 356 201,911 202,267
Fair value of derivative financial instruments 
in other liabilities 46,581 118,558 52,582 228,793 18,614 41,790 18,591 202 63,512 7,066 – – 199,880 396,409 596,289

     fixed interest 45,772 112,430 40,396 79,540 14,281 41,790 18,591 202 63,512 7,066 – – 182,552 241,028 423,580

     variable interest 809 6,128 12,186 149,253 4,333 – – – – – – – 17,328 155,381 172,709

Subordinated bonds and loans 5,000 – – 31,591 – 10,432 – – – – – – 5,000 42,023 47,023

     variable interest 5,000 – – 31,591 – 10,432 – – – – – – 5,000 42,023 47,023

Net position (1,152,875) (133,187) 403,499 199,508 182,689 (25,355) 28,211 (25) 586,879 6,026 57,011 2,917 105,414 49,884 155,298

As at December 31, 2005

Within 1 month Over 1 month and 
within 3 months

Over 3 months and 
within 12 months

Over 1 year and 
within 2 years Over 2 years Non-interest-

bearing Total Total

HUF Currency HUF Currency HUF Currency HUF Currency HUF Currency HUF Currency HUF Currency

ASSETS
Cash due from banks and balances with the 
National Bank of Hungary 327,299 2,167 – – – – – – – – 47,122 2,661 374,421 4,828 379,249

     fixed interest 327,299 2,167 – – – – – – – – – – 327,299 2,167 329,466

     variable interest – – – – – – – – – – – – – – –

     non-interest-bearing – – – – – – – – – – 47,122 2,661 47,122 2,661 49,783

Placements with other banks 73,409 240,976 20,000 56,119 200 2,955 – – – – – – 93,609 300,050 393,659

     fixed interest 70,109 176,094 20,000 15,965 200 200 – – – – – – 90,309 192,259 282,568

     variable interest 3,300 64,882 – 40,154 – 2,755 – – – – – – 3,300 107,791 111,091

Securities held for trading 444 – 1,300 – 2,230 – 8,208 177 11,394 – 189 1 23,765 178 23,943

     fixed interest 444 – 401 – 2,149 – 8,208 177 11,394 – – – 22,596 177 22,773

     variable interest – – 899 – 72 – – – – – – – 971 – 971

     non-interest-bearing – – – – 9 – – – – – 189 1 198 1 199

Securities available-for-sale 43,742 5,814 15,491 14,230 58,730 5,233 10,091 – 200,022 8,125 9,700 255 337,776 33,657 371,433

     fixed interest – – 2,966 – 21,553 – 10,091 – 200,022 8,125 – – 234,632 8,125 242,757

     variable interest 43,742 5,814 12,525 14,230 37,177 5,233 – – – – – – 93,444 25,277 118,721

     non-interest-bearing – – – – – – – – – – 9,700 255 9,700 255 9,955

Loans 430,778 101,724 395,921 464,197 13,844 42,721 1,806 – 24,517 – – – 866,866 608,642 1,475,508

     fixed interest 154 – 282 758 1,198 501 1,670 – 6,710 – – – 10,014 1,259 11,273

     variable interest 430,624 101,724 395,639 463,439 12,646 42,220 136 – 17,807 – – – 856,852 607,383 1,464,235

Securities held-to-maturity 22,697 – 60,445 – 60,224 2,135 9,945 – 366,351 – – – 519,662 2,135 521,797

     fixed interest – – 5,933 – 50,102 2,135 9,945 – 366,351 – – – 432,331 2,135 434,466

     variable interest 22,697 – 54,512 – 10,122 – – – – – – – 87,331 – 87,331

Fair value of derivative financial instruments 90,496 83,861 108,836 172,138 69,538 2,261 16,752 – 48,107 4,967 – – 333,729 263,227 596,956

     fixed interest 82,516 75,740 97,269 22,690 56,724 2,261 16,752 – 48,107 4,967 – – 301,368 105,658 407,026

     variable interest 7,980 8,121 11,567 149,448 12,814 – – – – – – – 32,361 157,569 189,930

As at December 31, 2005
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Within 1 month Over 1 month and 
within 3 months

Over 3 months and 
within 12 months

Over 1 year and 
within 2 years Over 2 years Non-interest-

bearing Total Total

HUF Currency HUF Currency HUF Currency HUF Currency HUF Currency HUF Currency HUF Currency

LIABILITIES
Due to banks and deposits from the National 
Bank of Hungary 20,399 126,534 3,339 42,741 6,607 3,501 – – – – 480 176 30,825 172,952 203,777

     fixed interest 18,414 28,055 – 4,970 – 1,753 – – – – – – 18,414 34,778 53,192

     variable interest 1,985 98,479 3,339 37,771 6,607 1,748 – – – – – – 11,931 137,998 149,929

     non-interest-bearing – – – – – – – – – – 480 176 480 176 656

Deposits from customers 1,724,869 217,930 342,659 24,562 3,496 27,408 – – – – – – 2,071,024 269,900 2,340,924

     fixed interest 528,076 150,293 342,659 24,562 3,496 27,408 – – – – – – 874,231 202,263 1,076,494

     variable interest 1,196,793 67,637 – – – – – – – – – – 1,196,793 67,637 1,264,430

Liabilities from issued securities 105 – – – 1,800 – – – – – 92 – 1,997 – 1,997

     fixed interest – – – – 1,800 – – – – – – – 1,800 – 1,800

     variable interest 105 – – – – – – – – – – – 105 – 105

     non-interest-bearing – – – – – – – – – – 92 – 92 – 92
Fair value of derivative financial instruments 
in other liabilities 13,087 87,629 29,353 67,794 58,173 18,559 5,000 3,935 31,761 7,133 – – 137,374 185,050 322,424 

     fixed interest 1,587 79,662 3,353 17,430 28,412 18,559 5,000 3,935 31,761 7,133 – – 70,113 126,719 196,832 

     variable interest 11,500 7,967 26,000 50,364 29,761 – – – – – – – 67,261 58,331 125,592 

Subordinated bonds and loans – – – – 5,000 9,324 – – – – – – 5,000 9,324 14,324 

     variable interest – – – – 5,000 9,324 – – – – – – 5,000 9,324 14,324 

Net position (716,658) (326,698) 172,466 302,341 93,520 (10,197) 62,040 3,492 517,070 154 65,228 4,888 193,666 (26,020) 167,646

As at December 31, 2004

Within 1 month Over 1 month and 
within 3 months

Over 3 months and 
within 12 months

Over 1 year and 
within 2 years Over 2 years Non-interest-

bearing Total Total

HUF Currency HUF Currency HUF Currency HUF Currency HUF Currency HUF Currency HUF Currency

ASSETS
Cash due from banks and balances with the 
National Bank of Hungary 342,214 – – – – – – – – – 52,848 4,339 395,062 4,339 399,401

     fixed interest 342,214 – – – – – – – – – – – 342,214 – 342,214

     variable interest – – – – – – – – – – – – – – –

     non-interest-bearing – – – – – – – – – – 52,848 4,339 52,848 4,339 57,187

Placements with other banks 122,774 43,995 800 17,838 200 10,035 – – – – 3,962 496 127,736 72,364 200,100

     fixed interest 119,704 39,635 500 5,066 200 4,802 – – – – – – 120,404 49,503 169,907

     variable interest 3,070 4,360 300 12,772 – 5,233 – – – – – – 3,370 22,365 25,735

     non-interest-bearing – – – – – – – – – – 3,962 496 3,962 496 4,458

Securities held for trading 937 1,747 2,159 3,864 447 1,676 73 – 6,512 1,188 155 – 10,283 8,475 18,758

     fixed interest 937 – 1,321 202 373 – 73 – 6,512 1,188 – – 9,216 1,390 10,606

     variable interest – 1,747 838 3,662 74 1,676 – – – – – – 912 7,085 7,997

     non-interest-bearing – – – – – – – – – – 155 – 155 – 155

Securities available-for-sale 43,862 1,859 13,538 5,409 51,012 1,028 16,288 – 182,071 – 8,835 229 315,605 8,525 324,130

     fixed interest – – – – 13,981 – 16,288 – 182,071 – – – 212,340 – 212,340

     variable interest 43,862 1,859 13,538 5,409 37,030 1,028 – – – – – – 94,430 8,296 102,726

     non-interest-bearing – – – – – – – – – – 8,835 229 8,835 229 9,064

Loans 434,790 30,831 386,288 392,852 11,403 16,163 512 1,691 1,711 – – – 834,704 441,537 1,276,241

     fixed interest 5,215 – 14,043 174 1,126 890 511 984 1,711 – – – 22,606 2,048 24,654

     variable interest 429,575 30,831 372,245 392,678 10,277 15,273 1 707 – – – – 812,098 439,489 1,251,587

Securities held-to-maturity 23,196 – 74,601 – 52,462 – 26,167 1,801 329,276 – – – 505,702 1,801 507,503

     fixed interest 499 – – – 42,340 – 26,167 1,801 329,276 – – – 398,282 1,801 400,083

     variable interest 22,697 – 74,601 – 10,122 – – – – – – – 107,420 – 107,420

Fair value of derivative financial instruments 74,029 26,963 70,431 17,475 53,073 19,693 24,000 3,935 29,261 6,099 – – 250,794 74,165 324,959 

     fixed interest 53,729 26,963 255 17,475 14,312 18,709 24,000 3,935 29,261 6,099 – – 121,557 73,181 194,738 

     variable interest 20,300 – 70,176 – 38,761 984 – – – – – – 129,237 984 130,221 

As at December 31, 2004
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Earnings per share attributable to the Bank’s common 

shares are determined based on dividing income after 

income taxes for the year attributable to common 

shareholders, af ter the deduction of declared 

preference dividends, by the weighted average number 

of common shares outstanding during the year.

NOTE 32:     EARNINGS PER SHARE

  Restated 

 2005 2004

Income after income taxes (in HUF mn) 132,848 113,477

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding 

during the year for calculating basic EPS (piece) 270,109,683 270,339,171

Basic Earnings per share (in HUF) 492 420

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding 

during the year for calculating diluted EPS (piece) 272,234,330 271,479,651

Diluted Earnings per share (in HUF) 488 418

The weighted average number of common 

shares outstanding during the period does not 

include treasury shares.

Diluted earnings per share are determined 

af ter addi t ional ly taking into consideration 

the option rights granted.
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Based on the authorization of the Annual General 

Meeting of the year 2005, the Bank repurchased 

1,000,000 pieces of own shares between 

January 1 and 25, 2006 at an average price 

of HUF 7,405.

On October 24, 2005 the Bank made a binding bid for 

purchasing the 89,39% of the shares of Niska banka a.d. 

registered in Serbia. The purchase agreement was signed 

on December 23, 2005 at the price of EUR 14,21 million. 

The transaction was closed March 7, 2006.

NOTE 34:     POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS

NOTE 33:     RECONCILIATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PREPARED UNDER  
     HUNGARIAN ACCOUNTING STANDARDS AND FINANCIAL   
     STATEMENTS PREPARED UNDER IFRS (in HUF million)

    

Hungarian financial statements 296,978 138,346 (55,160) (598) 379,566

Adjustments to Hungarian financial statements:     

Reversal of statutory general provision 21,570 4,066 — — 25,636

Premium and discount amortization on investment securities (709) 291 — — (418)

Allowance for possible loan losses (1,340) — — — (1,340)

Differences in carrying value of subsidiaries 799 — — — 799

Difference in accounting for finance leases (336) (613) — — (949)

Fair value adjustment of held for trading 

and available-for-sale financial assets (IAS 39) 9,636 847 — 5,508 15,991

Fair value adjustment of derivative financial instruments 451 (796) — — (345)

Loss on sale of Treasury Shares — (7,426) — 7,426 —

Reversal of statutory goodwill and negative goodwill 8,348 8,237 — — 16,585

Revaluation of investments denominated 

in foreign currency to historical cost 39 (1,907) — — (1,868)

Difference in accounting of repo transactions (21) 48 — — 27

Reclassification of direct charges (self revision) — (598) — 598 —

Share-based compensation (IFRS 2) — (7,497) — 7,497 —

Deferred taxation (1,761) (150) — (882) (2,793)

Dividend for the year 2004 (accepted by 

the Annual General Meeting) 41,206 — (41,206) — —

Dividend payable for the year 2005 — — 55,160 — 55,160

International financial statements 374,860 132,848 (41,206) 19,549 486,051

Retained earnings 
and reserves 

January 1, 2005

Net income
for the year

ended
December 31,

2005 Dividend

Direct 
movements 
on reserves

Retained 
earnings

and reserves 
as at 

December 31,
2005
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Senior Management of OTP Bank 
and Executive Members 
of the Board of Directors
Dr. Sándor Csányi (53) has served as Chairman and 

Chief Executive Officer of OTP Bank since 1992 and is 

responsible for the strategy and overall operations of the 

Bank. Dr. Csányi has held several other senior positions 

in the banking sector, including Head of Department at 

Hungarian Credit Bank Ltd. from 1986 to 1989 and 

Deputy Chief Executive Officer at K&H Bank from 

1989 to 1992. Before that, he worked at the Hungarian 

Ministry of Finance. Dr. Csányi is a financial economist, 

a certified price analyst and a chartered accountant. 

He is a member of the board of Europay and of MOL, 

and holds a seat on the management committee of 

the Hungarian Banking Association. He owned 

904,945 OTP ordinary shares as of December 31, 

2005 (while the total number of OTP shares owned 

by him directly or indirectly was 2,774,945).

Dr. Sándor Csányi

Chairman & CEO

Dr. Zoltán Spéder (42) has been a member of the 

Board since 1991, has served as the Vice Chairman 

of the Board since 1995, and as the Chief Financial 

Officer and Deputy Chief Executive Officer of the Bank 

since 1996. From 1987 to 1996 he was employed 

at the Financial Research Institute as a research fellow 

in banking and corporate finance. Between 1991 

and 1992 Dr. Spéder was adviser to the Minister 

of Finance. Dr. Spéder has a PhD and MSc from 

the Budapest University of Economics. 

He owned 1,768,400 OTP ordinary shares 

as at December 31, 2005.
Dr. Zoltán Spéder

Vice Chairman of the Board 
of Directors, Deputy CEO

StratEgiC anD FinanCial 
DiViSiOn

Dr. István Gresa (53) has served as Deputy 

Chief Executive Of f icer of the Credit Approval 

and Risk Management Division of OTP Bank since 

March 1, 2006. Dr. Gresa graduated from the 

College of Finance and Accounting in 1974 and 

from the Budapest University of Economics in 

1980, where he went on to gain a PhD in 1983. 

He worked at Budapest Bank from 1989 to 1993. 

He has been employed by OTP Bank from 1993, 

ini t ia l ly as director for Zala County and then, 

f rom 1998, as managing director of the West 

Transdanubian Region. He held 63,600 OTP 

ordinary shares as of March 1, 2006.
Dr. istván gresa

Deputy CEO
CrEDit apprOVal anD 

riSk ManagEMEnt 
DiViSiOn

Mr. Csaba Lantos (44) has been a member of the 

Board since 2001. He has served as Deputy CEO of 

OTP Bank since 2000. He was employed at Budapest 

Bank as a bond dealer from 1986. After that he was 

Head of Securities Trading at Creditanstalt Securities Ltd. 

until 1994 and Deputy CEO there until 1997. 

At the same time he served as managing director of 

Creditanstalt Securities Investment Fund Management Ltd. 

Between 1997 and 2000 he was the CEO 

and Chairman of the Board of CA IB Securities. 

He has been a member of the Council of the Budapest 

Stock Exchange since 1990 and Chairman of the 

Board of the Central Clearing House and Depository Ltd. 

(KELER) since 1993. He held a total of 269,116 OTP 

ordinary shares as of December 31, 2005.
Csaba lantos

Member of the Board 
of Directors, 
Deputy CEO

rEtail Banking DiViSiOn
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Mr. Géza Lenk (59) has been a member of the Board 

from 2001 until April 28, 2006. He has served as 

Deputy CEO of OTP Bank since 2001, from March 

2006 as advisor to the chairman, earlier with 

responsibility for managing the Bank’s Credit Approval 

and Risk Management Division. Previously he worked at 

the National Bank of Hungary, and was CEO of the 

General Enterprise Bank until 1988. After that he served 

as Chairman & CEO of K&H Bank, until 1995. From 

1996 Mr. Lenk was the Vice Chairman and Deputy CEO 

of Trigon Bank in Vienna. From 1998 to 2000 he was 

the head of the MKB Leasing and Finance group, and 

Chairman & CEO of the company Reorg Ltd. Mr. Lenk is 

a graduate of the Budapest University of Economics 

and the International Banker’s School in London. He held 

159,000 ordinary shares as of December 31, 2005.

géza lenk

Member of the Board 
of Directors, 
Deputy CEO

Mr. Gyula Pap (48) has been a Deputy CEO 

at the OTP Bank since 2001, with responsibility 

for managing the IT and Logistics Division. Mr. Pap 

earned a degree in electrical engineering from 

Kálmán Kandó Electrical Engineering College 

in 1980 and a post-graduate degree in IT 

engineering from the College of Foreign Trade 

in 1989. He has been employed at OTP Bank since 

1982, where he has held a variety of positions 

in various areas of information technology. From 

1994 to 2001 he was the Managing Director 

of the IT Operations Directorate. He held 361,820 

OTP ordinary shares as of December 31, 2005.
gyula pap

Deputy CEO
it anD lOgiStiCS DiViSiOn

Dr. Antal Pongrácz (60) has been a member 

of the Board since 2002. He has served as Managing 

Director of OTP Bank, and has been Deputy CEO 

since 2001. From 1969 he worked as an analyst at 

‘Petrolkémiai Vállalat’, and then as a group manager 

at the Revenue Directorate. From 1976 he served 

at various departments of the Ministry of Finance, 

as a manager. After that, he was deputy Chairman 

of the State Office for Youth and Sports. From 1988 

to 1990 he served as the first Deputy CEO 

of OTP Bank. He was CEO and later Chairman & CEO 

of the European Commercial Bank Ltd. until 1994. 

In that year he was appointed Chairman & CEO of 

Szerencsejáték Rt. and then went on to serve as CEO 

of Hungary’s flagship airline, Malév. Dr. Pongrácz 

has a PhD and MSc from the Budapest University 

of Economics. He held 222,000 OTP ordinary 

shares as of December 31, 2005.

Dr. antal pongrácz

Member of the Board 
of Directors, 
Deputy CEO 

StaFF DiViSiOn

Mr. László Wolf (46) has served as Deputy CEO 

of OTP Bank, with responsibility for managing the 

Commercial Banking Division, since 1994. Mr. Wolf 

gained a degree from the Budapest University of 

Economics in 1983. From 1983 he was employed for 

8 years at the National Bank of Hungary, in the Division 

of International Banking Relations. From 1991 to 1993 

he was Head of Treasury at BNP-KH-Dresdner Bank in 

Budapest, and from April 1993 to 1994 he served as 

Director of Treasury at OTP Bank. He held 811,640 

OTP ordinary shares as of December 31, 2005.

lászló Wolf

Deputy CEO
COMMErCial Banking 

DiViSiOn
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Non-executive Members 
of the Board of Directors 
of OTP Bank Ltd.

Mr. Mihály Baumstark (57) has been a 

member of OTP Bank ’s Board since 1999 

and is currently the Chairman & CEO of 

Csányi Vinery Ltd., a post he has held since 1999. 

Mr. Baumstark holds degrees in agricultural 

engineering and agricultural economics. 

Mr. Baumstark was employed between 1978 

and 1989 at the Ministry of Food and Agriculture, 

with his last position being Deputy Head 

of Accounting. He held 90,000 OTP ordinary 

shares as of December 31, 2005.

Mihály Baumstark

Member of the Board 
of Directors,

Chairman & CEO
CSányi VinEry ltD.

Dr. Tibor Bíró (54) has been a member of OTP 

Bank’s Board since 1992, and is currently head of 

department at the Budapest Business School (College 

of Finance and Accountancy), where he has taught 

since 1982. Mr. Bíró has a degree in economics from 

the Budapest University of Economics and was head 

of the Financial Department at Tatabánya City Council 

from 1978 to 1982. Mr. Bíró is a registered auditor and 

a member of the Budapest Council of the Hungarian 

Chamber of Auditors. He was the owner of 57,000 

OTP ordinary shares as of  December 31, 2005.

Dr. tibor Bíró

Member of the Board 
of Directors,

Head of Department
BuDapESt BuSinESS SCHOOl

Mr. Péter Braun (70) was a Deputy Chief 

Executive Of f icer and head of the IT and Logistics 

Division at OTP Bank from 1993 unti l 2001 when 

he was retired. He has been a member of the 

Board since 1997. Mr. Braun earned a degree in 

electrical engineering at the Budapest Technical 

University. Between 1954 and 1989 Mr. Braun 

was employed at the Research Insti tute for 

Electrical Energy, with his last position being 

Head of Depar tment. Af ter that, Mr. Braun was 

the Managing Director of K&H Bank, working in 

i ts Computer and Information Centre. Mr. Braun is 

also a member of the Board of Directors of GIRO Ltd. 

He held 631,905 OTP ordinary shares as of 

December 31, 2005.
péter Braun

Member of the Board of 
Directors, Electrical Engineer, 

Former Deputy CEO of 
Otp Bank ltD.

Dr. István Kocsis (54) has been a member of OTP 

Bank’s Board since 1997. Dr. Kocsis is a graduate of 

the Budapest Technical University and between 1991 

and 1993, worked at the Ministry of Trade and 

Industry as Head of Department and later as Deputy 

Undersecretary of the Hungarian State. He served as 

Deputy CEO and subsequently as acting CEO at ÁPV Ltd. 

from 1993 to 1996. Between 1996 and 1997 he 

was Deputy CEO of ÁPV Ltd. Later, Dr. Kocsis was 

Head of Division at RWE Energie AG., General Director 

at ÉMÁSZ Ltd., and the CEO of Paks Nuclear Power Plant. 

From 2005 he has been CEO of Hungarian Power 

Companies Ltd. (MVM Ltd.). He held 83,500 OTP 

ordinary shares as of December 31, 2005.
Dr. istván kocsis

Member of the Board 
of Directors, CEO of 

Hungarian pOWEr 
COMpaniES ltD. 
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Dr. László Utassy (54) has been a member 

of OTP Bank ’s Board since 2001. He has served 

as Chairman & CEO of OTP Garancia Insurance Ltd. 

since 1996. From 1978 to 1995 he was 

employed at the State Insurance Company and 

at ÁB-AEGON Ltd. Dr. Utassy has a law degree 

from ELTE Universi ty in Budapest and has 

a degree in economics from the Budapest 

Universi ty of Economics. He is the chairman 

of the Association of Hungarian Insurance 

Companies . He held 70,000 OTP ordinary 

shares as of December 31, 2005.
Dr. lászló utassy

Member of the Board 
of Directors, 

Chairman-CEO
Otp garanCia inSuranCE ltD.  

Dr. József Vörös (55) has been a member of 

OTP Bank’s Board since 1992. Currently Dr. Vörös is 

the General Deputy Rector at the University of Pécs, 

where he has taught since 1994. Dr. Vörös gained 

a degree in economics from the Budapest University 

of Economics in 1974 and holds a PhD and DSc from 

the Hungarian Academy of Sciences, which he 

obtained in 1984 and 1993 respectively. Dr. Vörös 

was Dean of the Faculty of Business and Economics 

at the Janus Pannonius University from 1990 to 1993. 

He attended a course in management for senior 

executives at Harvard Business School in 1993. 

He held a total of 130,000 OTP ordinary shares 

as of December 31, 2005.
Dr. József Vörös

Member of the Board 
of Directors, 

general Deputy rector
péCS uniVErSity, FaCulty 

OF ECOnOMiCS
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Members of the Supervisory 
Board of OTP Bank Ltd.

Mr. Tibor Tolnay (55) has been Chairman 

of the Supervisory Board since 1992. Mr. Tolnay 

is currently Chief Executive Officer of Magyar Építők Ltd., 

a position he has held since 1972. Mr. Tolnay earned 

a degree in architecture from the Technical University 

of Budapest and a degree in economics from 

the Budapest University of Economics. 

He owned 120,580 OTP ordinary shares 

as of  December 31, 2005.

tibor tolnay 

Chairman of the 
Supervisory Board, 

Chairman & CEO 
Magyar épÍtÔk ltD.

Dr. Gábor Nagy (69) has been a member of the 

Supervisory Board since 1991 and Vice Chairman 

since 1992. Dr. Nagy is a registered auditor with a 

degree from the Budapest University of Economics. 

From 1974 to 1977, he worked at the Institute for 

Further Education at the Ministry of Finance. 

Since 1977 Dr. Nagy has worked in a variety 

of positions in the accounting division of the Hungarian 

Ministry of Finance and is currently the Head 

of the Accounting Division. He owned 130,000 OTP 

ordinary shares as of December 31, 2005.

Dr. gábor nagy 

Vice Chairman of the Supervisory 
Board, Head of Codification 

grOup MiniSty OF FinanCE, 
aCCOunting DiViSiOn

Dr. Gábor Horváth (50) has been a member of the 

Supervisory Board since 1995. He has a law degree 

from ELTE University in Budapest. From 1983 to 1986 

Dr. Horváth worked for the Hungarian State 

Development Bank. From 1986 to 1990 he worked 

for a legal co-operative office. Since 1990 he has 

worked as a private, independent lawyer, and his 

clients include the Hungarian Ministry of Finance, 

the Hungarian State Institute for Research and the 

Municipality of Budapest. He held 20,000 OTP 

ordinary shares as of December 31, 2005.

Dr. gábor Horváth

Member of the 
Supervisory Board, 

lawyer

Mr. Antal Kovács (53) has been a member of 

the Supervisory Board since 2004. Mr. Kovács 

has a degree from the Budapest Universi ty of 

Economics. He began his career at K&H Bank, 

and was a branch manager there from 1993 

to 1995. From 1995 he was employed by 

OTP Bank as county director, and in 1998 

he was appointed regional director of the South 

Transdanubian Region. He held 60,000 OTP 

ordinary shares as of December 31, 2005.

antal kovács

Member of the Supervisory 
Board, Managing Director
Otp Bank ltD., SOutH 

tranSDanuBian rEgiOn
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Dr. Sándor Pintér (58) has been a member 

of the Supervisory Board from 2003 unti l 2006. 

From April 28, 2006 he is a member of the Board 

of Directors. Dr. Pintér has a degree from the 

Police Of f icer Training College and gained a law 

degree from ELTE University in Budapest in 1986. 

From 1970 he worked for the Home Of f ice. 

In December 1996 he retired from his position 

as police superintendent. From 1998 to 2002 

he served as Home Secretary of the Hungarian 

Republic. Between 1997 and 1998 he was a 

member of the Board of Directors at OTP Bank. 

He was the owner of 12,550 OTP ordinary 

shares as at December 31, 2005. 
Dr. Sándor pintér

Member of the Supervisory 
Board, Chairman & CEO

CiVil BiZtOnSági 
SZOlgálat ltD.

Ms. Klára Vécsei (54) is a member of the 

Supervisory Board since 1991 and is the Deputy 

Managing Director of the OTP Bank’s Northern 

Hungary Region. Ms. Vécsei joined the bank in 1970 

and has held a variety of senior positions, including 

Deputy Head of the Accounting and Controlling 

Department, and Chief Accountant. She received 

a degree in economics from the Budapest University 

of Economics. She held 11,000 OTP ordinary shares 

as of December 31, 2005.

klára Vécsei

Member of the 
Supervisory Board, 

Deputy Managing Director 
Otp Bank ltD., nOrtHErn 

Hungary rEgiOn
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Information for Shareholders

General company data

Date of establishment of OTP Bank Ltd.:

December 31, 1990, entered in the registry 

of the Capital Court as Court of Registration 

on October 28, 1991 under company registration 

number 01-10-041585.

The latest Bylaws of the company may be 

requested from the company or may be 

downloaded from the Bank ’s website.

Legal Predecessor:

Országos Takarékpénztár, established March 1, 1949

Head office of OTP Bank Ltd.:

H-1051 Budapest, Nádor utca 16. 

Telephone: (+36-1) 473-5000 • Fax: (+36-1) 473-5955

Share capital

The Bank’s share capital as at December 31, 2005 was 

HUF 28,000,001,000, consisting of 280,000,000 

ordinary shares of a nominal value of HUF 100 

each, and 1 voting-preference share of nominal 

value HUF 1,000.

Ownership structure as at December 31, 2005
       

   Shareholder Ownership share

Domestic shareholders State 1 voting-preference share

 State budgetary organisations 0.3%

 Managers and employees  3.1%

 OTP Bank Ltd. 6.5%

 Other domestic investors 4.2%

 Total domestic ownership 14.1%

Foreign shareholders Foreign investors 85.9%

Total     100.0%
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Stock exchange listing

The ordinary shares of OTP Bank Ltd. are listed 

on the Budapest Stock Exchange in category “A”, 

and the global depository receipts (GDRs) representing 

the ordinary shares that are traded abroad are listed on 

the Luxembourg Stock Exchange. (1 GDR represents 2 

ordinary shares.) The Regulation S GDRs are traded on 

the London SEAQ International. The Rule 144A GDRs 

are traded in the PORTAL system. The custodian bank 

for the OTP GDRs is the Bank of New York, 

and the custodian is OTP Bank Ltd. (Stock exchange 

symbol for OTP Bank shares: OTP, Reuters: OTP.BU).

Participation and voting rights 
at the General Meeting

Shareholders may exercise their right of 

participation and their voting rights at the General 

Meeting in person or by proxy.

The letters of proxy must be set forth in a notarised 

deed or a private document bearing full probative 

force. In the event that a shareholder is represented 

at the General Meeting by its legal representative 

(e.g. director, managing director, mayor etc.), 

the deed issued by the court or court of registration 

concerning the representation, or a cer ti f icate 

testi fying to the election of the mayor, must be 

presented at the venue of the General Meeting.

The let ters of proxy must be handed over during 

the period and at the location specif ied in the 

invitation to the General Meeting. I f the let ter of 

proxy was issued outside Hungary, it must satisfy, 

in terms of its form, the statutory provisions pertaining 

to the authentication or counter-authentication 

of documents issued outside Hungary. Information 

on the subject can be obtained from the Hungarian 

representation offices abroad.

Participation in the General Meeting and 

exercising of voting rights is subject to the 

following preconditions:

– the holder of the registered shares has been 

ef fectively entered into the company’s Share 

Register;

– the voting right associated with ownership 

of the shares does not violate the provisions 

of the company’s Ar ticles of Association, 

which the Company ascertains through a check 

following receipt of an owner’s data reconciliation 

notice from KELER Ltd.;

– with respect to participation in the General 

Meeting and the exercising of voting rights on 

the part of the organisation exercising shareholders’ 

rights on the basis of the voting-preference share 

(golden share) issued in favour of the Hungarian 

State, the general rules apply, with the proviso 

that, in the case of certain matters specified in 

the Articles of Association of OTP Bank Ltd., 

the consent of the holder of the golden share is 

required in order for the resolution to be passed;

– the rules on participation in the General Meeting 

and the exercising of voting rights on the part of 

GDR holders are contained in the Custody 

Agreement concluded between the Bank 

of New York and OTP Bank Ltd.

Dividend

OTP Bank Ltd.’s General Meeting of April 28, 2006 

passed a resolution to the effect that the extent 

of the dividend to be paid in respect of the 2005 

financial year should be 197% of the nominal 

value of the shares. The actual amount of dividend 

payable to shareholders will be calculated and 

paid in accordance with the Bank’s Bylaws.

The preconditions for payment of dividends on 

the shares are as follows:

– the share ownership of the shareholder must 

not violate the stipulations of Act CXII of 1996 

on Credit Institutions and Financial Enterprises 

(“Hpt.”)

– the owner of the shares must have been 

effectively entered in the Share Register 

of OTP Bank Ltd.

– OTP Bank Ltd. must have details available to it that 

are suitable for identifying the shareholder, based 

on the owner’s data reconciliation notice required 

by KELER Ltd. by the initial date of dividend payment 

and/or, subsequent to that, based on the owner’s 

data reconciliation notice sent to the company by 

the shareholder’s account managing institution(s).

After registration in the Share Register and an 

examination of the Share Register, OTP Bank Ltd. 

Corporate Governance
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will transfer the dividend to the account manager, 

or if the shareholder has, through the account 

manager, so requested, to the shareholder’s 

bank account.

The payment of dividends on shares traded in 

Hungary is performed by the designated branch 

offices of OTP Bank Ltd. Dividend payment for GDR 

holders is performed through the Bank of New York.

Dividend payment date: from June 12, 2006. 

Private investors who have questions regarding 

shares or dividends, or about resolutions passed at 

the General Meeting, should contact the Secretariat 

of OTP Bank Ltd. Telephone: (+36-1) 473-5162.

Announcements

OTP Bank Ltd. fulfils its disclosure obligations 

related to corporate events and prescribed in 

Act No. CXX of 2001 in the publication Magyar 

Tőkepiac [Hungarian Capi tal Market] 

and on the website of the Budapest Stock Exchange 

(www.bet .hu).

Investor Relations

Insti tutional shareholders of OTP Bank Ltd. 

should contact the fol lowing address 

i f they require fur ther information:

OTP Bank Ltd. Investor Relations, 

1051 Budapest , Nádor utca 16. 

Telephone: (+36-1) 473-5460 

Fax: (+36-1) 473-5951, 

e -mail : investor.relations@otpbank.hu

The address of the Bank ’s website 

is www.otpbank.hu.



163

OTP Bank Ltd.’s operation is in full compliance 

with the applicable laws, supervisory provisions 

and Budapest Stock Exchange (BSE) regulations. 

The structure and conditions of operation of the 

Company are contained in the Company’s Bylaws. 

Executive bodies

The executive body of the Company is the Board 

of Directors. The scope of the Board of Directors 

is def ined in the ef fective laws, the Company’s 

Bylaws, General Meeting resolutions, and the 

Procedural Rules of the Board of Directors. 

The Procedural Rules set out the structure 

of the Board of Directors, the tasks relating 

to the preparation, implementation and draf ting 

of resolutions of its meetings, as well as all other 

issues relating to the operation of the Board of 

Directors. The members of the Board of Directors 

are elected by the General Meeting for a term 

of f ive years. At present, the ratio of independent 

Board members (three persons) within the total 

number of the Directors (11 directors) is 27%. 

(From April 28, 2006 the share of independent 

members of the Board (4 persons) within the total 

members of the Directors (11 persons) is 36%)

All the obligations and prohibitions specified for 

executive officers under Act CXII of 1996 on Credit 

Institutions and Financial Enterprises (Credit Institutions 

Act) apply to the members of the Board of Directors.

The Supervisory Board oversees the management 

and business operation of the Company. The 

Supervisory Board establishes its own procedural 

rules, which are approved by the General Meeting.

The members of the Supervisory Board are elected 

by the General Meeting with a mandate of three 

years. The ratio of independent Supervisory Board 

members (4 persons) within the entire Supervisory 

Board (6 persons) is 67%. (From April 28, 2006 

the share of independent Supervisory Boards 

members (3 person) within the entire 

Supervisory Board (5 persons) is 60%.)

In order to avoid any conf l ict of interest , 

the General Meeting may not elect members 

of the Board of Directors or their close relatives 

to the Supervisory Board. The rules applicable 

to the appointment and recall of the employee 

member of the Supervisory Board are def ined 

by the Works Council operating at the Company, 

and the Company does not consider such 

a member independent.

The Supervisory Board is responsible for the 

management of the internal audit organisation 

of the Company within the framework defined 

in the Credit Institutions Act. The Supervisory 

Board exercises a preliminary right of consent in 

respect of decisions relating to the establishment 

and termination of the employment, as well 

as def inition of remuneration of the managers 

and employees of the internal audit organisation.

The Board of Directors holds meetings as 

frequently as necessary, or at least on eight 

occasions a year, while the Supervisory Board 

must hold at least six meetings a year. In 2005, 

eight Board meetings and nine Supervisory 

Board meetings were held.

A meeting must also be cal led i f a member 

of the Supervisory Board or at least two 

members of the Board of Directors, or the 

audi tor, request i t in wri t ing, indicating the 

objectives and reasons for the meeting.

Declaration on Corporate 
Governance Practice7

7 Based on the Corporate Governance Recommendations (December 8, 2003) published by Budapest Stock Exchange
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The meetings of the Board of Directors and 

Supervisory Board are recorded in minutes, 

and all resolutions are documented.

The employer’s rights towards the executive 

of f icers of the Company are exercised by the 

Board of Directors through the chairman and chief 

executive of ficer, with the proviso that the Board 

of Directors must be notif ied in advance for 

the appointment or withdrawal of appointment 

of deputy CEOs.

The Board of Directors has prepared guidelines 

for the evaluation of the work and the 

remuneration of the management. The Bank has 

launched a share option scheme for the evaluation 

and encouragement of management performance, 

based on the performance of annual and medium-

term targets. The detailed conditions of the share 

purchase program and the expectations in terms of 

performance are approved by the General Meeting 

of the Company. The Board of Directors provides 

information on the annual and medium-term 

targets and their performance, representing the 

basis of evaluation, at the annual General Meeting.

The Company has no separate committees. 

Certain functions and tasks of the Audit Committee 

are performed by the Supervisory Board and the 

independent internal audit staf f reporting to it 

based on the Credit Institutions Act, in line with 

the statutory provisions applicable to financial 

institutions. The tasks of the other committees are 

performed by committees which may be and have 

been established pursuant to the Company’s Code 

of Organisation and Operation.

Audit

There is an independent internal audit organisation 

at the Company, controlled by the Supervisory 

Board within the framework stipulated by the 

Credit Institutions Act. The independent internal 

audit group has an annual audit plan, approved by 

the Board of Directors or the Supervisory Board. 

The independent internal audit group prepares 

regular objective and independent reports on 

the operation of risk management, internal control 

mechanisms and corporate governance functions 

for the Supervisory Board and the management. 

The Supervisory Board exercises a preliminary 

right of consent with regard to decisions relating 

to the establishment and termination of 

employment and to the determination of the 

remuneration of the managers and employees 

of the internal audit organisation.

The General Meeting has the right to elect the 

business entity auditing the Company and to 

approve the member of the audit company who 

wil l be personally responsible for the audit .

The Board of Directors must notify the General 

Meeting and Supervisory Board of the Company 

about any other major assignment given to the 

auditor. Apar t from that, in justi f ied cases, the 

Board of Directors, the Supervisory Board and 

other commit tees of the Company may also use 

the services of external consultants.

Disclosure

The Company discloses its information in strict 

compliance with the provisions of Act CXX of 2001 

on the Capital Market (Capital Market Act) and 

the applicable BSE regulations. The Company 

also has an ef fective internal disclosure policy. 

The regulations indicated above assure full, accurate 

and timely disclosure of all important information 

that may af fect the Company or the price 

of the Company’s securities. 

The Company discloses its business and strategic 

targets for the current year and its medium-term 

strategic plan at each annual General Meeting. 

The Company discloses the proposals prepared 
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for the General Meeting in compliance with the 

rules applicable to disclosure as posted on the 

BSE website and with the provisions of the relevant 

Regulations of the BSE. The Company discloses 

information about the professional career of the 

members of the Board of Directors, Supervisory 

Board (monthly remuneration and option scheme) 

and the management on its website and in its annual 

report in compliance with the effective legislation.

The proposal for the remuneration of the chairman 

and members of the Board of Directors and chairman 

and members of the Supervisory Board is also part 

of the proposals prepared for the General Meeting.

The Company has detailed risk management 

regulations applicable to all types of risks (liquidity, 

market and credit risks), which are in compliance 

with the legal regulations on prudent banking 

operations. The annual report contains information 

on the risk management practices of the Company, 

the applied limits and compliance with them.

The Company has a detailed internal policy for 

persons that qualify as insiders and potential 

insiders, which is in full compliance with the limits 

and prohibitions regulated in detail under the 

effective provisions of the Capital Market Act. 

The Company discloses the transactions of the 

members of Board of Directors, Supervisory Board 

and management involving the Company’s shares, 

in compliance with the disclosure regulations, 

and indicates the holding of these individuals in 

the Company (number of shares) in its annual report. 

The Company discloses the loans extended to its 

executive officers, as well as the enterprises in which 

it has an equity participation, in its annual report.
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Provisions against Money 
Laundering

– OTP Bank Ltd. has developed internal rules in 

pursuance of the recommendation of the 

Supervisory Authority of Financial Institutions, 

and all of its employees are under a legal 

obligation to act in accordance with the provision 

of these Rules.

– The employees of the Bank are to be performing 

their identifying and reporting obligations.

– The performance of the reporting obligations shall 

not be regarded as a violation of bank, securities, 

insurance and business secrets.

– Omission of the reporting obligation constitutes 

a crime punishable under the Penal Code.

– OTP Bank Ltd. cooperates with the authorities 

to disclose any circumstances relating to Money 

Laundering.

OTP Bank Ltd.’s Announcement on its client-

identification procedure as set out here is available 

in every premises of OTP Bank Ltd. open to clients.

Money laundering means that services of financial 

institutions is used in order to conceal the true 

source of funds deriving from criminal activity 

by the perpetrator, or other individuals.

In order to avoid that OTP Bank Ltd. be used for 

Money Laundering activities, we do everything to 

establish the true identity of any person/client 

demanding/applying for any services from the bank, 

and OTP Bank Ltd. shall not perform any transaction 

order given by a client who does not identify him/

herself pursuant to the legal regulations.

In accordance with Act No. XXIV of 1994 

on the prevention and impeding of Money 

Laundering:

– OTP Bank Ltd. operates an internal control and 

information system for the purpose of preventing 

of banking and financial transactions enabling 

or realising Money Laundering.
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Commitment to Social Causes

The Bank ’s charitable and sponsorship activi ties 

are founded upon the twin pil lars of equal 

oppor tunities and community-building, both 

of which represent fundamental social values 

that accord with the principles of the Bank ’s 

operation. 

Creating equal opportunities

OTP Bank participates in the everyday lives of 

Hungarian people and society, as an active helper 

and nurturer, by creating the opportunities that 

are indispensable in order to succeed in the face 

of the ever-higher expectations placed upon people.

For this reason, in addition to its regular business 

operations, OTP Bank assists and empowers those 

in need. Within its means, the Bank supports charitable 

initiatives aimed at improving the chances of an 

individual or community, and showing the way forward. 

OTP Bank’s sponsorship and patronage is focused on 

assisting disadvantaged and sick children, promoting 

youth education and improving the quality of life and 

the chances of the physically and mentally 

challenged, primarily through the forging of long-term 

cooperative partnerships, and the organisation of 

events and programs. 

For more than a decade, OTP Bank has worked 

together with the International Children’s Safety 

Service, which ensures the provision of healthcare 

and assistance for over 10,000 children from 

Hungary and abroad, and which is dedicated to 

suppor ting and improving the quali ty of l i fe of 

children with physical and mental disabil i t ies, 

and laying the foundations for their future. 

In the frame of the co-operation OTP Bank 

suppor ts primarily the healthcare programmes 

of the organisation it subsidizes medical treatment of 

children through covering the expenses of operations 

and mobile dental surgery, financing the maintenance 

OTP Bank is Hungary’s largest and best known 

credit insti tution. Our business successes are 

what has earned us the enduring trust of mil l ions 

of customers, shareholders, employees and 

society in general, which the Bank repays by 

under taking a commitment to social causes, 

commensurate with the importance of the 

corporate group within the economy.

OTP Bank and society

The Bank ’s mission is to reach people from all 

age groups and social strata with i ts high-quali ty 

products and services, and by providing value 

and a high standard of service, to increase 

customer satisfaction, and, as modern electronic 

technology becomes increasingly widespread, 

to retain i ts personal relationship with customers.

The Bank ’s charitable and sponsorship activi ties 

also serve this purpose, by enabling us to f ind as 

many points of contact as possible, even outside 

the framework of f inancial service provision, 

and to strengthen our relationships with partners 

by suppor ting deserving causes, programs 

and events that serve the interests, endeavours 

and needs of society as a whole.
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benefiting the community. In order to put the winning 

projects into practise, the foundation has embarked 

on an experiment unique in central Europe, at one 

location in Hungary and another in Transylvania, 

to answer the question of whether models created 

under hypothetical circumstances can be transplanted 

into real life situations, and whether the students’ 

ideas are workable in this region.

Among the cooperative partnerships formed 

with institutes of higher education, one of the most 

prominent and exemplary is the initiative under 

which the Bank issued a bank card jointly with 

the University of Pécs, one of Hungary’s largest 

and most academically diverse centres of learning. 

Cardholders are entitled to certain discounts. 

The Bank donates a part of the revenue generated 

by the cards to the University, which means that 

by using the cards, students and professors can 

also support the University.

The Bank also considers i t important to help 

in specif ic events that af fect the community, 

which is why i t also gives priori ty to the provision 

of assistance in crisis si tuations. Accordingly, 

on several occasions the Bank helped to repair 

damage caused by natural disasters in Hungary, 

Slovakia and Romania. 

Community building

As the market-leading provider of retail financial 

services, and a financial partner of the municipalities, 

OTP Bank considers community building to be 

a vital element of its sponsorship philosophy. 

The Bank treats community initiatives as an 

important means of preserving community values, 

nurturing and passing on traditions, protecting and 

gaining national treasures, and sharing all of these 

with as many people as possible. 

With regard to culture, this primarily takes the form 

of support for events that represent quality and 

of fosterers’ network and supporting of charity 

events. Besides the direct financial assistance it 

provides to the organisation, the Bank has also 

succeeded in drawing the attention of its customers 

to the work that it performs, with the result that 

the amount of donations accumulated in collection 

boxes placed in the Bank’s branches increases 

from year to year.

In the interests of promoting equal opportunities, 

OTP Bank prioritises support for the Special Olympics 

Hungary, the local branch of the international 

organisation dedicated to providing spor ting 

opportunities for people with intellectual disabilities, 

because it is our firm belief that through the work 

of these dedicated people, with the right financial 

backing, it is possible to make a huge difference 

to the quality of life, the present and future of people 

with intellectual disabilities.

OTP Bank also places great emphasis on promoting 

the development of education in economics and 

finance, and forging closer relationships with 

institutes of higher education, in order to help ensure 

the next generation of finance specialists. 

Through the OTP Fáy András Foundation, which has 

operated continuously since being established by 

OTP Bank in 1992, the Bank aims to expand the 

economic and business skills of young people, and 

instil in them a sense of economic culture, as well as 

a project-based and community approach. In 2005, 

groups of secondary-school students were invited to 

submit plans for profit-generating schemes aimed at 
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selective waste col lection, being in place 

at more than hal f of the workplaces. 

Environmental and energy-efficiency 

investments

In the course of both its everyday operation 

and its business activities, OTP Bank pays special 

at tention to environmental considerations, since it 

considers resolving environmental problems to 

be one of the most serious challenges of our age. 

As a member of the European Union, major 

investment is necessary in order to comply with 

the strict new environmental directives, and the 

Bank wishes to lead the way in this respect. 

Besides the fact that shareholder interests and 

common business sense demand that OTP Bank 

only participate in financially sound loan 

transactions, an important element of the Bank’s 

lending policy is that it mainly finances investments 

that are environmentally friendly, or at least not 

damaging to the environment, and the internal 

regulations governing risk analysis ensure that this 

criterion is considered during the rating process. 

OTP Bank is an active participant in energy-efficiency 

and environmental-protection programs. Projects that 

serve the environment include investments aimed 

at rationalising energy consumption. The Bank has 

assumed a dominant role in the financing of energy-

saving capital projects by municipalities and housing 

associations, and, through the provision of loans, 

also assists a number of ESCOs (Energy Services 

Companies) both in Hungary (EETEK, COTHEC, 

CAMINUS, etc.) and abroad. Within the framework 

of the Infrastructure Development Credit Program, 

the Bank f inances other local authority 

environmental initiatives.

values to society as a whole, and especially to 

the Bank’s clientele. Besides national events, 

the Bank also patronises regional and local initiatives 

(such as traditional town and village fetes), thereby 

helping to strengthen rural culture. A range of  

cultural sponsorship also includes financial support 

for cultural festivals, concerts of classical music, 

as well as pop concerts and folk music events. 

The Bank maintains close cooperation with the 

most important provincial theatres, occasionally 

with few theatres in the capital, too. Apart from regional 

and national events, the Bank more often supports 

cross-border initiatives in neighbouring countries.

Our efforts to preserve cultural values are also 

symbolised by the OTP Financial History Collection, 

work on which began in the mid-1960s, and which 

today contains some 30,000 items of banking 

documentation. The Bank treats the gathering, 

documenting and curatorship of the items on display 

– documents and other memorabilia related to the 

foundation and operation of the first Hungarian 

financial institutions, items used in banks, office 

equipment and decorations, engravings, photographs 

and posters – as a key task.

At the end of 2005, the OTP Gallery ceremoniously 

reopened its doors in the lobby of one of the Bank’s 

Budapest head offices. By running the gallery the 

Bank maintains an exhibition space dedicated to 

displaying the works of outstanding contemporary 

Hungarian painters. OTP Bank also supports 

contemporary art by purchasing fine paintings. 

Currently, some 600 works of art hang from the 

walls of buildings and offices used by the Bank. 

Our environment

Internal environment

OTP Bank is continuously seeking environmental 

means of improving energy-ef f iciency and waste 

management through its own internal operations 

as well . 

As a result of ef forts aimed at optimizing the use 

of energy, in 2005 the Bank realized 10% savings 

of energy. More than a decade ago the Bank set up 

its central archives that helps to properly handle, 

pulp and recycle the sorted out f iles. Besides, 

in 2005 the Bank launched the programme of 
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system, the system for the remuneration of branch 

staff underwent a transformation in April of 2005. 

Consequently it is now possible to measure the 

performance of employees, and reward individual 

performance based on a uniform set of criteria. 

The new system makes it possible for outstanding 

employees achieve a higher income, 

commensurate with their per formance.

OTP Bank also provides i ts employees with 

additional fr inge benefits, such as substantial 

contributions to voluntary and private pension 

funds and health insurance plans, the provision 

of meal vouchers, housing loans and discounted 

current-account borrowing facil i t ies, schooling 

benefits for the children of enti tled employees, 

and a fund for compassionate assistance and 

the f inancial rel ief of employees in emergency 

situations. The provision of benefits to employees 

is regulated by the Collective Agreement. Some 

58.6% of employees are trade union members.

Training and education

OTP Bank places par ticular emphasis on training 

i ts staf f, both in and outside of working hours, 

with the aim of promoting the professional 

advancement and personal development of i ts 

employees. In 2005, such training accounted 

for 1–1.5% of overall personnel - related spending. 

The Bank employs a structured training system, which 

is based on the requirements and skills sets defined  

n standard job descriptions. Internal training courses 

focus on imparting the requisite specialist knowledge 

related to bank processes, IT systems and products. 

The training department supports the learning 

process through the holding of internal courses and 

consultations, and the provision of educational 

materials. In 2006 the Bank will introduce the SAP 

Besides all this, OTP Bank also participates 

in the financing of renewable energy projects. 

In 2003 the Bank was among the first in Hungary 

to f inance a project aimed at producing energy 

from renewable sources. As a result of this 

investment, the than largest renewable energy 

generating project in central -eastern Europe 

commenced operation in the city of Pécs. 

The Bank continues to seek oppor tunities to 

finance other projects contributing to environmental 

protection, typically the development of wind farms 

and biomass generating facilities. 

Human resources

OTP Bank considers the trust and satisfaction 

of its many millions of customers to be its greatest 

assets, which is why its interactions with clients 

and business partners are characterised by 

trustworthy business conduct. From year to year 

the Bank places an increasing emphasis on the 

motivation and training of its employees, and 

strengthening their loyalty, since the quality of 

service and the way in which the Bank is perceived 

are chief ly determined by, and founded upon, 

the relationship between the Bank ’s staf f 

and i ts customers and business par tners.

Benefits

In 2005 the Bank began to overhaul its 

remuneration system, with the aim of encouraging 

employees to perform to the best of their abilities 

and acquire the requisite specialist skills, and 

rewarding loyalty to the Bank and the 

responsibilities associated with a given position. 

As the first stage in creation of the new incentives 
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days, as well as cultural events, for all employees 

and their families. In the resort and education 

facilities, the Bank provides holiday opportunities for 

its employees and their family members at 

preferential price levels. 

Awards and accolades

In order to express its recognition and respect for its 

own employees, more than a decade ago the Bank 

founded the András Fáy Prize and the award “In 

Recognition of Service to OTP Bank”, with which 

it rewards employees who display outstanding 

performance, on the occasion of World Savings Day.

LSO e- learning system, giving employees access 

to f lexible and interactive learning oppor tunities.

We also suppor t the career and personal 

development of employees through par ticipation 

in conferences, vocational training and 

post-graduate courses. 

Another important element is ski l ls -development, 

which promotes bet ter per formance in sales and 

management. The Bank regularly organises sales 

and management training programs, team-

building sessions and in -house language courses. 

Health and sport

In order to promote effective working and a healthy 

lifestyle, maintenance of good physical condition 

and the productive utilisation of free time, OTP Bank 

provides its employees with continuous sporting 

opportunities in no less than 15 different branches 

of sport. In the course of 2005 the Bank organised 

a number of popular sporting events, and twice a 

year the OTP Group holds national family and sports 
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